Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited take no responsibility
for the contents of this announcement, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly
disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part
of the contents of this announcement.

This announcement and the listing document referred to herein are for information purposes only as required
by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing
Rules”) and do not constitute an offer to sell or acquire or the solicitation of an offer to buy any securities.
Neither this announcement nor anything referred to herein (including the listing document) forms the basis for
any contract or commitment whatsoever.

For the avoidance of doubt, the publication of this announcement and the listing document referred to herein shall
not be deemed to be an offer of securities made pursuant to a prospectus issued by or on behalf of the Issuer (as
defined below) for the purposes of the Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance (Cap.
32) of Hong Kong nor shall it constitute an advertisement, invitation or document containing an invitation to the
public to enter into or offer to enter into an agreement to acquire, dispose of, subscribe for or underwrite
securities for the purposes of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571) of Hong Kong.

This announcement and the listing document referred to herein are for informational purposes only and do not
constitute or form a part of an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy any securities in the United States
or any other jurisdiction in which such offer, solicitation or sale would be unlawful prior to registration or
qualification under the securities laws of any such jurisdiction. The securities referred to herein have not been and
will not be registered under the U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), or the securities
laws of any state of the United States or any other jurisdiction. If any offer proceeds, the securities will only be
offered and sold outside the United States in reliance on Regulation S under the Securities Act and may not be
offered or sold within the United States absent registration under, or an applicable exemption from, or in a
transaction not subject to, the registration requirements under the Securities Act and applicable state or local
securities laws of the United States. No public offering of the securities referred to herein will be made in the
United States or in any other jurisdiction where such an offering is restricted or prohibited or where such offer
would be unlawful prior to registration or qualification under the securities laws of such jurisdiction.

Notice to Hong Kong investors: The Issuer confirms that the Capital Securities (as defined below) are intended
for purchase by professional investors (as defined in Chapter 37 of the Listing Rules) (the “Professional
Investors™) only and have been listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Hong Kong Stock
Exchange”) on that basis. Accordingly, the Issuer confirms that the Capital Securities are not appropriate as an
investment for retail investors in Hong Kong. Investors should carefully consider the risks involved.
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Joint Global Coordinators, Joint Bookrunners and Joint Lead Managers

Nanyang Commercial BOC International BofA Securities ABC International
Bank
China Securities CCB International Cinda International Central China
International International

Joint Bookrunners and Joint Lead Managers

ICBC International UBS CMB Wing Lung Bank BOCOM International
Limited

Bank of China BNP PARIBAS China CITIC Bank China Everbright Bank

(Hong Kong) International Hong Kong Branch

China Galaxy China Industrial China International CITIC Securities

International Securities International  Capital Corporation

Citigroup CMBC Capital CMB International CNCB Capital
Crédit Agricole CIB GF Securities Guotai Junan Haitong International
International
HSBC Huatai International J.P. Morgan Natixis
SMBC Nikko SPDB International Standard Chartered
Bank

This announcement is issued pursuant to Rule 37.39A of the Listing Rules.

Please refer to the offering circular dated 28 February 2023 in relation to the issue of the
Capital Securities (the “Offering Circular”) appended herein. As disclosed in the Offering
Circular, the Capital Securities are intended for purchase by Professional Investors only and
have been listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange on that basis.

The Offering Circular does not constitute a prospectus, notice, circular, brochure or
advertisement offering to sell any securities to the public in any jurisdiction, nor is it an
invitation to the public to make offers to subscribe for or purchase any securities, nor is it
circulated to invite offers by the public to subscribe for or purchase any securities.

The Offering Circular must not be regarded as an inducement to subscribe for or purchase any
securities of the Issuer, and no such inducement is intended.

Hong Kong, 8 March 2023

As at the date of this announcement, the Board of Directors of Nanyang Commercial Bank, Limited comprises Mr.
ZHANG Weidong*, Mr. YANG Yingxun*, Mr. LIU Jun, Mr. SUN Jiandong, Mr. CHENG Kin Kong, Mr. LAU Hon
Chuen**, Mr. LAN Hong Tsung David**, Ms. CHIU Lai Kuen Susanna** and Mr. LI Shu Pui**.

* Non-executive Directors
**  Independent Non-executive Directors
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IMPORTANT NOTICE

NOT FOR DISTRIBUTION TO ANY PERSON OR ADDRESS IN THE UNITED STATES

Important: You must read the following before continuing. The following disclaimer applies to the preliminary offering
circular following this page (the “Offering Circular”), and you are therefore advised to read this carefully before reading,
accessing or making any other use of this Offering Circular. In accessing this Offering Circular, you agree to be bound by the
following terms and conditions, including any modifications to them any time you receive any information as a result of such
access.

NOTHING IN THIS ELECTRONIC TRANSMISSION CONSTITUTES AN OFFER OF SECURITIES FOR SALE IN THE
UNITED STATES OR ANY OTHER JURISDICTION WHERE IT IS UNLAWFUL TO DO SO. THE CAPITAL SECURITIES
DESCRIBED HEREIN (THE “CAPITAL SECURITIES”) HAVE NOT BEEN, AND WILL NOT BE, REGISTERED UNDER
THE UNITED STATES SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE “SECURITIES ACT”), OR THE SECURITIES
LAWS OF ANY STATE OF THE UNITED STATES OR OTHER JURISDICTION AND THE CAPITAL SECURITIES MAY
NOT BE OFFERED OR SOLD WITHIN THE UNITED STATES, EXCEPT PURSUANT TO AN EXEMPTION FROM, OR IN
A TRANSACTION NOT SUBJECT TO, THE REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS OF THE SECURITIES ACT AND
APPLICABLE STATE OR LOCAL SECURITIES LAWS.

THIS OFFERING CIRCULAR MAY NOT BE FORWARDED OR DISTRIBUTED TO ANY OTHER PERSON AND MAY NOT
BE REPRODUCED IN ANY MANNER WHATSOEVER, AND IN PARTICULAR, MAY NOT BE FORWARDED TO ANY
PERSON OR ADDRESS IN THE UNITED STATES. ANY FORWARDING, DISTRIBUTION OR REPRODUCTION OF THIS
DOCUMENT IN WHOLE OR IN PART IS UNAUTHORISED. FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH THIS DIRECTIVE MAY
RESULT IN A VIOLATION OF THE SECURITIES ACT OR THE APPLICABLE LAWS OF OTHER JURISDICTIONS.

Restrictions: The Offering Circular is being furnished in connection with an offering in offshore transactions outside the
United States in compliance with Regulation S under the Securities Act solely for the purpose of enabling a prospective investor
to consider the purchase of the Capital Securities.

Confirmation of your Representation: In order to be eligible to view this Offering Circular or make an investment decision
with respect to the Capital Securities, investors must not be located in the United States. This Offering Circular is being sent
at your request and by accepting the e-mail and accessing this Offering Circular, you shall be deemed to have represented to
Nanyang Commercial Bank, Limited, BOCI Asia Limited, Merrill Lynch (Asia Pacific) Limited, ABCI Capital Limited, China
Securities (International) Corporate Finance Company Limited, CCB International Capital Limited, Cinda International Capital
Limited and Central China International Securities Co., Limited (together, the “Joint Global Coordinators”), ICBC
International Securities Limited, UBS AG Hong Kong Branch, CMB Wing Lung Bank Limited, BOCOM International
Securities Limited, Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited, BNP Paribas, China CITIC Bank International Limited, China
Everbright Bank Co., Ltd., Hong Kong Branch, China Galaxy International Securities (Hong Kong) Co., Limited, China
Industrial Securities International Brokerage Limited, China International Capital Corporation Hong Kong Securities Limited,
CLSA Limited, Citigroup Global Markets Limited, CMBC Securities Company Limited, CMB International Capital Limited,
CNCB (Hong Kong) Capital Limited, Crédit Agricole Corporate and Investment Bank, GF Securities (Hong Kong) Brokerage
Limited, Guotai Junan Securities (Hong Kong) Limited, Haitong International Securities Company Limited, The Hongkong and
Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited, Huatai Financial Holdings (Hong Kong) Limited, J.P. Morgan Securities plc, Natixis,
SMBC Nikko Securities (Hong Kong) Limited, SPDB International Capital Limited and Standard Chartered Bank (together
with the Joint Global Coordinators, the “Joint Bookrunners” and the “Joint Lead Managers”) and the Issuer (as defined in
this Offering Circular) that (1) you and any customers you represent are not, and the e-mail address that you gave us and to
which this e-mail has been delivered is not, located in the United States, its territories or possessions, and (2) you consent to
delivery of this Offering Circular and any amendment or supplements thereto by electronic transmission.

You are reminded that this Offering Circular has been delivered to you on the basis that you are a person into whose possession
this Offering Circular may be lawfully delivered in accordance with the laws of the jurisdiction in which you are located and
you may not, nor are you authorised to, deliver this Offering Circular to any other person. If you have gained access to this
transmission contrary to the foregoing restrictions, you are not allowed to purchase any of the Capital Securities.

The materials relating to the issue and offering of the Capital Securities do not constitute, and may not be used in connection
with, an offer or solicitation in any place where offers or solicitations are not permitted by law and access has been limited
so that it shall not constitute a general advertisement or general solicitation (as those terms are used in Regulation D under
the Securities Act) or directed selling efforts (within the meaning of Regulation S under the Securities Act) in the United States
or elsewhere. If a jurisdiction requires that the offering of the Capital Securities be made by a licensed broker or dealer and
any of the Joint Lead Managers or any affiliate of the Joint Lead Managers is a licensed broker or dealer in that jurisdiction,
the issue of the Capital Securities shall be deemed to be made by such Joint Lead Manager or affiliate on behalf of the Issuer
in such jurisdiction.

This Offering Circular has been sent to you in an electronic form. You are reminded that documents transmitted via this medium
may be altered or changed during the process of electronic transmission and consequently none of the Issuer and the Joint Lead
Managers nor any person who controls any of them nor any of their respective directors, officers, employees, advisers,
representatives, agents or affiliates accepts any liability or responsibility whatsoever in respect of any difference between this
Offering Circular distributed to you in electronic format and the hard copy version available to you upon request.

You are responsible for protecting against viruses and other destructive items. Your use of this e-mail is at your own risk
and it is your responsibility to take precautions to ensure that it is free from viruses and other items of a destructive nature.

Actions that you may not take: You should not reply by e-mail to this electronic transmission and you may not purchase any
Capital Securities by doing so. Any reply e-mail communications, including those you generate by using the “Reply” function
on your e-mail software, will be ignored or rejected

The Capital Securities are complex financial instruments and of high risks. Distributions on the Capital Securities may be
cancelled at any time. The Holders (as defined in the Offering Circular) have no right to require redemption of the Capital
Securities. Furthermore, in the event of a write-off, reduction or cancellation of the principal amount of the Capital Securities
or conversion of the principal amount of the Capital Securities into shares or other securities, an investor may lose the entire
value of its investment. A potential investor should not invest in the Capital Securities unless it has the expertise to evaluate
how the Capital Securities may perform under changing conditions, the resulting effects on the value of such Capital Securities
and the impact the investment and any related losses may have on the potential investor’s overall investment portfolio. See
“Risk Factors” of the Offering Circular beginning on page 23.
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NANYANG COMMERCIAL BANK, LIMITED

(incorporated with limited liability in Hong Kong)

U.S.$300,000,000 7.35 per cent. Non-Cumulative Subordinated Additional
Tier 1 Capital Securities
Issue Price: 100.00 per cent.

The 7.35 per cent. non-cumulative subordinated additional tier 1 capital securities (the “Capital Securities™) will be issued in an initial aggregate principal amount of U.S.$300,000,000
by Nanyang Commercial Bank, Limited (the “Issuer”). The Capital Securities confer a right to receive Distributions (as defined herein) on their outstanding principal amount (subject
to adjustment following the occurrence of a Non-Viability Event (as defined herein in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Capital Securities (the “Conditions”)) from, and
including, 7 March 2023 (the “Issue Date”) at the applicable Distribution Rate (as defined herein), payable semi-annually in arrear on 7 March and 7 September in each year in equal
instalments in respect of the period beginning on and including the Issue Date and ending on but excluding the First Call Date (as defined herein), and each Reset Distribution Period
(as defined herein), respectively. Distributions will not be cumulative and Distributions which are not paid in accordance with the Conditions will not accumulate or compound and
holders of the Capital Securities (“Holders”) will have no right to receive such Distributions at any time, even if subsequent Distributions are paid in the future, or be entitled to any
claim in respect thereof against the Issuer.

The terms of the Capital Securities also provide for circumstances under which the Issuer will not be obliged to pay, and will not pay, any Distribution on the applicable Distribution
Payment Date (as defined herein), in whole or in part, as applicable. The Issuer shall have no obligation to pay a Distribution on any Distribution Payment Date if such non-payment
is in accordance with the Conditions and any failure to pay such Distribution shall not constitute an Event of Default (as defined herein). Distributions are non-cumulative and therefore
any Distribution which is cancelled in accordance with the Conditions shall not be payable at any time thereafter whether in a Winding-Up (as defined herein) or otherwise.

The Capital Securities are perpetual and have no maturity date. Holders have no ability to require the Issuer to redeem their Capital Securities whereas the Issuer can redeem the Capital
Securities in certain circumstances as described in the Conditions. However, the Issuer is under no obligation to redeem the Capital Securities at any time. The ability of the Issuer
to redeem Capital Securities is subject to the Issuer (a) obtaining the prior written consent of the Monetary Authority (as defined herein) (if then required) to the redemption, and (b)
satisfying any conditions that the Monetary Authority may impose at that time.

If a Non-Viability Event occurs and is continuing, the Issuer shall, upon the date that the Issuer specifies in a Non-Viability Event Notice (as defined herein) (which date, for the
avoidance of doubt, can be on or prior to the date of the Non-Viability Event Notice), irrevocably (without the need for the consent of the Holders) reduce the then outstanding principal
amount of, and cancel any accrued but unpaid Distribution in respect of, each Capital Security (in each case in whole or in part) by an amount equal to the Non-Viability Event Write-off
Amount (as defined herein) per Capital Security. Once the outstanding principal amount of, and any accrued but unpaid Distribution under, the Capital Securities has been Written-off
(as defined in the Conditions), the relevant amount(s) Written-off will not be restored in any circumstances including where the relevant Non-Viability Event ceases to continue. No
Holder may exercise, claim or plead any right to any amount that has been Written-off, and each Holder shall, by virtue of his holding of any Capital Securities, be deemed to have
waived all such rights to such amount that has been Written-off. Holders could risk losing up to the full principal amount of the Capital Securities, as well as the cancellation of any
accrued (and unpaid) Distributions, without receiving any compensation for such loss or cancellation.

The Capital Securities will be issued in registered form in the denomination of U.S.$250,000 and integral multiples of U.S.$1,000 in excess thereof. For a more detailed description
of the Capital Securities, see “Terms and Conditions of the Capital Securities” beginning on page 108 of this Offering Circular.

The Capital Securities are expected to be assigned a rating of “Ba2” by Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. (“Moody’s”). The rating does not constitute a recommendation to buy, sell or
hold the Capital Securities and may be subject to suspension, reduction or withdrawal at any time by the rating organisation.

The Issuer has made an application for the filing registration (the “Pre-Issuance Registration”) of the offering of the Capital Securities with the National Development and Reform
Commission of the PRC (the “NDRC”) in accordance with the Circular on Promoting the Reform of the Filing and Registration System for Issuance by Enterprises of Foreign Debt
(Fa Gai Wai Zi [2015] No. 2044) (the “NDRC Circular™) (B 5 5§ 72 2 4 Zs [ 3 45 58 47 A AT 52 165 e i) 87 B0 ek 46 )3l 2o (-’,‘éﬂﬂ(z\\ﬁ[201512044§)ﬁ)) issued by the NDRC and which
came into effect on 14 September 2015. The NDRC Circular was repealed by the Administrative Measures for Examination and Registration of Medium- and Long-term Foreign Debts
of Enterprises (¥ lig’i‘/ﬁ%%ﬁﬁéﬂré’ﬁﬁ)‘ﬁiﬁ) (Decree No.56 of the NDRC) (the “NDRC Administrative Measures”) which was issued by the NDRC on 5 January 2023 and
became effective on 10 February 2023. China Cinda has received an Enterprise Foreign Debt Filing Registration Certificate ({31 AME i 56 70 @ #1)) dated 6 April 2022 from
the NDRC in connection with the Pre-Issuance Registration. Pursuant to the requirements of the NDRC Administrative Measures, the Issuer is required to (i) file or cause to be filed
with the NDRC the requisite information and documents within 10 Registration Business Days (as defined in the Terms and Conditions of the Capital Securities) after the Issue Date
and (ii) file or cause to be filed with the NDRC other requisite information and documents in connection with the Capital Securities from time to time within the relevant prescribed
timeframes.

Application will be made to The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “SEHK?”) for the listing of the Capital Securities by way of debt issues to professional investors (as defined
in Chapter 37 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited) (the “Professional Investors”) only.

Notice to Hong Kong investors: The Issuer confirms the Capital Securities are intended for purchase by Professional Investors only and will be listed on the SEHK on that basis.
Accordingly, the Issuer confirms that the Capital Securities are not appropriate as an investment for retail investors in Hong Kong. Investors should carefully consider the risks involved.
This document is for distribution to Professional Investors only.

The SEHK has not reviewed the contents of this Offering Circular, other than to ensure that the prescribed form disclaimer and responsibility statements, and a statement
limiting distribution of this Offering Circular to Professional Investors only have been reproduced in this Offering Circular. Listing of the Capital Securities on the SEHK
is not to be taken as an indication of the commercial merits or credit quality of the Capital Securities or the Issuer or the Group or quality of disclosure in this Offering
Circular. Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the SEHK take no responsibility for the contents of this Offering Circular, make no representation as to its accuracy or
completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this Offering Circular.

It is expected that dealing in, and listing of, the Capital Securities on the SEHK will commence on or about 8 March 2023.

The Capital Securities have not been and will not be registered under the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”) and, subject to certain exceptions,
may not be offered or sold within the United States under the Securities Act (“Regulation S”). The Capital Securities are being offered and sold only outside the United States in
accordance with Regulation S. For a description of these and certain further restrictions on offers and sales of the Capital Securities and the distribution of this Offering Circular, see
“Subscription and Sale”.

The Capital Securities will be initially evidenced by a global certificate (the “Global Certificate™) in registered form, which will be registered in the name of a nominee of, and deposited
with a common depositary for, Euroclear Bank SA/NV (“Euroclear”) and Clearstream Banking S.A. (“Clearstream”) on or about the Issue Date. Beneficial interests in the Global
Certificate will be shown on, and transfers thereof will be effected only through, the records maintained by Euroclear and Clearstream. Except in the limited circumstances set out herein,
individual certificates for Capital Securities will not be issued in exchange for beneficial interests in the Global Certificate. See “The Global Certificate”.

INVESTING IN THE CAPITAL SECURITIES INVOLVES RISKS. SEE “RISK FACTORS” BEGINNING ON PAGE 23. INVESTORS SHOULD HAVE SUFFICIENT
KNOWLEDGE AND EXPERTISE TO EVALUATE EFFECT OR THE LIKELIHOOD OF THE OCCURRENCE OF THE NON-VIABILITY EVENT FOR THE CAPITAL
SECURITIES WHICH FEATURE LOSS ABSORPTION.

Investing in the Capital Securities involves risks. In particular, the Capital Securities are complex and of high risk and are generally not suitable for retail investors. There are risks
inherent in the holding of the Capital Securities. Distributions will not be cumulative and Distributions which are not paid in accordance with the Conditions will not accumulate or
compound and Holders will have no right to receive such Distributions at any time, even if subsequent Distributions are paid in the future, or be entitled to any claim in respect thereof
against the Issuer. The Capital Securities are perpetual securities in respect of which there is no fixed redemption date. Holders have no ability to require the Issuer to redeem their
Capital Securities whereas the Issuer can redeem the Capital Securities in certain circumstances as described in the Conditions. The Issuer may redeem the Capital Securities then
outstanding in whole, but not in part, on the First Call Date or any Distribution Payment Date thereafter, at their outstanding principal amount together (if appropriate) with Distributions
accrued to (but excluding) the date of redemption.

Various other risks, including the risks in relation to their subordination, the circumstances in which the Capital Securities may be written down, reduced or cancelled or converted
to into shares or other securities or other obligations of the Issuer or another person and the implications on the Holders (such as a substantial loss), the circumstances in which such
Holders may suffer loss as a result of holding the Capital Securities are difficult to predict and the ex ante a: sments of quantum of any loss incurred by investors in the Capital

Securities in such circumstances is also highly uncertain. See “Risk Factors relating to the Capital Securities”.

Joint Global Coordinators, Joint Bookrunners and Joint Lead Managers

Nanyang Commercial Bank BOC International BofA Securities ABC International
China Securities International CCB International Cinda International Central China International

Joint Bookrunners and Joint Lead Managers

ICBC International UBS CMB Wing Lung Bank Limited BOCOM International

Bank of China (Hong Kong) BNP PARIBAS China CITIC Bank China Everbright Bank
International Hong Kong Branch
China Galaxy International China Industrial China International CITIC Securities
Securities International Capital Corporation
Citigroup CMBC Capital CMB International CNCB Capital
Crédit Agricole CIB GF Securities Guotai Junan International Haitong International
HSBC Huatai International J.P. Morgan Natixis
SMBC Nikko SPDB International Standard Chartered Bank
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IMPORTANT NOTICE

The contents of this document have not been reviewed by any regulatory authority in Hong Kong. You
are advised to exercise caution in relation to the offer of Capital Securities. If you are in any doubt
about any of the contents of this document, you should obtain independent professional advice.

The Issuer, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirms that (i) this Offering Circular contains all
information with respect to the Issuer and the Issuer’s subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”), and
the issue of the Capital Securities, which is material in the context of the issue and offering of the
Capital Securities; (ii) the statements contained herein relating to the Issuer or the Group are in every
material respect true and accurate and not misleading; (iii) the opinions and intentions expressed in
this Offering Circular with regard to the Issuer or the Group are honestly held, have been reached after
considering all relevant circumstances and are based on reasonable assumptions; (iv) there are no
other facts in relation to the Issuer or the Group or the Capital Securities, the omission of which
would, in the context of the issue and offering of the Capital Securities (the “Offering”), make any
statement in this Offering Circular misleading in any material respect; and (v) all reasonable enquiries
have been made by the Issuer to ascertain such facts and to verify the accuracy of all such information
and statements. In addition, the Issuer accepts full responsibility for the accuracy of the information
contained in this Offering Circular.

This Offering Circular includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited for the purpose of giving information
with regard to the Issuer and the Group. The Issuer accepts full responsibility for the accuracy of the
information contained in this Offering Circular and confirms, having made all reasonable enquiries,
that to the best of its knowledge and belief there are no other facts the omission of which would make
any statement herein misleading.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the SEHK take no responsibility for the contents of
this Offering Circular, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly
disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole
or any part of the contents of this Offering Circular.

MiFID II product governance / Professional investors and ECPs only target market — Solely for
the purposes of the manufacturer’s product approval process, the target market assessment in respect
of the Capital Securities has led to the conclusion that: (i) the target market for the Capital Securities
is eligible counterparties and professional clients only, each as defined in Directive 2014/65/EU (as
amended, “MIiFID II”); and (ii) all channels for distribution of the Capital Securities to eligible
counterparties and professional clients are appropriate. Any person subsequently offering, selling or
recommending the Capital Securities (a “distributor”) should take into consideration the
manufacturer’s target market assessment; however, a distributor subject to MiFID II is responsible for
undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the Capital Securities (by either adopting
or refining the manufacturer’s target market assessment) and determining appropriate distribution
channels.

PRIIPs Regulation — Prohibition of Sales to EEA Retail Investors — The Capital Securities are
not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or
otherwise made available to any retail investor in the European Economic Area. For these purposes,
a retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client as defined in point (11)
of Article 4(1) of Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended, “MiFID II”); or (ii) a customer within the
meaning of Directive (EU) 2016/97 (the “Insurance Distribution Directive”), where that customer
would not qualify as a professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II.
Consequently no key information document required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 (as amended,



the “PRIIPs Regulation”) for offering or selling the Capital Securities or otherwise making them
available to retail investors in the European Economic Area has been prepared and therefore offering
or selling the Capital Securities or otherwise making them available to any retail investor in the
European Economic Area may be unlawful under the PRIIPs Regulation.

UK PRIIPs Regulation — Prohibition of Sales to UK Retail Investors — The Capital Securities
are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or
otherwise made available to any retail investor in the United Kingdom. For these purposes, a retail
investor means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client, as defined in point (8) of Article
2 of Regulation (EU) No 2017/565 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the European Union
(Withdrawal) Act 2018 (the “EUWA”); or (ii) a customer within the meaning of the provisions of the
Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (the “FSMA”) and any rules or regulations made under the
FSMA to implement the Insurance Distribution Directive, where that customer would not qualify as
a professional client, as defined in point (8) of Article 2(1) of Regulation (EU) No 600/2014 as it
forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA. Consequently no key information document
required by the PRIIPs Regulation as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA (the “UK
PRIIPs Regulation™) for offering or selling the Capital Securities or otherwise making them available
to retail investors in the United Kingdom has been prepared and therefore offering or selling the
Capital Securities or otherwise making them available to any retail investor in the United Kingdom
may be unlawful under the UK PRIIPs Regulation.

Singapore SFA Product Classification — In connection with Section 309B of the Securities and
Futures Act 2001 (2020 Revised Edition) of Singapore, as modified or amended from time to time (the
“SFA”) and the Securities and Futures (Capital Markets Products) Regulations 2018 of Singapore (the
“CMP Regulations 2018”), the Issuer has determined, and hereby notifies all relevant persons (as
defined in Section 309A(1) of the SFA), that the Capital Securities are ‘prescribed capital markets
products’ (as defined in the CMP Regulations 2018) and Excluded Investment Products (as defined in
MAS Notice SFA 04-N12: Notice on the Sale of Investment Products and MAS Notice FAA-N16:
Notice on Recommendations on Investment Products).

This Offering Circular has been prepared by the Issuer solely for use in connection with the proposed
offering of the Capital Securities described in this Offering Circular. This Offering Circular does not
constitute an offer of, or an invitation by or on behalf of Nanyang Commercial Bank, Limited, BOCI
Asia Limited, Merrill Lynch (Asia Pacific) Limited, ABCI Capital Limited, China Securities
(International) Corporate Finance Company Limited, CCB International Capital Limited, Cinda
International Capital Limited and Central China International Securities Co., Limited (together, the
“Joint Global Coordinators”), ICBC International Securities Limited, UBS AG Hong Kong Branch,
CMB Wing Lung Bank Limited, BOCOM International Securities Limited, Bank of China (Hong
Kong) Limited, BNP Paribas, China CITIC Bank International Limited, China Everbright Bank Co.,
Ltd., Hong Kong Branch, China Galaxy International Securities (Hong Kong) Co., Limited, China
Industrial Securities International Brokerage Limited, China International Capital Corporation Hong
Kong Securities Limited, CLSA Limited, Citigroup Global Markets Limited, CMBC Securities
Company Limited, CMB International Capital Limited, CNCB (Hong Kong) Capital Limited, Crédit
Agricole Corporate and Investment Bank, GF Securities (Hong Kong) Brokerage Limited, Guotai
Junan Securities (Hong Kong) Limited, Haitong International Securities Company Limited, The
Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited, Huatai Financial Holdings (Hong Kong)
Limited, J.P. Morgan Securities plc, Natixis, SMBC Nikko Securities (Hong Kong) Limited, SPDB
International Capital Limited and Standard Chartered Bank (together with the Joint Global
Coordinators, the “Joint Bookrunners” and the “Joint Lead Managers”) or the Issuer, to subscribe
for or purchase any of the Capital Securities. The distribution of this Offering Circular and the
offering of the Capital Securities in certain jurisdictions may be restricted by law. Persons into whose
possession this Offering Circular comes are required by the Issuer and the Joint Lead Managers, the
Trustee and the Agents (each as defined in the Conditions) to inform themselves about and to observe
any such restrictions. None of the Issuer or the Joint Lead Managers represents that this Offering
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Circular may be lawfully distributed, or that the Capital Securities may be lawfully offered, in
compliance with any applicable registration or other requirements in any such jurisdiction, or
pursuant to an exemption available thereunder, or assumes any responsibility for facilitating any such
distribution or offering.

No action is being taken to permit a public offering of the Capital Securities or the possession or
distribution of this Offering Circular in any jurisdiction where action would be required for such
purposes. There are restrictions on the offer, sale and resale of the Capital Securities, and the
circulation of documents relating thereto, in certain jurisdictions including, without limitation, the
United States, the United Kingdom, the European Economic Area, Hong Kong, the PRC, Singapore
and Japan and to persons connected therewith. For a description of certain further restrictions on
offers, sales and resales of the Capital Securities and distribution of this Offering Circular, see
“Subscription and Sale”. This Offering Circular is personal to each offeree and does not constitute an
offer to any other person or to the public generally to subscribe for, or otherwise acquire, the Capital
Securities. Distribution of this Offering Circular to any person other than the prospective investor and
any person retained to advise such prospective investor with respect to its purchase is unauthorised.
Each prospective investor, by accepting delivery of this Offering Circular, is deemed to have agreed
to the foregoing and to make no photocopies of this Offering Circular or any documents referred to
in this Offering Circular.

No person has been or is authorised to give any information or to make any representation concerning
the Issuer, the Group or the Capital Securities other than as contained in this Offering Circular and,
if given or made, any such other information or representation should not be relied upon as having
been authorised by the Issuer, the Joint Lead Managers, the Trustee or the Agents (each as defined in
the Conditions) or any of their respective directors, officers, employees, agents, advisers,
representatives or affiliates or any person who controls any of them. Neither the delivery of this
Offering Circular nor any offering, sale or delivery made in connection with the issue of the Capital
Securities shall, under any circumstances, constitute a representation that there has been no change
or development reasonably likely to involve a change in the affairs of the Issuer or any member of
the Group since the date hereof or create any implication that the information contained herein is
correct as at any date subsequent to the date hereof. This Offering Circular does not constitute an offer
of, or an invitation by or on behalf of the Issuer, the Joint Lead Managers, the Trustee or the Agents
or any of their respective directors, officers, employees, agents, advisers, representatives or affiliates
or any person who controls any of them to subscribe for or purchase any of the Capital Securities and
may not be used for the purpose of an offer to, or a solicitation by, anyone in any jurisdiction or in
any circumstances in which such offer or solicitation is not authorised or is unlawful.

None of the Joint Lead Managers, the Trustee or the Agents or any of their respective directors,
officers, employees, agents, advisers, representatives or affiliates or any person who controls any of
them has independently verified the information contained or incorporated by reference in this
Offering Circular. No representation or warranty, express or implied, is made or given by any of the
Joint Lead Managers, the Trustee or the Agents or any of their respective directors, officers,
employees, agents, advisers, representatives or affiliates or any person who controls any of them as
to the accuracy, completeness or sufficiency of the information contained or incorporated by reference
in this Offering Circular, and nothing contained in this Offering Circular is, or shall be relied upon
as, a promise, representation or warranty by any of the Joint Lead Managers, the Trustee or the Agents
or any of their respective directors, officers, employees, agents, advisers, representatives or affiliates
or any person who controls any of them.
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To the fullest extent permitted by law, none of the Joint Lead Managers, the Trustee or the Agents or
any of their respective directors, officers, employees, agents, advisers, representatives or affiliates or
any person who controls any of them accept any responsibility for the contents of this Offering
Circular or for any statement made or purported to be made by the Joint Lead Managers, the Trustee
or the Agents or on their behalf in connection with the Issuer, the Group or the issue and offering of
the Capital Securities. None of the Joint Lead Managers, the Trustee and the Agents accept any
responsibility for any acts or omissions of the Issuer or the Group or any other person (other than the
relevant Dealers) in connection with the issue and offering of the Capital Securities. Each of the Joint
Lead Managers, the Trustee and the Agents and their respective directors, officers, employees, agents,
advisers, representatives or affiliates or any person who controls any of them accordingly disclaims
all and any liability whether arising in tort or contract or otherwise which it might otherwise have in
respect of this Offering Circular or any such statement.

Neither this Offering Circular nor any other financial statements are intended to provide the basis of
any credit or other evaluation and should not be considered as a recommendation by any of the Issuer,
the Joint Lead Managers, the Trustee or the Agents or any of their respective directors, officers,
employees, agents, advisers, representatives or affiliates or any person who controls any of them that
any recipient of this Offering Circular or any other financial statements should purchase the Capital
Securities. Each investor contemplating purchasing Capital Securities should make its own
independent investigation of the financial condition and affairs, and its own appraisal of the
creditworthiness, of the Issuer and the Group. Each potential purchaser of Capital Securities should
determine for itself the relevance of the information contained in this Offering Circular and its
purchase of Capital Securities should be based upon such investigation with its own tax, legal and
business advisors as it deems necessary.

None of the Joint Lead Managers, the Trustee or the Agents or any of their respective directors,
officers, employees, agents, advisers, representatives or affiliates or any person who controls any of
them undertakes to review the financial condition or affairs of the Issuer or the Group during the life
of the arrangements contemplated by this Offering Circular nor to advise any investor or potential
investor in the Capital Securities of any information coming to the attention of any of the Joint Lead
Managers, the Trustee or the Agents or any of their respective directors, officers, employees, agents,
advisers, representatives or affiliates or any person who controls any of them.

IN CONNECTION WITH THE ISSUE OF THE CAPITAL SECURITIES, ANY OF THE JOINT
LEAD MANAGERS ACTING AS THE STABILISATION MANAGER(S) OR ANY PERSON
ACTING ON THEIR BEHALF MAY OVER-ALLOT CAPITAL SECURITIES OR EFFECT
TRANSACTIONS WITH A VIEW TO SUPPORTING THE MARKET PRICE OF THE CAPITAL
SECURITIES AT A LEVEL HIGHER THAN THAT WHICH MIGHT OTHERWISE PREVAIL.
HOWEVER, STABILISATION MAY NOT NECESSARILY OCCUR. ANY STABILISATION
ACTION MAY BEGIN ON OR AFTER THE DATE ON WHICH ADEQUATE PUBLIC
DISCLOSURE OF THE TERMS OF THE OFFER OF THE CAPITAL SECURITIES IS MADE
AND, IF BEGUN, MAY CEASE AT ANY TIME, BUT IT MUST END NO LATER THAN THE
EARLIER OF 30 DAYS AFTER THE ISSUE DATE OF THE CAPITAL SECURITIES AND 60
DAYS AFTER THE DATE OF THE ALLOTMENT OF THE CAPITAL SECURITIES. ANY
STABILISATION ACTION OR OVER-ALLOTMENT MUST BE CONDUCTED BY THE
STABILISATION MANAGER(S) (OR PERSON(S) ACTING ON BEHALF OF ANY
STABILISATION MANAGER(S)) IN ACCORDANCE WITH ALL APPLICABLE LAWS AND
RULES.

Any purchase or acquisition of the Capital Securities is in all respects conditional on the satisfaction
of certain conditions set out in the Subscription Agreement (as defined in “Subscription and Sale”)
and the issue of the Capital Securities by the Issuer to the Joint Lead Managers pursuant to the
Subscription Agreement. Any offer, invitation to offer or agreement made in connection with the
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purchase or acquisition of the Capital Securities pursuant to this Offering Circular shall (without
liability or responsibility on the part of the Issuer or the Joint Lead Managers) lapse and cease to have
any effect if (for any reason whatsoever) the Capital Securities are not issued by the Issuer to the Joint
Lead Managers pursuant to the Subscription Agreement.

In making an investment decision, investors must rely on their own examination of the Issuer, the
Group and the terms of the offering of the Capital Securities, including the merits and risks involved.
See “Risk Factors” for a discussion of certain considerations to be taken into account in connection
with an investment in the Capital Securities.

Each person receiving this Offering Circular acknowledges that such person has not relied on the Joint
Lead Managers, the Trustee or the Agents or any of their respective directors, officers, employees,
agents, advisers, representatives or affiliates or any person who controls any of them in connection
with its investigation of the accuracy of such information or its investment decision.

Important Notice to Prospective Investors

Prospective investors should be aware that certain intermediaries in the context of this offering of the
Capital Securities, including certain Joint Lead Managers, are ‘“capital market intermediaries”
(“CMIs”) subject to Paragraph 21 of the Code of Conduct for Persons Licensed by or Registered with
the Securities and Futures Commission (the “SFC Code”). This notice to prospective investors is a
summary of certain obligations the SFC Code imposes on such CMIs, which require the attention and
cooperation of prospective investors. Certain CMIs may also be acting as “overall coordinators”
(“OCs”) for this offering and are subject to additional requirements under the SFC Code. The
application of these obligations will depend on the roles undertaken by the relevant Joint Lead
Managers in respect of this offering.

Prospective investors who are the directors, employees or major shareholders of the Issuer, a CMI or
its group companies would be considered under the SFC Code as having an association
(“Association”) with the Issuer, the CMI or the relevant group company. Prospective investors
associated with the Issuer or any CMI (including its group companies) should specifically disclose
this when placing an order for the Capital Securities and should disclose, at the same time, if such
orders may negatively impact the price discovery process in relation to this offering. Prospective
investors who do not disclose their Associations are hereby deemed not to be so associated. Where
prospective investors disclose their Associations but do not disclose that such order may negatively
impact the price discovery process in relation to this offering, such order is hereby deemed not to
negatively impact the price discovery process in relation to this offering.

Prospective investors should ensure, and by placing an order prospective investors are deemed to
confirm, that orders placed are bona fide, are not inflated and do not constitute duplicated orders (i.e.
two or more corresponding or identical orders placed via two or more CMIs). A rebate may be offered
by the Issuer to all private banks for orders they place (other than in relation to Capital Securities
subscribed by such private banks as principal whereby it is deploying its own balance sheet for
onward selling to investors), payable upon closing of this offering based on the principal amount of
the Capital Securities distributed by such private banks to investors. Private banks are deemed to be
placing an order on a principal basis unless they inform the CMIs otherwise. As a result, private banks
placing an order on a principal basis (including those deemed as placing an order as principal) will
not be entitled to, and will not be paid, the rebate. If a prospective investor is an asset management
arm affiliated with any Joint Lead Manager, such prospective investor should indicate when placing
an order if it is for a fund or portfolio where the Joint Lead Manager or its group company has more
than 50 per cent. interest, in which case it will be classified as a “proprietary order” and subject to
appropriate handling by CMIs in accordance with the SFC Code and should disclose, at the same time,
if such “proprietary order” may negatively impact the price discovery process in relation to this
offering. Prospective investors who do not indicate this information when placing an order are hereby
deemed to confirm that their order is not a “proprietary order”. If a prospective investor is otherwise
affiliated with any Joint Lead Manager, such that its order may be considered to be a “proprietary



order” (pursuant to the SFC Code), such prospective investor should indicate to the relevant Joint
Lead Manager when placing such order. Prospective investors who do not indicate this information
when placing an order are hereby deemed to confirm that their order is not a “proprietary order”.
Where prospective investors disclose such information but do not disclose that such “proprietary
order” may negatively impact the price discovery process in relation to this offering, such
“proprietary order” is hereby deemed not to negatively impact the price discovery process in relation
to this offering.

Prospective investors should be aware that certain information may be disclosed by CMIs (including
private banks) which is personal and/or confidential in nature to the prospective investor. By placing
an order, prospective investors are deemed to have understood and consented to the collection,
disclosure, use and transfer of such information by the Joint Lead Managers and/or any other third
parties as may be required by the SFC Code, including to the Issuer, any OCs, relevant regulators
and/or any other third parties as may be required by the SFC Code, it being understood and agreed
that such information shall only be used for the purpose of complying with the SFC Code, during the
bookbuilding process for this offering. Failure to provide such information may result in that order
being rejected.

Guidance under the HKMA Circular — In October 2022, the HKMA issued guidance on enhanced
investor protection measures on the sale and distribution of debt instruments with loss-absorption
features and related products (such as the Capital Securities) (the “HKMA Circular”). Under the
HKMA Circular, debt instruments with loss absorption features, being subject to the risk of being
written-down or converted to ordinary shares, and investment products that invest mainly in, or whose
returns are closely linked to the performance of such instruments, are to be targeted in Hong Kong
at professional investors (as defined in The Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571) of Hong
Kong (the “SFO”) and any subsidiary legislations or rules made under the SFO.
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CERTAIN DEFINED TERMS AND CONVENTIONS

Unless otherwise specified or the context requires otherwise, references herein to the “Issuer” or the
“Bank” are to Nanyang Commercial Bank, Limited and its consolidated subsidiaries.

Unless otherwise specified or the context requires, references herein to “Hong Kong dollars”, “HK
dollars” and “HK$” are to the lawful currency of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of
the People’s Republic of China (“Hong Kong”), references herein to “U.S. dollars” or “U.S.$” are
to the lawful currency of the United States of America, references herein to “Renminbi” or “RMB”
are to the lawful currency of the People’s Republic of China, references to “PRC” are to the People’s
Republic of China excluding Hong Kong, the Macau Special Administrative Region and Taiwan of the
People’s Republic of China, references to “HKFRSs” are to Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards.

The English names of the PRC nationals, entities, departments, facilities, laws, regulations,
governmental authorities, certificates, titles and the like are translations of their Chinese names and
are included for identification purposes only. In the event of any inconsistency, the Chinese name
shall prevail.

EXCHANGE RATE INFORMATION

This Offering Circular contains translations of certain Hong Kong dollar amounts into U.S. dollars at
specified rates solely for the convenience of the readers. Unless otherwise specified, where financial
information has been translated into U.S. dollars, it has been so translated, for information purposes
only, at the rate of HK$7.8472 equal to U.S.$1.00 (being the average of the buying and selling rates
of the opening indicative counter exchange rate published by the Hong Kong Association of Banks as
at 30 June 2022). All such translations in this Offering Circular are provided solely for investors’
convenience and no representation is made that the Hong Kong dollar or U.S. dollar amounts referred
to in this Offering Circular could have been or could be converted into Hong Kong dollars or U.S.
dollars, as the case may be, at any particular rate or at all.

PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

This Offering Circular contains the Issuer’s consolidated financial information as at and for the years
ended 31 December 2019, 2020 and 2021 and the six months ended 30 June 2021 and 2022. The
Issuer’s consolidated financial information as at and for the years ended 31 December 2019, 2020 and
2021 has been extracted from the audited consolidated financial statements of the Issuer as at and for
the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2021 included elsewhere in this Offering Circular. Such
consolidated financial statements, which were prepared and presented in accordance with the
HKFRSs, have been audited by Ernst & Young, Certified Public Accountants (“Ernst & Young”), the
independent auditors of the Issuer. The Issuer’s condensed consolidated interim financial information
as at and for the six months ended 30 June 2021 and 2022 has been extracted from the unaudited
condensed consolidated interim financial statements of the Issuer as at and for the six months ended
30 June 2022 included elsewhere in this Offering Circular. Such condensed consolidated interim
financial statements, which were prepared and presented in accordance with the Hong Kong
Accounting Standard 34 “Interim Financial Reporting” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, have been reviewed by Ernst & Young. Unless otherwise specified, the financial
information set out in this Offering Circular is presented on a consolidated basis for the Issuer and
its subsidiaries.
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ROUNDING

In this Offering Circular, where information has been presented in thousands or millions of units,
amounts may have been rounded up or down. Accordingly, totals of columns or rows of numbers in
tables may not be equal to the apparent total of the individual items and actual numbers may differ
from those contained herein due to rounding. References to information in billions of units are to the
equivalent of a thousand million units.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Offering Circular contains forward-looking statements regarding the intent, belief or current
expectations of the Issuer held reasonably with respect to the Issuer’s or the Group’s financial
condition and future results of operations. In many cases, but not all, words such as “anticipate”,
“believe”, “estimate”, “expect”, “intend”, “may”, “plan”, “probability”, “project”, “risk”, “seek”,
“should”, “target” and similar expressions are used in relation to the Issuer or the Group to identify
forward-looking statements. Investors can also identify forward-looking statements in discussions of
strategies, plans or intentions. These statements reflect the current views of the Issuer with respect
to future events and are subject to risks, uncertainties and assumptions. Should one or more of these
risks or uncertainties materialise, or should underlying assumptions prove incorrect, the Issuer’s or
the Group’s actual results may vary materially from those it currently anticipates. Given these risks
and uncertainties, prospective investors are cautioned not to place undue reliance on forward-looking
statements, which speak only as at the date of this Offering Circular. The Issuer disclaims any
obligation to update, or to announce publicly any revision to, any of the forward-looking statements
contained in this Offering Circular to reflect future actual events or developments. The information
contained in this Offering Circular, including without limitation the information under “Risk Factors”
and “Business of the Group”, identifies important factors that might cause the forward-looking
statements not to be realised. All subsequent forward-looking statements attributable to the Issuer, the
Group or any person acting on their behalf are expressly qualified in their entirety by the cautionary
statements contained or referred to in this Offering Circular.
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SUMMARY

The summary below is only intended to provide a limited overview of information described in more
detail elsewhere in this Offering Circular. As it is a summary, it does not contain all of the information
that may be important to investors and terms defined elsewhere in this Offering Circular shall have
the same meanings when used in this summary. Prospective investors should therefore read this

Offering Circular in its entirety.
Overview

The Group is one of the oldest local banks in Hong Kong, having commenced business in 1949. The
Group possesses nearly 70 years of operating history, a highly recognised brand, an extensive branch
network, a stable and loyal customer base, expertise in providing cross-border services and robust
financial conditions. As at 30 June 2022, the Group’s total consolidated assets, advances to customers
and deposits from customers were HK$538,609.12 million, HK$291,583.27 million and
HK$369,451.96 million, respectively. As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s total consolidated assets,
advances to customers and deposits from customers were HK$536,331.00 million, HK$291,549.85
million and HK$383,781.39 million, respectively. As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s total
consolidated assets, advances to customers and deposits from customers were HK$505,698.16
million, HK$276,694.77 million and HK$351,629.93 million, respectively. As at 31 December 2019,
the Group’s total consolidated assets, advances to customers and deposits from customers were
HK$489,588.85 million, HK$260,395.54 million and HK$345,887.78 million, respectively.

The Group’s core business services include wealth management services, trade finance, deposit
taking, foreign currency savings, remittances, investment services, home mortgage loans, personal
loans, credit cards, safe deposit boxes, personal Renminbi services, internet banking services and
insurance broker services.

As at 31 January 2023, the Group offered a broad range of banking and related financial services in
Hong Kong through a network of 34 branches, strategically located to provide coverage for the core
districts on Hong Kong Island, Kowloon and the New Territories. The Group’s market-leading
position in Renminbi and cross-border banking services is evidenced by the continued recognitions
and awards received from various organisations. The Group also has extensive experience in operating
cross-border banking business. The Group started to provide China-related banking services since
1979 through its China Investment Consultation Department and was one of the first foreign movers
in the PRC banking industry when it established its Shenzhen branch in the Shenzhen Special
Economic Zone in 1982. The Group was the first foreign bank operating in China since the
establishment of the PRC, it granted the first foreign bank loan in China since its adoption of its
reform and opening-up policy, and it was also among the first banks which provided “offshore
guarantee for onshore loan” products and was one of the first three foreign banks approved by the
China Banking Regulatory Commission (“CBRC”) to issue credit cards in China.

In terms of the Group’s overseas operations, the Group had 38 branches/sub-branches in total in the
PRC as at 31 January 2023. The Group’s PRC businesses are operated through NCB (China), which
is the Group’s PRC-incorporated bank with its headquarters in Shanghai. NCB (China)’s business
network covers the Pearl River Delta, the Yangtze River Delta Economic Zone and the Bohai
Economic Rim, with branches/ sub-branches in major cities in the PRC such as Shanghai, Beijing,
Dalian, Qingdao, Wuxi, Hefei, Suzhou, Hangzhou, Chengdu, Shenzhen, Nanning, Shantou, Wuhan,
Guangzhou, Haikou and Chongqing.




In 2007, the Group established NCB (China) as a PRC-incorporated bank. The Group’s branches and
their businesses in the PRC were consolidated under NCB (China) for further expansion of the
Group’s PRC presence. NCB (China) has continued to expand its PRC presence. As at the date of this
Offering Circular, NCB (China) has obtained the relevant licences for operating its cross-border
Renminbi business, foreign exchange settlement business, credit card business, derivatives business,
insurance business, offshore wealth management business, investment fund business, interbank
lending business, gold trading business and currency swap business, in the PRC.

The Group became a wholly-owned subsidiary of China Cinda in 2016, which allowed China Cinda
to achieve additional financial and operational stability through its integration with a well-established
commercial bank in Hong Kong, strengthening its leading advantage as an non-performing asset
management business and creating an integrated asset management and financial services brand name.
It was also an important step in the Group’s development and holds huge significance for the future
development of the Group as a core banking platform within the China Cinda group.

As at 31 December 2019, 2020 and 2021 and 30 June 2022, the Group’s total capital adequacy ratio
was approximately 21.73 per cent., 19.26 per cent., 18.46 per cent. and 17.13 per cent., respectively,
compared with the statutory minimum requirement of total capital adequacy ratio of 8.0 per cent. For
the years ended 31 December 2019, 2020 and 2021, the average value of the Group’s quarterly
liquidity coverage ratio for the last quarter of the year was 154.97 per cent., 149.77 per cent. and
153.44 per cent., respectively. For the six months ended 30 June 2022, the average value of the
Group’s quarterly liquidity coverage ratio for the quarter ended 31 March 2022 and the quarter ended
30 June 2022 was 163.59 per cent. and 143.98 per cent., respectively.

For the years ended 31 December 2019, 2020 and 2021 and the six months ended 30 June 2021 and
2022, the Group’s profit after taxation was HK$3,951million, HK$3,815 million, HK$3,231 million,
HK$1,914 million and HK$1,998 million, respectively. For the years ended 31 December 2019, 2020
and 2021 and the six months ended 30 June 2021 and 2022, the Group achieved a return on average
assets of approximately 0.73 per cent., 0.77 per cent., 0.62 per cent., 0.74 per cent. and 0.74 per cent.,
respectively, and a return on average equity of approximately 7.30 per cent., 6.49 per cent., 4.99 per
cent., 6.50 per cent. and 6.55 per cent., respectively.

Competitive strengths

The Group believes its key strengths are as follows:

° The Group has a prudent risk management culture with outstanding risk control performance.

° The Group benefited from the high degree of main businesses relevance with and all-round
support from China Cinda.

° The Group is benefited from the strong synergy of businesses in Hong Kong and the PRC.

° The Group has maintained stable financial performance.




Strategies

The key components of the Group’s strategy are set out below:

° Dual track expansion and integration of businesses in Hong Kong and the PRC.

° Development of a balanced corporate and personal banking business portfolio.

° Focus on development of customers with cross border business or asset management needs.

Recent Developments

In 2022, the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, coupled with the spread of new COVID-19 variants and
policies implemented by the PRC and Hong Kong governments to deter the spread of the disease, had
an adverse effect on consumer confidence and the general economic conditions which the Group’s
business is subject to. Furthermore, the US Federal Reserve has begun tapering its quantitative easing
monetary policies and raised its benchmark interest rates in response to rising inflation rates. Since
March 2022, the United States Federal Open Market Committee has raised its benchmark interest rates
for eight times, pushing it from 0.25 per cent. to 4.75 per cent. to counteract rising inflation caused
by supply-chain disruption during the pandemic, and this has adversely impacted global liquidity,
heightened market volatility and increased US/Hong Kong dollar funding costs. They pose both new
opportunities and challenges to the development of the Group.

In the face of the COVID-19 pandemic and volatile macroeconomic environment in 2022, the Group
has continued to closely manage its business operations and financial condition to reduce risk and
maintain stable growth and development. The Group continues to expand, and as 31 January 2023, the
Group offered a broad range of banking and related financial services in Hong Kong through a
network of 34 branches strategically located to provide coverage for the core districts on Hong Kong
Island, Kowloon and the New Territories; in terms of the Group’s operations in mainland China, the
Group had a total of 38 branches/sub-branches in the PRC.

The Group continues to take on challenges and actively respond to market changes and its own
strengths and weaknesses. The Group aims to fully utilise its established close strategic and
cooperative partnerships, and further strengthen its relationships with major financial institutions. For
instance, the Group entered into a long-term bancassurance partnership agreement with FWD Hong
Kong in September 2022, working together to provide the Group’s Hong Kong and inbound visitors
with a more diversified portfolio of life insurance products and services, including savings plans,
healthcare protection and other insurance products.




THE OFFERING

The following is a brief summary of certain terms of this Offering. For a more detailed description
of the terms of the Capital Securities, see “Terms and Conditions of the Capital Securities”.
Capitalised terms used herein and not defined have the meanings given to them in “Terms and
Conditions of the Capital Securities”.

The Issuer Nanyang Commercial Bank, Limited, a company
incorporated with limited liability in Hong Kong.

Description U.S.$300,000,000 7.35 per cent. Non-Cumulative
Subordinated Additional Tier 1 Capital Securities.

Issue Price 100.00 per cent.
Issue Date 7 March 2023.
Maturity Date The Capital Securities are perpetual securities in respect of

which there is no fixed redemption date. The Capital
Securities may not be redeemed at the option of the Issuer
other than in accordance with Condition 6 (Redemption and
Purchase).

Form and Denomination The Capital Securities will be issued in registered form in
denominations of U.S.$250,000 and integral multiples of
U.S.$1,000 in excess thereof.

Status and Subordination of the The Capital Securities constitute direct, unsecured and
Capital Securities subordinated obligations of the Issuer and shall at all times
rank pari passu and without any preference among
themselves. The rights and claims of the Holders are

subordinated in the manner described below.

Subject to the insolvency laws of Hong Kong and other
applicable laws, in the event of a Winding-Up of the Issuer
(other than pursuant to a Permitted Reorganisation (as
defined below), the rights and claims against the Issuer of the
Holders to payment of principal and Distribution on the
Capital Securities and any other obligations in respect of the
Capital Securities shall rank (x) subordinate and junior in
right of payment to, and of all claims of (i) all unsubordinated
creditors of the Issuer (including its depositors), (ii) holders
of Tier 2 Capital Instruments of the Issuer, and (iii) all other
Subordinated Creditors of the Issuer whose claims are stated
to rank senior to the Capital Securities or rank senior to the
Capital Securities by operation of law or contract; (y) pari
passu in right of payment to and of all claims of the holders
of Parity Obligations; and (z) senior in right of payment to
and of all claims of the holders of Junior Obligations.




In the event of a Winding-Up that requires the Holders or the
Trustee to provide evidence of their claim to principal or
Distribution under the Capital Securities, such claims of the
Holders will only be satisfied after all obligations of the
Issuer ranking senior to the Capital Securities have been
satisfied in whole. No amount may be claimed in respect of
any Distribution that has been cancelled pursuant to a
Mandatory Distribution Cancellation Event or an Optional
Distribution Cancellation Event.

“Additional Tier 1 Capital Instrument” means any
instruments or other obligations issued, entered into or
guaranteed by the Issuer that constitute or qualify as
additional tier 1 capital (or its equivalent) pursuant to the
applicable Capital Regulations.

“Authorised Institution” has the meaning given to that term
in the Banking Ordinance (Cap. 155) of Hong Kong, as
amended or superseded from time to time.

“Capital Regulations” means the Banking (Capital) Rules
(Cap. 155L) of Hong Kong, as amended or superseded from
time to time, or any other capital rules or regulations from
time to time applicable to the regulatory capital of Authorised
Institutions incorporated in Hong Kong as issued or
implemented by the Monetary Authority.

“Junior Obligation” means the Shares, and any other class of
the Issuer’s share capital and any instrument or other
obligation (including without limitation any preference
share) issued, entered into or guaranteed by the Issuer that
ranks or is expressed to rank junior to the Capital Securities
by operation of law or contract.

“Monetary Authority” means the Monetary Authority
appointed under section 5A of the Exchange Fund Ordinance
(Cap 66) of Hong Kong or any successor thereto.

“Parity Obligation” means any Additional Tier 1 Capital
Instrument or any instrument or other obligation issued,
entered into, or guaranteed by the Issuer that ranks or is
expressed to rank pari passu with the Capital Securities by
operation of law or contract which, for the avoidance of
doubt, excludes any Junior Obligation of the Issuer.

“Permitted Reorganisation” means any solvent
reconstruction, amalgamation, reorganisation, merger or
consolidation whereby all or substantially all the business,
undertaking or assets of the Issuer are transferred to a
successor entity which assumes all the obligations of the
Issuer under the Capital Securities.

“Shares” means the ordinary share capital of the Issuer.




No Set-off

Distributions

Non-Cumulative Distributions

Distribution Rate

“Subordinated Creditors” means all creditors the
indebtedness of which is subordinated, in the event of the
Winding-Up of the Issuer, in right of payment to the claims of
depositors and other unsubordinated creditors of the Issuer
other than those whose claims rank or are expressed to rank
by operation of law or contract pari passu with, or junior to,
the claims of the Holders of the Capital Securities. For this
purpose indebtedness shall include all liabilities, whether
actual or contingent.

“Tier 2 Capital Instrument” means any instruments or other
obligations issued, entered into or guaranteed by the Issuer
that constitute or qualify as tier 2 capital (or its equivalent)
pursuant to the applicable Capital Regulations.

“Winding-Up” means a final and effective order or
resolution by a judicial authority in the jurisdiction of
incorporation of the Issuer for the liquidation, winding-up or
similar proceedings in respect of the Issuer.

Subject to applicable laws, no Holder may exercise, claim or
plead any right of set-off, counter-claim or retention in
respect of any amount owed to it by the Issuer arising under
or in connection with the Capital Securities and each Holder
shall, by virtue of being the Holder of any Capital Security be
deemed to have waived all such rights of such set-off,
counter-claim or retention.

Subject to Condition 4.2 (Distribution — Distribution
Restrictions), the Capital Securities confer a right to receive
non-cumulative distributions (each a “Distribution”) on their
outstanding principal amount (subject to adjustment
following the occurrence of a Non-Viability Event in
accordance with Condition 4.3 (Distribution — Non-Viability
Loss Absorption) from, and including, the Issue Date at the
applicable Distribution Rate, payable semi-annually in arrear
on 7 March and 7 September in each year in equal instalments
in respect of the period beginning on and including the Issue
Date and ending on but excluding the First Call Date, and
each Reset Distribution Period, respectively.

Distributions will not be cumulative and Distributions which
are not paid in accordance with the Conditions will not
accumulate or compound and Holders will have no right to
receive such Distributions at any time, even if subsequent
Distributions are paid in the future, or be entitled to any claim
in respect thereof against the Issuer.

The Distribution Rate applicable to the Capital Securities
shall be:

(i) in respect of the period from, and including, the Issue
Date to, but excluding, 7 March 2028 (the “First Call
Date”), 7.35 per cent. per annum;




Optional Distribution
Cancellation Event

Mandatory Distribution
Cancellation Event

No Obligation to Pay

(i1) in respect of the period from, and including, the First
Call Date and each Distribution Reset Date thereafter to,
but excluding, the immediately following Distribution
Reset Date, the relevant Reset Distribution Rate.

“Distribution Reset Date” means the First Call Date and
each anniversary falling five years thereafter.

“Reset Distribution Period” means the period from, and
including, a Distribution Reset Date to, but excluding, the
immediately following Distribution Reset Date.

“Reset Distribution Rate” means, in relation to a Reset
Distribution Period, a fixed rate per annum (expressed as a
percentage) equal to the aggregate of (a) the Treasury Rate
(as determined in Condition 4.1(b) (Distribution —
Distribution Payments — Distribution Rate)) with respect to
the relevant Distribution Reset Date and (b) the Spread.

“Spread” means 3.158 per cent. per annum.

Unless a Distribution has already been cancelled in full
pursuant to a Mandatory Distribution Cancellation Event,
prior to any Distribution Payment Date the Issuer may, at its
sole discretion, elect to cancel any payment of Distributions,
in whole or in part, by giving a notice signed by any one
Director of the Issuer, as further described in Condition
4.2(a) (Distribution — Distribution Restrictions — Optional
Distribution Cancellation Event).

Notwithstanding that a Distribution Cancellation Notice may
not have been given, the Issuer shall not be obliged to pay,
and shall not pay, any Distribution on the applicable
Distribution Payment Date, in whole or in part, as applicable,
upon a Mandatory Distribution Cancellation Event, as further
described in Condition 4.2(b) (Distribution — Distribution
Restrictions — Mandatory Distribution Cancellation Event).

The Issuer shall have no obligation to pay a Distribution on
any Distribution Payment Date if such non-payment is in
accordance with Condition 4.2(b) (Distribution —
Distribution  Restrictions —  Mandatory Distribution
Cancellation Event) and any failure to pay such Distribution
shall not constitute an Event of Default. Distributions are
non-cumulative and therefore any Distribution which is
cancelled in accordance with these Conditions shall not be
payable at any time thereafter whether in a Winding-Up or
otherwise.




No Claim by Holders for
Distributions

Distributable Reserves

Dividend Stopper

No Holder shall have any claim in respect of any Distribution
or part thereof cancelled and/or not due or payable as
described under Condition 4.1 (Distribution — Distribution
Payments) and Condition 4.2 (Distribution — Distribution
Restrictions). Accordingly, such Distribution shall not
accumulate for the benefit of Holders or entitle the Holders to
any claim in respect thereof against the Issuer.

Any Distribution may only be paid out of Distributable
Reserves.

“Distributable Reserves” means the amounts for the time
being available to the Issuer for distribution as a distribution
in compliance with section 297 of the Companies Ordinance
(Cap. 622) of Hong Kong, as amended or superseded from
time to time, as at the date of the Issuer’s audited balance
sheet last preceding the relevant Distribution Payment Date,
and subject to the Monetary Authority’s then current capital
conservation requirements as applicable to the Issuer on the
relevant Distribution Payment Date (the “Available
Amount”); provided that if the Issuer reasonably determines
that the Available Amount as at any Distribution
Determination Date is lower than the Available Amount as at
the date of the Issuer’s audited balance sheet last preceding
the relevant Distribution Payment Date and is insufficient to
pay the Distributions and any payments due on Parity
Obligations on the relevant Distribution Payment Date, then
on certification by any one Director and the Auditors of such
revised amount, the Distributable Reserves shall for the
purposes of Distributions mean the Available Amount as set
forth in such certificate.

As at the date hereof, pursuant to section 297(1) of the
Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622) of Hong Kong, the Issuer
may only make a distribution out of profits available for
distribution. For the purposes of section 297 of the
Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622) of Hong Kong, the Issuer’s
profits available for distribution are its accumulated,
realised profits, so far as not previously utilised by
distribution or capitalisation, less its accumulated, realised
losses, so far as not previously written off in a reduction or
reorganization of capital.

If, on any Distribution Payment Date, payment of
Distribution scheduled to be paid is not made in full by
reason of Condition 4.2 (Distribution — Distribution
Restrictions), the Issuer shall not:

(i) declare or pay in cash any distribution or dividend or
make any other payment in cash on, and will procure
that no distribution or dividend in cash or other payment
in cash is made on, any Shares; or




Non-Viability Loss Absorption

(i1) purchase, cancel or otherwise acquire any Shares or
permit any of its Subsidiaries (as defined in Condition
4.4 (Distribution — Hong Kong Resolution Authority
Power)) to do so,

in each case, unless or until the earlier of: (A) the
Distribution scheduled to be paid on any subsequent
Distribution Payment Date (which, for the avoidance of
doubt, shall exclude any Distribution that has been cancelled
in accordance with these Conditions prior to and in respect of
a Distribution Payment Date preceding such subsequent
Distribution Payment Date) has been paid in full to Holders
or a designated third party trust account for the benefit of the
Holders, or (B) the redemption or purchase and cancellation
of the Capital Securities in full, or reduction of the
outstanding principal amount of the Capital Securities in
accordance with these Conditions to zero, or (C) the Issuer is
permitted to do so by an Extraordinary Resolution (as defined
in the Trust Deed) of the Holders.

See “Terms and Conditions of the Capital Securities —
Dividend Stopper” for further information.

If a Non-Viability Event occurs and is continuing, the Issuer
shall, upon the date that the Issuer specifies in a
Non-Viability Event Notice (which date, for the avoidance of
doubt, can be on or prior to the date of the Non-Viability
Event Notice), irrevocably (without the need for the consent
of the Holders) reduce the then outstanding principal amount
of, and cancel any accrued but unpaid Distribution in respect
of, each Capital Security (in each case in whole or in part) by
an amount equal to the Non-Viability Event Write-off Amount
per Capital Security (such reduction and cancellation, and the
reduction and cancellation or conversion of any other
Subordinated Capital Securities so reduced and cancelled or
converted upon the occurrence of a Non-Viability Event,
where applicable, being referred to herein as the “Write-off”,
and “Written-off” shall be construed accordingly).

“Hong Kong Business Day” means a day (other than a
Saturday, Sunday or public holiday) on which commercial
banks and foreign exchange markets are open for general
business in Hong Kong.

“Loss Absorption Effective Date” means the date that will
be specified as such in the applicable Non-Viability Event
Notice.

“Non-Viability Event” means the earlier of:

(i) the Monetary Authority notifying the Issuer in writing
that the Monetary Authority is of the opinion that a
Write-off or conversion is necessary, without which the
Issuer would become non-viable; and




(i1) the Monetary Authority notifying the Issuer in writing
that a decision has been made by the government body,
a government officer or other relevant regulatory body
with the authority to make such a decision, that a public
sector injection of capital or equivalent support is
necessary, without which the Issuer would become
non-viable.

“Non-Viability Event Notice” means the notice which shall
be given by the Issuer not more than two Hong Kong
Business Days after the occurrence of a Non-Viability Event,
to the Holders, the Trustee and the Paying Agents, in
accordance with the Conditions and which shall state:

(i) in reasonable detail, the nature of the relevant
Non-Viability Event;

(i) the Non-Viability Event Write-off Amount for (a) each
Capital Security, (b) each other Subordinated Capital
Security on the Loss Absorption Effective Date in
accordance with its terms; and

(iii) specifying the Loss Absorption Effective Date.

“Non-Viability Event Write-off Amount” means the amount
of Distribution and/or principal to be Written-off as the
Monetary Authority may direct or, in the absence of such a
direction, as the Issuer shall (in consultation with the
Monetary Authority) determine to be necessary to satisfy the
Monetary Authority that the Non-Viability Event will cease to
continue. For the avoidance of doubt, (i) the full amount of
the Capital Securities will be Written-off in full in the event
that the amount Written-off is not sufficient for the
Non-Viability Event to cease to continue and (ii) in the case
of an event falling within paragraph (b) of the definition of
Non-Viability Event, the Write-off will be effected in full
before any public sector injection of capital or equivalent
support. Further, the Non-Viability Event Write-off Amount
in respect of each Capital Security will be calculated based on
a percentage of the outstanding principal amount of that
Capital Security.

“Subordinated Capital Security” means any Junior
Obligation, Parity Obligation or Tier 2 Capital Security
which contains provisions relating to a write-down or
conversion into ordinary shares in respect of its outstanding
principal amount on the occurrence, or as a result, of a
Non-Viability Event and in respect of which the conditions (if
any) to the operation of such provisions are (or with the
giving of any certificate or notice which is capable of being
given by the Issuer, would be) satisfied.

See “Terms and Conditions of the Capital Securities —
Non-Viability Loss Absorption” for further information.
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Consequence of Non-Viability
Loss Absorption

Hong Kong Resolution
Authority Power

Once the outstanding principal amount of, and any accrued
but unpaid Distribution under, the Capital Securities has been
Written-off, the relevant amount(s) Written-off will not be
restored in any circumstances including where the relevant
Non-Viability Event ceases to continue. No Holder may
exercise, claim or plead any right to any amount that has been
Written-off, and each Holder shall, by virtue of his holding of
any Capital Securities, be deemed to have waived all such
rights to such amount that has been Written-off.

Notwithstanding any other term of the Capital Securities,
including without limitation Condition 4.3 (Distribution —
Non-Viability Loss Absorption), or any other agreement or
arrangement, each Holder and the Trustee shall be subject,
and shall be deemed to agree, be bound by and acknowledge
that they are each subject, to having the Capital Securities
being written off, cancelled, converted or modified, or to
having the form of the Capital Securities changed in the
exercise of any Hong Kong Resolution Authority Power by
the relevant Hong Kong Resolution Authority without prior
notice and which may include (without limitation) and result
in any of the following or some combination thereof:

(i) the reduction or cancellation of all or a part of the
outstanding principal amount of, or Distributions on, the
Capital Securities;

(ii) the conversion of all or a part of the outstanding
principal amount of, or Distributions on, the Capital
Securities into shares or other securities or other
obligations of the Issuer or another person (and the issue
to or conferral on the holder of such shares, securities or
obligations), including by means of an amendment,
modification or variation of the terms of the Capital
Securities; and

(iii) the amendment or alteration of the maturity of the
Capital Securities or amendment or alteration of the
amount of Distributions payable on the Capital
Securities, or the date on which the Distributions
become payable, including by suspending payment for a
temporary period, or any other amendment or alteration
of these Conditions.

With respect to (i), (ii) and (iii) above, references to principal
and Distribution shall include payments of principal and
Distribution that have become due and payable (including
principal that has become due and payable at the redemption
date), but which have not been paid, prior to the exercise of
any Hong Kong Resolution Authority Power. The rights of the
Holders and the Trustee under the Capital Securities and
these Conditions are subject to, and will be amended and
varied, if necessary, solely to give effect to, the exercise of
any Hong Kong Resolution Authority Power by the relevant
Hong Kong Resolution Authority.
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No repayment of the outstanding principal amount of the
Capital Securities or payment of Distributions on the Capital
Securities shall become due and payable or be paid after the
exercise of any Hong Kong Resolution Authority Power by
the relevant Hong Kong Resolution Authority unless, at the
time that such repayment or payment, respectively, is
scheduled to become due, such repayment or payment would
be permitted to be made by the Issuer under the laws and
regulations applicable to the Issuer and the Group.

Upon the exercise of any Hong Kong Resolution Authority
Power by the relevant Hong Kong Resolution Authority with
respect to the Capital Securities, the Issuer shall provide a
written notice not more than two Hong Kong Business Days
after the occurrence of such exercise regarding such exercise
of the Hong Kong Resolution Authority Power to the Holders
in accordance with Condition 12 (Notices).

Neither the reduction or cancellation, in part or in full, of the
outstanding principal amount of, or Distributions on the
Capital Securities, the conversion thereof into another share,
security or obligation of the Issuer or another person, or any
other amendment or alteration of these Conditions, or any
other modification or change in form of the Capital Securities
as a result of the exercise of any Hong Kong Resolution
Authority Power by the relevant Hong Kong Resolution
Authority with respect to the Issuer nor the exercise of the
Hong Kong Resolution Authority Power by the relevant Hong
Kong Resolution Authority with respect to the Capital
Securities shall constitute an Event of Default under
Condition 9.1 (Events of Default and Winding-Up
Proceedings).

“Hong Kong Resolution Authority Power” means any
power which may exist from time to time under the
Resolution Ordinance or any other laws, regulations, rules or
requirements relating to financial institutions, including
licensed banks, deposit-taking companies, restricted licence
banks, banking group companies, insurance companies and/or
investment firms incorporated in or authorised, designated,
recognised or licensed to conduct regulated financial
activities in Hong Kong in effect and applicable in Hong
Kong to the Issuer or other members of the Group (including,
for the avoidance of doubt, powers under Part 4 and Part 5 of
the Resolution Ordinance) or any other laws, regulations,
rules or requirements relating thereto, as the same may be
amended from time to time (whether pursuant to the
Resolution Ordinance or otherwise), and pursuant to which
obligations of a licensed bank, deposit-taking company,
restricted licence bank, banking group company, insurance
company or investment firm or any of its affiliates can be
reduced, cancelled, transferred, modified and/or converted
into shares or other securities or obligations of the obligor or
any other person.
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Redemption at the Option of
the Issuer

Redemption for Tax Reasons

“relevant Hong Kong Resolution Authority” means any
authority with the ability to exercise a Hong Kong Resolution
Authority Power in relation to the Issuer from time to time.

“Resolution Ordinance” means the Financial Institutions
(Resolution) Ordinance (Cap. 628) of Hong Kong as amended
or superseded from time to time.

“Subsidiary” means any company (i) in which the Issuer
holds a majority of the voting rights, (ii) of which the Issuer
is a member and has the right to appoint or remove a majority
of the Directors or (iii) of which the Issuer is a member and
controls a majority of the voting rights, and includes any
company which is a Subsidiary of a Subsidiary of the Issuer.

See “Terms and Conditions of the Capital Securities — Hong
Kong Resolution Authority Power” for further information.

The Issuer may redeem the Capital Securities then
outstanding in whole, but not in part, on the First Call Date
or any Distribution Payment Date thereafter, at their
outstanding principal amount together (if appropriate) with
Distributions accrued to (but excluding) the date of
redemption, as further described in “Terms and Conditions of
the Capital Securities — Redemption and Purchase —
Redemption at the option of the Issuer (Issuer Call)”.

Subject to Condition 6.6 (Redemption and Purchase —
Conditions for Redemption and Purchase in respect of the
Capital Securities), the Capital Securities then outstanding
may be redeemed at the option of the Issuer in whole, but not
in part, at any time, on giving not less than 30 nor more than
60 days’ notice to the Trustee and the Principal Paying Agent
and, in accordance with Condition 12 (Notices), the Holders
(which notice shall be irrevocable and shall specify the date
fixed for redemption), if the Issuer satisfies the Trustee
immediately before the giving of such notice that (a) on the
occasion of the next payment due under the Capital
Securities, the Issuer has or will become obliged to pay
additional amounts as provided or referred to in Condition 7
(Taxation) as a result of any change in, or amendment to, the
laws or regulations of Hong Kong or any political subdivision
or any authority thereof or therein having the power to tax, or
any change in the application or official interpretation of such
laws or regulations, which change or amendment becomes
effective on or after 28 February 2023 and (b) such obligation
cannot be avoided by the Issuer taking reasonable measures
available to it.

See “Terms and Conditions of the Capital Securities —
Redemption and Purchase — Redemption for tax reasons” for
further information.
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Redemption for Tax Deduction
Reasons

Redemption for Regulatory
Reasons

Subject to Condition 6.6 (Redemption and Purchase —
Conditions for Redemption and Purchase in respect of the
Capital Securities), the Capital Securities then outstanding
may be redeemed at the option of the Issuer in whole, but not
in part, at any time, on giving not less than 30 nor more than
60 days’ notice to the Trustee and the Principal Paying Agent,
and, in accordance with Condition 12 (Notices), the Holders
(which notice shall be irrevocable, subject to Condition 4.3
(Distribution — Non-Viability Loss Absorption), and shall
specify the date fixed for redemption), if the Issuer satisfies
the Trustee immediately before the giving of such notice that:

(i) in respect of the Distributions payable on the Capital
Securities, the Issuer is no longer, or will no longer be,
entitled to claim a deduction in respect of computing its
taxation liabilities in Hong Kong or any political
subdivision or any authority thereof or therein having
power to tax as a result of any change in, or amendment
to, the laws or regulations of Hong Kong or any political
subdivision or any authority thereof or therein or any
change in the application or official interpretation of
such laws or regulations, which change or amendment
becomes effective on or after 28 February 2023; and

(ii) such non tax deductibility cannot be avoided by the
Issuer taking reasonable measures available to it.

See “Terms and Conditions of the Capital Securities —
Redemption and Purchase — Redemption for tax deduction
reasons” for further information.

Subject to Condition 6.6 (Redemption and Purchase —
Conditions for Redemption and Purchase in respect of the
Capital Securities), the Capital Securities may be redeemed
at the option of the Issuer in whole, but not in part, at any
time on giving not less than 30 nor more than 60 days’ notice
to the Trustee and the Principal Paying Agent and, in
accordance with Condition 12 (Notices), the Holders (which
notice shall be irrevocable, subject to Condition 4.3
(Distribution — Non-Viability Loss Absorption), and shall
specify the date fixed for redemption) following the
occurrence of a Capital Event.
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Conditions for Redemption and
Purchase in respect of Capital
Securities

Payments

Trustee

Principal Paying Agent and
Calculation Agent

A “Capital Event” occurs if the Issuer satisfies the Trustee
immediately before the giving of the notice of redemption
referred in Condition 6.4 (Redemption and Purchase —
Redemption of the Capital Securities for regulatory reasons)
that the Capital Securities, after having qualified as such, will
no longer qualify (in whole or in part) as additional tier 1
capital (or equivalent) of the Issuer, as a result of any change
in or amendment to (or any change in the application or
official interpretation of) the relevant provisions of the
Banking Ordinance (Cap. 155) of Hong Kong, the Capital
Regulations, or any successor legislation or regulations made
thereunder, or any supervisory guidance issued by the
Monetary Authority in relation thereto, in each case, as
amended or modified from time to time (other than as a result
of any discounting or amortisation requirements as to the
eligibility of the Capital Securities for such inclusion
pursuant to the relevant legislation and relevant guidelines in
force from time to time) provided, however, that no such
notice of redemption shall be given earlier than 90 days prior
to the earliest date on which it is determined that a Capital
Event has occurred.

See “Terms and Conditions of the Capital Securities —
Redemption and Purchase — Redemption of the Capital
Securities for regulatory reasons” for further information.

The Issuer shall not redeem any of the Capital Securities
(other than pursuant to Condition 9.1 (Events of Default and
Enforcement — Events of Default and Winding-up
Proceedings)) and neither the Issuer nor any Restricted
Person shall purchase any of the Capital Securities unless the
prior written consent of the Monetary Authority thereto shall
have been obtained, as further described in “Terms and
Conditions of the Capital Securities — Redemption and
Purchase — Conditions for Redemption and Purchase in
respect of the Capital Securities”.

All payments of principal and Distribution in respect of the
Capital Securities by or on behalf of the Issuer shall be made
without withholding or deduction for, or on account of, any
present or future taxes, duties, assessments or governmental
charges of whatever nature (“Taxes”) imposed or levied by or
on behalf of Hong Kong or any political subdivision or any
authority thereof or therein having power to tax, unless the
withholding or deduction of the Taxes is required by law. In
that event, the Issuer will, save in certain limited
circumstances provided in Condition 7 (Taxation), be
required to pay additional amounts to cover the amounts so
withheld or deducted.

The Bank of New York Mellon, London Branch.

The Bank of New York Mellon, London Branch.
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Registrar and Transfer Agent

Trust Deed

Clearing Systems

ISIN of the Capital Securities

Common Code of the Capital
Securities

Legal Entity Identifier of the
Issuer

Ratings

Governing Law

Jurisdiction

Capital Treatment

Listing

The Bank of New York Mellon SA/NYV, Dublin Branch.

The Capital Securities will be constituted by a Trust Deed to
be dated 7 March 2023 between the Issuer and the Trustee.

The Capital Securities will initially be represented by the
Global Certificate, in registered form, deposited on or about
the Issue Date with, and registered in the name of a nominee
of, a common depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream.

Beneficial interests in the Global Certificate will be shown
on, and transfer thereof will be effected only through the
records maintained by Euroclear and Clearstream and their
respective accountholders. Except as described herein,
definitive certificates of Capital Securities will not be issued
in exchange for beneficial interests in the Global Certificate.
See “The Global Certificate — Change of Registration of
Title”.

XS2587421681.

258742168.

SC4P6WZO702RYEIU7J93.

The Capital Securities are expected to be rated Ba2 by
Moody’s. A rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or
hold the Capital Securities and may be subject to revision,
suspension or withdrawal at any time by the assigning rating
organisation.

The Capital Securities and the Trust Deed and any
non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection
with them are governed by, and shall be construed in
accordance with, English law, except that the provisions of
the Capital Securities and the Trust Deed relating to
subordination shall be governed by the Hong Kong law.

The courts of England are to have jurisdiction to settle any
disputes that may arise out of or in connection with the
Capital Securities or the Trust Deed.

The Capital Securities are intended to qualify as additional
tier 1 capital under the Capital Regulations.

Application will be made for the listing of, and permission to
deal in, the Capital Securities on the SEHK by way of debt
issues to Professional Investors only. It is expected that
dealing will, if permission is granted to deal in and for the
listing of the Capital Securities on the SEHK, commence on
or about 8§ March 2023.

16




Use of Proceeds

Selling Restrictions

The Issuer intends to use the net proceeds from the issue of
the Capital Securities to supplement its additional tier 1
capital under the Banking (Capital) Rules (Cap. 155L).

There are restrictions on the distribution of this Offering
Circular and the making of solicitations pursuant thereto in
certain jurisdictions, including, among others, the United
States, the United Kingdom, the European Economic Area,
Hong Kong, the PRC, Singapore and Japan. The Capital
Securities are being offered outside the United States in
reliance on Regulation S (Category 1) under the Securities
Act. See “Subscription and Sale”.
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL AND OTHER INFORMATION

The following tables set forth the summary consolidated financial information of the Issuer and the
Group as at and for the periods indicated. The summary consolidated historical financial information
as at and for the years ended 31 December 2019, 2020 and 2021 and the six months ended 30 June
2021 and 2022 set forth below are derived from the Group’s audited consolidated financial statements
as at and for the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2021 including the notes thereto (if any) and the
Group’s unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial statements as at and for the six months
ended 30 June 2022 including the notes thereto (if any), respectively.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2021
have been audited by Ernst & Young. The Group’s consolidated financial statements are prepared and
presented in accordance with HKFRSs. The unaudited interim financial information as at and for the
six months ended 30 June 2021 and 2022 were prepared and presented in accordance with the Hong
Kong Accounting Standard 34 “Interim Financial Reporting” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and have been reviewed by Ernst & Young. As such, the Group’s
unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial information should not be relied upon by potential
investors to provide the same quality of information associated with information that has been
subjected to an audit.

None of the Joint Lead Managers, the Trustee or the Agents or any of their respective directors,
officers, employees, agents, advisers, representatives or affiliates or any person who controls any of
them makes any representation or warranty, express or implied, regarding the sufficiency of such
unaudited interim financial information for an assessment of, and potential investors must exercise
caution when using such data to evaluate the Group’s financial condition and results of operations.
This unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial information should not be taken as an
indication of the expected financial condition and results of operations of the Group for the full
financial year ended 31 December 2022.

The Group’s historical financial information should not be taken as an indication of its future financial
performance.
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Consolidated Income Statement

Year ended 31 December Six months ended 30 June

2021 2020 2019Nore) 2022 2021

(audited) (audited) (audited) (unaudited)  (unaudited)

(in HK$ thousands) (in HK$ thousands)

Interest income . . ................. 11,720,933 12,499,239 14,936,075 5,965,139 5,816,200
Interest expense. . . .. .............. (5,395,517) (6,130,752) (8,285,886) (2,914,030) (2,605,679)
Net interest income . ... ............ 6,325,416 6,368,487 6,650,189 3,051,109 3,210,521
Fee and commission income ......... 1,808,783 1,707,266 1,599,991 710,682 1,006,530
Fee and commission expense. ........ (93,239) (87,810) (70,869)  (40,031) (49,709)
Net fee and commission income . ... .. 1,715,544 1,619,456 1,529,122 670,651 956,821
Net trading gain . ................. 310,889 80,867 182,515 222,738 46,836
Net gain on financial instruments at fair

value through profit or loss ... ..... 61,759 435,846 398,797 370,503 182,505
Net gain on other financial assets .. ... 153,292 249,769 219,063 187,069 67,502
Other operating income . .. .......... 22,515 18,588 22,712 8,437 11,963
Net operating income before

impairment allowances............ 8,589,415 8,773,013 9,002,398 4,510,507 4,476,148
Net charge of impairment allowances .. (1,499,269) (1,359,147) (1,160,079) (499,296) (682,999)
Net operating income . ............. 7,090,146 7,413,866 7,842,319 4,011,211 3,793,149
Operating exXpenses . . .. ............ (3,340,265) (3,184,611) (3,382,564) (1,684,559) (1,592,158)
Operating profit. . . ................ 3,749,881 4,229,255 4,459,755 2,326,652 2,200,991
Net (loss)/gain from fair value

adjustments on investment properties . — (2,950) 16,573 (2,720) —
Net (loss)/gain from

disposal/revaluation of properties,

plant and equipment. . ............ (7,831) (7,899) 365 (14,061) (1,179)
Profit before taxation .............. 3,742,050 4,218,406 4,476,693 2,309,871 2,199,812
Taxation . ....................... (510,963) (403,136) (525,397) (311,895) (285,982)
Profit for the year/period............ 3,231,087 3,815,270 3,951,296 1,997,976 1,913,830
Dividends . .......... ... ... .. .... — — — — —
Note:

There is a reclassification of the items “Net gain on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss” and “Net gain
on other financial assets” for the year ended 31 December 2019, and the comparative 2019 figures have been reclassified in
the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020.
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

Year ended 31 December Six months ended 30 June

2021 2020 2019 2022 2021

(audited) (audited) (audited) (unaudited)  (unaudited)
(in HK$ thousands)
Profit for the year/period............ 3,231,087 3,815,270 3,951,296 1,997,976 1,913,830

Items that will not be reclassified
subsequently to income statement:

Equity instruments at fair value
through other comprehensive
income:

Change in fair value of equity
instruments at fair value through

other comprehensive income ....... (4,176) 22,946 (670) (15,516) 2,485
Premises:
Revaluation of premises ............ 67,323  (184,028) 139,747 21,677 47,051
Deferred tax . .................... 3,306 46,489 (9,529) 24,423 (959)

70,629  (137,539) 130,218 46,100 46,092
Defined benefit plan:
Actuarial gain/(losses) on
remeasurement . . ... ............. 3,930 (21,720)  (15,760) — —
Deferred tax . .................... (648) 3,584 2,600 — —
3,282 (18,136)  (13,160) — —

69,735 (132,729) 116,388 30,584 48,577

Items that may be reclassified
subsequently to income statement:

Debt instruments at fair value
through other comprehensive
income:

Change in fair value of debt
instruments at fair value through

other comprehensive income ....... 166,943 247,506 493,357 (1,502,657) 194,656
Changes in allowance for expected
credit losses. ................... 39,049 13,352 11,112 16,264 29,673

Release upon disposal of debt

instruments at fair value through

other comprehensive income

reclassified to income statement. . . . . (165,857) (261,805) (221,044) (187,169) (79,563)
Amortisation with respect to debt

instruments at fair value through

other comprehensive income

transferred to at amortised cost

reclassified to income statement. . . . . 3,353 9,524 10,173 — 3,269
Deferred tax . .................... (27,399) 30,167 (48,324) 280,326 (26,989)

16,089 38,744 245,274 (1,393,236) 121,046

Change in fair value of hedging

instruments under net investment

hedges . . ....... ... .. .. .. .. ... (60,921) (132,309) 35,974 97,713 (17,324)
Currency translation difference .. ... .. 516,950 1,113,091 (282,624) (870,915) 142,323

472,118 1,019,526 (1,376) (2,166,438) 246,045

Other comprehensive income/(loss) for

the year/period, net of tax . ........ 541,853 886,797 115,012 (2,135,854) 294,622
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for
the year/period. . ................ 3,772,940 4,702,067 4,066,308 (137,878) 2,208,452
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

As at 31 December As at 30 June
2021 2020 2019 2022
(audited) (audited) (audited) (unaudited)
(in HK$ thousands)
ASSETS
Cash and balances with banks and other
financial institutions. . ................. 64,703,312 58,173,310 41,327,261 52,654,437

Placements with banks and other financial
institutions maturing between one and

twelve months .. ..................... 2,684,141 555,979 10,456,347 10,671,065
Financial assets at fair value through profit or

JOSS « vt e 27,022,570 22,913,313 14,654,347 25,407,052
Derivative financial instruments ........... 834,964 1,031,063 589,616 1,618,182
Advances and other accounts. ... .......... 292,037,365 277,085,133 262,413,180 292,643,157
Financial investments . .................. 138,007,929 132,889,241 146,758,937 143,291,816
Investment properties . .................. 327,610 341,080 355,230 406,440
Properties, plant and equipment. .. ......... 8,759,766 8,220,738 8,602,036 9,270,847
Current tax assetS . .. ... ... ..., — — 27,275 —
Deferred tax assets . .................... 352,791 430,257 58,000 366,720
Other assets. . . .. ... i 1,600,552 4,058,047 4,346,618 2,279,402
Total assets. . . . ....................... 536,331,000 505,698,161 489,588,847 538,609,118
LIABILITIES
Deposits and balances from banks and other

financial institutions. ... ............... 21,653,972 33,064,316 30,984,121 34,534,544
Financial liabilities at fair value through

profitorloss ........................ 6,415,312 6,650,987 5,048,559 6,428,456
Derivative financial instruments ........... 814,670 1,882,953 587,563 1,131,641
Deposits from customers .. ............... 383,781,386 351,629,928 345,887,782 369,451,957
Debt securities and certificates of deposit in

ISSUE © o oo e 31,755,227 24,014,435 15,471,116 39,836,057
Other accounts and provisions. ............ 19,022,499 18,724,809 25,908,840 19,234,206
Current tax liabilities . .................. 289,842 421,732 626,564 355,912
Deferred tax liabilities. . .. ... ............ 812,882 864,890 845,124 528,035
Subordinated liabilities . ... .............. 5,451,286 5,416,390 5,438,386 5,486,610
Total liabilities. . . ... .................. 469,997,076 442,670,440 430,798,055 476,987,418
EQUITY
Share capital . . ........................ 3,144,517 3,144,517 3,144,517 3,144,517
Reserves . . ... .. 53,874,517 50,568,314 46,331,385 53,399,327
Total equity attributable to owners of the

parent . .. ... ... ... 57,019,034 53,712,831 49,475,902 56,543,844
Additional equity instruments. ........... 9,314,890 9,314,890 9,314,890 5,077,856
Total equity . ......................... 66,333,924 63,027,721 58,790,792 61,621,700
Total liabilities and equity. . ............. 536,331,000 505,698,161 489,588,847 538,609,118

Tier I and Tier II Capital Base

Capital adequacy ratios (“CAR”) comply with the Banking (Capital) Rules (Cap. 155L) of the laws
of Hong Kong issued by the Monetary Authority. The CAR are computed on a consolidated basis
covering the Issuer and some of its subsidiaries as required by the Monetary Authority.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group adopted the internal ratings-based (“IRB”)
approach to calculate the credit risk capital charge for the majority of its non-securitisation exposures
and the securitisation standardised approach to calculate the credit risk capital charge for its
securitisation exposures. A small residual credit exposures remained under the standardised (credit
risk) (“STC”) approach. From 1 January 2020, the Group has migrated to adopt STC approach to
calculate the credit risk capital charge.
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The Group has adopted the standardised credit valuation adjustment (“CVA”) method to calculate the
capital charge for the CVA risk of the counterparty for the years ended 31 December 2019, 2020 and
2021 and for the six months ended 30 June 2021 and 2022.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group adopted the internal models (“IMM?”) approach
to calculate the general market risk capital charge for foreign exchange and interest rate exposures,
and the standardised (market risk) (“STM?”) approach to calculate the market risk capital charge for
the remaining exposures. From 1 January 2020, the Group has migrated to adopt STM approach to
calculate the market risk capital charge.

The Group has adopted the standardised (operational risk) (“STO”) approach to calculate the
operational risk capital charge for the years ended 31 December 2019, 2020 and 2021 and for the six
months ended 30 June 2021 and 2022.

As at 31 December As at 30 June
2021 2020 2019 2022
(audited) (audited) (audited) (unaudited)

(in HK$ thousands)
Common Equity Tier 1 (“CET1”) capital:
instruments and reserves
Directly issued qualifying CET1 capital

INStruments . . ..... ... ... 3,144,517 3,144,517 3,144,517 3,144,517
Retained earnings . ..................... 43,323,642 40,738,381 37,165,269 45,083,385
Disclosed reserves . .......... ... 10,542,440 9,821,320 9,157,646 8,265,204

CET1 capital before regulatory deductions . 57,010,599 53,704,218 49,467,432 56,493,106
CET1 capital: regulatory deductions

Valuation adjustments . .................. 91) (118) (39) (402)
Other intangible assets (net of associated

deferred tax liabilities) ................ — — — (256,556)
Deferred tax assets net of deferred tax

liabilities . .......... ... ... .. ... .... (352,791)  (430,257) (58,000)  (389,591)
Gains and losses due to changes in own credit

risk on fair valued liabilities ... ......... (940) (2,133) (1,420) (2,882)

Cumulative fair value gains arising from the

revaluation of land and buildings (own-use

and investment properties) ............. (6,862,754) (6,781,431) (6,899,837) (6,870,782)
Regulatory reserve for general banking risks . (2,636,044) (2,453,479) (2,694,377) (2,511,886)

Total regulatory deductions to CET1

capital .. ... .. (9,852,620) (9,667,418) (9,653,673) (10,032,099)
CET1 capital .. ..........ouueon. .. 47,157,979 44,036,800 39,813,759 46,461,007
Additional Tier 1 capital ............... 9,314,890 9,314,800 9,314,890 5,077,856
Tier 1 capital . ....................... 56,472,869 53,351,690 49,128,649 51,538,863

Tier 2 capital: instruments and provisions
Qualifying Tier 2 capital instruments plus any

related share premium ................. 5,427,666 5,392,907 5,414,796 5,462,845
Collective impairment allowances and

regulatory reserve for general banking risks

eligible for inclusion in Tier 2 capital . . ... 4,413,868 4,020,931 1,697,544 4,392,714
Tier 2 capital base before regulatory
deductions ............. .. .. .. .. .. .. 9,841,534 9,413,838 7,112,340 9,855,559

Tier 2 capital: regulatory deductions

Add back of cumulative fair value gains
arising from the revaluation of land and
buildings (own-use and investment

properties) eligible for inclusion in Tier 2 . 3,088,239 3,051,644 3,104,927 3,091,852
Total regulatory deductions to Tier 2

capital .......... .. .. .. ... ... .. ... 3,088,239 3,051,644 3,104,927 3,091,852
Tier 2 capital ........................ 12,929,773 12,465,482 10,217,267 12,947,411
Total capital . ........................ 69,402,642 65,817,172 59,345,916 64,486,274
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RISK FACTORS

Prospective investors should carefully take into account the considerations described below, in
addition to the other information contained herein, before investing in the Capital Securities. The
occurrence of one or more events described below could have an adverse effect on the Group’s
business, financial condition, or results of operations, and could affect the Issuer’s ability to make
payments of principal and Distribution under the Capital Securities. Additional considerations and
uncertainties not currently known to the Issuer, or which the Issuer currently deems immaterial, may
also have an adverse effect on an investment in the Capital Securities.

RISK FACTORS RELATING TO THE GROUP
The Group may be affected by an economic downturn in Hong Kong and around the world.

The Group’s performance and the quality and growth of its assets are necessarily dependent on the
overall economy in Hong Kong and around the world. The Group’s business is inherently subject to
general macroeconomic conditions and policies and market fluctuations, including financing cost and
the volatility of interest rates, inflation, monetary and fiscal policies and other macroeconomic
policies. As a result, any downturn in the Hong Kong and global economy may adversely affect the
Group’s business, financial condition and the results of its operations.

Unfavourable financial or economic environments, including the continued global financial
uncertainties, have had and may continue to have an adverse impact on investors’ confidence, global
financial markets and the Hong Kong and global economy. In 2022, the military conflict between
Russia and Ukraine is contributing to further increases in the price of energy, oil and other
commodities and to volatility in financial markets globally, as well as a new landscape in relation to
international sanctions. The United States and China have been involved in disputes over trade
barriers that have escalated into a trade war between the two countries. Both countries have
implemented tariffs on certain imported products from the other, casting uncertainty over tariffs and
barrier to entry for products on both sides. The two governments have entered into an initial phase
one agreement to resolve the disputes on 15 January 2020 (the “Phase One Agreement”). However,
there are uncertainties as to when and whether phase two negotiations will begin and whether the two
governments will fulfil their respective obligations under the Phase One Agreement. The trade war
between the United States and China has resulted in volatility in the financial markets around the
world.

In the United Kingdom, a remain-or-leave referendum on its membership within the European Union
was held in June 2016, the result of which favoured the exit of the United Kingdom from the European
Union (the “Brexit”). On 31 January 2020, the United Kingdom officially exited the European Union
following a UK-EU Withdrawal Agreement (the “Withdrawal Agreement”) signed in October 2019.
As agreed in the Withdrawal Agreement, a transition period was implemented until 31 December
2020, during which time EU laws and regulations continued to apply broadly as before. The UK-EU
Trade and Cooperation Agreement (“TCA”) was finalised on 24 December 2020 and came into force
from 1 January 2021. The TCA sets out all aspects of the new UK-EU relationship, such as trade,
security, areas of ongoing collaboration/cooperation and governance. The long-term impact of Brexit
remains uncertain and will depend on the implementation of the final terms agreed between the United
Kingdom and the European Union in the TCA as well as on the United Kingdom’s ability to secure
favourable trade and investment terms with countries outside the European Union.

The coronavirus disease in 2019 (the “COVID-19") pandemic will continue whilst new coronavirus
variants, including the Delta and Omicron variants, create more economic and business uncertainties.

The COVID-19 pandemic will continue to pose considerable threats to the public health system in
Hong Kong and globally. For example, in early 2022, Hong Kong had a huge surge in coronavirus
infections primarily due to the Omicron variant. Tourism in Hong Kong has been severely hindered,
and the unemployment rate is still at a high level, posing certain constraints on Hong Kong’s
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economic recovery. With discrepancy in COVID-19 vaccination rates between different jurisdictions,
the global economic recovery may be significantly hampered by new lockdowns and ongoing travel
restrictions as well as global supply chain disruptions. Supply constraints and bottlenecks from
COVID-19 restrictions may have an adverse effect on manufacturing output, economic growth and
inflation, and continue to undermine recovery. Concerns over the US Federal Reserve’s expected
tapering of its quantitative easing monetary policies in response to rising inflation rates, energy costs,
geopolitical issues, the availability and cost of credit, unemployment rate, consumer confidence,
declining asset values, capital market volatility and liquidity issues have resulted in adverse financial
market conditions.

If there is any renewed economic downturn or slowdown in global economic recovery, there can be
no assurance that the Hong Kong economy or the Group’s business, financial condition and results of
operations will not be adversely affected. The Issuer expects the continued growth in the Hong Kong
economy to depend in part upon the economic performance of the United States and the PRC, as well
as certain other developed countries. There can be no assurance that future global events will not have
an adverse effect on the Hong Kong economy and the Group.

The Group has significant exposure to the PRC market which may be influenced by the general
state of the PRC economy and any significant political, social or legal uncertainties or changes in
the PRC.

As at 31 January 2023, the Issuer’s wholly-owned subsidiary, Nanyang Commercial Bank (China)
Limited (“NCB (China)”), headquartered in Shanghai, operated 38 branches/sub-branches in major
cities of the PRC such as Shanghai, Beijing, Dalian, Qingdao, Wuxi, Hefei, Suzhou, Hangzhou,
Chengdu, Shenzhen, Haikou, Nanning, Shantou, Wuhan, Guangzhou and Chongqing.

For the years ended 31 December 2019, 2020 and 2021 and for the six months ended 30 June 2021
and 2022, net operating income before impairment allowances from the PRC amounted to
HK$2,951.78 million, HK$3,111.38 million, HK$2,916.28 million, HK$1,635.16 million and
HK$1,702.41 million, respectively, representing approximately 32.79 per cent., 35.47 per cent., 33.95
per cent., 36.53 per cent. and 37.74 per cent., respectively, of the Group’s total net operating income
before impairment allowances.

The Group’s operating income from the PRC, as well as its advances to companies that have business
interests in the PRC, may be influenced by the general state of the PRC economy and may be affected
by significant political, social or legal uncertainties or changes in the PRC (including changes in
political leadership, inflation rate, exchange controls and exchange rate, and the impact on the
changes in regulations governing banking and other businesses). For example, since September 2021,
there has been negative news relating to certain PRC real estate developers including defaults on their
indebtedness as a result of various economic measures imposed by the PRC government with an aim
of cooling the overheated real estate market in the PRC, including strengthened supervision over PRC
real estate developers. This has had a negative impact on, and resulted in increased volatility in, the
PRC real estate industries. Any deterioration of the PRC real estate industries may have an adverse
impact on the value of loans made to these customers, may affect relevant segments of the economy
and may in turn affect the Group’s business, financial condition or results of operations. Moreover,
deterioration in the financial condition of the borrowers in real estate industries could materially and
adversely affect the quality of the existing loans and the Group’s ability to generate new loans, and
could have a material adverse effect on its business, financial condition or results of operations. There
can be no assurance that the Group’s continued exposure to the PRC or its strategy to grow its
business in the PRC will not have a negative impact on the Group’s earnings or an adverse effect on
the Group’s business, financial condition or results of operations or that the economic and political
environment in the PRC will remain favourable to the Group’s business in the PRC in the future.

On 30 May 2016, China Cinda Asset Management Co., Ltd. (“China Cinda”) completed the
acquisition (the “Acquisition”) of 100 per cent. of the Group’s equity interests through China Cinda
(HK) Holdings Company Limited, its wholly-owned subsidiary in Hong Kong, from Bank of China
(Hong Kong) Limited (“BOCHK?”). With strengthened ties of businesses in the PRC after the
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Acquisition, the Issuer plans to continue to develop its cross-border business and operations in the
PRC in the future. Accordingly, the Group’s performance and the quality and growth of its assets are
necessarily dependent on the overall economy in the PRC. Many of the Group’s commercial customers
are dependent to varying degrees on trade with the PRC. The asset quality of the Group’s loans in the
PRC, as well as its loans to customers that have business interests in the PRC, may be influenced by
the general state of the PRC economy and may be affected by significant political, social or legal
uncertainties or changes in the PRC (including changes in political leadership, the rate of inflation,
RMB interest rate and RMB exchange rate). There can be no assurance that the economic and political
environment in the PRC will remain favourable to the Group’s business in the PRC in the future.

The economy of the PRC has experienced rapid growth in the past 30 years. There has been a
slowdown in the growth of the PRC’s GDP since the second half of 2013 and this has raised market
concerns that the historic rapid growth of the economy of the PRC may not be sustainable. According
to the National Bureau of Statistics of the PRC, the annual growth rate of China’s GDP in 2021
increased to 8.1 per cent. on a year-on-year basis compared to 2.3 per cent. in 2020.

As far as the banking sector was concerned, this not only affected loan demand but also increased
credit risk. In response to economic slowdown, the PRC government adopted a series of stimulus
measures including, inter alia, reductions in the reserve requirement ratio and interest rates.

The People’s Bank of China (“PBOC”) publishes and adjusts benchmark interest rates on loans and
deposits from time to time. For example, with effect from 22 November 2014, 1 March 2015, 11 May
2015, 28 June 2015 and 26 August 2015 and 24 October 2015, respectively, the PBOC lowered the
benchmark interest rates on RMB denominated loans and deposits. In late 2021, PBOC lowered the
one-year loan prime rate to 3.8 per cent., down from 3.85 per cent. On the other hand, the PBOC
continues to liberalise the restrictions on interest rates for loans. For example, on 20 July 2013, the
PBOC eliminated the minimum interest rate requirements for RMB-denominated loans. As at 20
August 2020, the ceiling on private lending interest rate has been significantly lowered to 15.4 per
cent., from the previous ceiling, which was set between 24 per cent. and 36 per cent. Moreover, while
a multi-year appreciation of the RMB exchange rate had already started to give way to two-way
fluctuations, the PBOC’s decision to change its daily rate fixing mechanism triggered a noticeable
downward pressure on the RMB exchange rate and fuelled expectations of further devaluation ahead.
If the PRC’s economy experiences a continued slowdown in growth or a downturn in the future, or
if the RMB exchange rate experiences unexpected phenomenal fluctuations, the Group’s PRC business
and its ability to implement its growth strategies in the PRC could be materially and adversely
affected.

With the increased integration of the PRC and Hong Kong economies, PRC policies may have an
impact on Hong Kong and Hong Kong companies conducting business in the PRC. The Issuer and its
customers may also be affected accordingly.

The Group has significant exposure to the Hong Kong property market.

The Group has higher exposures to property-related usage as compared to other industries. As at 31
December 2021 and 30 June 2022, advances to customers for property-related usage in Hong Kong
accounted for a significant proportion of the Group’s total advances to customers.

Hong Kong property prices and rents for residential, commercial and industrial properties, have
shown significant uplift started from 2000. At the end of 2010, the Hong Kong government and the
Hong Kong Monetary Authority (“HKMA”) introduced residential property cooling measures, such as
Special Stamp Duty (“SSD”) for residential property that is disposed of by the seller within 24 months
of the date of acquisition, and reduced loan-to-value borrowings limits. The size of the prospective
purchaser base in the Hong Kong residential property market has shrunk since these measures were
introduced in 2010. The Hong Kong government has introduced a number of additional residential
property cooling measures. In October 2012, the government introduced Buyer’s Stamp Duty (“BSD”)

25



and extended the SSD regime. BSD applies to all residential properties acquired by any person, other
than a Hong Kong Permanent Resident, and is charged at a flat rate of 15 per cent. on all residential
properties, on top of the existing stamp duty charge. The SSD regime was amended to increase the
rate of the SSD and to extend the minimum holding period from 24 months to 36 months.

On 22 February 2013, the financial secretary announced that the Hong Kong government would
further amend the Stamp Duty Ordinance to adjust the ad valorem stamp duty (“AVD”) rates and to
advance the charging of AVD on non-residential property transactions from the conveyance on sale
to the agreement for sale. Any residential property (except that acquired by a Hong Kong permanent
resident who does not own any other residential property in Hong Kong at the time of acquisition) and
non-residential property acquired on or after 23 February 2013, either by an individual or a company,
will be subject to the new rates of AVD upon the enactment of the relevant legislation. Transactions
which took place before 23 February 2013 will be subject to the original stamp duty regime. In
addition, the Residential Properties (First-hand Sales) Ordinance came into effect on 29 April 2013.
This ordinance sets out detailed requirements in relation to sales brochures, price lists, show flats,
disclosure of transaction information, advertisements, sales arrangements and the mandatory
provisions of the Preliminary Agreement for Sale and Purchase and Agreement for Sale and Purchase
for the sales of first-hand residential properties.

The Stamp Duty (Amendment) Ordinance 2014 (the “Amendment Ordinance”) became law on 28
February 2014 and was deemed to have come into operation on 27 October 2012. Under the
Amendment Ordinance, any residential property acquired on or after 27 October 2012, either by an
individual or a company (regardless of where it is incorporated), and resold within 36 months, is
subject to SSD. Residential properties acquired by any person (including a company incorporated)
except a Hong Kong permanent resident, will also be subject to a BSD, to be charged at a flat rate
of 15 per cent., on top of the existing stamp duty and the SSD, if applicable.

The Stamp Duty (Amendment) (No. 2) Ordinance 2014 (“Amendment Ordinance No. 2”) was
gazetted on 25 July 2014. Amendment Ordinance No.2 provides that the AVD payable on certain
instruments dealing with immovable properties executed on or after 23 February 2013 (the “Effective
Date”) shall be computed at higher rates (“Scale 1 rates”). It also advanced the timing for charging
AVD on non-residential property transactions from the conveyance on sale to the agreement for sale
executed on or after the Effective Date. Under Amendment Ordinance No. 2, any residential property
and non-residential property acquired on or after the Effective Date, either by an individual or a
company, is subject to the Scale 1 rates, except that acquired by a Hong Kong permanent resident
acting on his/her own behalf who does not own any other residential property in Hong Kong at the
time of acquisition.

The Stamp Duty (Amendment) Ordinance 2018 (the “2018 Amendment Ordinance”) was gazetted on
19 January 2018. Under the 2018 Amendment Ordinance, the AVD at Scale 1 rates enacted under the
Amendment Ordinance No. 2 are further divided into Part 1 (a flat rate of 15 per cent.) and Part 2
(original Scale 1 rates under the Amendment Ordinance (No. 2)) with effect from 5 November 2016.
Part 1 of the Scale 1 rates applies to instruments of residential property and Part 2 of the Scale 1 rates
applies to instruments of non-residential property. The 2018 Amendment Ordinance provides, amongst
others, that any instrument of residential property executed on or after 5 November 2016 for the sale
and purchase or transfer of residential property, unless specifically exempted or provided otherwise,
will be subject to AVD at the rate under Part 1 of the Scale 1 rates, i.e. a flat rate of 15 per cent. of
the consideration or value of the residential property, whichever is the higher. However, as a result
of the economic downturn and uncertainties surrounding the COVID-19 pandemic, the Stamp Duty
(Amendment) Ordinance 2021 was gazetted on 19th March 2021 to lower the AVD rates for any
instrument executed on or after 26th November 2020 for the sale and purchase or transfer of
non-residential property.
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On 29 June 2018, the Hong Kong government proposed a tax on vacant first-hand private residential
units at two times the annual rateable value of the units (the “Vacancy Tax”) to encourage developers
to release residential units more quickly into the market. Under the proposal, developers of first-hand
private residential units with an occupation permit issued for 12 or more months will be required to
make annual returns disclosing the occupancy status of their units. Units that have not been occupied
or rented out for more than six of the past 12 months will be considered vacant and subject to the
Vacancy Tax, which will be collected annually. On 13 September 2019, the Hong Kong government
gazetted an amendment bill to implement the proposed Vacancy Tax at the Legislative Council. If
implemented, the Vacancy Tax may present a financial burden to the Group that may have an adverse
effect on its business, operating results and financial condition.

On 16 October 2019, the Hong Kong government has expanded eligibility under the Mortgage
Insurance Programme of the Hong Kong Mortgage Corporation Limited. For a first-time home buyer,
the cap on the value of property eligible for a mortgage loan with a maximum cover of 90 per cent.
loan-to-value ratio has been raised from HK$4 million to HK$8 million. The cap on the value of
property eligible for a mortgage loan with a maximum cover of 80 per cent. loan-to-value ratio has
also been raised from HK$6 million to HK$10 million. On 26 November 2020, the Hong Kong
government abolished the double ad valorem stamp duty on non-residential properties.

As the introduction of these measures are subject to policy changes reflecting domestic political or
economic circumstances, there is no assurance that the Hong Kong government will not introduce
further measures in the future that may have a significant impact on the Hong Kong property market,
which may in turn affect have a negative impact on the Group’s asset quality or an adverse effect on
the Group’s business.

The trend of property prices in the Hong Kong property market depends on various factors which are
beyond the Group’s control, including when the Hong Kong government will relax its cooling
measures, the Hong Kong dollar interest rate movements (largely dependent on the timing and pace
of United States interest rate hikes), capital outflow pressures in relation to global competitive
monetary easing and currency depreciation, growth prospects of the Hong Kong economy, economic,
Renminbi and property market developments in the PRC and changes in the property demand/supply
balance in the Hong Kong market. Any substantial decreases in property values could adversely affect
the Group’s business and financial condition and/or results of operations. In order to control the
concentration risk in this segment, the Group has taken various measures, including setting portfolio
limits. However, there can be no assurance that the downturn in property market in Hong Kong or the
PRC will not have a negative impact on the Group’s asset quality or an adverse effect on the Group’s
business.

The Group has significant exposure to the financial market.

As at 31 December 2021 and 30 June 2022, the Group’s advances to customers of the financial sector
usage in Hong Kong accounted for a fair proportion of the Group’s total advances to customers.

Unfavourable financial or economic environments, including the continued global financial
uncertainties, have had and may continue to have an adverse impact on investors’ confidence and
global financial markets. Those unfavourable financial or economic conditions, such as those caused
in recent years by the global financial and economic crisis, include the European sovereign debt crisis,
the Brexit and uncertainties surrounding the terms of the Brexit, China-U.S. trade friction and the
escalation of bilateral tariffs on imports imposed by both countries, the recent outbreak of COVID-19,
the US Federal Reserve’s expected tapering of its quantitative easing monetary policies and the
military conflict between Russia and Ukraine in 2022. Please refer to “Risk Factors — Risk Factors
Relating the Group — The Group may be affected by an economic downturn in Hong Kong and around
the world” for more details.
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The increasing uncertainties in financial markets could adversely affect the Group’s financial
condition and results of operations in many ways, including, among other things:

° during a period of economic slowdown, there is a greater likelihood that more of the Group’s
customers or counterparties might default on their loan repayments or other obligations to the
Group, which, in turn, could result in the Bank recording a higher level of non-performing loans,
allowance for impairment losses and write-offs;

° the value of the Group’s investments in equity and debt securities may significantly decrease;

° the Group’s ability to raise additional capital on favourable terms, or at all, could be adversely
affected; and

° trade and capital flow may further contract as a result of protectionist measures being introduced
in certain markets, which could adversely affect the operations, financial conditions of the
Group’s customers in the financial sector and the Group’s business prospects.

The business prospects of the financial sectors are sensitive to changes in the global financial market
environment. If there is any adverse change to the current financial market conditions, there can be
no assurance that the Group’s loan portfolio for customers in the financial sector will not be adversely
affected, and if there is any default by the Group’s customers in the financial sector, the Group’s
financial conditions and results of operations may in turn be adversely affected.

The Group’s business operation is subject to credit risk.

The Group’s banking business is exposed to credit risk arising primarily from default by its borrowers,
and is also subject to risks related to both on-balance sheet exposure and the off-balance sheet credit
related commitments. If there is any default by customers of credit related commitments in respect of
off-balance sheet businesses such as bank acceptance letters of credit and letters of guarantee or the
on-balance sheet exposures, the Group may need to assume the risk of losses arising from insufficient
repayments by customers, which in turn may have a material adverse effect on its financial condition
and results of operations.

The Group is exposed to credit risk with respect to its investments in debt securities, Exchange Fund
Bills and Notes and securities businesses, which are recorded as financial assets at fair value and
amortised cost financial assets. These financial assets may also be subject to price fluctuations as a
result of changes in the financial market’s assessment of the relevant issuer’s creditworthiness and
other factors. In addition, the Group may not have sufficient measures to effectively implement its
trading and investment risk mitigation strategies and techniques. If the Group fails to effectively
manage its credit exposure, the volatility sourced from any negative news of the relevant security
issuers could be magnified, and as a result, the Group may experience significant financial losses that
could materially and adversely affect its business, financial condition and results of operations.

In addition, part of the Group’s corporate loan portfolio comprises unsecured loans, the repayment of
which is largely dependent on the cashflow of the borrower and adherence to the financial covenants
contained in the loans. The majority of the Group’s personal banking loan portfolio comprises loans
secured by properties or financial instruments while the remaining portion comprises mainly
unsecured personal loans, which generally carry higher rates of interest. As at 30 June 2022, 43.69
per cent. of the Group’s advances were covered by collateral or other security. Although the Group
carefully assesses the repayment ability of such borrowers, loan products which are not secured by
any collateral entail a higher degree of credit risk than secured loan products. If there is a downturn
in the economy, the credit quality and charge-off rates experienced by the Group may deteriorate.
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The Group may not be able to control the level of impaired loans in its loan portfolio, and the
allowance for impairment losses on loans of the Group may not be sufficient for covering the actual
losses on its loan portfolio which may be incurred in the future.

The allowance for impairment losses on loans of the Group may not be sufficient for covering the
actual losses on its loan portfolio which may be incurred in the future. As at 31 December 2019, 2020
and 2021 and 30 June 2022, the Issuer’s impairment allowances on advances to customers amounted
to HK$2,707.69 million, HK$3,027.80 million, HK$4,013.02 million and HK$3,923.16 million,
respectively, representing 1.03 per cent., 1.09 per cent., 1.37 per cent. and 1.33 per cent. of the
Issuer’s advances to customers at that time, respectively. The allowance for impairment losses of the
Issuer is determined according to the assessments and forecasts on various factors which may affect
the quality of the loan portfolio. Such factors include, but are not limited to, a borrower’s financial
condition, solvency and willingness to repay, the realisable value of the collateral, the ability of the
borrower’s guarantor to perform the contract, as well as Hong Kong’s and China’s economic
condition, policies for the industry, interest rates, accounting standards, laws and regulatory
environment. Many of these factors are beyond its control, and the judgment and expectations on the
aforesaid factors may not be consistent with the real conditions emerging in the future. Any change
of the aforementioned factors may make its allowance for such impairment losses on loans insufficient
to cover the actual losses, and as a result, may require the Issuer to increase its allowance for such
impairment losses. Hence, the Group’s profits may decrease, and its asset quality, results of operation
and financial condition may also be materially and adversely affected.

Risks arising from changes in credit quality and the recoverability of loans and amounts due from
counterparties are inherent in a wide range of businesses of the Group, and there can be no assurance
that the Group will be able to effectively control the level of impaired loans in its loan portfolio and
the credit quality of its borrowers and counterparties. In particular, the amount of the Group’s
impaired loans, the ratio of its impaired loans to its loans and advances to customers may increase and
the recoverability and value of the assets of the Group may reduce in the future as a result of
deterioration in the quality of its loan portfolio. Such deterioration may occur for a variety of reasons,
including factors which are beyond the Issuer’s control, such as a slowdown in economic growth,
tightened policies implemented on the real estate sector by the PRC government and other adverse
macroeconomic conditions in Hong Kong and the PRC, which may cause operational, financial and
liquidity problems for its borrowers and hence materially and adversely affect their ability to service
their outstanding debts.

The Group may not be able to maintain sufficient portion of long-term funding, and if depositors
do not roll over their deposits upon maturity, the Group’s liquidity could be adversely affected.

The Group’s business is capital intensive and requires a significant amount of cash. As such, sufficient
liquidity is crucial to the Group’s business operations. Although the Issuer has issued debt securities
and certificates of deposit to increase its long-term funding sources, most of the Group’s funding
requirements are met through customers and interbank deposits. However, there are many factors
affecting the growth of the Group’s deposits, some of which are beyond the Group’s control, such as
economic and political conditions, the availability of alternative investment choices (including but not
limited to securities issued by governmental or corporate entities, unit trusts and mutual funds,
investment-linked assurance schemes and structured investment products), change of government
monetary policies, and retail customers’ changing perceptions toward savings. There can be no
assurance that the Group will be able to grow its customer deposits at a pace sufficient to support its
expanding business. Any decline in the Group’s liquidity level may impair the confidence of its
customers or counterparties, which may result in loss of business and customers.

As part of its measures to maintain the liquidity of, and confidence in, the Hong Kong financial
markets, the Hong Kong government introduced a Deposit Protection Scheme in 2006 to provide a
level of protection to depositors with deposits held with authorised institutions in Hong Kong. An
enhanced Deposit Protection Scheme with an increased protection limit of HK$500,000 from
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HK$100,000 and expanded coverage including deposits pledged as security for banking services,
came into effect on 1 January 2011 under the Deposit Protection Scheme (Amendment) Ordinance
2010. However, there can be no assurance that the level of customer deposits, and therefore of the
Group’s liquidity, will not be adversely affected by the withdrawal of, or any changes to, the Deposit
Protection Scheme in the future.

The Monetary Authority acts as the lender of last resort to all authorised institutions in Hong Kong
to provide liquidity support in the banking system generally as well as to specific institutions.
Although the Hong Kong government has in the past taken measures on a case-by-case basis to
maintain or restore public confidence in individual banks with an isolated liquidity crisis, there can
be no assurance that the Monetary Authority will provide such assistance in the future or that it would
elect to provide such assistance in the future to the Group in the event of a liquidity crisis.

If the Group fails to maintain its expected growth rate in deposits or if a substantial portion of the
Group’s depositors withdraw their demand deposits or do not roll over their time deposits upon
maturity, the liquidity position, financial condition and results of operations of the Group may be
materially and adversely affected and the Group may need to seek more expensive sources of funding
to meet its funding requirements.

The Group has recorded net cash outflow in the recent financial period.

The Group recorded a net operating cash outflow for the period from 1 January 2019 to 31 December
2019 amounting to HK$21,180.54 million, a net operating cash inflow for the period from 1 January
2020 to 31 December 2020 amounting to HK$237.70 million, a net operating cash outflow for the
period from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2021 amounting to HK$442.91 million, a net operating
cash outflow for the period from 1 January 2021 to 30 June 2021 amounting to HK$5,216.13 million
and a net operating cash outflow for the period from 1 January 2022 to 30 June 2022 amounting to
HK$1,661.64 million.

This is mainly attributable to the decrease in the Group’s balances and placements with banks and
other financial institutions, and the increase in the Group’s advances and other accounts and its
financial investments. Although the Issuer considers the change in the Group’s operating cashflow as
the result of the Group’s increase in lending under its ordinary course of business, there can be no
assurance that the Group will be able to generate sufficient cash flow to support the repayment of its
current indebtedness.

If the Group is unable to make scheduled payments in connection with its debt and other fixed
payment obligations as they become due, it may need to renegotiate the terms and conditions of such
obligations or to obtain additional equity or debt financing. There can be no assurance that such
renegotiation efforts would be successful or timely or that the Group would be able to refinance its
obligations on acceptable terms or at all. If financial institutions decline to lend additional funds to
the Group or to refinance its existing loans when they mature as a result of its credit risk and it fails
to raise financing through other means, its financial condition, cash flow position and business
prospects may be materially and adversely affected.

The Group’s business operation is exposed to interest rate risk.

As with most banks, the Group’s net interest income is a significant factor in determining its overall
financial performance. For the years ended 31 December 2019, 2020 and 2021 and for the six months
ended 30 June 2021 and 2022, the Group’s net interest income amounted to HK$6,650.19 million,
HK$6,368.49 million, HK$6,325.42 million, HK$3,210.52 million and HK$3,051.11 million ,
respectively. The Group realises income from the margin between income earned on its assets and
interest paid on its liabilities. The Group’s net interest margins, as the weighted average of the
difference between interest rates on the loan advances made by, and the cost of debt funding for the
Issuer, for the years ended 31 December 2019, 2020 and 2021 and for the six months ended 30 June
2021 and 2022 were approximately 1.51 per cent., 1.45 per cent., 1.33 per cent., 1.38 per cent. and
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1.25 per cent., respectively. Further, as some of the Group’s assets and liabilities are repriced at
different times, the Group is vulnerable to fluctuations in market interest rates. As a result, volatility
in interest rates could have an adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition, liquidity
and results of operations.

Changes in market interest rates affect the interest received on the Group’s interest-earning assets and
the interest paid on the Group’s interest-bearing liabilities. An increase in interest rates could lead to
a decline in the value of securities in the Group’s portfolio. A sustained increase in interest rates could
also raise the Group’s funding costs without a proportionate increase, or any increase at all, in loan
demand. Rising interest rates would therefore require the Group to re-balance its assets and liabilities
in order to minimise the risk of potential mismatches and maintain its profitability. In addition, high
interest rate levels may adversely affect the economy in Hong Kong and the financial condition and
repayment ability of its corporate and retail borrowers which in turn may lead to a deterioration in
the Group’s credit portfolio.

The differences in timing and level of changes in interest rates can result in an increase in interest
expense relative to its interest income, which may lead to a reduction in its net interest income.
Interest rates in Hong Kong are sensitive to factors over which the Group has no control, including,
among others:

° interest rates in the United States;

liquidity of the domestic inter-bank market and the international capital markets;
° domestic and international economic and political conditions; and
° competition for loan demand.

In addition, the Group is subject to interest rate risk as a result of mismatches in the pricing and
duration of its assets and liabilities. A significant part of the Group’s funding requirements is met
through short-term or floating rate funding sources, primarily in the form of deposits, including
customer deposits and inter-bank deposits, which tend to be at floating rates and are regularly
repriced. In contrast, some of the Group’s assets either receive a fixed rate of interest or if they
receive a floating rate of interest, they may not be repriced as frequently as the Group’s deposits. The
Group closely monitors the risks associated with changes in interest rates that may arise from maturity
gaps, basis risks among different interest rate benchmarks, yield curve movements, interest rate
repricing risks and risks from embedded options (if any), and mitigates such risks mainly through
rebalancing the repricing structure of assets and liabilities and the use of interest rate derivatives as
an auxiliary strategy. However, in a volatile interest rate environment, there can be no assurance that
the Group’s net interest margin will not be impacted and the Group’s net interest income reduced.

The Group’s business operation is exposed to currency risks and may be affected by a
discontinuation of or amendment to the link of the Hong Kong dollar to the U.S. dollar or
revaluation of the Hong Kong dollar.

The Group’s assets and liabilities are denominated in major currencies, particularly the HK dollar, the
U.S. dollar and Renminbi. As at 31 December 2019, 2020 and 2021 and 30 June 2022, the Group held
a substantial part of its spot assets in U.S. dollars amounting to HK$95,831.32 million,
HK$104,828.48 million, HK$110,931.36 million and HK$129,947.21 million, respectively, and
Renminbi amounting to HK$135,879.40 million, HK$152,426.16 million, HK$166,479.91 million and
HK$150,026.66 million, respectively.
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The Hong Kong dollar has been linked to the U.S. dollar since 1983, and the Hong Kong government
has in the past expressed its commitment to maintaining exchange rate stability under the Linked
Exchange Rate System, an automatic interest rate adjustment mechanism. However, there can be no
assurance that the Hong Kong dollar will continue to be linked to the U.S. dollar or that, in the event
of a liquidity problem affecting the Hong Kong dollar, such bilateral repurchase agreements or
automatic interest rate adjustment mechanism will help to maintain adequate liquidity of the Hong
Kong dollar.

In addition, the value of the Renminbi against the U.S. dollar and other foreign currencies fluctuates
from time to time and is affected by changes in the PRC and by international political and economic
conditions and by many other factors. In August 2015, the PBOC implemented changes to the way that
it calculates the midpoint against the U.S. dollar to take into account market-maker quotes before
announcing the daily midpoint. This change, among others that may be implemented, may increase the
volatility in the value of the Renminbi against other currencies.

The Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected by the
impact on the Hong Kong economy of the discontinuation of the link of the Hong Kong dollar to the
U.S. dollar or any significant change in the exchange rate of U.S. dollar or Renminbi against the Hong
Kong dollar.

The Group’s investments in debt securities and certificates of deposit are subject to uncertainties
in the current credit and capital markets.

The Group holds a portfolio of debt securities and certificates of deposit with different investment
grades. The Group has analysed its investments in debt securities according to the designation of
external credit rating institutions such as Moody’s. As at 30 June 2022, the Group had a total
investment in debt securities of HK$150,373.61 million, of which approximately 5.51 per cent. were
rated Aaa, approximately 37.28 per cent. were rated between Aal to Aa3, approximately 47.02 per
cent. were rated between Al to A3, approximately 7.27 per cent. were rated lower than A3 and
approximately 2.93 per cent. were unrated (but with internal rating which is equivalent to investment
grade of external rating). Given the uncertainties in the current credit and capital markets, there can
be no assurance that the Group will not suffer any future mark-to-market losses in its portfolio of debt
securities, especially if, for example, the price of the securities on the secondary market drop
significantly, the underlying issuers’ liquidity worsened or even the underlying issuers fail to repay.
Although the Bank adopts a relatively conservative investment strategy, there can be no assurance that
the Bank will have sufficient access to resources and trading counterparties to effectively manage its
credit exposure. The volatility sourced from any negative news of the relevant security issuers could
be magnified, and as a result, the Bank may experience significant financial losses that could
materially and adversely affect its business, financial condition and results of operations.

The Group’s equity investments are subject to market risks.

The Group invests in certain equity and fixed income securities, all of which are subject to market
volatility. The performance of the Group’s equity and securities investment is determined by its
investment decisions and judgments based on its assessment of existing and future market conditions.
The Group’s investment decisions are a matter of judgment, which involves management discretion
and assumptions. Its decision-making process may fail to effectively minimise losses, capture gains,
or conform to actual changes in market conditions. Any decline in the value of such assets can result
in the recognition of impairment losses of the Group.

The Group is exposed to operational risks associated with the banking industry.
Like all other financial institutions, the Group is exposed to many types of operational risks, including
the risk of fraud, unauthorised transactions or other misconduct by employees (including the violation

of regulations for the prevention of corrupt practices, and other regulations governing the Group’s
business activities), or operational errors, including clerical or record keeping errors or errors

32



resulting from faulty computer or telecommunications systems. There can be no assurance that any of
such operational risks or operational errors will not materialise or occur in the future, or that, if such
risks or errors do materialise or occur, the Group’s business, reputation, results of operations and
financial conditions will not be adversely affected. The Group is further exposed to the risk that
external vendors may be unable to fulfil their contractual obligations to it (or will be subject to the
same risk of fraud or operational errors by their employees). For example, the Group outsources some
functions to other agencies. Moreover, the Group is exposed to the risk that its (or its vendors’)
business continuity and data security systems prove not to be sufficient in case of a system failure or
natural disaster.

Given the Group’s high volume of transactions, certain errors may be repeated or compounded before
they are discovered and successfully rectified. In addition, the Group’s dependence upon automated
systems to record and process transactions may further increase the risk of technical system flaws or
employee tampering or manipulation of those systems that will result in losses that may be difficult
to detect. The Group may also be subject to disruptions of its operating systems, arising from events
that are wholly or partially beyond its control (including, for example, computer viruses or electrical
or telecommunication outages), which may give rise to a deterioration in customer service and to loss
or liability to it or for it. The Group also faces the risk that the design of its controls and procedures
may prove inadequate or are circumvented, thereby causing delays in detection of errors in
information. Although, like all other financial institutions, the Group maintains a system of controls
designed to reduce operational risks to a reasonably low level, the Group has suffered losses from
operational risks and there can be no assurance that the Group will not suffer material losses from
operational risks in the future. The Group’s reputation could be adversely affected by the occurrence
of any such events involving its employees, customers or third parties. In addition to internal factors
that may affect the Group’s operations, the rapid growth and expansion of its business in recent years
as compared to other banks may have also resulted in increasing complexity in its internal and
external control systems and risk management measures, which may add to its operational risks.

The Group is subject to significant competition.

The Group is subject to significant competition in Hong Kong from many other Hong Kong and
foreign banks and financial institutions, including competitors which have significantly more
financial and other capital resources, higher market shares, and stronger brand recognition than the
Group. In particular, the banking and financial services industry in Hong Kong is a mature market and,
the Group is subject to significant and increasing competition from many other Hong
Kong-incorporated banks and Hong Kong branches of international and PRC banks, including
competitors that have significantly more financial and other capital resources, larger market share and
stronger brand recognition than the Group. Many of the international and local banks and niche
players operating in Hong Kong compete for substantially the same customers as the Group. In recent
years, competitions among banks in Hong Kong for investment and insurance products, home
mortgage loans, credit cards, personal loans and transport lending business have become very
aggressive. There can be no assurance that increased competition will not have a material adverse
effect on the Group’s business, financial condition or results of operations.

The banking industry in the PRC is highly competitive. The market has been dominated by the large
state-owned commercial banks, which have long operating histories, well-established branch
networks, large customer bases and better brand recognition. Moreover, the banking industry in the
PRC has been facing more challenges in recent years as the PRC government implemented a series
of measures to liberalise the banking industry. The Issuer expects competition from foreign
commercial banks to increase significantly as a number of foreign banks have established
locally-incorporated banks in the PRC and previous restrictions on their geographical presence,
customer base and operating licences in the PRC were removed in April 2007 pursuant to the PRC’s
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World Trade Organisation (“WTO”) commitments. Furthermore, the rapid development of internet
finance, financial disintermediation and shadow banking have brought new challenges to the banking
sector in business areas of deposits, payment and settlement, lending as well as acquisition and
retention of customers.

In addition, the PRC’s Closer Economic Partnership Arrangement (“CEPA”) with Hong Kong and
Macau allows smaller banks from these jurisdictions to operate in the PRC, which has also increased
competition in the banking industry in the PRC. Many of these banks compete with the Group for the
same customer base and some of them may have greater financial, management and technical
resources than the Group.

The intensified competition in the markets where the Group operates may adversely affect the Group’s
business and prospects, the effectiveness of its strategies, its results of operations and financial
condition by potentially:

° reducing the Group’s market share in its principal products and services;

° reducing the growth of the Group’s loan and deposit portfolios and other products and services;
° reducing the Group’s interest income and net interest margin;

° reducing the Group’s fee and commission income;

° increasing the Group’s interest and operating expenses; and

° increasing competition for qualified managers and employees.

The Group may be presented with new risks and challenges as it expands in the Hong Kong and
PRC markets.

The Issuer was the first foreign bank in the PRC and has been providing cross-border financial
services to customers between Hong Kong and mainland China since the establishment of its first
mainland branch in Shenzhen in 1982. NCB (China) was incorporated in the PRC on 14 December
2007 as a locally-incorporated bank. The establishment of a locally-incorporated bank is one of the
prerequisites, providing an RMB retail banking service in the PRC. Further expansion into the PRC
may present the Group with new risks and challenges, such as more stringent and changing regulatory
requirements.

Since the Group became a subsidiary of China Cinda in 2016, the Group’s business in the Hong Kong
and PRC markets has expanded through serving as a core financial services platform of China Cinda.

Future expansion in the Hong Kong and PRC markets may require significant financial, operational,
administrative and management resources. The success of such integration will depend in part on the
ability of the Group’s management to integrate the operations of the new businesses with its existing
operations and, where applicable, to integrate various departments, systems and processes.
Consequently, the Group’s ability to implement its business strategy may be constrained and the
timing of such implementation may be affected by the level of efficiency on the management of
existing resources. Any failure to manage integration and expansion effectively could have an adverse
effect on the Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

In addition, in order to meet the needs of its customers and to expand its business, the Group has
widened the range of products and services. Expansion of the business of the Group is subject to

certain risks and challenges, including:

° the Group may not be able to obtain regulatory approval for new products or services;
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° new products and services may not be well accepted by customers or are not able to generate the
Group’s expected return;

° difficulties in recruiting experienced professionals or qualified personnel to offer new products
and services, due to competition in the labour market; and

° the Group may not be able to enhance risk management capabilities and information technology
systems to support a broader range of products and services.

If the Group is not able to achieve the intended results with respect to its new products and services
to be offered, especially in the PRC, this could have an adverse effect on the business, financial
condition and results of operations of the Group.

The Group is subject to risks relating to changes in the regulatory environment in the PRC banking
and insurance industry.

The Group’s businesses are directly affected by changes in the PRC’s banking and insurance
regulatory policies, laws and regulations as well as global legal or regulatory sanctions. The
regulatory system and the laws and regulations governing the banking and insurance sectors are
subject to future changes. Some of the changes in rules and regulations may result in additional costs
or restrictions on NCB (China)’s operations and business expansion in the PRC and there can be no
assurance that such changes will not materially and adversely affect the Group’s business, financial
condition and results of operations.

For example, regarding the banking business, according to the requirements of the China Banking and
Insurance Regulatory Commission (“CBIRC”), NCB (China) is required to maintain a minimum core
Tier 1 capital adequacy of 7.5 per cent., a minimum Tier 1 capital adequacy ratio of 8.5 per cent. and
a minimum capital adequacy ratio of 10.5 per cent. If NCB (China) fails to meet the capital regulatory
requirements, the CBIRC may take regulatory measures, depending on the category of commercial
bank which NCB (China) belongs to, including requiring NCB (China) to control the growth of risk
weighted assets, restricting or prohibiting the expansion of branches, conducting new businesses and
limiting distributions of dividends. These measures could have a material adverse effect on the
business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects of NCB (China).

As some of the banking laws, rules, regulations or policies are relatively new, there is uncertainty
regarding their interpretation and application. If NCB (China) fails to comply with any of these laws,
rules, regulations or policies, it may result in enforcement actions, which may include fines to be
imposed on NCB (China), restrictions on its business activities, or in extreme cases, suspension or
revocation of its business licences, which would materially and adversely affect NCB (China)’s
operations, reputation, business and financial position.

NCB (China) operates in a highly regulated industry. The principal regulators of the PRC banking
industry are the CBIRC, the PBOC and the State Administration of Foreign Exchange (“SAFE”). The
CBIRC requires all commercial banks in China to maintain certain financial ratios, including but not
limited to liquidity coverage ratio, liquidity ratio, net stable funding ratio and Capital Adequacy Ratio
(“CAR”).

In accordance with the Commercial Banking Law of the PRC (3£ A R LA B i 2£ 4R 177%) amended
on 29 August 2015 and effective on 1 October 2015, the previous requirement that all commercial
banks in China should maintain a loan-to-deposit ratio of not more than 75 per cent. has been
removed. However, the CBIRC uses other indicators, such as liquidity coverage ratio, liquidity ratio,
net stable funding ratio, liquidity matching rate, and high-quality liquid asset adequacy ratio to
monitor the liquidity status of commercial banks. If NCB (China) failed to fulfil this mandatory
requirement, it may result in restrictions on its business expansion imposed by the CBIRC, such as
suspension of new business application and establishment of new branches or sub-branches. As at 30
June 2022, NCB (China) was in compliance with this mandatory requirement.
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Following the issuance of Basel III in December 2010, on 27 April 2011, the CBRC issued new
guidelines setting more stringent capital adequacy, leverage, liquidity and loan loss provisioning
requirements for PRC banks in accordance with the reform of China’s banking industry and the related
regulatory framework. On 7 June 2012, the CBRC further issued the Regulation Governing Capital of
Commercial Banks (Provisional) ({81 &EAEMPLGIT))) (the “Capital Management
Rules”), which in view of the new international capital regulatory framework and the spirit of Basel
IT and Basel III, establish a unified and comprehensive regulatory system for capital adequacy,
re-define the term “capital”, expand the scope of capital risk coverage and set forth different
regulatory requirements for commercial banks with different capital adequacy levels. Also, the rules
set forth a new method for calculating the capital adequacy ratio and provide a transition period for
PRC commercial banks to meet their capital adequacy requirements progressively. The Capital
Management Rules has been effective since 1 January 2013. Pursuant to Notice on Matters Relating
to Arrangements During the Transitional Period for Implementation of the Administrative Measures
on Capitals of Commercial Banks (For Trial Implementation) (<" [ %R B € B it B it (R 2ERIT &
ARG FPHEEGUT)) MIE L PEAHBI FH A ))  (the  “Transitional Notice on  Capital
Management”), the CBRC encourages the commercial banks which had satisfied the capital adequacy
requirements in the Capital Regulation before the end of 2012 to continue to meet such requirements
during the transition period, and the commercial banks which had failed to meet such requirements
by the end of 2012 to gradually improve their capital adequacy during the transition period by
satisfying the year-by-year capital adequacy requirements. In December 2020, the CBIRC issued the
Assessment Methods for Systemically Important Banks ({4t 8 2 ER1T 5745 #EIL ) ), which aimed
to release a list of systemically important banks in China annually to place these banks under
differentiated supervision, so as to reduce the possibility of their incurring material risks and prevent
systemic risks. The systemic importance scores of sample banks shall be calculated by using
quantitative assessment indicators, and supervisory judgments shall be made based on other
quantitative and qualitative information, so as to comprehensively assess the systemic importance of
sample banks. Banks with a score more than 100 points are included in the initial list of systemically
important banks and the PBOC and the CBIRC may, based on other quantitative or qualitative
auxiliary information, give supervisory judgment recommendation for putting a sample bank with a
systemic importance score of less than 100 points on the list of systemically important banks and
submit the recommendation to the FSDC Office together with the initial list.

The principal regulator of the PRC insurance industry is CBIRC. According to the Administrative
Measures on Insurance Agency Business of Commercial Banks (the “Insurance Agency Measures”)
(?ﬁ%fﬁﬁﬁ»@ﬁ%Fﬁ%f’%%&ﬁ%ﬁj&) issued on 23 August 2019 and effective on 1 October 2019, to
carry out business in the insurance industry, commercial banks with legal person identities are
required to apply for licenses engaging in insurance agency business. With such licenses, they may
authorise their branches to engage in insurance agency business. Under the Insurance Agency
Measures, commercial banks conducting insurance business shall arrange a special department to
answer for such business, which shall be accounted and audited independently.

There is no assurance that the Group can always satisfy applicable laws and regulatory requirements.
If the Group does not meet any such requirements, the Group’s business, financial condition and
results of operations may be materially and adversely affected.

The Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects may be materially
and adversely affected if it is unable to manage challenges arising during its growth.

The Group’s efforts to integrate its various business operations and coordinate among its branches and
subsidiaries may not be effective or timely. In addition, the Group cannot assure you that such growth
will continue in the future. The expansion of the Group’s business activities poses various challenges
to it, including but not limited to:
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° meeting the higher requirements for capital and cost controls to satisfy all relevant capital
regulatory requirements, including the minimum capital adequacy ratio and net capital
requirements, as well as other capital needs;

° strengthening its risk management capabilities and information technology (“IT”) systems to
effectively manage risks associated with various businesses and services;

° recruiting, training and retaining management, investment and finance professionals, technical
personnel and sales staff with sufficient experience and knowledge;

° developing new distribution channels for its products and services; and

° maintaining and developing its brand and reputation.

The Group’s investments, acquisitions and business initiatives may expose it to various potential
risks, including risks associated with the integration of new business lines, operations and personnel,
the diversion of resources from its existing businesses and technologies, the potential loss of, or harm
to, relationships with employees and customers, as well as other unforeseen or hidden liabilities. If
the Group is not able to manage future growth successfully, its business, financial condition, results
of operations and prospects could be materially and adversely affected.

The Group’s operations depend on key management and professional staff and its business may be
materially and adversely affected if it is unable to recruit, train or retain a sufficient number of
qualified employees.

The success of the Group’s business, to a large extent, depends on its ability to attract and retain key
personnel who possess in-depth knowledge and understanding of, and extensive working experience
in, the financial industry. These key personnel include, among others, senior management,
professional staff in the banking industry, experienced investment managers, product development
personnel, research analysts, marketing and sales staff, legal professionals, risk management
personnel, IT specialists and other operational personnel. Therefore, the Group devotes considerable
resources to recruiting and retaining these personnel. However, the market for qualified professionals
is highly competitive, and the Group faces increasing competition in recruiting and retaining these
individuals as other banks and financial institutions are vying for the same pool of talent. The Group’s
business and financial condition could suffer if it is unable to retain its management team, including
its senior management and operating management, and other high-quality personnel, including its
management in the business, finance, investment and IT departments, or cannot replace them upon
their departure in a timely manner. In the face of the intense competition for talent, the Group may
need to offer better compensation and other benefits to recruit and retain qualified professionals and
additional costs may be incurred.

The Group’s risk management policies and procedures and internal controls, as well as the risk
management tools available to it, may not be adequate or effective in identifying or managing risks
to which it is exposed.

The complexity of the Group’s operations and products exposes it to various risks, including market
risk, credit risk, operational risk, liquidity risk, compliance risk, legal risk and other risks. The Group
has established risk management and internal control systems and procedures to manage potential
risks associated with the financial services and products it offers, and it has been dedicated to
continuously improving these systems and procedures. See the section entitled “Selected Statistical
and Other Information — Risk Management” in this Offering Circular. However, the design and
implementation of such systems, including internal control environment, risk identification and
evaluation, effectiveness of risk control and information communication, are constrained by available
information, tools, models and technologies available to the Group, and its systems may not be
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adequate or effective in identifying or mitigating its risk exposure in all market environments or
protecting it against all types of risks. The Group’s risk management and internal control systems
require ongoing review and continual improvements. The Group’s efforts to maintain these systems
may be ineffective or inadequate.

The effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems and procedures may
also be adversely affected by oversight, clerical mishandling and errors, reporting errors or its limited
experience or resources in making accurate, complete, up-to-date or proper evaluations. Many of the
Group’s methods for managing risk exposure are based upon observed historical market behaviour or
data. Potential future risk can be significantly greater than what these methods have historically
estimated. Moreover, the information and empirical data that the Group relies on may quickly become
obsolete as a result of changes in market situations and regulatory requirements, and the Group’s
historical data may not be able to adequately reflect risks that may emerge from time to time in the
future.

There is no assurance that the Group’s risk management and internal control systems are adequate and
effective. Failure to address any internal control matters and other deficiencies in a timely and
effective manner may result in investigations, disciplinary actions or even prosecution against the
Group or its employees, any of which may have a material adverse effect on its business, financial
condition and results of operations.

Failures of or inadequacies in IT systems could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s
business, financial condition and results of operations.

The Group’s business operations depend heavily on its business, accounting and other data processing
systems. The failure of normal operation or even inability in operation of any of such systems will
expose it to financial losses, business disruption, intervention of regulatory authorities or reputational
damage.

The proper functioning of its business processing, accounting, financial controls, risk management,
customer service and other business is dependent on the Group’s IT systems and communication
networks with the third parties. If the fundamental system which supports the Group’s business suffers
from malfunction or disruption, including system problems or communication disruption to its
systems and the systems of any third parties it engaged may be indirectly affected, which will have
a material adverse effect on its ongoing business. These failures could be caused by, among other
things, hardware failure, software program errors, computer virus attacks, network failure, conversion
errors due to system upgrading or system relocation, failure to implement new IT initiatives, human
errors, natural disasters, war, terrorist attacks, blackouts and unanticipated problems of facilities,
many of which are beyond the Group’s control. Although the Group backs up business data regularly,
any prolonged disruption to or malfunction in the operation of its IT systems could have a large impact
on its normal business operations and limit its ability to monitor and manage data, control financial
and operation conditions, monitor and manage its risk exposures, keep accurate records, provide
high-quality customer service and develop and sell profitable products and services. Recovery from
such disasters may be unable to mitigate the Group’s losses incurred during such malfunction and
disruptions. In addition, insurances or other precaution measures may only partly, if at all, indemnify
the Group’s losses.

The Group updates its IT systems and introduces new IT systems from time to time. However, delays,
system failures or other accidents may occur during such system upgrades or introduction of new
systems. In addition, the upgraded or new IT systems may not be able to achieve the anticipated
processing capacity and availability, and may also not be able to meet the needs of its business growth
in the future. The Group’s failure to address these problems promptly, including any delay in the
implementation of any upgraded or new information systems, could result in its inability to perform,
or delays in performing critical business operational functions, the loss of key business data, or a
failure to comply with regulatory requirements, which could have a material adverse effect on its
business, financial condition and results of operations.
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In addition, the Group provides online financial services such as securities brokerage services to its
customers. Security breaches, disruption to or instability of the Group’s online financial services
platform or mobile service platform could impair its ability to serve its customers and execute trades
on their behalf and on its own account, which could materially and adversely affect its results of
operations and reputation. The Group’s networks may be vulnerable to unauthorised access, computer
viruses and other disruptive problems. Costs incurred in rectifying any such disruptive problems may
be high and may adversely affect the Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations.
The Group has been actively monitoring its internet banking security through an external IT unit and
would issue public alerts when any security issue is located. Concerns regarding security risks in
general may deter the Group’s existing and potential customers from using its internet banking
products and services, and may in turn have a material adverse effect on the Group’s internet banking
business.

The Group relies on the services provided by a third-party service provider for part of its IT
functions during the transition period after the Acquisition.

Following the Acquisition, BOCHK, Cinda Financial Holdings Co., Limited (“Cinda Financial”) and
the Issuer entered into a transitional services agreement (the “TSA”) on the 30 May 2016, pursuant
to which BOCHK shall provide certain transitional support services to the Issuer and NCB (China)
at service charges mutually agreed by the parties for an initial term of three years (with an option for
extension of one year to be exercised by the Group) from 30 May 2016 to facilitate smooth
post-Acquisition transition (the “Transition Period”). The services provided by BOCHK under the
TSA include the maintenance of IT systems currently used by the Issuer and NCB (China) and other
forms of IT support. If BOCHK fails to maintain the IT systems used by the Issuer and NCB (China)
or provide IT support to the Group properly under the TSA, or if there is any disruption to or
instability of the IT systems maintained by BOCHK, the Group’s operations, business and financial
condition may be materially and adversely affected. There can be no assurance that such problems
with BOCHK’s provision of IT system maintenance service will not occur in the future.

The Group has been developing its proprietary IT systems since the Acquisition, however, there is no
assurance that the Group will be able to complete the intended development of its proprietary IT
systems within the Transition Period. The Group has extended the TSA by the option given. NCB
(China) has completed its new IT system platform since August 2019 and begun its own IT operation.
If the Group fails to complete the intended development of its proprietary IT systems within the
Transition Period, it may have to further negotiate with BOCHK or other third-party service providers
for the continuation of use of the IT systems and IT support currently provided by BOCHK.

The Group may incur significant capital expenditure for the development of its proprietary IT
systems.

While the Group has been using certain IT support services and IT systems provided by BOCHK
during the Transition Period, it has been developing its proprietary IT systems for its own use in the
long run. The development of such IT systems requires substantial capital investment. The Group may
have higher capital expenditure in the future as it continues to develop and enhance its IT systems.
The Group’s capital expenditure plans are subject to a number of factors, some of which are beyond
its control, including its ability to generate sufficient cash flows from its operations and the
availability and terms of external financing. If the Group is unable to obtain acceptable financing to
fund necessary capital expenditures in the future, the results of its operations and its financial
condition could be adversely affected.

The Group may not be able to detect money laundering, terrorism-funding economic sanctions and
other illegal or improper activities in its business operations completely or on a timely basis.

The Group is required to comply with applicable anti-money laundering laws, anti-terrorism laws and

other regulations in Hong Kong, the PRC and overseas. The PRC Anti-money Laundering Law (" %
NBRILFNE Je e 8815) and the relevant anti-money laundering laws and regulations in Hong Kong
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require financial institutions to establish sound internal control policies and procedures with respect
to anti-money laundering monitoring and reporting activities. The PRC Anti-Terrorism Law (%A
B IL AN B 2 i £ 2835) and the relevant anti-terrorism regulations also require financial institutions
to freeze capital or other assets of terrorist organisations and their members that have been designated
by the national anti-terrorism authorities and to report to the relevant governmental authorities.

The United States, the United Kingdom, the European Union, the United Nations Security Council and
other applicable jurisdictions also administer a range of anti-terrorism, export controls and economic
sanctions programs, including broad embargoes against certain countries, such as Cuba, Iran, North
Korea, Sudan, Syria, the Crimea region of Ukraine and the so-called People’s Republics of Luhansk
and Donetsk, as well as targeted sanctions against terrorists, international narcotics traffickers and
individuals engaged in activities related to the proliferation of weapons of mass destruction.

The Group has established adequate internal control systems for the detection and prevention of
money laundering activities, terrorism-funding activities and economic sanctioned activities through
its business platform, taking into account factors including the types of products and services offered,
the category of customers and geographical locations of the parties and transactions involved for its
identification of potential risks. The Group has also implemented various ongoing control measures
to manage and mitigate any potential risks arising from its business operations, ranging from senior
management oversight, appointments of compliance officer and money laundering reporting officer,
regular checks by its compliance and audit function teams, staff screening and training. The Group’s
existing policies and procedures for the detection and prevention of money laundering activities and
terrorist-financing activities through its business platform have only been adopted in recent years and
may not eliminate instances in which it may have been used by other parties to engage in money
laundering and other illegal or improper activities. In the event that the Group fails to fully comply
with applicable laws and regulations, including those sanctions and anti-money laundering laws and
regulations which often have extrarterritorial effect, the relevant government agencies may initiate
prolonged investigation and/or proceedings on the Group, may freeze its assets or impose fines or
other penalties on it. There is no assurance that there will not be failures in detecting money
laundering or other illegal or improper activities which may adversely affect the Group’s business
reputation, financial condition and results of operations.

While the Group is not currently engaged in any activities in violation of U.S. sanctions, the United
States maintains so-called “secondary sanctions” threatening the impositions of a range of sanctions
against non-U.S. entities engaging in, among other activities, targeted activities, targeted activities in
involving certain countries or sanctioned persons outside of U.S. jurisdiction. There is no assurance
that there will be no failures in detecting and preventing money laundering, terrorism funding,
economic sanctioned or other illegal or improper activities which may materially and adversely affect
the Group’s reputation, business, financial condition and results of operations and its ability to meet
its obligations under the Capital Securities.

The Group may not be able to detect and prevent fraud or other misconduct committed by its
employees, representatives, agents, customers or other third parties in a timely manner.

The Group may encounter fraud or other misconduct committed by its employees, representatives,
agents, customers or other third parties, which could result in violations of laws and regulations by
the Group and expose it to regulatory sanction. Even if such instances of misconduct do not result in
any legal liabilities on its part, they could cause serious reputational or financial harm to the Group.
This misconduct could include, but may not be limited to, committing fraud.

The Group’s internal control procedures are designed to monitor its operations and ensure overall
compliance. However, its internal control procedures may be unable to identify all incidents of
non-compliance or suspicious transactions in a timely manner or at all. Furthermore, it is not always
possible to detect and prevent fraud and other misconduct. The precautions taken to detect and prevent
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such activities may not be fully effective. There can be no assurance that fraud or other misconducts
will not occur in the future. The Group’s failure to detect and prevent fraud and other misconducts
in a timely manner may have a material and adverse effect on its business reputation, financial
condition and results of operations.

The Group may not be able to properly identify and deal with conflicts of interest, which could
materially and adversely affect its business.

As the Group expands the scope of its businesses and client base, it becomes increasingly important
for it to be able to address potential conflicts of interest, including situations where two or more
interests within its businesses legitimately exist but are in competition or conflict. The Group may
encounter conflicts of interest where (i) its services to a particular client or its own investments are
in conflict, or are perceived to conflict, with the interests of another client; (ii) any of the non-public
information it obtains through business channels is disclosed to other business departments of the
Group; and (iii) the Group may be a counterparty of an entity to which it also provides financial
services or with which it has other business relationships. Any failure to prevent the imprudent use
of information or manage conflicts of interest could harm the Group’s reputation and affect client
confidence. In addition, potential or perceived conflicts of interest may also give rise to litigation or
regulatory actions. Any of the foregoing situations could adversely affect the Group’s business,
financial condition and results of operations.

The Group is subject to extensive regulatory requirements and any breach of the relevant laws or
regulations would materially and adversely affect the Group’s business, financial condition and
results of operations, and further issuance of regulatory capital may adversely affect the market
price of the capital securities in the secondary market.

Under the Banking Ordinance (Cap. 155) of Hong Kong (the “Banking Ordinance”), the Monetary
Authority regulates the business activities and operations of authorised institutions and has the ability
to influence banking and financial markets generally. Potential investors should be aware that
regulatory requirements in Hong Kong may differ from those that prevail in other countries. See
“Regulation and Supervision — Regulation and Supervision in Hong Kong.” Since the Group operates
in the highly regulated banking and securities industries in Hong Kong, potential investors should also
be aware that the regulatory authorities have been consistently imposing higher standards and
developing guidelines and regulatory requirements such as the Basel III capital standards which have
been adopted in Hong Kong since January 2013.

In December 2010 and January 2011, the Basel Committee issued the Basel III requirements to raise
the quality, consistency and transparency of banks’ capital base and new global liquidity standards.
Among other things, Basel III increases the minimum CAR requirements in relation to risk-weighted
assets, with the common equity requirement rising from 2 per cent. to 4.5 per cent. and the Tier 1
capital requirement rising from 4 per cent. to 6 per cent. The minimum total capital requirement
remains unchanged at 8 per cent.

The initial stage of the Basel III capital reforms has been implemented by the government of Hong
Kong since the beginning of 2013, and the full implementation of the reforms will be completed no
earlier than 1 January 2024.

These standards require banks to disclose key pieces of information on capital, risk exposures, risk
assessment processes and hence capital adequacy. The aim of these standards is to encourage banks
to demonstrate to the market participants that their risk management systems are robust and that all
relevant risks have been identified and controlled.

The Monetary Authority has publicly announced its plan to implement the Basel III liquidity standards
in full following the Basel implementation schedule and transitional arrangement. The Banking
(Liquidity) Rules (Cap. 155Q) of Hong Kong were enacted into local regulations in October 2014 and
these rules have been in operation since 1 January 2015.
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On 19 October 2018, the Financial Institutions (Resolution) (Loss-absorbing Capacity Requirements
— Banking Sector) Rules (Cap. 628B) of Hong Kong (the “LAC Rules”) was published in the gazette
of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region Government, and came into operation on 14
December 2018. The LAC Rules introduce an additional loss absorbing capacity ratio which the
Group may or may not need to maintain in addition to existing capital and liquidity. If the LAC Rules
are considered applicable to the Group in future, it may need to issue other loss absorbency capital
instruments to meet the relevant requirements in the LAC Rules. There can be no assurance that the
Group will be able to obtain additional capital in a timely manner, on acceptable terms or at all.
Therefore, the Group is unable to assess the full impact of the LAC requirements on the financial
system generally, the Group’s counterparties, the Group, any of its consolidated subsidiaries, its
operations and/or its financial position.

As at 30 June 2022, the Group’s Common Equity Tier 1 CAR, Tier 1 CAR and Total CAR were 12.34
per cent., 13.69 per cent. and 17.13 per cent., respectively, which satisfy the regulation requirements.
In order to strengthen its capital adequacy position or to ensure that it remains in compliance with
applicable capital requirements under Hong Kong law, rules and regulations (including guidelines
issued by the Monetary Authority), the Group may from time to time raise additional capital through
such means and in such manner as it may consider appropriate including, without limitation, the issue
of further subordinated notes or other hybrid capital instruments, subject to any regulatory approval
that may be required. There can be no assurance that such future capital raising activities will not
adversely affect the market price of the capital securities in the secondary market. There can also be
no assurance that the Group will be able to obtain additional capital in a timely manner, on acceptable
terms or at all.

Certain products and services provided by the Group are regulated by other regulators including the
Securities and Futures Commission (the “SFC”) in Hong Kong. The Group carefully manages legal
and compliance risks, including in relation to the sale of financial products and compliance with
anti-money laundering and anti-terrorist financing regulations. From time to time, the regulators in
Hong Kong have introduced recommendations which are intended to provide tighter control and more
transparency in the Hong Kong banking sector, in particular, in relation to the selling of investment
and insurance products to retail customers.

In May 2010, the Monetary Authority and the SFC each launched new investor protection measures.
The Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571) of Hong Kong (the “SFO”) and its subsidiary
legislations regulate the offering and sales of securities products as defined under Schedule 1 of the
SFO. In addition to the subsidiary legislations, the Monetary Authority has been introducing
additional measures on sales of investment products, including non-SFO regulated investment
products, which the banking industry in Hong Kong needs to comply with.

Among others, the Monetary Authority, from time to time, issues circulars in relation to the selling
of investment and insurance products, which further clarified and enhanced the product due diligence
process, product disclosure to customers and suitability assessment. With regards to the investment
products with relatively higher risk (such as accumulators and high yield or complex bonds), the
Monetary Authority also specified the regulatory standards for selling these products.

Separately, the SFC has revised their Code of Conduct for Persons Licensed by or Registered with the
Securities and Futures Commission (the “SFC Code”) for meriting greater protection to investors,
including the reform of Professional Investor Regime in March 2016 dis-applying most of the
previous exemptions under the SFC Code to the Individual Professional Investors, to add a new clause
into client agreement for making the intermediary’s suitability obligation towards its customers as a
contractual term and to further enhance disclosure of transaction related information to customers in
August 2018.

The Group has taken steps to implement the recommendations by relevant regulators and to comply
with any new or modified regulations. Going forward, it is foreseeable that there would be further
reinforcements and more stringent requirements on the regulations, particularly those in relation to
suitability of selling investment and insurance products and fairness and transparency of providing
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banking products and services to customers. Increased regulations and the requirements for more
stringent customer protections have increased its operational and compliance expenses. Any changes
in regulations, governmental policies, income tax laws or rules and accounting principles, as well as
international conventions and standards relating to commercial banking operations in Hong Kong,
could affect the Group’s operations. There can be no assurance that the relevant regulatory authorities
will not implement further regulations and that such changes will not materially increase the Group’s
operational and compliance burden or adversely affect its business or operations. There can also be
no assurance that breaches of legislation or regulations by the Group will not occur and, to the extent
that such a breach does occur, that significant liability or penalties will not be incurred.

The Group is subject to certain minimum regulatory capital and liquidity requirements.

The Group is subject to the risk, inherent in all regulated financial businesses, of having insufficient
capital resources to meet the minimum regulatory capital requirements. Currently, under Basel III
transitional requirements, capital requirements are inherently more sensitive to market movements
than under previous regimes and capital requirements will increase if economic conditions or negative
trends in the financial markets worsen. Any failure of the Group to maintain its minimum regulatory
capital ratios could result in administrative actions or sanctions, which in turn may have a material
adverse impact on the Group’s results of operations. A shortage of available capital might restrict the
Group’s opportunities for expansion.

The Basel Committee on Banking Supervision formally promulgated Basel III in December 2010. The
CBRC promulgated the Capital Management Rules on 7 June 2012 based on the reform of the banking
industry and the existing regulatory framework of the PRC, taking into account the effect of and
requirements set out in Basel II and Basel III. The Capital Management Rules came into effect as of
1 January 2013; and on the same date, the Measures on the Administration of the Capital Adequacy
Ratio of Commercial Banks, which was promulgated by the CBRC on 23 February 2004 and amended
on 3 July 2007, was revoked. The Capital Management Rules establish a unified regulatory system in
respect of the capital adequacy ratio, clarify the definition of capital, expand the range of capital risk
coverage, raise the bottom line for the capital adequacy ratio and set a six-year transition period (from
2013 to 2018) for banks to comply with capital adequacy ratio requirements. On 30 November 2012,
the CBRC issued the Transitional Notice on Capital Management, which provides the regulatory
standards and implementation course for the transition period.

Further, the Monetary Authority or other authorities having oversight of the Issuer at the relevant time
may implement the package of reforms in a manner that is different from that which is currently
envisaged, or may impose additional capital requirements on authorised institutions. If the regulatory
capital requirements, liquidity restrictions or ratios applied to the Group are increased in the future,
any failure of the Group to maintain such increased regulatory capital ratios could result in
administrative actions or sanctions, which may have an adverse effect on the Group’s results of
operations.

The Group may expand its business through acquisitions in the future, which may cause an adverse
impact on its financial condition.

The Group may consider expanding its business operations through mergers, acquisitions and forming
joint ventures. The benefits of an acquisition or joint venture transaction may take considerable time
to develop. Such post-acquisition integration could place significant strain on its managerial,
operational and financial resources and there is no assurance that any particular acquisition or joint
venture will achieve the intended benefits. In particular, the heavy demands of capital for such
transactions may lead to a deduction of capital and a decrease in the Group’s capital adequacy level.
Further, the success of such joint ventures is also dependent on current global economic conditions.
For example, in a global economic downturn, the Group’s joint ventures may need to raise more funds
in order to continue to meet their obligations and there is no assurance that such funds will be
successfully raised. Moreover, the PRC government may issue policies which could have a significant
influence over many aspects of the economy from time to time. There is no assurance that the Group’s
investments and operations will not be restricted or adversely affected by such policies in the future.
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In addition, the Group may review and optimise its business portfolio from time to time, including
implementing exit plans for its investments in accordance with its development strategies. There is no
assurance that the Group will successfully implement its investment exit strategies and/or restructure
its business portfolio in the future. The Group will take into account various factors such as the
following when reviewing its investment exit strategies:

° general market conditions;

° the availability of different methods of exit and the risks associated thereto;

° the projected investment gain, as updated during the entire lifecycle of the investment; and
° the impact on the Group’s financial results and cashflows.

In the event that the Group is unable to make and implement investment exit decisions that adequately
address its business restructuring and optimisation needs, the Group’s business, financial condition,
results of operation and prospects might be adversely affected.

Any future outbreak of mass communicable diseases like COVID-19, Severe Acute Respiratory
Syndrome (SARS), Human Swine Influenza A (HINI1), Avian or Swine Influenza or other highly
contagious diseases in Asia and elsewhere may materially and adversely affect the Group’s business
and operations, as well as its financial condition and status.

Since late-2019, the COVID-19 pandemic has resulted in a widespread and global health crisis,
restrictions on travel and public transport and prolonged closures of workplaces. Such outbreak has
affected investment sentiment, resulted in sporadic volatility in global capital markets and adversely
affected economies around the world. It has caused significant volatility in the stock markets
worldwide and has impacted economic activity worldwide. Concerns about the spread of COVID-19
have caused governments around the world to take measures to prevent its spread. Such measures
include lockdowns, restrictions on travel and public transport and prolonged closures of workplaces,
which have had a material adverse effect on the global economy. Although, with the implementation
of vaccination programmes in various countries, there are some signs that the effect of COVID-19 is
gradually being contained, many parts of the world remain heavily impacted by the pandemic.

There can be no assurance that there will not be a continued occurrence or a recurrence of an outbreak
of COVID-19 (or new variants of COVID-19 that may be more contagious), or another significant
global outbreak of a severe communicable disease, in Hong Kong, the PRC or the rest of the world
in the future, and if such an outbreak were to occur, it may have an impact on the operations of the
Group and its results of operations may suffer. Like other financial institutions, the Group’s
operations in those affected regions were influenced by a number of COVID-related factors including,
but not limited to, a decline in demand for residential mortgage advances, a reduction in the number
of customers visiting the Group’s branches and an adverse impact on asset quality due to a weakened
economy and higher unemployment rate. There can be no assurance that the Group’s business,
financial condition and result of operations would not be adversely affected if another outbreak of
SARS or another highly contagious disease occurs.

Governments and central banks around the world have introduced or are planning fiscal and monetary
stimulus measures including tax cuts, direct subsidies, rates cuts, bond repurchase programs and
suspension or relaxation of prudential bank capital requirements. These measures aim to contain the
economic impact of the pandemic, stabilise the markets and provide liquidity easing to the markets.
There is no assurance that such measures may be introduced in time or will be sufficient or effective
in delivering their policy objectives. There is no assurance that these measures will be successful in
containing the economic impact of the pandemic or stabilising the markets. As a result, the global
economy is facing significant uncertainties and the global financial markets are experiencing
significant volatilities, which may have an adverse impact on the Group’s results of operations,
financial condition and profitability.
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The Group is subject to concentration risk.

The Banking (Exposure Limits) Rules (Cap. 155S) of Hong Kong (the “BELR”) generally prohibits
any bank incorporated in Hong Kong from maintaining financial exposure to any single counterparty
and group of linked counterparties in excess of 25 per cent. of Tier 1 capital. In recent years, the
Issuer’s exposure to its 10 largest borrowers (including groups of individuals and companies,
excluding exposure to the Group) consistently amounted to a substantial majority of its Tier 1 capital,
even though it has not had exposure to any single counterparty and group of linked counterparties in
excess of 25 per cent. of its Tier 1 capital. In addition, the Issuer also faces the risks of concentrated
geographic distribution, as substantially all of its operations are in the PRC and Hong Kong. Such
concentration exposes the Issuer to concentration risk and its business may therefore be significantly
impacted by any adverse event affecting the banking industry in the PRC or Hong Kong, or even
globally in general, and any adverse event affecting its largest customers, which may in turn have a
material adverse effect on its business, financial condition and results of operations.

The Group may be affected by the Financial Institutions (Resolution) Ordinance or other
regulatory requirements

On 7 July 2017, the Financial Institutions (Resolution) Ordinance (Cap. 628) of Hong Kong (the
“FIRO”) came into effect. The FIRO provides for, among other things, the establishment of a
resolution regime for authorised institutions and other within scope financial institutions in Hong
Kong which may be designated by the relevant resolution authorities, which includes the Issuer and
may in the future include other members of the Group (a “FIRO Group Entity”). The resolution
regime seeks to provide the relevant resolution authorities with administrative powers to bring about
timely and orderly resolution in order to stabilise and secure continuity for a failing authorised
institution or within scope financial institution in Hong Kong. In particular, in the context of a
resolution of any FIRO Group Entity, the relevant resolution authority may have the ability to resolve
other entities within the Group as if they were themselves a within scope financial institution for the
purposes of FIRO and take certain actions and make certain directions in relation to such entities. Any
such actions could potentially affect contractual and property rights relating to the relevant entity. The
implementation of FIRO remains untested and certain detail relating to FIRO will be set out through
secondary legislation and supporting rules. Therefore, the Group is unable to assess the full impact
of FIRO on the financial system generally, the Group’s counterparties, the Group, any of the Group’s
consolidated subsidiaries or other Group entities, our operations and/or our financial position.

The loss-absorbing capacity (“LAC”) requirements have been introduced in December 2018, via the
Financial Institutions (Resolution) (Loss-absorbing Capacity Requirements — Banking Sector) Rules
(Cap. 628B), in order to ensure that the resolution regime can be used effectively and that authorised
institutions have sufficient loss-absorbing capacity.

The HKMA or other regulatory authorities may implement other subsidiary registrations or
regulations, or may implement a series of reforms that are different from the current reform plan in
contemplation of, or may raise additional regulatory requirements to the Group which will increase
our compliance costs. If the Group cannot meet any requirement for regulatory capital, the regulatory
authorities may impose punishments or restrict our business operation, which may in turn, have a
material adverse impact on our business, financial condition or results of operation.

The Group may be involved in legal and other proceedings arising from its operations from time
to time.

The Group offers a range of wealth management and investment products to its customers. The
Group’s management of the selling process associated with the distribution of these products is
important to the success of its business. The Group is required, among other things, to assess the
suitability of customers for particular investment products and to ensure that risks associated with
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those products are adequately disclosed to its customers before the Group sells such products to them.
The Group may become liable to customers for damages and may be subject to regulatory enforcement
actions if the sale of these products by the Group is subsequently found to be in breach of the relevant
legal or regulatory requirements, or duties owed to customers.

Litigation and claims will always be a possibility and such claims, in the aggregate, may become
material to the Group. Similarly, there can be no assurance that relevant government authorities or
regulators will not seek to impose fines and/or suspend the Group’s regulated activities as a result of
regulatory proceedings. Regulatory pressure to settle claims could also result in material payments by
the Group to disgruntled investors, which often does not reflect the merits of the parties’ cases. Any
legal or regulatory proceedings, whether substantiated or not, may result in negative publicity and a
loss of customer confidence and/or goodwill, which may lead to a loss of business that may pose
adverse effect on the Group’s reputation with existing and potential customers, as well as the Group’s
business, financial condition or results of operations. Lastly, future legislative or regulatory
restrictions may also limit the practices and ability of the Group to sell investment products, which
may have an impact on the Group’s business.

If the Group is unsuccessful in defending any legal proceeding, or is unsuccessful in settling any legal
proceeding on commercially reasonable terms, the Group may be liable to pay damages or face
penalties or sanctions that may have a material adverse impact on the Group’s business and
operations. In addition, whilst the Group has purchased liability insurance, there is no assurance by
the Group that such insurance coverage is sufficient to eliminate potential loss and damage caused by
such proceedings.

Nevertheless, as at 30 June 2022, neither the Issuer nor any other member of the Group are involved
in any material litigation, arbitration or similar proceedings, and the Issuer is not aware of any such
proceedings pending or threatened against it or any of its subsidiaries, which are or might be material
in the context of the Capital Securities. See the section titled “Business of the Group — Litigation”.

The PRC government shall under no circumstances have any obligation arising out of or in
connection with the Capital Securities, which is solely to be fulfilled by the Issuer.

Although the ultimate shareholders of the Issuer include the Ministry of Finance of the PRC (the
“MOF”), and the National Council for Social Security Fund, the Issuer is not part of the PRC
government. The PRC government is not an obligor and shall under no circumstances have any
obligation arising out of or in connection with the Capital Securities. This position has been
reinforced by the Circular of the Ministry of Finance on Issues relevant to the Regulation on the
Financing Activities Conducted by Financial Institutions for Local Governments and State-owned
Enterprises ([ 7% K 0 <5 il b 3 368 Hb J7 MO A0 B AT £ SE G AT 4 A7 B B E B 48 0 (B4 (2018) 23
%%) (the “MOF Circular”) promulgated on 28 March 2018 and took effect on the same day, and the
Circular of the NDRC and the MOF on Improvement of Market Regulatory Regime and Strict
Prevention of Foreign Debt Risks and Local Government Indebtedness Risks (5 5 %% J& pig 4 2 i B &6
B 7 52 35 T 355 40 SRR T s 7 4R 4/ L o A b 5 T g ) 4 60 (the “Joint Circular”)
promulgated on 11 May 2018 and took effect on the same day. The description of the relationships
between the Issuer and the PRC government in this Offering Circular does not imply in any way any
explicit or implicit credit support of the PRC government in respect of the Capital Securities, the
repayment of which remains the sole responsibilities of the Issuer as an independent legal person.

The Holders do not have any recourse against the PRC government in respect of any obligation arising
out of or in connection with the Capital Securities or the transaction documents. Any ownership or
control by the PRC government does not necessarily correlate to, or provide any assurance as to, the
Issuer’s financial condition.
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RISK FACTORS RELATING TO THE CAPITAL SECURITIES

The Capital Securities are complex financial instruments and of high risks and may not be a
suitable investment for all investors.

Each potential investor in the Capital Securities must determine the suitability of that investment in
light of its own circumstances. In particular, each potential investor should:

(a) have sufficient knowledge and experience to make a meaningful evaluation of the Capital
Securities, the merits and risks of investing in the Capital Securities and the information
contained or incorporated by reference in the Offering Circular or any applicable supplement;

(b) have access to, and knowledge of, appropriate analytical tools to evaluate, in the context of its
particular financial situation, an investment in the Capital Securities and the impact such
investment will have on its overall investment portfolio;

(c) have sufficient financial resources and liquidity to bear all of the risks of an investment in the
Capital Securities, including where the currency for principal or Distribution payments is
different from the potential investor’s currency;

(d) understand thoroughly the terms of the Capital Securities and be familiar with the behaviour of
any relevant financial markets; and

(e) be able to evaluate (either alone or with the help of a financial adviser) possible scenarios for
economic and other factors that may affect its investment and its ability to bear the applicable
risks, including the likelihood and effect of the occurrence of a Non-Viability Event (as defined
in the Conditions) or the exercise of any Hong Kong Resolution Authority Power by the relevant
Hong Kong Resolution Authority (as defined in the Conditions).

The Capital Securities are complex financial instruments and of high risks. A potential investor should
not invest in the Capital Securities unless it has the expertise (either alone or with the help of a
financial adviser) to evaluate how the Capital Securities will perform under changing conditions,
including the effects of inflation, the resulting effects on the value of the Capital Securities and the
impact this investment will have on the potential investor’s overall investment portfolio.

The Capital Securities are perpetual securities and investors have no right to require redemption.

The Capital Securities are perpetual securities in respect of which there is no fixed redemption date.
Holders have no ability to require the Issuer to redeem their Capital Securities whereas the Issuer can
redeem the Capital Securities in certain circumstances as described in the Conditions. However, the
Issuer is under no obligation to redeem the Capital Securities at any time. The Capital Securities are
intended to qualify as additional tier 1 capital under the Capital Regulations. The ability of the Issuer
to redeem Capital Securities is subject to the Issuer (a) obtaining the prior written consent of the
Monetary Authority (if then required) to the redemption, and (b) satisfying any conditions that the
Monetary Authority may impose at that time.

This means that Holders have no ability to cash in their investment, except if the Issuer exercises its
right to redeem the Capital Securities or by selling their Capital Securities. However, there can be no
guarantee that the Issuer will be able to meet the conditions for redemption of Capital Securities.
Holders who wish to sell their Capital Securities may be unable to do so at a price at or above the
amount they have paid for them, or at all, if insufficient liquidity exists in the market for the Capital
Securities.
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In addition, upon the occurrence of a Withholding Tax Event, a Tax Deduction Event or a Capital
Event (each as defined in the Conditions), the Capital Securities may be redeemed at the relevant
redemption amount, as more particularly described in the Conditions. Also, if any Non-Viability Event
occurs, as more fully described in “— The terms of the Capital Securities contain non-viability loss
absorption and bail-in provisions” below, Holders may lose up to the full principal amount of the
Capital Securities. There can be no assurance that Holders will be able to reinvest the amount received
upon redemption at a rate that will provide the same rate of return as their investment in the Capital
Securities.

The Capital Securities may be redeemed at the Issuer’s option on the First Call Date and every six
months thereafter or on the occurrence of certain other events.

The Capital Securities are redeemable at the option of the Issuer on the First Call Date (as defined
in the Conditions) and on any Distribution Payment Date (as defined in the Conditions) thereafter at
their outstanding principal amount together (if appropriate) with any Distribution accrued to (but
excluding) the date fixed for redemption. In addition, upon the occurrence of a Withholding Tax
Event, a Tax Deduction Event or a Capital Event, the Capital Securities may be redeemed at the
relevant redemption amount, as more particularly described in the Conditions.

However, prior to any such redemption, the Issuer must obtain the prior written consent of the
Monetary Authority to the extent such consent is then required, as described in the Conditions.

The date on which the Issuer elects to redeem the Capital Securities may not accord with the
preference of individual Holders. This may be disadvantageous to the Holders in light of market
conditions or the individual circumstances of the Holder of the Capital Securities. There can be no
assurance that Holders will be able to reinvest the amount received upon redemption at a rate that will
provide the same rate of return as their investment in the Capital Securities.

The Issuer’s obligations under the Capital Securities are subordinated.

The Issuer’s obligations under the Capital Securities will constitute direct, unsecured and
subordinated obligations of the Issuer. Subject, inter alia, as discussed under “— The terms of the
Capital Securities contain non-viability loss absorption and bail-in provisions” below, to the
insolvency laws of Hong Kong and other applicable laws, in the event of a Winding-Up of the Issuer
(other than pursuant to a Permitted Reorganisation (as defined in the Conditions)), the rights and
claims against the Issuer of the Holders to payment of principal and Distribution on the Capital
Securities and any other obligations in respect of the Capital Securities, shall rank (x) subordinate and
junior in right of payment to, and of all claims of (i) all unsubordinated creditors of the Issuer
(including its depositors), (ii) holders of Tier 2 Capital Instruments of the Issuer, and (iii) all other
Subordinated Creditors of the Issuer whose claims are stated to rank senior to the Capital Securities
or rank senior to the Capital Securities by operation of law or contract; (y) pari passu in right of
payment to and of all claims of the holders of Parity Obligations; and (z) senior in right of payment
to and of all claims of the holders of Junior Obligations. In the event of a shortfall of funds on a
Winding-Up, there is a risk that an investor in the Capital Securities will lose all or part of its
investment and will not receive a full return of the principal amount or any unpaid amounts due under
the Capital Securities. The Capital Securities also do not limit the Issuer’s ability or the ability of any
entity in the Group to incur additional indebtedness, including indebtedness that ranks senior in
priority of payment to the Capital Securities.
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The terms of the Capital Securities contain non-viability loss absorption and bail-in provisions.

Under the Conditions, a Non-Viability Event occurs when the Monetary Authority notifies the Issuer
in writing (i) that the Monetary Authority is of the opinion that a Write-off or conversion is necessary,
without which the Issuer would become non-viable; or (ii) that a decision has been made by the
government body, a government officer or other relevant regulatory body with the authority to make
such a decision, that a public sector injection of capital or equivalent support is necessary, without
which the Issuer would become non-viable (whichever is earlier).

If a Non-Viability Event occurs and is continuing, the Issuer shall, upon the date that the Issuer
specifies in a Non-Viability Event Notice (which date, for the avoidance of doubt, can be on or prior
to the date of the Non-Viability Event Notice), irrevocably (without the need for the consent of the
Holders) reduce the then outstanding principal amount of, and cancel any accrued but unpaid
Distribution in respect of, each Capital Security (in each case in whole or in part).

If the Hong Kong Resolution Authority Power is exercised by the relevant Hong Kong Resolution
Authority, the provisions detailed in the instrument by which the relevant Hong Kong Resolution
Authority exercises the Hong Kong Resolution Authority Power (the “Hong Kong Resolution
Authority Power Instrument”) shall apply to the Capital Securities.

The Conditions provide that each Holder and the Trustee shall be subject, and shall be deemed to
agree, be bound by and acknowledge that they are each subject, to having the Capital Securities being
written off, cancelled, converted or modified, or to having the form of the Capital Securities changed
in the exercise of any Hong Kong Resolution Authority Power (as defined in the Conditions) by the
relevant Hong Kong Resolution Authority (as defined in the Conditions) without prior notice and
which may include (without limitation) and result in any of the following or some combination
thereof:

(a) the reduction or cancellation of all or a part of the outstanding principal amount of, or
Distributions on, the Capital Securities;

(b) the conversion of all or a part of the outstanding principal amount of, or Distributions on, the
Capital Securities into shares or other securities or other obligations of the Issuer or another
person (and the issue to or conferral on the holder of such shares, securities or obligations),
including by means of an amendment, modification or variation of the terms of the Capital
Securities; and

(c) the amendment or alteration of the maturity of the Capital Securities or amendment or alteration
of the amount of Distributions payable on the Capital Securities, or the date on which the
Distributions become payable, including by suspending payment for a temporary period, or any
other amendment or alteration of the Conditions.

Although the Issuer has agreed to notify the clearing systems and the Holders following the
occurrence of a Non-Viability Event or the exercise of the Hong Kong Resolution Authority Power,
there will be a delay between a Non-Viability Event or the exercise of the Hong Kong Resolution
Authority Power and the time that the clearing systems and the Holders via the clearing systems are
notified of the occurrence of the relevant Non-Viability Event or the exercise of the Hong Kong
Resolution Authority Power through their clearing systems accounts or otherwise. Such delay may
exceed several days during which trading and settlement in the Capital Securities may continue. Any
such delay will not change or delay the effect of a Non-Viability Event or the exercise of the Hong
Kong Resolution Authority Power on the obligations of the Issuer under the Capital Securities or on
the rights of the Holders. See Condition 4.3 (Distribution — Non-Viability Loss Absorption) and
Condition 4.4 (Distribution — Hong Kong Resolution Authority Power). The notification of a
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Non-Viability Event is at the discretion of the Monetary Authority and the exercise of the Hong Kong
Resolution Authority Power is at the discretion of the relevant Hong Kong Resolution Authority and
both beyond the control of the Issuer. The circumstances in which such discretion is exercised are not
limited and may include concerns about the Issuer’s capital, funding and/or liquidity levels.

Holders should note that any amount that is written off upon the occurrence of a Non-Viability Event
in accordance with the Conditions or is subject to the exercise of the Hong Kong Resolution Authority
Power is permanent and will not be restored under any circumstances, even if the relevant
Non-Viability Event or the exercise of the Hong Kong Resolution Authority Power has ceased. In
addition, a Non-Viability Event or the exercise of the Hong Kong Resolution Authority Power may
occur on more than one occasion and each Capital Security may be written down on more than one
occasion. As the Distribution Rate is calculated on the basis of the principal amount as adjusted
following the occurrence of a Non-Viability Event or as provided for in the relevant Hong Kong
Resolution Authority Power Instrument, in the event that such principal amount is permanently
reduced by the relevant Write-off or exercise of the Hong Kong Resolution Authority Power, Holders
will receive less Distributions on their Capital Securities. In addition, upon the occurrence of a
Non-Viability Event or the exercise of the Hong Kong Resolution Authority Power, Holders could risk
losing up to the full principal amount of the Capital Securities, as well as the cancellation of any
accrued (and unpaid) Distributions, without receiving any compensation for such loss or cancellation.

The application of a non-viability loss absorption feature similar to Condition 4.3 (Distribution —
Non-Viability Loss Absorption) and the exercise of the Hong Kong Resolution Authority Power as set
out in Condition 4.4 (Distribution — Hong Kong Resolution Authority Power) has not been tested in
Hong Kong and some degree of uncertainty may exist in its application.

The occurrence of a Non-Viability Event or the exercise of the Hong Kong Resolution Authority
Power may be inherently unpredictable and may depend on a number of factors which may be
outside of the Group’s control.

The occurrence of a Non-Viability Event is dependent on a determination by the Monetary Authority:

(a) that a Write-off or conversion is necessary, without which the Issuer would become non-viable;
or

(b) that a decision has been made by the government body, a government officer or other relevant
regulatory body with the authority to make such a decision, that a public sector injection of
capital or equivalent support is necessary, without which the Issuer would become non-viable.

The exercise of the Hong Kong Resolution Authority Power is dependent on the terms of the Hong
Kong Resolution Authority Power Instrument. As a result, the Monetary Authority may require or may
cause a Write-off or the relevant Hong Kong Resolution Authority may exercise the Hong Kong
Resolution Authority Power in circumstances that are beyond the control of the Issuer and the Group
and with which neither the Issuer nor the Group agree. Due to the inherent uncertainty regarding the
determination of whether a Non-Viability Event exists or whether the Hong Kong Resolution
Authority Power will be exercised, it will be difficult to predict when, if at all, a Write-off or the
exercise of the Hong Kong Resolution Authority Power in relation to the Capital Securities will occur.

Accordingly, the trading behaviour in respect of the Capital Securities is not necessarily expected to
follow trading behaviour associated with other types of securities. Any indication that the Issuer is
trending towards a Non-Viability Event or the exercise of the Hong Kong Resolution Authority Power
could have a material adverse effect on the market price of the Capital Securities.
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Potential investors should consider the risk that a holder of Capital Securities may lose all of their
investment in the Capital Securities, including the principal amount plus any accrued but unpaid
Distribution, in the event that a Non-Viability Event occurs or the Hong Kong Resolution Authority
Power is exercised. There is no assurance that any contractual provisions with non-viability loss
absorption features, to the extent applicable, will be sufficient to satisfy the Basel III-compliant
requirements that the Monetary Authority may implement in the future. There is a risk that the
Monetary Authority may deviate from the Basel III proposals by implementing reforms which differ
from those envisaged by the Basel Committee.

The Capital Securities may be subject to a full or partial Write-off.

Investors may lose all of their investment in any Capital Securities upon the occurrence of a
Non-Viability Event, which will lead to a full or partial Write-off. Investors may lose all of their
investment in the Capital Securities as a result of the cancellation or modification of the Capital
Securities pursuant to the exercise of the Hong Kong Resolution Authority Power. Upon the
occurrence of a Write-off or so specified in the Hong Kong Resolution Authority Power Instrument,
the principal amount and any accrued but unpaid Distribution of such Capital Securities will
automatically be written off and if there is a full Write-off, the principal amount and any accrued but
unpaid Distribution may be written off completely and such Capital Securities will be automatically
cancelled.

In addition, the subordination and set-off provisions set out in Condition 2 (Status and Subordination
of the Capital Securities) are effective only upon the occurrence of a Winding-Up of the Issuer. In the
event that a Non-Viability Event occurs the rights of the Holders shall be subject to Condition 4.3
(Distribution — Non-Viability Loss Absorption). In the event that the Hong Kong Resolution
Authority Power is exercised, the rights of the Holders shall be subject to the provisions in the Hong
Kong Resolution Authority Power Instrument. The occurrence of a Non-Viability Event or the
exercise of the Hong Kong Resolution Authority Power may not result in the same outcome for
Holders as would otherwise occur under Condition 2 (Status and Subordination of the Capital
Securities) upon the occurrence of a Winding-Up of the Issuer.

Furthermore, upon the occurrence of a Write-off of any Capital Securities or if specified in the Hong
Kong Resolution Authority Power Instrument, Distribution will cease to accrue and all Distribution
amounts that were not due and payable prior to the Write-off or as specified in the Hong Kong
Resolution Authority Power Instrument shall become null and void. Consequently, Holders will not
be entitled to receive any Distribution that has accrued on such Capital Securities from (and
including) the last Distribution Payment Date falling on or prior to the Non-Viability Event Notice or
the relevant cut-off time specified in the Hong Kong Resolution Authority Power Instrument. Upon
the occurrence of a Write-off or if specified in the Hong Kong Resolution Authority Power Instrument,
no Holder may exercise, claim or plead any right to any such amounts written off, and each Holder
shall be deemed to have waived all such rights to such amounts.

Any such Write-off or exercise of the Hong Kong Resolution Authority Power will be irrevocable and
the Holders will, upon the occurrence of a Write-off or if specified in the Hong Kong Resolution
Authority Power Instrument, not receive any shares or other participation rights of the Issuer or be
entitled to any other participation in the upside potential of any equity or debt securities issued by the
Issuer or any other member of the Group, or be entitled to any subsequent write-up or any other
compensation in the event of a potential recovery of the Issuer or the Group.
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Transfers scheduled to settle through Euroclear and Clearstream (the “ICSDs”) are expected to be
rejected if the scheduled settlement is after any suspension by the ICSDs of clearance and
settlement of the Capital Securities in connection with a Non-Viability Event Notice or the exercise
of the Hong Kong Resolution Authority Power. Furthermore, because of time zone differences and
the delay between the time when a Non-Viability Event occurs or the Hong Kong Resolution
Authority Power is exercised and when the ICSDs receive and process the Non-Viability Event
Notice or the notice that the Hong Kong Resolution Authority Power has been exercised, it is
possible that transfers may either (i) fail to settle through the ICSDs even though such transfers
were initiated prior to the Non-Viability Event or the relevant cut-off time specified in the Hong
Kong Resolution Authority Power Instrument or (ii) are settled through the ICSDs even though
such transfers were initiated after the Non-Viability Event or the relevant cut-off time specified in
the Hong Kong Resolution Authority Power Instrument.

The ICSDs are expected to suspend all clearance and settlement of transfers of the Capital Securities
by Holders after receipt of a Non-Viability Event Notice or as specified in the Hong Kong Resolution
Authority Power Instrument, and any transfer of the Capital Securities that is scheduled to settle after
commencement of such suspension is expected to be rejected by the ICSD and will not be settled
within the ICSDs.

Although a Non-Viability Event Notice or a notice of the exercise of the Hong Kong Resolution
Authority Power has been exercised will be sent by the Issuer to the ICSDs and the Holders via the
ICSDs after the occurrence of a Non-Viability Event or the exercise of the Hong Kong Resolution
Authority Power, as the case may be, the records of the ICSDs will not be immediately updated to
reflect the Non-Viability Event or the exercise of the Hong Kong Resolution Authority Power, as the
case may be, and a period of time, which may exceed several days, will be required before the
clearance and settlement of transfers of the Capital Securities through the ICSDs are suspended. Due
to such delay, it is possible that transfers that are initiated prior to such suspension and scheduled to
settle on a date after the ICSDs commence such suspension will fail to settle through the ICSDs even
though such transfers were initiated prior to the Non-Viability Event or the relevant cut-off time
specified in the Hong Kong Resolution Authority Power Instrument, as the case may be. In such
circumstances, transferors of the Capital Securities would not receive any consideration through the
ICSDs in respect of such intended transfer because the ICSDs will not settle such transfer after
commencement of such suspension. Similarly, it is possible that transfers that are initiated prior to
such suspension and scheduled to settle on a date before the ICSDs commence such suspension will
be settled through the ICSDs even though such transfers were initiated after the Non-Viability Event
or the relevant cut-off time specified in the Hong Kong Resolution Authority Power Instrument. In
such circumstances, transferees of the Capital Securities may be required to pay consideration through
the ICSDs even though, upon the occurrence of a Non-Viability Event or the exercise of the Hong
Kong Resolution Authority Power, no amounts under the Capital Securities will thereafter become
due, and such transferees will have no rights whatsoever under the Trust Deed or the Capital
Securities to take any action or enforce any rights or instruct the Trustee to take any action or enforce
any rights whatsoever against the Issuer, regardless of whether they have received actual or
constructive notice of such fact. The settlement of the Capital Securities following a Non-Viability
Event or the exercise of the Hong Kong Resolution Authority Power, as the case may be, will be
subject to procedures of the ICSDs that are in place at such time.

The operation of a resolution regime in Hong Kong may override the contractual terms of the
Capital Securities.

In Hong Kong, the Resolution Ordinance (as defined in the Conditions) became effective on 7 July
2017. The Monetary Authority is the relevant Hong Kong Resolution Authority in relation to banking
sector entities in Hong Kong, such as the Issuer. The Monetary Authority’s powers under Resolution
Ordinance include, but are not limited to, powers to write off or convert all or a part of the principal
amount of, or Distributions on, the Capital Securities, and powers to amend or alter the contractual
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provisions of the Capital Securities. Whilst the Resolution Ordinance sets out a framework of the
resolution regime in Hong Kong, much of the detail is to be legislated through secondary legislation
and supporting rules, and as such the impact of it on the Capital Securities cannot currently be fully
accurately assessed. See “Regulation and Supervision — The Hong Kong Resolution Regime”.

The operation of the resolution regime in Hong Kong may affect the rights of the Holders and could
result in the Holders losing their rights in relation to accrued and future Distributions on and the
principal amount of the Capital Securities without compensation.

Certain considerations relating to enforcement.

To the extent that the Trustee or the holders of the Capital Securities are entitled to any recovery with
respect to the Capital Securities in any Hong Kong proceedings, the Trustee and such holders of the
Capital Securities might not be entitled in such proceedings to a recovery in U.S. dollars and might
be entitled only to a recovery in Hong Kong dollars.

In Hong Kong proceedings, if the Issuer’s assets become subject to the control of a court-appointed
receiver, Distributions on the Capital Securities would cease to accrue on the date of the court order
and the relevant U.S. dollar amounts would be converted to Hong Kong dollars as at such date for
purpose of claims.

Credit ratings of the Capital Securities.

The Capital Securities are expected to be assigned a rating of “Ba2” by Moody’s. These ratings reflect
the Issuer’s ability to make timely payments of principal and Distribution on the Capital Securities.
A rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold any security, does not address the likelihood or
timing of payment of the Capital Securities and may be subject to revision, suspension or withdrawal
at any time by the assigning rating organisation. There is no assurance that the ratings assigned to the
Capital Securities will remain in effect for any given period or that the ratings will not be revised by
the assigning rating organisation in the future if, in its judgment, circumstances so warrant. A
downgrade in ratings may affect the secondary market price of the Capital Securities.

Liquidity of the Capital Securities.

There can be no assurance as to the liquidity of the Capital Securities or that an active trading market
will develop. If such a market were to develop, the Capital Securities could trade at prices that may
be higher or lower than the initial issue price depending on many factors, including prevailing interest
rates, the Issuer’s operations and the market for similar securities. The Joint Lead Managers are not
obliged to make a market for the Capital Securities and any such market-making, if commenced, may
be discontinued at any time at the sole discretion of the Joint Lead Managers, acting together. No
assurance can be given as to the liquidity of, or trading market for, the Capital Securities upon their
listing on the SEHK. Lack of a liquid, active trading market for the Capital Securities may adversely
affect the price of the Capital Securities or may otherwise impede a holder’s ability to dispose of the
Capital Securities.

Payments of Distribution are discretionary and Distributions are non-cumulative.

Payment of Distributions on any Distribution Payment Date is at the sole discretion of the Issuer.
Subject to the Conditions, the Issuer may elect to or, in certain cases, be required to cancel any
Distribution on any Distribution Payment Date. The Issuer may make such election for any reason. In
addition, the Issuer will not be obliged to pay, and will not pay, any Distribution upon the occurrence
of a Mandatory Distribution Cancellation Event or an Optional Distribution Cancellation Event.
Cancelled Distributions will not be reinstated and will not constitute an event of default. In addition,
Distributions would only be paid out of such amounts for the time being available to the Issuer for
distribution in compliance with section 297 of the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622) of Hong Kong
(the “Companies Ordinance”) as at the Issuer’s latest audited balance sheet, and subject to certain
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capital conservation requirements as applicable to the Issuer, as further described in the Conditions.
As at the date of this Offering Circular, pursuant to section 297(1) of the Companies Ordinance, the
Issuer may only make a distribution out of profits available for distribution. For the purposes of
section 297 of the Companies Ordinance, the Issuer’s profits available for distribution are its
accumulated, realised profits, so far as not previously utilised by distribution or capitalisation, less
its accumulated, realised losses, so far as not previously written off in a reduction or reorganisation
of capital.

Any Distributions which are not paid on the applicable Distribution Payment Date following a
Mandatory Distribution Cancellation Event, an Optional Distribution Cancellation Event or a
Write-off shall not accumulate or be payable at any time thereafter, whether or not funds are or
subsequently become available. Holders will have no right thereto whether in a bankruptcy or
dissolution as a result of the insolvency of the Issuer or otherwise. Therefore, any Distributions not
paid following a Mandatory Distribution Cancellation Event, an Optional Distribution Cancellation
Event or a Write-off will be lost and the Issuer will have no obligation to make payment of such
Distributions or to pay interest thereon.

If Distributions are not paid for whatever reason, the Capital Securities may trade at a lower price.
If a Holder sells his Capital Securities during such a period, he may not receive the same return on
investment as a Holder who continues to hold his Capital Securities until Distributions are resumed.

There are limited remedies for non-payment under the Capital Securities.

Any scheduled Distribution will not be due if the Issuer elects not to pay the Distribution pursuant
to the Conditions. Notwithstanding any of the provisions relating to non-payment defaults, the right
to institute Winding-Up proceedings is limited to circumstances where payment of principal or any
Distributions on any of the Capital Securities has become due and such failure continues for a period
of 14 days in the case of Distributions or seven business days in the case of principal; or where an
order is made or an effective resolution passed for the Winding-Up of the Issuer. The only remedy
against the Issuer available to any Holders for recovery of amounts in respect of the Capital Securities
following the occurrence of a payment default will be instituting Winding-Up Proceedings and/or
proving and/or claiming in Winding-Up in respect of any of the Issuer’s payment obligations arising
from the Capital Securities. In such a Winding-Up, the claims of the Holder will be subordinated and
subject in right of payment to the prior payment in full of all claims of such senior creditors as set
out in Condition 2 (Status and Subordination of the Capital Securities).

The Trustee may request that Holders provide indemnity to its satisfaction.

In certain circumstances (including the giving of notice to the Issuer pursuant to Condition 9.1 (Events
of Default and Enforcement — Events of Default and Winding-Up Proceedings)), the Trustee may (at
its sole discretion) request the Holders to provide an indemnity and/or security and/or pre-funding to
its satisfaction before it takes actions on behalf of the Holders and shall not be obliged to take any
such actions until it is indemnified and/or secured and/or pre-funded to its satisfaction. Negotiating
and agreeing to an indemnity and/or security and/or pre-funding can be a lengthy process and may
have an impact upon when such actions can be taken. The Trustee may not be able to take actions
notwithstanding the provision of an indemnity and/or security and/or pre-funding to it, in breach of
the terms of the Trust Deed or the Conditions.

The Trustee may decline to take actions requested by the Holders.

The Trustee may decline to take action requested by the Holders, notwithstanding the provision of an
indemnity or security or pre-funding to it, where it is not satisfied that the action is permitted by
applicable law or regulation and, to the extent permitted by the agreements and applicable law, it will
be for the Holders to take such actions directly.
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The Issuer may raise other capital which affects the price of the Capital Securities.

The Issuer may raise additional capital through the issue of other securities or other means. There is
no restriction, contractual or otherwise, on the amount of securities or other liabilities which the
Issuer may issue or incur and which rank senior to, or pari passu with, the Capital Securities, and
there is no restriction on the Issuer issuing securities with or without Non-Viability Loss Absorption
provisions (whether or not such provisions are similar to those of the Capital Securities). The issue
of any such securities or the incurrence of any such other liabilities may reduce the amount (if any)
recoverable by Holders on a dissolution or winding-up and/or may increase the likelihood of a
cancellation of Distributions under the Capital Securities. The issue of any such securities or the
incurrence of any such other liabilities might also have an adverse impact on the trading price of the
Capital Securities and/or the ability of Holders to sell their Capital Securities.

Any failure to complete the relevant filing under the NDRC Administrative Measures within the
prescribed time frame may have adverse consequences for the Issuer and/or the investors of the
Capital Securities.

The NDRC issued the NDRC Administrative Measures on 5 January 2023, which came into effect on
10 February 2023. According to the NDRC Administrative Measures, domestic enterprises and their
overseas controlled entities shall procure the registration of any debt securities with a maturity of
more than one year issued outside the PRC with NDRC prior to the issue of the securities and file or
cause to be filed with the NDRC the requisite information and documents within the prescribed time
frame. China Cinda has registered the issuance of the Capital Securities with the NDRC and obtained
a certificate from the NDRC on 6 April 2022 evidencing such registration and which remains in full
force and effect. Failure to comply with the NDRC post-issue and continuing filing obligations (such
as post-issue filing, pre-issuance approval expiration filing, periodical filing and major event filing,
etc.) under articles 24 and 26 of the NDRC Administrative Measures may result in the relevant entities
being ordered to make corrections within a time limit, and in the case of aggravating circumstances
or in the case that such corrections are not made within the prescribed time limit, relevant entities and
their main person-in-charge will be warned. The aforesaid regulatory violations committed by
enterprises shall be publicised on the “Credit China” website and the national enterprise credit
information publicity system, among others. The Issuer intends to notify the NDRC of the particulars
of the issue of the Capital Securities within the prescribed time period.

Furthermore, the NDRC Administrative Measures are relatively new and there is a lack of clear
statutory interpretation regarding how it would be enforced and interpreted. If the Issuer does not
complete the post-issue and continuing filing obligations under the NDRC Administrative Measures
with respect to the Capital Securities within the prescribed timeframe (including as a result of reasons
outside the Issuer’s control), the NDRC may impose sanctions or other administrative procedures on
the Issuer which may have a material adverse impact on the Group’s business, financial condition or
results of operations.

A change in English law which governs the Capital Securities may adversely affect Holders.

The Conditions are governed by English law in effect as at the date of this Offering Circular. No
assurance can be given as to the impact of any possible judicial decision or change to English law or
administrative practice after the date of this Offering Circular and any such change could materially
adversely impact the value of any Capital Securities affected by it.

Exchange rate risks and exchange controls may result in investors receiving less interest or
principal than expected.

The Issuer will pay principal and Distribution on the Capital Securities in U.S. dollars. This presents

certain risks relating to currency conversions if an investor’s financial activities are denominated
principally in a currency or currency unit (the “Investor’s Currency”) other than U.S. dollars. These
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include the risk that exchange rates may significantly change (including changes due to devaluation
of U.S. dollars or revaluation of the Investor’s Currency) and the risk that authorities with jurisdiction
over the Investor’s Currency may impose or modify exchange controls. An appreciation in the value
of the Investor’s Currency relative to U.S. dollars would decrease (1) the Investor’s Currency
equivalent yield on the Capital Securities, (2) the Investor’s Currency equivalent value of the
principal payable on the Capital Securities and (3) the Investor’s Currency equivalent market value
of the Capital Securities.

Government and monetary authorities may impose (as some have done in the past) exchange controls
that could adversely affect an applicable exchange rate or the ability of the Issuer to make payments
in respect of the Capital Securities. As a result, investors may receive less interest or principal than
expected, or no interest or principal.

Modifications and waivers may be made in respect of the Conditions and the Trust Deed by the
Trustee or less than all of the holders of the Capital Securities, and decisions may be made on
behalf of all holders of the Capital Securities that may be adverse to the interests of the individual
holders of the Capital Securities.

The Conditions contain provisions for calling meetings (including meetings held by way of
conference calls using a videoconference platform) of the holders of the Capital Securities to consider
matters affecting their interests generally. These provisions permit defined majorities to bind all
Holders including those Holders who did not attend and vote at the relevant meeting and those Holders
who voted in a manner contrary to the majority. There is a risk that the decision of the majority of
holders of the Capital Securities may be adverse to the interests of the individual holders of the
Capital Securities.

The Conditions also provide that the Trustee may (but shall not be obliged to), without the consent
of the holders of the Capital Securities, agree to any modification of the Trust Deed and/or the
Conditions (other than in respect of a reserved matter) which, in the sole and absolute opinion of the
Trustee, will not be materially prejudicial to the interests of the holders of the Capital Securities and
to any modification of the Capital Securities or the Trust Deed which, in the opinion of the Trustee,
is of a formal, minor or technical nature or is to correct a manifest error.

In addition, the Trustee may (but shall not be obliged to), without the consent of the holders of the
Capital Securities, authorise or waive any proposed breach or breach of the Capital Securities or the
Trust Deed (other than a proposed breach or breach relating to the subject of certain reserved matters)
if, in the sole and absolute opinion of the Trustee, the interests of the holders of the Capital Securities
will not be materially prejudiced thereby.
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USE OF PROCEEDS

The Issuer intends to use the net proceeds from the issue of the Capital Securities, after deducting
underwriting commissions and other estimated expenses payable in connection with the offering of the
Capital Securities, to supplement its additional tier 1 capital under the Banking (Capital) Rules (Cap.
155L).

The Capital Securities are intended to qualify as additional tier 1 capital of the Bank for the purposes
of capital adequacy under the Banking (Capital) Rules (Cap. 155L). The issuance of the Capital
Securities will strengthen the Bank’s capital base and fund the growth of the Bank’s operations and
development.
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CAPITALISATION AND INDEBTEDNESS

As at the date of this Offering Circular, the Issuer has an authorised share capital of HK$700 million
consisting of 7,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$100 each, and issued and fully paid up share capital
of HK$3,144.52 million consisting of 7,000,000 ordinary shares.

The following table sets out the Group’s consolidated capitalisation and indebtedness as at 30 June
2022 and as adjusted for the issue of the Capital Securities and the transaction costs from the issue
of the Capital Securities as described in the notes below.

As at

30 June 2022

As adjusted

(in HK$ thousands)

(in HK$ thousands)

INDEBTEDNESS
Deposits and balances from banks and other financial

INSHItULIONS . . . . . . o 34,534,544 34,534,544
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or

L0SS 6,428,456 6,428,456
Derivative financial instruments ................. 1,131,641 1,131,641
Deposits from customers . . .. ........... ... ... 369,451,957 369,451,957
Debt securities and certificates of deposit in issue. . . . 39,836,057 39,836,057
Other accounts and provisions. . ................. 19,234,206 19,234,206
Current tax liabilities ... .. ... .. ... . ... ...... 355,912 355,912
Deferred tax liabilities. . . ... ......... .. ........ 528,035 528,035
Subordinated liabilities ... ..................... 5,486,610 5,486,610
Total indebtedness . ......................... 476,987,418 476,987,418
EQUITY
Share capital . . ... ... .. . . 3,144,517 3,144,517
Reserves . ... .. e 53,399,327 53,399,327
Additional equity instruments . .................. 5,077,856 5,077,856
Capital Securities to be issued " .. ... ... ... ... .. — 2,354,160
Total equity .. ........... ... ... ... .......... 61,621,700 63,975,860
Total indebtedness and equity ................. 538,609,118 540,963,278

Notes:

(1)  This balance represents the aggregate principal amount of the Capital Securities of U.S.$300,000,000 taken up fully by
the Joint Lead Managers (HK$2,354,160,000, translated at the exchange rate of HK$7.8472 equal to U.S.$1.00).

From time to time, the Issuer may issue debt or other securities in various currencies and in different
markets depending on market conditions. In April 2022, the Issuer issued U.S.$650,000,000 6.50 per
cent. Non-Cumulative Subordinated Additional Tier 1 Capital Securities and such capital securities
are listed on the SEHK.

Except as otherwise disclosed above, there has been no material adverse change in the Group’s
consolidated capitalisation and indebtedness since 30 June 2022.
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BUSINESS OF THE GROUP
INTRODUCTION
Overview

The Group is one of the oldest local banks in Hong Kong, having commenced business in 1949. The
Group possesses nearly 70 years of operating history, a highly recognised brand, an extensive branch
network, a stable and loyal customer base, expertise in providing cross-border services and robust
financial conditions. As at 30 June 2022, the Group’s total consolidated assets, advances to customers
and deposits from customers were HK$538,609.12 million, HK$291,583.27 million and
HK$369,451.96 million, respectively. As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s total consolidated assets,
advances to customers and deposits from customers were HK$536,331.00 million, HK$291,549.85
million and HK$383,781.39 million, respectively. As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s total
consolidated assets, advances to customers and deposits from customers were HK$505,698.16
million, HK$276,694.77 million and HK$351,629.93 million, respectively. As at 31 December 2019,
the Group’s total consolidated assets, advances to customers and deposits from customers were
HK$489,588.85 million, HK$260,395.54 million and HK$345,887.78 million, respectively.

The Group’s core business services include wealth management services, trade finance, deposit
taking, foreign currency savings, remittances, investment services, home mortgage loans, personal
loans, credit cards, safe deposit boxes, personal Renminbi services, internet banking services and
insurance broker services.

As at 31 January 2023, the Group offered a broad range of banking and related financial services in
Hong Kong through a network of 34 branches, strategically located to provide coverage for the core
districts on Hong Kong Island, Kowloon and the New Territories. The Group’s market-leading
position in Renminbi and cross-border banking services is evidenced by the continued recognitions
and awards received from various organisations, including, the “Excellent Brand of Cross Border
Personal Banking Services” and “Excellent Brand of Cross Border Corporate Banking Services”
awarded by Metro Finance in 2021; “Award for Excellence in Financial Brand Value in the Greater
Bay Area” awarded by Mingpao in 2021; “Professional Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay
Area Financial Services Award” jointly awarded by Hong Kong Commercial Newspapers Co., Ltd.,
Economic Herald, Federation Economic and Commerce of Hong Kong and China Enterprise
Reputation and Credibility Association (Overseas) in 2021; the “Excellence Award for Cross-border
Financial Services” awarded by Sky Post in 2019; the “Excellent Brand of Cross Border Personal
Banking Services” and “Excellent Brand of Cross Border Corporate Banking Services” awards by
Metro Finance in 2019; the “Small and Medium Enterprises Best Partner Award” awarded by the Hong
Kong Small and Medium Enterprises General Chamber of Commerce (75 /NEISZEHPEE) in
2019; the “Hong Kong Banking Industry Talent Development Award Scheme (Category 1)” awarded
by the Hong Kong Banking Association (F #1752 €); the “Hong Kong Institute of Bankers Talent
Development Award” awarded by Institute of Financial Planners of Hong Kong in 2019; the “Best
Corporate Finance Education Leadership of the year” awarded by Institute of Financial Planners of
Hong Kong in 2019; the “Corporate Financial Education Leadership - Gold Award” awarded by
Institute of Financial Planners of Hong Kong in 2019; and the “Quality Financial Planner Award”
awarded by Institute of Financial Planners of Hong Kong in 2019. The Group also has extensive
experience in operating cross-border banking business. The Group started to provide China-related
banking services since 1979 through its China Investment Consultation Department and was one of
the first foreign movers in the PRC banking industry when it established its Shenzhen branch in the
Shenzhen Special Economic Zone in 1982. The Group was the first foreign bank operating in China
since the establishment of the PRC, it granted the first foreign bank loan in China since its adoption
of its reform and opening-up policy, and it was also among the first banks which provided “offshore
guarantee for onshore loan” products and was one of the first three foreign banks approved by the
China Banking Regulatory Commission (“CBRC”) to issue credit cards in China.
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In terms of the Group’s overseas operations, the Group had 38 branches/sub-branches in total in the
PRC as at 31 January 2023. The Group’s PRC businesses are operated through NCB (China), which
is the Group’s PRC-incorporated bank with its headquarters in Shanghai. NCB (China)’s business
network covers the Pearl River Delta, the Yangtze River Delta Economic Zone and the Bohai
Economic Rim, with branches/ sub-branches in major cities in the PRC such as Shanghai, Beijing,
Dalian, Qingdao, Wuxi, Hefei, Suzhou, Hangzhou, Chengdu, Shenzhen, Nanning, Shantou, Wuhan,
Guangzhou, Haikou and Chongqing.

In 2007, the Group established NCB (China) as a PRC-incorporated bank. The Group’s branches and
their businesses in the PRC were consolidated under NCB (China) for further expansion of the
Group’s PRC presence. NCB (China) has continued to expand its PRC presence. For example, it set
up NCB (China) Wuhan branch in 2020 to fully promote the business development in mainland China.
NCB (China) provides comprehensive RMB and foreign currency banking services to its customers.
Services include but are not limited to deposit-taking, loans and advances, debit cards, credit cards,
wealth management services, personal banking, investment services, agency services for life and
general insurance, remittance and settlement, RMB cross-border trade settlement services and
domestic and international trade finance facilities. As at the date of this Offering Circular, NCB
(China) has obtained the relevant licences for operating its cross-border Renminbi business, foreign
exchange settlement business, credit card business, derivatives business, insurance business, offshore
wealth management business, investment fund business, interbank lending business, gold trading
business and currency swap business, in the PRC.

The Group became a wholly-owned subsidiary of China Cinda in 2016, which allowed China Cinda
to achieve additional financial and operational stability through its integration with a well-established
commercial bank in Hong Kong, strengthening its leading advantage as an non-performing asset
management business and creating an integrated asset management and financial services brand name.
It was also an important step in the Group’s development and holds huge significance for the future
development of the Group as a core banking platform within the China Cinda group.

As at 31 December 2019, 2020 and 2021 and 30 June 2022, the Group’s total capital adequacy ratio
was approximately 21.73 per cent., 19.26 per cent., 18.46 per cent. and 17.13 per cent., respectively,
compared with the statutory minimum requirement of total capital adequacy ratio of 8.0 per cent. For
the years ended 31 December 2019, 2020 and 2021, the average value of the Group’s quarterly
liquidity coverage ratio for the last quarter of the year was 154.97 per cent., 149.77 per cent. and
153.44 per cent., respectively. For the six months ended 30 June 2022, the average value of the
Group’s quarterly liquidity coverage ratio for the quarter ended 31 March 2022 and the quarter ended
30 June 2022 was 163.59 per cent. and 143.98 per cent., respectively.

For the years ended 31 December 2019, 2020 and 2021 and the six months ended 30 June 2021 and
2022, the Group’s profit after taxation was HK$3,951million, HK$3,815 million, HK$3,231 million,
HK$1,914 million and HK$1,998 million, respectively. For the years ended 31 December 2019, 2020
and 2021 and the six months ended 30 June 2021 and 2022, the Group achieved a return on average
assets of approximately 0.73 per cent., 0.77 per cent., 0.62 per cent., 0.74 per cent. and 0.74 per cent.,
respectively, and a return on average equity of approximately 7.30 per cent., 6.49 per cent., 4.99 per
cent., 6.50 per cent. and 6.55 per cent., respectively.

Recent Developments

In 2022, the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, coupled with the spread of new COVID-19 variants and
policies implemented by the PRC and Hong Kong governments to deter the spread of the disease, had
an adverse effect on consumer confidence and the general economic conditions which the Group’s
business is subject to. Furthermore, the US Federal Reserve has begun tapering its quantitative easing
monetary policies and raised its benchmark interest rates in response to rising inflation rates. Since
March 2022, the United States Federal Open Market Committee has raised its benchmark interest rates
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for eight times, pushing it from 0.25 per cent. to 4.75 per cent. to counteract rising inflation caused
by supply-chain disruption during the pandemic, and this has adversely impacted global liquidity,
heightened market volatility and increased US/Hong Kong dollar funding costs. They pose both new
opportunities and challenges to the development of the Group.

In the face of the COVID-19 pandemic and volatile macroeconomic environment in 2022, the Group
has continued to closely manage its business operations and financial condition to reduce risk and
maintain stable growth and development. The Group continues to expand, and as 31 January 2023, the
Group offered a broad range of banking and related financial services in Hong Kong through a
network of 34 branches strategically located to provide coverage for the core districts on Hong Kong
Island, Kowloon and the New Territories; in terms of the Group’s operations in mainland China, the
Group had a total of 38 branches/sub-branches in the PRC.

The Group continues to take on challenges and actively respond to market changes and its own
strengths and weaknesses. The Group aims to fully utilise its established close strategic and
cooperative partnerships, and further strengthen its relationships with major financial institutions. For
instance, the Group entered into a long-term bancassurance partnership agreement with FWD Hong
Kong in September 2022, working together to provide the Group’s Hong Kong and inbound visitors
with a more diversified portfolio of life insurance products and services, including savings plans,
healthcare protection and other insurance products.

History and Corporate Development

Since its establishment in 1949, the Group has operated in Hong Kong for nearly 70 years and has
enjoyed a reputation as one of the leading local banks in Hong Kong.

The following chart highlights some of the milestone developments of the Group:

Year Events

1949 The Issuer was established by Mr. Chuang Shih Ping and started operating in
Hong Kong.

1979 The Issuer established the China Investment Consultation Department to

provide financial services for Hong Kong corporations with trading,
investments and other businesses in the PRC.

1982 The Issuer established its Shenzhen branch in the Shenzhen Special Economic
Zone and was the first foreign bank operating in the PRC.

2001 The Issuer became a wholly-owned subsidiary of Bank of China (Hong Kong)
Limited while continuing to operate separately under its own brand.

2005 The Issuer was awarded the “Caring Company” logo by The Hong Kong
Council of Social Service for the first time.

2007 NCB (China) was established as a locally-incorporated bank in the PRC. The
Issuer’s onshore branches and their businesses in the PRC were consolidated
under NCB (China) for further expansion of the Group’s PRC presence.

2011 - 2017 The Issuer was awarded the Top 10 Banks (Hong Kong) Honour Award on the
Asian Bank 300 list by Yazhou Zhoukan (&8 % T).
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Year

Events

2013 - 2016

2014

2016

2017

2017

2018

2018

2018

2018

2019

2019

2020

2020

2021

The Issuer was awarded the “Excellent Brand of Cross-Border Banking
Services” Award by Metro Finance (H13kf %8 &) for 4 consecutive years.

The Issuer received the Award for Cross-Border Interaction Renminbi
Innovative Service Award from Wen Wei Pao (3L FE¥R).

China Cinda acquired 100 per cent. of the Issuer’s equity interests from
BOCHK with completion on 30 May 2016. The Issuer became a wholly-owned
subsidiary of China Cinda.

The Issuer won the “Excellence Award for Cross-border Financial Services” at
the Banking & Finance Awards 2017 organised by Sky Post.

The Issuer received “Hong Kong Leaders’ Choice 2017 — Excellent Brand of
Wealth Management Banking Service” from Metro Finance CHIIIF48&).

“Cinda Wealth Center”, sponsored by China Cinda group and led by NCB
(China), commenced operation in June 2018.

The Issuer won another “Excellence Award for Cross-border Financial
Services” at the Banking & Finance Awards 2018 organised by Sky Post.

The Issuer won the “Excellent Brand of Cross Border Personal Banking
Services” and “Excellent Brand of Cross Border Corporate Banking Services”
awards at the Award Presentation Ceremony of “Hong Kong Leaders’ Choice

20187 (7 #EA> ¥4 4H 5 2018) from Metro Finance CGHIRIFEEH).

The Issuer received the “Accredited Professional Financial Planning Firm
2018” and the “Corporate Financial Education Leadership—Gold” awards by
the Institute of Financial Planners of Hong Kong (7 its B 15 i< &1 i £2 &),

NCB (China) launched its new IT system in August 2019, which significantly
improved its client service capabilities.

The Issuer received “Best SME’s Partner Award 2019” from the Hong Kong
General Chamber of Small and Medium Business. NCB was awarded the
“Excellent Financial Institutions Services” from the Quamnet Outstanding
Enterprise Awards 2019 organised by Quamnet.

NCB (China) established a branch in Wuhan.

The Issuer received the accolade of the “Excellent Brand of Cross Border
Personal Banking Services” and “Excellent Brand of Cross Border Corporate
Banking Services” Award at Hong Kong Leaders’ Choice Brand Awards
organised by Metro Finance.

NCB (China) ’s head office moved to 898 Puming Road, Pudong New District,
Shanghai, China.
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Year

Events

2021

2022

ORGANISATION

The Issuer received the “Excellent Brand of Cross Border Personal Banking
Services” and the “Excellent Brand of Cross Border Corporate Banking
Services” awarded by Metro Finance; the “Award for Excellence in Financial
Brand Value in the Greater Bay Area” awarded by Mingpao; and the
“Professional Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area Financial
Services Award” jointly awarded by Hong Kong Commercial Daily, Economic
Herald, Federation Economic and Commerce of Hong Kong and China
Enterprise Reputation and Credibility Association (Overseas); and the “Greater
Bay Area Cross Border Banking Services” Award, awarded by Hong Kong Ta
Kung Wen Wei Media Group(HKTKWW) at the “Pilot ‘9+2° Greater Bay Area
Development Forum and Award Ceremony”, and the “Greater Bay Area
Outstanding Enterprise Awards” and “No. 1 Cross Border Bank Banking
Services” awarded by HKO1 and Headline Daily respectively, and the
“Excellence Award for Cross-border Financial Services” awarded by Sky Post.

The Issuer received the “Award for Excellence in Financial Brand Value in the
Greater Bay Area” awarded by Ming Pao and the “Excellent Brand of Cross
Border Commercial Banking Services” awarded by Metro Finance; and the
“Greater Bay Area Outstanding Enterprise Awards” and “No. 1 Cross Border
Banking RMB Services” awarded by Headline Daily; the “Best Bank Greater
Bay Area” Award, awarded by Hong Kong Ta Kung Wen Wei Media
Group(HKTKWW) at the “Pilot ‘942" Greater Bay Area Development Forum
and Award Ceremony”; and the “Best Investment and Commercial Banking
Services” awarded by CAPITAL Magazine.

The following chart provides an overview of the shareholding structure of the Group and its key
operating subsidiaries as at 30 June 2022.

MOF

58%

National Council for
Social Security Fund

China COSCO Shipping
Corporation Limited

Other public
shareholders

14.04% 5% 22.96%

China Cinda Asset Management Co., Ltd.
(Incorporated in the People’s Republic of China)
(Shares of which are listed on SEHK; Stock code: 1359)

| 100%

China Cinda (HK) Holdings Company Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong)

[ 100%

Cinda Financial Holdings Co., Limited

(Incorporated in Hong Kong)

[ 100%

Nanyang Commercial Bank, Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong) (the “Issuer”)

100% |

100% 100% 100% 100%

Nanyang Commercial Bank
(China) Limited

(Incorporated in the People’s Republic of China)

Kwong Li Nam Investment
Agency Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong)

Nanyang Commercial Bank
(Nominees) Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong)

Nanyang Commercial Bank
Trustee Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong)

NCB Wealth Management

Advisor Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong)

The Issuer is the holding company and the principal operating company of the Group. In addition, the
Issuer has a number of significant subsidiaries and associated companies through which the Group
conducts various operations such as banking, trustee services, agency management, nominee services
and insurance broker and consultancy.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 and the six months ended 30 June 2022, except for NCB
(China), none of the Issuer’s subsidiaries accounted for more than 10 per cent. of the consolidated net
profit and loss of the Group or had a book value in excess of 10 per cent. of the Group’s consolidated
total assets.

As at 30 June 2022, the Group’s principal subsidiaries were as follows:

Place of
incorporation and Interest held
operation Issued and by
Name of subsidiary of the Issuer of the Group paid-up capital the Group Nature of business
Nanyang Commercial Bank PRC RMB9,500,000,000 100% Banking
(China), Limited . . . ... ...... Business
Nanyang Commercial Bank Trustee Hong Kong HK$3,000,000 100% Trustee Services
Limited . . . .. .............
Kwong Li Nam Investment Agency Hong Kong HK$3,050,000 100% Investment
Limited . . . .. ............. Agency
Nanyang Commercial Bank Hong Kong HK$50,000 100% Nominee
(Nominees) Limited. . . ... .... Services
NCB Wealth Management Advisor Hong Kong HK$22,000,000 100% Insurance Broker
Limited . . . .. ............. & Consultancy

The Board of Directors of the Group is responsible for the overall management of the Group. To assist
the Board of Directors in managing the Group, a number of committees have been established,
including the Strategy and Development Committee, the Audit Committee, the Risk Management
Committee, the Connected Transaction Committee and the Nomination and Remuneration Committee.
For each of these committees’ roles and functions, see the relevant sections under “Board of Directors
and Senior Management — Board of Directors”.

COMPETITIVE STRENGTHS

The Group is positioned as a leading local commercial bank in Hong Kong with strong brand
recognition backed by a long history, wide coverage of business network, loyal customer base and
stable financial performance. ! It is also a 100 per cent. owned subsidiary of China Cinda, a leading
integrated financial conglomerate in the PRC. The Group has synergic operations amongst its business
units, equipped with high management capabilities regarding risks and distressed assets, and is able
to provide cross-border financial services through both corporate and personal banking businesses.
The Group believes its key strengths are as follows:

The Group has a prudent risk management culture with outstanding risk control performance.

The Issuer, as a financial institution in Hong Kong, is subject to the supervision of and regulatory
requirements imposed by the Monetary Authority. In addition, NCB (China) is subject to the
supervision and regulatory requirements imposed by the CBIRC as a bank in the PRC and that of the
Monetary Authority as a subsidiary within the Group. These regulatory authorities promulgate
requirements governing the Group’s business in various aspects, such as capital adequacy, anti-money
laundering, entry into certain markets, periodic reporting and filing and other requirements and
safeguarding the health and stability of the Group’s risk management. In particular, the Monetary

Local commercial banks in Hong Kong refers to Hong Kong incorporated licenced banks with headquarters in Hong
Kong.
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Authority carries out onsite and offsite supervisions on NCB (China), by sending representatives to
visit the headquarters and the branches of NCB (China) and raising enquiries with the Issuer on the
results of business operation, risks and financial conditions of NCB (China). The Issuer also regularly
submits certain risk and financial management reports to the Monetary Authority regarding the
liquidity and credit risks of NCB (China). In addition, the Monetary Authority sets risk limits for the
Group as a whole, for example, capital adequacy ratio, liquidity coverage ratio and risk concentration,
and may make similar requests to NCB (China) with reference to the relevant indicators set out by the
CBIRC.

The Group also conducts periodic reviews of its risk management policies and procedures in order to
accommodate the changes in market risks faced by the Group and its business strategies. The Group’s
risk management capabilities are further supported by China Cinda’s rich experience in distress asset
management and disposal, which assisted the Group to further diversify its channels and manners of
handling its distress assets.

See the section headed “Selected Statistical and Other Information — Risk Management”.

The Group benefited from the high degree of main businesses relevance with and all-round support
from China Cinda.

Since the Acquisition in May 2016, integration of the Group and China Cinda has been carried out in
the past three years in an orderly manner to achieve the Group’s stable operation, performance
improvement and in-depth integration with China Cinda’s business. China Cinda is expected to
continue to support the Group’s business development and release the business potential of the Group
via synergies between the Group and China Cinda.

According to China Cinda’s strategic plan, the Group, as the core financial service platform of China
Cinda, receives support from China Cinda in terms of liquidity and capital needs. The Group is also
able to utilise the network and the wide customer base of China Cinda in the PRC to deepen its
cross-border banking business. For example, Cinda Wealth Centre ({5 #£ B4 & #1.0>) was opened in June
2018, which provides a wide coverage of financial products and services to its customers by
consolidating resources within China Cinda. As at 30 June 2022, the Group recorded an approximately
5.73 per cent. year-on-year increase in its number of “brand level customers”. Leveraging on the
customer base of China Cinda, the Group has proactively expanded its syndicated loan business. In
2018, the Group was awarded the “Shanghai Banking Industry Syndicated Loan Best Project and Best
Arranger Award”. The Group has also established a close business relationship with respective
customers, providing a wide spectrum of services including project finance, offshore syndicated loans
and foreign currency deposits.

The Group believes that there are six major areas of synergy with China Cinda:

° Customer resources synergy: customers of the Group’s banking business and China Cinda’s
distressed assets business complement each other and form a whole-cycle coverage. The Group
can leverage on the brand recognition and clientele of China Cinda to achieve an upscale of its
customer base, increase customers’ viscosity and attract more high net worth customers.

° Product innovation synergy: the integration of China Cinda’s asset management business and
the Group’s banking business creates the synergy in the development of financial products with
an integrated solution satisfying customers’ needs.

° Business network synergy: China Cinda has established 33 subsidiaries in various provinces,
autonomous regions and municipalities, forming a nationwide business network in China. China
Cinda will assist the Group in expanding its onshore and offshore business network.
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° Management and operational team synergy: the management of China Cinda has significant
experience working in financial institutions, financial regulatory bodies, and commercial banks,
supporting the Group’s operation and decision making with rich industry experience.

° Business sector synergy: the distressed assets business of China Cinda is closely related to the
businesses of commercial banks in terms of the financing needs of customers, investment and
management of funds and collection of outstanding loans. With the support from China Cinda’s
wide range of licences for providing financial services and high product development
capabilities, the Group can further develop its intermediary businesses through cross selling
efforts with China Cinda and fully developing the business potential in China Cinda’s distressed
asset management customers.

° Risk management synergy: with strong support from China Cinda through sharing its experience
in risk identification, risk disposal and risk management, the Group is expected to enhance its
distressed assets disposal mechanism and improve its own risk management capabilities.

The Group is benefited from the strong synergy of businesses in Hong Kong and the PRC.

As at 31 January 2023, the Group has 34 branches in Hong Kong strategically located in the core
districts on Hong Kong island, Kowloon and the New Territories, providing all-round banking
services to its customers together with the network of over 3,000 JETCO ATMs throughout Hong
Kong and the Group’s online and mobile banking platforms. In addition, the Group was one of the first
foreign banks in the PRC conducting PRC-related banking business. The Group operates its PRC
business through NCB (China). As at 31 January 2023, the Group had in total 38 branches in the PRC,
covering major cities in the Pearl River Delta, the Yangtze River Delta Economic Zone and the Bohai
Economic Rim.

Apart from being one of the first foreign banks in the PRC conducting PRC related banking business,
the Group was also first in multiple other areas, including its participation in the distribution of the
first batch of Renminbi-denominated funds among foreign banks, being approved as one of the first
three foreign banks for issuing credit cards in mainland China and providing the first online banking
platform for providing cross-border payment service in mainland China.

The Group has actively participated and supported the financing needs of corporates under the “Belt
and Road” Initiative. The Group currently provides cross-border banking products such as Nei Fang
Tong (NJ7 %) which leveraged Hong Kong residents’ properties in Beijing, Shanghai, Guangzhou,
Shenzhen and the designated cities in the Greater Bay Area and other provinces to satisfy their
financing needs. The Group has also participated in the syndicated loans provided to infrastructure
developers.

The Group has been strengthening the management of NCB (China) by enhancing its management
structure in areas of risk management, financial accounting, information technology, audit, human
resources and integrated business management. The Group has also established policy and procedure
for supervision of NCB (China) together with various risk management measures for NCB (China) for
compliance of laws and regulations in both Hong Kong and the PRC. The Group’s management
regularly conducts meeting with the management of NCB (China) on matters of risk management,
finance, information technology and operations to enhance the ongoing communication between NCB
(China) and the Group. In addition, the Group organises visits and encourages communication
between employees of the Issuer and NCB (China).

The Group has also taken measures to control the Mainland related credit risks, including setting
“Trigger Levels” on Hong Kong facilities with PRC property collaterals and mainland related
lendings; conducting regular stress tests; setting limits on same set of concerned industries both for
the Issuer and NCB (China); monitoring and preparing respective periodic reports regarding the
abovementioned credit limits, key risk areas and “non-bank China Exposures”. The Group also
engages legal experts to strengthen its understanding and monitoring of the PRC regulatory
requirements.
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The Group has maintained stable financial performance.

The Group has demonstrated stable financial growth in its total assets, total deposits from customers
and total gross advances to customers. As at 31 December 2019, 2020 and 2021 and 30 June 2022,
the Group’s total assets amounted to HK$489,588.85 million, HK$505,698.16 million,
HK$536,331.00 million and HK$538,609.12 million, respectively. As at 31 December 2019, 2020 and
2021 and 30 June 2022, the Group’s total deposits from customers amounted to HK$345,887.78
million, HK$351,629.93 million, HK$383,781.39 million and HK$369,451.96 million, respectively.
As at 31 December 2019, 2020 and 2021 and 30 June 2022, the Group’s total gross advances to
customers amounted to HK$263,103.23 million, HK$279,722.57 million, HK$295,562.86 million and
HK$295,506.43 million, respectively.

The Group has also demonstrated stable performance in its earnings. For the years ended 31 December
2019, 2020 and 2021 and the six months ended 30 June 2021 and 2022, the Group’s net interest margin
was 1.51 per cent., 1.45 per cent., 1.33 per cent., 1.38 per cent. and 1.25 per cent., respectively. For
the years ended 31 December 2019, 2020 and 2021 and the six months ended 30 June 2021 and 2022,
the Group’s return on average assets was 0.73 per cent., 0.77 per cent., 0.62 per cent., 0.74 per cent.
and 0.74 per cent., respectively. For the years ended 31 December 2019, 2020 and 2021 and the six
months ended 30 June 2021 and 2022, the Group’s return on average equity was 7.30 per cent., 6.49
per cent., 4.99 per cent., 6.50 per cent. and 6.55 per cent., respectively.

In addition, the Group has high asset quality and sufficient liquidity. For the years ended 31 December
2019, 2020 and 2021 and the six months ended 30 June 2021 and 2022, the Group recorded the
classified or impaired loan ratio of 0.67 per cent., 0.86 per cent., 1.50 per cent., 1.67 per cent. and
1.41 per cent., respectively, meanwhile the classified or impaired loan provision ratio for the relevant
periods were 74.35 per cent., 71.15 per cent., 57.17 per cent., 41.78 per cent. and 56.14 per cent.,
respectively. The Group’s quarterly average liquidity coverage ratio for the last quarter of the year as
at 31 December 2019, 2020 and 2021 were 154.97 per cent., 149.77 per cent. and 153.44 per cent.,
respectively. The Group’s quarterly average liquidity coverage ratio for the quarter ended 31 March
2022 and the quarter ended 30 June 2022 were 163.59 per cent. and 143.98 per cent., respectively.

STRATEGIES

The Group’s core objectives are to position itself as a leading local commercial bank in Hong Kong
with strong brand recognition backed by a long history, wide coverage of business network, loyal
customer base and stable financial performance.” The Group intends to continue to maintain its
growth strategy for its businesses and operations. Given the increasingly close economic connection
between the PRC and Hong Kong, the Group seeks to further integrate its businesses in Hong Kong
and the PRC with the support from China Cinda. The key components of the Group’s strategy are set
out below:

Dual track expansion and integration of businesses in Hong Kong and the PRC

The Group intends to continue to concurrently develop and integrate its businesses in both Hong Kong
and the PRC. Adhering to the business philosophy of “Unique Services for the Mainland and Hong
Kong”, the Group actively serves the Hong Kong residents and customers in the Greater Bay Area,
optimises its products and service processes, enhances support to customers affected by the pandemic,
gaining the reputation as a cross-border professional service bank.

Local commercial banks in Hong Kong refer to Hong Kong incorporated licenced banks with headquarters in Hong
Kong.
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The Group plans to leverage on the strong brand recognition of the Issuer among the Chinese
community to further develop its banking business in Hong Kong and the PRC. The Group also plans
to leverage on the advantages brought by “Domestic + Overseas” integration. With its diversified
banking products and services, the Group aims to provide one-stop service to its corporate banking
and personal banking customers, satisfying their needs in banking, investment, insurance, financing
and wealth management, for both domestic and cross-border transactions. The Group also intends to
consolidate and strengthen its position in the PRC through its locally-incorporated bank subsidiary,
NCB (China). With the business network of NCB (China) covering the major economic development
regions in the PRC, the Group is able to provide a comprehensive range of RMB and foreign currency
banking products and services to its customers in the PRC, capitalising on opportunities arising from
the liberalisation of the banking sector and the internationalisation of RMB.

The Group will continue to optimise the use of its assets and of its strong dual presence; NCB (China)
in the PRC and the Issuer in Hong Kong, to build an integrated cross-border banking network and to
deliver a wide range of tailored services for its customers. The Group will further strengthen
cross-referral businesses between the PRC and Hong Kong and its development of unique
cross-border banking products to capture opportunities arising from increasing business flows to and
from the PRC. The Group currently provides cross-border banking products such as Nei Fang Tong
()5 %) which leveraged Hong Kong residents’ properties in Beijing, Shanghai, Guangzhou,
Shenzhen and the designated cities in the Greater Bay Area and other provinces to satisfy their
financing needs, Wai Pai Tong (#MJK#H) to provide comprehensive banking services, including
cross-border loans, for employees of Chinese corporations working in Hong Kong, Guangdong HK
Link Scheme (B - —# Wi H5#]) to support the financing needs of small and medium
enterprises’ associated companies in the PRC, with a unified cross-border credit limit available to
both the entities in Hong Kong and the PRC, acceptance of a shared pool of collateral and acceptance
of dual currency payments in HK dollars or Renminbi, and Li Cai Tong (¥ 8f%H) to allow customers
to utilise the funds deposited with the Group and to apply for pledge loan with deposit certificates.
Furthermore, in order to offer its customers with integrated convenience, the Group offers the
personal “wealth management mutual recognition” services in the Greater Bay Area and the
“Shenzhen and Hong Kong Pass” service.

Development of a balanced corporate and personal banking business portfolio

The Group implements its strategy in Hong Kong and the PRC by continuing to broaden its product
range, upgrading product features and exploring new market opportunities. In terms of personal
banking business, the Group intends to sustain its relationship with its retail customers while
attracting new individual customers with high growth potential to enhance its personal banking,
wealth management and asset management businesses. The Group identified five business
development drivers for enhancing its personal wealth management business for individual customers,
including attracting customers via multiple channels, activating the customers’ use of the Group’s
services, deepening the customer relationships, providing professional support services and
integration of cross-border services.

The Group will also further coordinate with China Cinda in developing its corporate banking business,
targeting mid to large corporations with high cross-border business needs and small and medium
enterprises (“SMEs”) with high growth potential, enhancing its syndicated loan business, alongside
its existing commercial lending, commercial remittance and trade finance services.

Focus on development of customers with cross border business or asset management needs

The Group intends to focus on its development of business with large corporations with cross-border
business needs, small and medium enterprise customers with high growth potential, individual
customers with medium to high net worth with cross border asset management needs.
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The Group also expects to be supported by the synergies between China Cinda and the Group.
According to China Cinda’s strategic plan, the Group will be the core financial service platform of
China Cinda. With the strong support from China Cinda, the Group intends to utilise the network and
the wide customer base of China Cinda in the PRC to deepen its cross-border banking business.

BUSINESS OVERVIEW

The Group’s core businesses are the acceptance of deposits and lending to corporate and personal
banking customers. As at 31 December 2019, 2020 and 2021 and 30 June 2022, the Group’s total
deposits from customers amounted to HKS$345,887.78 million, HK$351,629.93 million,
HK$383,781.39 million and HK$369,451.96 million, respectively, and its total gross advances to
customers amounted to HK$263,103.23 million, HK$279,722.57 million, HK$295,562.86 million and
HK$295,506.43 million, respectively. As at 31 January 2023, the Issuer had 34 branches in Hong
Kong, covering core commercial and residential districts across Hong Kong island, Kowloon and the
New Territories. As at 30 June 2022, the Issuer had approximately 474 thousand customers in total,
including 438 thousand personal banking customers and 36 thousand corporate banking customers.
The Group provides a wide range of banking services including wealth management service, trade
finance, deposit taking, corporate cash management services, foreign currency savings, remittances,
investment services, loans and advances, syndicated loans, home mortgage loans, personal loans,
credit cards, safe deposit boxes, Renminbi services, internet banking services and agency services for
general and life insurance. The Group is a member of JETCO, which provides ATM services
throughout Hong Kong, Macau and major cities in the PRC.

As at 31 January 2023, NCB (China) had 38 branches/sub-branches in the PRC, located in major cities
such as Shanghai, Beijing, Dalian, Qingdao, Wuxi, Hefei, Suzhou, Hangzhou, Chengdu, Shenzhen,
Nanning, Shantou, Wuhan, Guangzhou, Haikou and Chongqing. As at 30 June 2022, NCB (China) had
approximately 247 thousand customers in total, including 232 thousand personal banking customers
and 15 thousand corporate banking customers. NCB (China) provides comprehensive RMB and
foreign currency banking services to its customers. Services include but are not limited to
deposit-taking, loans and advances, debit cards, credit cards, wealth management services, personal
banking, investment services, agency services for life and general insurance, remittance and
settlement, RMB cross-border trade settlement services and domestic and international trade finance
facilities.

As at 31 December 2019, 2020 and 2021 and 30 June 2022, the total assets of the Group’s operations
in Hong Kong accounted for approximately 68.21 per cent., 66.57 per cent., 66.48 per cent. and 69.17
per cent. of the total assets of the Group, respectively. The corresponding figures for the PRC as at
31 December 2019, 2020 and 2021 and 30 June 2022 were 31.79 per cent., 33.43 per cent., 33.52 per
cent. and 30.83 per cent., respectively.

The Group’s total assets and total liabilities by geographical area for the periods indicated were as
follows:

The Group’s total assets by geographical area

As at 31 December As at 30 June
2019 2020 2021 2022
(audited) (audited) (audited) (unaudited)
(in HK$ thousands)
Hong Kong .. ... ... ... .. .. .... 333,928,237 336,658,287 356,529,276 372,569,737
The PRC...... ... ... ... ........ 155,660,610 169,039,874 179,801,724 166,039,381
Total . ......... .. .. ... .. .. . ... 489,588,847 505,698,161 536,331,000 538,609,118
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The Group’s total liabilities by geographical area

As at 31 December As at 30 June
2019 2020 2021 2022
(audited) (audited) (audited) (unaudited)
(in HK$ thousands)
Hong Kong . ....... ... ... ... .. .... 290,086,716 289,806,208 309,300,665 328,871,611
The PRC .. ... ... ... ... ........ 140,711,339 152,864,232 160,696,411 148,115,807
Total . ......... .. ... ... . ... ... 430,798,055 442,670,440 469,997,076 476,987,418

For the years ended 31 December 2019, 2020 and 2021 and the six months ended 30 June 2021 and
2022, the net operating income before impairment allowances of the Group’s operations in Hong
Kong, accounted for approximately 67.21 per cent., 64.53 per cent., 66.05 per cent., 63.47 per cent.
and 62.26 per cent. of the net operating income before impairment allowances of the Group,
respectively. The corresponding figures for the Group’s operations in the PRC for the years ended 31
December 2019, 2020 and 2021 and the six months ended 30 June 2021 and 2022 were 32.79 per cent.,
35.47 per cent., 33.95 per cent., 36.53 per cent. and 37.74 per cent. of the net operating income before
impairment allowances of the Group, respectively.

For the years ended 31 December 2019, 2020 and 2021 and the six months ended 30 June 2021 and
2022, the profit before taxation of the Group’s operations in Hong Kong, accounted for approximately
78.73 per cent., 84.17 per cent., 74.80 per cent., 79.41 per cent. and 66.32 per cent. of the profit before
taxation of the Group, respectively. The corresponding figures for the Group’s operations in the PRC
as at 31 December 2019, 2020 and 2021 and 30 June 2021 and 2022 were 21.27 per cent., 15.83 per
cent., 25.20 per cent., 20.59 per cent. and 33.68 per cent. the profit before taxation of the Group,
respectively.

The Group’s net operating income before impairment allowances and profit before taxation by
geographical area for the periods indicated were as follows:

The Group’s net operating income before impairment allowances by geographical area

For the six months ended

For the years ended 31 December 30 June
2019 2020 2021 2021 2022
(audited) (audited) (audited) (unaudited)
(in HK$ thousands)
Hong Kong . . .......... 6,050,621 5,661,635 5,673,138 2,840,985 2,808,098
The PRC.............. 2,951,777 3,111,378 2,916,277 1,635,163 1,702,409
Total ................ 9,002,398 8,773,013 8,589,415 4,476,148 4,510,507

The Group’s profit before taxation by geographical area

For the six months ended

For the years ended 31 December 30 June
2019 2020 2021 2021 2022
(audited) (audited) (audited) (unaudited)
(in HK$ thousands)
Hong Kong . . .......... 3,524,315 3,550,593 2,789,991 1,746,898 1,531,987
The PRC.............. 952,378 667,813 943,059 452,914 777,884
Total ................ 4,476,693 4,218,406 3,742,050 2,199,812 2,309,871
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PERSONAL BANKING

For the year ended 31 December 2021, personal banking services of the Group recorded HK$1,599.03
million in net operating income before impairment allowance, as compared with HK$1,785.36 million
for the year ended 31 December 2020. For the six months ended 30 June 2022, personal banking
services of the Group recorded HK$884.81 million in net operating income before impairment
allowance, as compared with HK$920.21 million for the six months ended 30 June 2021. Upholding
the customer-oriented philosophy, the Group launched customised products, promotion and services,
aiming to serve more mid- and high-end customers and to expand wealth management services for
more contribution to total revenue. One of the Group’s initiatives was to refine its customer segments
and to design multiple-tier product portfolios and premium products for diverse demands.

Wealth Management Services

The Group mainly provides wealth management services under the “NCB Wealth Management”
programme (74 ¥ FEET), providing flexible financial service packages that bring its customers diverse
banking services and privileged offers. Each customer of NCB Wealth Management is assisted by the
Group’s Customer Relationship Managers in managing their assets or balance sheets. The Group also
provides customers of NCB Wealth Management with wealth management services in the PRC through
NCB (China) with diversified financial management services including RMB and foreign currency
deposit, personal loan, investment products including Qualified Domestic Institutional Investor
(QDII) Scheme and other structured financial products, foreign exchange, insurance and remittance.

The following illustrates the key features of NCB Wealth Management Service:

° Personalised financial planning service — the customised and comprehensive financial planning
service of NCB Wealth Management helps its customers effectively manage and maximise the
potential of their wealth by developing short-, medium- and long-term financial solutions in
accordance with their financial goals and risk tolerance level. The customers’ portfolios are also
monitored and reviewed regularly as the market changes.

° Designated customer relationship manager — a customer relationship manager is assigned to
each customer to provide him/her with personalised wealth management services.

° Personalised insurance service — customers of NCB Wealth Management can request a tailored
insurance package covering various risks and such insurance would be managed in conjunction
with their overall financial plan.

° Personalised deposits service — customers are provided with a wide range of choices for their
deposits, including current accounts, savings accounts, time deposit accounts and foreign
currency accounts.

° Convenient cross-border banking services — customers can make appointment for opening an
NCB (China) account or using other banking services in the PRC through the Group’s Hong
Kong branches.

In addition, the Group’s “Enrich Banking” programme (& %3 84) and “i-Free Banking” programme
(B TEHLBF) provide its clients with one-stop services regarding their needs in banking, credit cards,
securities trading, insurance and other investments. The Group provides these services via multiple
service channels including online banking and mobile banking, together with market updates and
service alerts on its electronic information platform. In order to strengthen customer relationships and
actively expand its customer bases in both the mainland and Hong Kong, the Group launched “Health
and Wealth Management in NCB”, which not only highlights the professional wealth management
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services of the Issuer but also emphasises the importance of the physical and mental health of its
customers to the Issuer. The Group also provides personal “wealth management mutual recognition”
services in the Greater Bay Area, aiming to establish its profile as a professional bank in the Greater
Bay Area.

In October 2021, the Issuer became the one of the first banks to participate in “The Cross-boundary
Wealth Management Connect Scheme” (the “Cross-boundary WMC”), one of the key initiatives
under the mutual market access schemes between the capital markets of Hong Kong, Macao and the
Mainland. The Issuer will provide various wealth management products in the markets under the
Cross-boundary WMC which consists of the Southbound Scheme and the Northbound Scheme.

Deposits

The Group offers three principal deposit products to its personal banking customers, including current
account deposits, savings account deposits and time deposits. In order to satisfy the customers’ needs
for transactions in different currencies, the Group offers Hong Kong dollar, Renminbi and U.S. dollar
current accounts, respectively, and offers Hong Kong dollar and multi-currency savings accounts. The
Group also offers time deposits services in 15 currencies, which can be connected to the respective
customers’ current accounts, savings accounts and investment accounts with the Group. As at 30 June
2022, spot and demand deposits, fixed, short-term and notice deposits and saving deposits accounted
for approximately 7.96 per cent., 61.39 per cent. and 30.65 per cent. of the total deposits balance of
the Group, respectively.

The Issuer also offers three special time deposits: club deposit, time deposit with monthly interest
payment and deposit for senior citizen.

° Club deposit — a deposit product designed with the planned savings concept. Customers can put
in an agreed amount by instalment over an arranged period, with the aim of reaching the
customers’ saving targets when the maturity date is due.

° Time deposit with monthly interest payment — as opposed to the conventional time deposit
where the interest is collected by the maturity date, the scheduled interest of this time deposit
is automatically credited to the customers’ designated account on a monthly basis, enhancing the
financial flexibility and liquidity provided by the traditional time deposit service.

° Deposit for senior citizen — holders of Senior Citizen Card issued by Social Welfare Department
of Hong Kong or customers at age 55 or above can enjoy preferential interest rate for time
deposit service, preferential rate for foreign currency exchange and certain fee waivers.

NCB (China) also offers the principal deposit products. In addition, NCB (China) offers
“Yi-Cun-Bao” Time Deposit (#£ 7 &), of which the deposit cycle, deposit amount and tenor of the
deposit are specified at the time of account opening, with regular deposit placed into the account
according to the cycle selected.

Loan Service

The Group provides its loan service through home mortgages, gross personal loans and credit cards.
As at 31 December 2019, 2020 and 2021 and 30 June 2022, the Group’s total advances to its personal
banking customers amounted to HK$52,313.86 million, HK$57,858.67 million, HK$63,247.76
million and HK$59,593.53 million, respectively.

Home mortgages

The Group offers home mortgage plans for both potential owners of local private residential

properties and properties offered by the government and public sectors for self-occupation purpose.
The mortgage plans provided by the Group include the Urban Renewal Loan Scheme, which provides

72



bridging loan facilities for property owners affected by urban renewal and mortgage for their
acquisition of new properties (including shops, offices and residential units), as well as
“All-You-Want” Mortgage Scheme and “Smart” Mortgage Scheme, which link a customer’s mortgage
to his current account and provide higher financial flexibility.

In addition, the Group launched innovative products to maintain its leading position in cross-border
loan businesses. For example, in 2016, the Group launched a credit scheme to allow Hong Kong
residents to secure loans with their properties located in the PRC, which further enhanced the overall
personal loan business growth, and in 2020, the Group introduced the “Home Ownership Plan in the
Greater Bay Area”, which provides customised residential property mortgage services to Hong Kong
residents who intend to purchase properties in the Greater Bay Area.

All home mortgage advances are secured by a first legal charge on the property and, in certain
circumstances, the Group may also require personal guarantees as additional security. The Group
provides various mortgage plans, including floating Prime-based rate and floating HIBOR-based rate
mortgage plans which are repayable by instalments.

The Group intends to continue maintaining its market share in the mortgage business by diversifying
and customising the mortgage loans offered to its customers and providing tailor-made services to its
existing and potential customers.

Personal loans

Personal loans include unsecured advances to individuals for various purposes such as education, tax
payments, travel, home improvement and decoration, and includes overdrafts. The Group offers a
series of lending programmes with varied product features including a personalised interest rate based
on the relevant customer’s credit standing. The “Easi-Personal Loan” programme provides loan
amounts up to HK$2 million or 12 times of the customer’s monthly salary, with preferential interest
rates available to the Group’s privileged customers. The Group also provides value-added service
“Balance Transfer” which helps consolidate customers’ debts into a single payment for easy
management.

In addition, NCB (China) provides its personal customers with loan services catering for various
specific needs, including personal consumption loan, personal home decoration loan, personal
business financing plan, personal credit facility, overseas education loan and personal auto loan.
Especially during the pandemic, NCB (China) launched the personal offshore-deposit-onshore-loan
business for the very first time in 2020. NCB (China) also provides various loan services for
individuals’ business needs, including SME Supply Chain Finance, SME Special Batch Customisation
Service, Property Loan, SME Product Series, Personal Business Loan, Consumer Finance Loan and
NCB Pu-Hui-Bao (F i H#).

Investment Service

In addition to the range of traditional banking products and services offered by the Group to its
customers, the Group also provides investment services for various types of products, including but
not limited to securities, securities margin, Shanghai-Hong Kong stock connect, Shenzhen-Hong
Kong stock connect, monthly stocks savings plan, family securities accounts, IPO subscription, FX
margin trading, funds, precious metals margin trading, currency linked investments, debt securities,
notional precious metals passbook account and structured investments.

Remittance service
As part of the Group’s cross-border banking business, the Group offers services for both inward and
outward remittance, in both its physical branches in Hong Kong and the PRC and online via the

Group’s internet banking service. The Group’s remittance service is available in the forms of
telegraphic transfer or demand draft. The Group’s “BOC Remittance Plus” programme allows its
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customers to get their funds transferred on the same day to about 5,000 remittance points spanning
all provinces, autonomous regions and municipalities in the PRC, Hong Kong and Macau covering
Bank of China, NCB (China) and Chiyu Banking Corporation Ltd. The Group also provides “Payroll
Transfer” service, which fulfils the RMB cross-border settlement demand of its mainland customers
in Hong Kong as well as allowing customers to enjoy the convenience of cross-border remittance.

Foreign cheques payable overseas can also be entrusted to the Issuer for collection to seek payment
from the drawee on the customer’s behalf. Arrangement may also be made for use of funds in advance
while pending for collection of proceeds.

Insurance service

The Group acts as an appointed insurance agent of FWD Life Insurance Company (Bermuda) Limited,
China Taiping Life Insurance (Hong Kong) Company Limited, China Taiping Insurance (HK)
Company Limited and BOC Group Insurance Company Limited and provides a wide variety of
insurance services, with personal insurance products including life, personal accident, home
comprehensive, domestic helper comprehensive, motor vehicle, comprehensive travel, personal
medical, outpatient medical, golfer and global mind personal accident insurance, etc. Business line
products include fire, public liability, contractors’ all risks, employees’ compensation, marine cargo,
marine hull, money, retailer comprehensive, burglary and group medical insurance.

The total commission income of the Group’s insurance business for the six months ended 30 June
2022 was HK$90.18 million, an approximately 37.38 per cent. decrease as compared with the figure
reported for the six months ended 30 June 2021.

Internet and Mobile Banking Services

The Group committed to continuously providing a convenient digital solution to satisfy our
customer’s banking needs and brings in the comprehensive and round-the-clock financial services to
our personal and corporate customers.

The Internet and Mobile Banking services are designed to provide the Group’s customers with 24-hour
banking services through diversified platforms, personalised e-services and privileges. Customers can
manage their finances and investment with ease through the Group’s one-stop Internet and Mobile
Banking services anytime, anywhere.

Diversified platforms — customers are offered with round-the-clock services via diversified platforms
such as the Online Chat service, internet banking and mobile app.

Free investment access — customers can flexibly and conveniently manage their finances via the
Group’s internet banking or mobile banking services, allowing them to conduct investments in various
financial products, to access stock information and market news and to obtain live rate quotes

Personalised e-services and comprehensive information — customers can receive service notifications
and market information of their choice to meet their financial needs and are provided with the latest
market information and analysis to keep abreast of the market trend. With our NCB Mobile App and
WeChat Banking, both NCB and non-NCB customers can access the latest market information and the
Bank’s privileges, providing them with great convenience and flexibility.

The Group continues to enhance its e-platform to offer more efficient, secure and convenient banking
services for customers on the move. In September 2018, the Group launched NCB Fast Transfer
Service that was tied in with the newly launched Faster Payment System (“FPS”) to enable instant
transfer service for person-to-person and merchants payment. In October 2020, the Group launched
the new mobile security code and biometric authentication function. In addition to enhanced customer
experience, the new function can offer additional security to its customers when they are conducting
specific online or mobile banking transactions.
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CORPORATE BANKING

The Group’s corporate banking services continue to grow with optimised loan portfolio. As at 30 June
2022, corporate loans recorded a 1.55 per cent. increase to HK$235,912.91 million as compared to the
corresponding figure as at 31 December 2021. Net interest income from corporate financial services
amounted to HK$1,756.50 million, while net operating income before impairment allowance
decreased 7.45 per cent. to HK$2,343.07 million as compared with the corresponding figure as at 30
June 2022.

In addition to the general banking services offered by the Group to both its personal banking
customers and corporate banking customers, including deposit service, investment service, remittance
service, insurance service and internet and mobile banking service, the following highlights the
additional services available to the Group’s corporate banking customers.

Commercial Lending

The Group provides diversified financing solutions through the Issuer and NCB (China) to cater for
its corporate customers’ financial needs in operation of their businesses. NCB (China) provides a wide
range of financing products to its corporate customers meeting their day-to-day financing demand and
demand for particular business development and operations, including working capital loan, project
financing, machinery financing, syndicated loan, merging and acquiring loan, loan pledged by export
tax rebate custody account, overdraft for corporate account, real estate development loan, fixed asset
loan, entrusted loan, assets (commercial property)-backed loan and commercial bill discount. The
Issuer also provides working capital financing, medium and long-term financing, property mortgage
loan and corporate tax loan. In addition, the Issuer offers various programmes to provide continuous
support to local SMEs in Hong Kong. As at 31 December 2019, 2020 and 2021 and 30 June 2022, the
Group’s total gross advances to its corporate banking customers amounted to HK$210,789.37 million,
HK$221,863.90 million, HK$232,315.11 million and HK$235,912.91 million, respectively.

SME Financing Guarantee Scheme (SFGS)

The Issuer has joined the SME Financing Guarantee Scheme launched by HKMC Insurance Limited
(“HKMCTI”). The Issuer offers flexible lending solutions which meet SMEs’ financing needs and
facilitates their business growth. HKMCI provides support to SMEs by way of loan guarantees of up
to 90 per cent., with a maximum loan amount subject to announcement by HKMCI, with a maximum
guarantee period of seven years.

NCB Small Business Loan

The Issuer’s unsecured lending programme “NCB Small Business Loan” offers unsecured loan to
small businesses up to an amount of HK$2,000,000. Further, the Issuer provides a variety of small
business loan services based on the characteristics of the business model of small and micro
enterprises, such as using letters of credit, flow loans, bank acceptance bills and other credit products
to meet corporate financial service needs, and mitigate risks through commercial bill pledges and
parent company guarantees. The Issuer actively seeks a form of guarantee different from traditional
real estate mortgages to help small and micro enterprises to finance.

Trade Finance

The Group’s trade finance business provides international trade settlement services to industrial and
commercial circles through both the Issuer and NCB (China). Import financing services include
issuance of letters of credit (“LC”), back-to-back LC, shipping guarantee, inward documentary bills,
inward collection, import loans and import invoice financing. Export financing services include
advice and confirmation of LC, LC transfers, outward documentary collection, LC negotiation,
packing loans, bills purchase, Hong Kong Export Credit Insurance Corporation (ECIC) supported
export finance and export invoice discounting.
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Trade finance advances are made on either a fully or partially secured basis by way of a mortgage of
property or cash collateral or on an unsecured basis. Trade finance advances typically have a
relatively short maturity. For example, advances used to finance imports often have a maturity of
approximately 90 days.

As at 30 June 2022, trade finance advances amounted to HK$9,964.23 million, representing an
increase of approximately 10.10 per cent. as compared with the figure reported as at 31 December
2021, and accounted for approximately 3.37 per cent. of the Group’s total advances to customers as
at 30 June 2022.

Business Integrated Account

The Business Integrated Account is a product designed for the Issuer’s corporate banking customers
to manage all of their accounts with the Issuer, including deposits, loans, trade services, mortgage and
investments accounts, under one roof for added flexibility and convenience. The key features of the
Business Integrated Account are illustrated below:

° Consolidated Monthly Statement — accounts summary, total relationship balance, monthly
service fee privilege, time deposit schedule, account balance and transaction details are
consolidated into a single statement for the corporate banking customers to understand its full
financial status at ease.

° “Auto-Sweeping Service” — when the available balance of the designated current account is not
sufficient to settle the cheque amount, this Auto-Sweeping Service will sweep funds from the
corporate banking customer’s other designated account to avoid bounced cheque and
unnecessary overdraft interest.

° Remittance and Express Transfer Services (RTGS / CHATS) — with a suite of global remittance
services, the Issuer provides its corporate banking customers, through diversified branch
network and electronic channels, with telegraphic transfer and local interbank transfer in all
major currencies.

° Payroll Service — the Issuer provides its corporate banking customers with convenient and
secure payroll and personnel management solution which helps them to enhance administrative
efficiency and to minimise operational risk and transaction cost. Corporates can choose payroll
channels according to their actual needs and pay salaries to any designated account of local
banks.

TREASURY

The Group’s treasury business is responsible for managing the capital, liquidity, and the interest rate
and foreign exchange positions of the Group in addition to proprietary trades. It provides funds to
other business segments and receives funds from deposit taking activities of the Group’s personal
banking and corporate banking businesses. These inter-segment funding is charged according to the
internal funds transfer pricing mechanism of the Group.

For the years ended 31 December 2019, 2020 and 2021 and the six months ended 30 June 2021 and
2022, the treasury business recorded HK$1,072.82 million, HK$965.20 million, HK$1,893.99 million,
HK$970.74 million and HK$1,223.75 million of net operating income before impairment allowance.
With RMB-denominated deposit contractions, the Group scaled down its investments in
RMB-denominated bonds and increased bonds denominated in HK dollar and U.S. dollar. Moreover,
the Group consolidated its market competitiveness by launching forex trading and deposit concessions
and offering market-based prices.
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PROPERTIES

As at 30 June 2021, the Group owned properties in Hong Kong with aggregate saleable floor areas
of approximately 291,413 square feet. Most of the Group’s properties are used as banking offices, as
branches or for storage. The remainder are currently leased to third parties. In addition, the Group also
leases 28 properties with aggregate saleable floor areas of approximately 83,620 square feet. These
leased properties are used as banking offices, as branches or for storage. As at 30 June 2022, the fair
value for the Group’s investment properties and premises amounted to HK$406.44 million and
HK$8,228.94 million, respectively.

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

N . . * @ nce Avatad “’.L._._ .{-_"iu_
The Group has been using the trademarks, “NCB i V¥ B 2E8R1T”, “- gncomrnras “@”, “ O @ >
“HPET S K and “F LA B R 3K, and service mark “NCB” which have been registered with
the Trademarks Registry in Hong Kong.

The Group has also been using trademarks “@”, “WNCB mEAARH ” and “@m@d@4id” which have
been registered with the PRC Trademark Office.

The Group also relies on domain name registrations to establish and protect its internet domain names.
The Group has registered the following internet domain names: “hkncb.com”, “ncbhk.com”,
“nanyang-bank.com”, “Fg . HK”, “F .22 A HK”, “ncb.com.hk”, “ncb.hk”, “F§¥ MR IT HK”,
“FE VP FERAT. A FLHK” and <R P FERIT.com”.

INSURANCE

The Group currently maintains insurance cover to mitigate its risk exposure. Such insurance can
broadly be categorised into property insurance to cover the loss of or damage to building structure and
content, electronic equipment and motor vehicles; public liability insurance to cover legal liability as
a result of physical bodily injury and/or property damage caused to third parties; bankers’ blanket
bonds insurance to cover the loss resulting from fraudulent acts by employees, loss of money on
premises and in transit and forgery of bank instruments; professional indemnity insurance to
indemnify the Group for loss arising out of claims for wrongful or negligent professional acts; and
directors’ and officers’ liability insurance to cover the personal liability of the Group’s directors and
officers against any claims resulting from any wrongful act. There are responsible units within the
Group handling the validity and adequacy of insurance cover.

COMPETITION

The Group is subject to significant competition in Hong Kong from many other Hong Kong and
foreign banks and financial institutions. Competition among banks in Hong Kong for investment and
insurance products, home mortgage loans, credit cards, personal loans and transport lending business
has become very aggressive. Given increasing competition among the local banks in Hong Kong, the
Group has placed greater focus on diversifying its revenue sources and increasing its fee-based
income, particularly from its wealth management and retail investment businesses.

The banking industry in the PRC is also highly competitive. The market has been dominated by the
large state-owned commercial banks, which have long operating histories, well-established branch
networks, large customer bases and better brand recognition. The Group has been expanding its
presence in the PRC through NCB (China) by strategically establishing branches in major cities in the
PRC. However, in view of the fact that banking business in the PRC was opened to foreign banks in
early 2007 as part of the PRC’s WTO commitments, the Group expects competition in the PRC to
continue to increase.
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For a further discussion of the risks of competition faced by the Group in Hong Kong and China, see
“Investment Considerations — Considerations Relating to the Group — The Group is subject to

significant competition”.

LITIGATION

Neither the Issuer nor any other member of the Group is currently involved in any material litigation,
arbitration or similar proceedings, and the Issuer is not aware of any such proceedings pending or
threatened against it or any of its subsidiaries, which are or might be material in the context of the
Capital Securities.

EMPLOYEES

As at 30 June 2021, the Group had a total of 3,038 employees as set forth in the following table:

No. of employees

Hong Kong . ... 1,418
PR 1,620

Total . . e 3,038

The management of the Group believes that it maintains a good relationship with its employees and
has not experienced any material employment disputes. The Group provides attractive remuneration
and benefits packages to its employees including medical health care plans, group life insurance,
various paid leave, staff housing loan with preferential interest rate, staff account with preferential
deposit interest rate and retirement benefits under either the Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”)
Scheme or the MPF exempted Occupational Retirement Schemes Ordinance (“ORSO”) Scheme.

In addition to benefits packages, the Group continues to provide career advancement opportunities
and a healthy, positive working environment to its employees. The Group offers a wide range of
training courses to support its employees’ ongoing professional development.

PROTECTION OF DEPOSITORS

The Issuer is a member of the Deposit Protection Scheme, which was launched in September 2006.
Accordingly, all eligible depositors of the Issuer are automatically protected under the Deposit
Protection Scheme. As part of its measures to maintain the liquidity of, and confidence in, the Hong
Kong financial markets, the Hong Kong government introduced a Deposit Protection Scheme in 2006
to provide a level of protection to depositors with deposits held with authorised institutions in Hong
Kong. An enhanced Deposit Protection Scheme with an increased protection limit of HK$500,000 and
expanded coverage including deposits pledged as security for banking services, came into effect on
1 January 2011.
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SELECTED STATISTICAL AND OTHER INFORMATION

The selected statistical and other information set forth below relates only to the Group and has, except
where otherwise indicated, been compiled as at and for each of the years ended 31 December 2019,
2020 and 2021 and the six months ended 30 June 2021 and 2022, and should be read in conjunction
with the information contained elsewhere in this Offering Circular, including “Business of the Group™.

Overview

As at 31 December 2019, 2020 and 2021 and 30 June 2022, the Group’s total outstanding advances
and other accounts were HK$262,413.18million, HK$277,085.13 million, HK$292,037.37 million and
HK$292,643.16 million, respectively, which represented approximately 53.60 per cent., 54.79 per
cent., 54.45 per cent. and 54.33 per cent., respectively, of its total assets.

A significant portion of the Group’s advances are in respect of home mortgages and advances for
property investment and development in Hong Kong.

As at 31 December 2019, 2020 and 2021 and 30 June 2022, the Group’s gross advances to customers
were HK$263,103.23 million, HK$279,722.57 million, HK$295,562.86 million and HK$295,506.43
million, respectively.

As at 30 June 2022, the Group’s total gross advances to customers was HK$295,506.43 million, which
represented 54.86 per cent. of its total assets. The Group’s gross advances to customers in Hong Kong
can be divided into two sector concentrations, for the industrial, commercial and financial sectors and
for individuals.

Geographical Concentration

The table below sets forth a summary of the Group’s gross advances to customers by geographical
location as at the dates indicated.

As of 31 December As of 30 June
2019 2020 2021 2022
(unaudited) % (audited) % (audited) % (unaudited) %
Hong Kong . . . 166,065,160 63.12% 177,130,215 63.32 186,752,209 63.19 189,591,964 64.16
PRC . ... ... 80,923,274 30.76% 87,480,107 31.27 96,907,944 32.79 91,656,247 31.02
Others . . . . .. 16,114,798 6.12% 15,112,249 5.40 11,902,708 4.03 14,258,223 4.83
Total . . . . ... 263,103,232  100.00% 279,722,571 100.00 295,562,861 100.00 295,506,434 100.00
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Customer Advance Concentration

As at 30 June 2022, the Group’s exposure to its 10 largest borrowers (including groups of individuals
and companies, excluding China Cinda Group exposure and exempted exposures) amounted to
approximately HK$61,278 million, or approximately 118.90 per cent. of the Group’s Tier 1 capital,
with the largest representing HK$8,108 million, or approximately 15.73 per cent. of the Group’s Tier
1 Capital. As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s exposure to its 10 largest borrowers (including groups
of individuals and companies, excluding China Cinda Group exposure and exempted exposures)
amounted to approximately HK$61,627 million, or approximately 109.13 per cent. of the Group’s Tier
1 capital, with the largest representing HK$8,110 million, or approximately 14.38 per cent. of the
Group’s Tier 1 capital. As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s exposure to its 10 largest borrowers
(including groups of individuals and companies, excluding China Cinda Group exposure and
exempted exposures) amounted to approximately HK$52,900 million, or approximately 99.15 per
cent. of the Group’s Tier 1 capital, with the largest representing HK$6,251 million, or approximately
11.93 per cent. of the Group’s Tier 1 Capital.

Advanced Analysis
As at 31 December 2019, 2020 and 2021 and 30 June 2022, approximately 42.68 per cent., 41.62 per
cent., 41.32 per cent. and 41.75 per cent. of Group’s advances to customers had a remaining maturity

between one to five years, respectively.

The table below sets forth a summary of the Group’s net advances to customers by remaining maturity
as at the dates indicated.

As of 31 December As of 31 December As of 31 December As of 30 June
2019 2020 2021 2022
Advances to Advances to Advances to Advances to
customers % customers % customers % customers %
(audited) (audited) (audited) (unaudited)
(in HK$ thousands, except percentages)
Repayable on demand . . . . . . . . 23,406,408 8.99 27,085,817 9.79 30,173,136 10.35 29,219,943 10.02
Uptolmonth . . ... ... .... 6,959,463 2.67 5,688,998 2.06 8,102,517 2.78 11,632,157 3.99
1to3 months. . . . ... .. .... 16,311,040 6.26 24,194,159 8.74 17,691,913 6.07 16,663,214 5.71
3to12months. . . ... ... ... 50,977,315 19.58 47,302,076 17.10 51,391,375 17.63 53,083,145 18.21
ltoSyears. . . . . . .. ... ... 111,145,709 42.68 115,168,007 41.62 120,475,479  41.32 121,739,237 41.75
Over Syears . . . . . .. ... ... 51,318,441 19.71 56,624,608 20.46 63,191,634 21.67 57,968,060 19.88
Indefinite . . . . . . . .. ... ... 277,163 0.11 631,106 0.23 523,791 0.18 1,277,514 0.44
Total . . . . . .. .. .. ..., 260,395,539 100.00 276,694,771  100.00 291,549,845 100.00 291,583,270 100.00

As at 31 December 2019, 2020 and 2021 and 30 June 2022, at least 43.63 per cent., 48.67 per cent.,
45.27 per cent. and 43.69 per cent. of the Group’s advances were secured by collateral, respectively.
Home mortgages are secured by a first legal charge over the underlying property. Working capital
advances for businesses are typically secured by fixed and floating charges over land, buildings,
machinery, inventory and receivables. Term advances for specific projects or developments are
typically secured against the underlying project’s assets and its receivables, while additional
guarantees are typically provided by the sponsors or shareholders. The Group also receives guarantees
in relation to certain of its other advances to cover, in the case of trade finance, any shortfall in
security or, in the case of consumer advances to younger or less financially secure customers, to
provide security on what are normally unsecured advances.

All forms of security taken as collateral against credit facilities are monitored by the respective
departments which extended the advances. In general, the collateral is periodically valued by an
independent valuer to determine whether any additional collateral is required.
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RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s lending policies have been formulated on the basis of its own experience, the Banking
Ordinance, Monetary Authority guidelines and policies issued by the Hong Kong Association of Banks
and other statutory requirements (and, in the case of overseas subsidiaries, the relevant local laws and
regulations). The Issuer believes it has a history of, and reputation for, prudent lending practices. The
Group has established loan-to-value lending limits based on the appraised market value of the relevant
collateral.

The Issuer’s Board of Directors (the “Board”) holding the ultimate responsibility for the Group’s
overall risk management. It establishes a sound risk culture and determines the risk management
strategies and the risk management structure.

To achieve the Group’s goals in risk management, the Board has set up the Risk Management
Committee, which includes the Issuer’s Independent Non-Executive Directors, to oversee the Group’s
various types of risks and approve the high-level risk management policies. Also, the Credit Approval
Committee is set up under the Risk Management Committee for approving credit applications
exceeding the Chief Executive’s authority and monitoring the credit activities of the Group. The Audit
Department conducts independent reviews on the adequacy and effectiveness of risk management
policies and controls to ensure that the Group operates in accordance with the established policies,
procedures and limits.

According to the risk management strategies established by the Board, risk management policies and
controls are devised and reviewed regularly by relevant departments and respective management
committees set up by the Issuer’s Chief Executive.

The risk management units develop policies and procedures for identifying, measuring, monitoring,
controlling and reporting credit risk, market risk, operational risk, reputation risk, legal and
compliance risk, interest rate risk, liquidity risk, strategic risk, conduct risk, technology risk and
climate risk; set appropriate risk limits; and continually monitor risks.

Independence is crucial to effective risk management. To ensure the independence of the risk
management units and the Audit Department, Chief Risk Officer reports directly to the Risk
Management Committee and the Audit Department reports directly to the Audit Committee,
respectively. Both committees are specialised committees set up by the Board and all members are
directors of the Issuer.

These mechanisms capture the different risk-related management activities, including the formulation
of policies, risk assessment, setting up of control limits, and ongoing monitoring. The mechanisms
ensure compliance with the Group’s policies, and legal and regulatory requirements in Hong Kong and
the PRC. They are supplemented by management involvement, effective internal controls, and
comprehensive audits.

The major types of risks management under the Group’s risk management structure are (i) credit risk
management; (ii) liquidity risk management, (iii) market risk management, (iv) operational risk
management, (v) reputation risk management, (vi) legal and compliance risk management, (vii)
strategic risk management, (viii) interest rate risk management, (ix) technology risk management, (x)
conduct risk management and (xi) climate risk management.

Credit Risk Management
The Group has formulated a comprehensive set of credit risk management policies and procedures,
and appropriate credit risk limits to manage and control credit risk that may arise. These policies,

procedures and credit risk limits are regularly reviewed and updated to cope with changes in market
conditions and business strategies.
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The Credit and Loans Management Committee, a management committee authorised by the Chief
Executive, is responsible for the implementation of the credit risk management strategies as well as
the approval of credit policies. It also monitors the Group’s loan portfolio, quality of credit assets and
risk concentration level.

Business units act as the first line of defence. The risk management units, which are independent from
the business units, are responsible for the day-to-day management of credit risks and have the primary
responsibilities for providing an independent due diligence through identifying, measuring,
monitoring, reporting and controlling credit risk to ensure an effective checks and balances, as well
as drafting, reviewing and updating credit risk management policies and procedures. They prepare
respective risk management reports and submit directly to the Credit and Loans Management
Committee, Chief Executive, Credit Approval Committee and Risk Management Committee.

In addition, NCB (China) also sets up independent risk monitoring teams to monitor credit risk, and
submits management information and reports to the Issuer on a regular basis.

Liquidity Risk Management

The Group’s liquidity risk management objective is to effectively manage the liquidity of on- and
off-balance sheet items with reasonable cost based on the liquidity risk appetite to achieve sound
operation and sustainable profitability. Deposits from customers are the Group’s primary source of
funds. To ensure stable and sufficient source of funds are in place, the Group actively attracts new
deposits, keeps the core deposit and obtains supplementary funding from the interbank market.
According to different term maturities and the results of funding needs estimated from stressed
scenarios, the Group adjusts its asset structure (including loans, bonds investment, interbank
placement, etc.) to maintain sufficient liquid assets which provides adequate funds in support of
normal business needs and ensure its ability to raise funds at a reasonable cost to serve external claims
in case of emergency. The Group is committed to diversify the source of funds and the use of funds
to avoid excessive concentration of assets and liabilities and prevent triggering liquidity risk due to
the break of funding strand when problem occurred in one concentrated funding source. The Group
has established intra-group liquidity risk management guideline to manage the liquidity funding
among different entities within the Group, and to restrict their reliance on funding on each other. The
Group also pays attention to manage liquidity risk created by off-balance sheet activities, such as loan
commitments and derivatives. The Group has an overall liquidity risk management strategy to cover
the liquidity management of foreign currency assets and liabilities, collateral, intra-day liquidity,
intra-group liquidity, the liquidity risk arising from other risks, etc., and has formulated
corresponding contingency plan.

The Group’s Risk Management Committee (“RMC”) is the decision-making authority of liquidity risk
management, and assumes the ultimate responsibility of liquidity risk management. As authorised by
RMC, the Asset and Liability Management Committee (“ALCO”) exercises its oversight of liquidity
risk and ensures the daily operations of the Group are in accordance with risk appetite and policies
as set by RMC. The Asset and Liability Management Division is responsible for overseeing the
Group’s liquidity risk. It cooperates with Financial Market Department to assist the ALCO to perform
liquidity management functions according to their specific responsibilities.

The Group established liquidity risk management indicators and limits to identify, measure, monitor
and control liquidity risk on a daily basis. These indicators and limits include, but are not limited to
liquidity coverage ratio (“LCR”), net stable funding ratio (“NSFR”), loan-to-deposit ratio, Maximum
Cumulative Cash Outflow (“MCO”) and liquidity buffer asset portfolio. The Group applies cash flow
analysis to assess the Group’s liquidity condition under normal conditions and also performs a
liquidity stress test (including institution specific, general market crisis and combined crisis) at least
on monthly basis to assess the Group’s capability to withstand various severe liquidity crises. Also,
the Assets and Liabilities Management System is developed to provide data and the preparation for
regular management reports to facilitate liquidity risk management duties.
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In accordance with the requirements of Supervisory Policy Manual LM-2 “Sound Systems and
controls for Liquidity Risk Management” issued by the Monetary Authority in 2016, the Group has
implemented behaviour model and assumptions of cash flow analysis and stress test to enhance the
Group’s cash flow analysis under both normal and stressed conditions. In cash flow analysis under
normal circumstances, assumptions have been made relating to on-balance sheet items (such as
deposits from customers) and off-balance sheet items (such as loan commitments). According to
various characteristics of the assets, liabilities and off-balance sheet items, the Group forecasts the
future cash flow based on contractual maturity date and the assumptions of customer behaviour and
balance sheet changes. The Group establishes MCO indicator which predicts the future 30-day
maximum cumulative net cash outflow in normal situations based on the above assumptions, to assess
if the Group has sufficient financing capacity to meet the cash flow gap in order to achieve the
objective of continuous operation. As at 30 June 2022, the Issuer’s 30-day cumulative cash flow was
a net cash inflow amounting to HK$13,637 million, as compared to HK$2,187 million as at 30 June
2021, and was in compliance with the internal limit requirements.

In the liquidity stress test, institution specific, general market crisis and combined crisis scenario has
been set up, combined crisis scenario is a combination of institution specific and general market crisis
to assess the Group’s capability to withstand a more severe liquidity crisis, with a more stringent set
of assumptions being adopted. Stress test assumptions include the run-off rate of retail, wholesale and
interbank deposits; drawdown rate of loan commitments and trade-related contingent liabilities;
delinquency ratio and rollover rate of customer loans; and haircut of interbank placement and
marketable securities. As at 30 June 2022, the Group was able to maintain a positive cash flow under
the three stressed scenarios, indicating the Group has the ability to meet financing needs under
stressed conditions. In addition, the Group has a policy in place to maintain a liquidity cushion which
includes high quality or comparable quality marketable securities issued or guaranteed by sovereigns,
central banks, public sector entities or multilateral development banks with O per cent. or 20 per cent.
risk weight or marketable securities issued or guaranteed by non-financial corporate with a
corresponding external credit rating of BBB- or above to ensure funding needs even under stressed
scenarios. As at 30 June 2022, the Issuer’s liquidity cushion (before haircut) was HK$49,474 million,
as compared to HK$44,897 million as at 30 June 2021. A contingency plan is being established which
details the conditions to trigger the plan based on stress test results and early warning indicators, the
action plans and relevant procedures and responsibility of various departments.

The LCR is calculated in accordance with the Banking (Liquidity) Rules (Cap. 155Q) effective from
1 January 2015 and the NSFR effective from 1 January 2018, the Group, being classified as category
1 authorised institution by the Monetary Authority, is required to calculate LCR and NSFR on
consolidated basis. The Group was required to maintain an LCR not less than 100 per cent. and NSFR
not less than 100 per cent.

The Group’s liquidity risk management also covers new products or business developments. Before
launching a new product or business, the relevant departments are required to go through a risk
assessment process, which includes the assessment of underlying liquidity risk and consideration of
the adequacy of the current risk management mechanism. Any material impact on liquidity risk noted
during the risk assessment process will be reported to the Risk Management Committee for approval.

The Group has established a set of uniform liquidity risk management policies. On the basis of the
Group’s uniform policy, the principal banking subsidiary develops its own liquidity management
policies according to its own characteristics, and assumes its own liquidity risk management
responsibility, executes its daily risk management processes independently, and reports to the Group’s
management on a regular basis.
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Market Risk Management

The Group’s objective in managing market risk is to maintain healthy growth of its treasury business
by effective management of potential market risk in the Group’s business, in accordance with the
Group’s overall risk appetite and strategy of treasury business on the basis of a well-established risk
management regime and related management measures.

In accordance with the Group’s corporate governance principles in respect of risk management, the
Board and the Risk Management Committee, senior management and functional units perform their
duties and responsibilities to manage the Group’s market risk. The risk management units are
responsible for assisting senior management to perform their day-to-day duties, independently
monitoring the market risk profile and compliance of management policies and limits of the Group,
to ensure that the aggregate and individual market risks are within acceptable levels. Independent
units are assigned to monitor the risk exposure against risk limits on a daily basis, together with profit
and loss reports submitted to senior management on a regular basis, while limit excess will be
reported to senior management at once when it occurs. In addition, NCB (China) sets up independent
risk monitoring team to monitor daily market risk and limit compliance, and submit management
information and reports to the Issuer on a regular basis.

The Group sets up market risk indicators and limits to identify, measure, monitor and control market
risk. Major risk indicators and limits include but not limited to VAR (Value-at-Risk), Stop Loss, Open
Position, Stress Testing and Sensitivity Analysis (Basis Point Value). To meet management
requirements, major risk indicators and limits are classified into four levels, and are approved by the
Risk Management Committee, Asset and Liability Management Committee or senior management
respectively. Treasury business units are required to conduct their business within approved market
risk indicators and limits.

(a) Currency risk

The Group’s assets and liabilities are denominated in major currencies, particularly the HK
dollar, the U.S. dollar and Renminbi. To ensure the currency risk exposure of the Group is
managed at an acceptable level, risk limits (e.g. Position and VAR limit) are used to serve as a
monitoring tool. Moreover, foreign exchange contracts (e.g. FX swaps) are usually used to
manage foreign exchange risk associated with foreign currency-denominated assets and
liabilities.

The following is a summary of the Group’s major foreign currency exposures arising from
trading, non-trading and structural positions and is prepared with reference to the completion
instructions for the Monetary Authority return of foreign currency position as at 31 December
2021 and 30 June 2022:

At 31 December 2021

Equivalent in HK$ thousands

Other foreign Total foreign

U.S. dollars Renminbi currencies currencies

(audited) (audited) (audited) (audited)
Spotassets . ........... ... ... 110,931,361 166,479,906 22,093,131 299,504,398
Spot liabilities . . . .. ............. (100,229,498) (170,145,753) (12,901,769) (283,277,020)
Forward purchases . . ... .......... 21,456,500 13,790,839 5,111,037 40,358,376
Forward sales ... ............... (32,805,271) (7,278,628) (14,170,532) (54,254,431)
Net (short)/long position. . ......... (646,908) 2,846,364 131,867 2,331,323
Net structural position . ........... 9,439,231 15,615,698 — 25,054,929
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(b)

As of 30 June 2022

Equivalent in HK$ thousands

Other foreign Total foreign

U.S. dollars Renminbi currencies currencies

(unaudited) (unaudited) (unaudited) (unaudited)
Spotassets . .. ........ ... 129,947,213 150,026,660 29,447,209 309,421,082
Spot liabilities . ................ (113,705,941) (158,335,988) (22,559,224) (294,601,153)
Forward purchases . . ... .......... 28,266,369 22,004,401 8,900,861 59,171,631
Forward sales . ................. (46,943,037) (10,921,134) (15,833,197) (73,697,368)
Net (short)/long position . . .. ....... (2,435,396) 2,773,939 (44,351) 294,192
Net structural position. . . . ... ...... 5,223,097 15,771,482 — 20,994,579

Interest rate risk

The Group’s risk management framework also applies to interest rate risk management. The
Asset and Liability Management Committee exercises its oversight of interest rate risk in
accordance with the “Banking Book Interest Rate Risk Management Policy” approved by the
Risk Management Committee. The Asset and Liability Management Division is responsible for
interest rate risk management. With the cooperation of the Financial Market Department, the
Asset and Liability Management Division assists the Asset and Liability Management Committee
to perform day-to-day interest rate risk management. Its roles include, but are not limited to, the
formulation of management policies, selection of methodologies, setting of risk indicators and
limits, assessment of target balance sheet, monitoring of the compliance with policies and limits,
and submission of interest rate risk management reports to the management and Risk
Management Committee.

The Group is principally exposed to HK Dollar, U.S. Dollar and Renminbi in terms of interest
rate risk. As at 31 December 2021, according to the new standard IRRBB framework of HKMA,
the Group assesses the impact of changes in the Group’s net interest income (“ANII”) and
economic value (“AEVE”) respectively under 6 interest rate shock scenarios, in which
optionality and behavioural assumptions of certain products will also be estimated in the
exposure measurement. The 6 interest rate shock scenarios include: (1) Parallel up; (2) Parallel
down; (3) Steepener; (4) Flattener; (5) Short rates up; and (6) Short rates down.

HK$°000 AEVE ANII

Period 31 December 2021 31 December 2020 31 December 2021 31 December 2020
1 Parallel up 5,328,957 3,739,133 (198,138) (633,076)
2 Parallel down 27,075 40,229 198,898 633,461
3 Steepener 1,006,962 865,250 N/A N/A
4 Flattener 392,399 421,928 N/A N/A
5 Short rate up 2,071,304 1,244,498 N/A N/A
6 Short rate down 52,236 52,683 N/A N/A
7 Maximum 5,328,957 3,739,133 198,898 633,461

Period 31 December 2021 31 December 2020
8 Tier 1 capital 56,472,869 53,351,690

Remarks: Positive values indicate losses under the alternative scenarios.
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Operational Risk Management

The Group has implemented the “Three Lines of Defence” for its operational risk management. All
departments or functional units as the first line of defence are the parties immediately responsible for
operational risk management and carry out the duties and functions of self-risk control in the process
of business operation through self-assessment and self-enhancement. The Operational Risk, Legal and
Compliance Division together with certain specialist functional units in relation to operational risk
management within the Group, including the Human Resources Department, Information Technology
Department, Administration Division, Finance Department, etc. (collectively known as “specialist
functional units”), are the second line of defence. They are responsible for assessing and monitoring
the operational risk conditions in the first line of defence, and providing them with guidance. The
Operational Risk, Legal and Compliance Division, being independent from the business units, is
responsible for assisting the senior management in managing the Group’s operational risk, including
the establishment and review of the operational risk management policy and framework, designing the
operational risk management tools and reporting mechanism, and assessing and reporting the overall
operational risk position to the senior management and Risk Management Committee. Specialist
functional units are required to carry out their managerial duties of the second line of defence with
respect to some specific aspects of operational risk and its related issues. Besides taking charge of
operational risk management in their own units, these units are also required to provide other units
with professional advice/training in respect of certain operational risk categories and to lead the
Group-wide operational risk management. The Audit Department is the third line of defence which
provides independent assessment to the effectiveness and adequacy of the operational risk
management framework and is required to conduct periodic audit of the operational risk management
activities of various departments or functional units within the Group regarding their compliance and
effectiveness and to put forward recommendations for remedial actions.

The Group has put in place an effective internal control process which requires the establishment of
policies and control procedures for all the key activities. The Group adheres to the fundamental
principle of proper segregation of duties and authorisation. The Group adopts various operational risk
management tools or methodologies such as key risk indicators, self-assessment, operational risk
events reporting and review to identify, assess, monitor and control the risks inherent in business
activities and products, as well as purchase of insurance to mitigate unforeseeable operational risks.
Business continuity plans are established to support business operations in the event of an emergency
or disaster. Adequate backup facilities are maintained and periodic drills are conducted.

Reputation Risk Management

In order to mitigate reputation risk, the Group has formulated and duly followed its Reputation Risk
Management Policy. The policy aims to identify and prevent reputation risk proactively at an early
stage when an incident occurs. Since reputation risk is often caused by various types of operational
and strategic issues that negatively impact the trust and perception of the Group, all operational and
key risks identified are assessed through the established Key Control Self-Assessment framework,
including risk assessment tools, to evaluate the severity of their impact on the Group, including the
damage to reputation.

In addition, the Group has put in place a comprehensive framework to continuously monitor
reputation risk incidents in the financial industry. This continuous monitoring enables the Group to
effectively manage, control and mitigate any potential adverse impact from an incident. The Group
also adopts robust disclosure practices to keep stakeholders informed at all times, which helps build
confidence in the Group and establish a strong public image.
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Legal and Compliance Risk Management

Legal risk is the risk that unenforceable contracts, lawsuits or adverse judgments may disrupt or
otherwise negatively affect the operations or financial conditions of the Group. Compliance risk is the
risk of legal or regulatory sanctions, financial losses or losses in reputation the Group may suffer as
a result of its failure to comply with all applicable laws and regulations. Legal and compliance risks
are managed by the Operational Risk, Legal and Compliance Division. All legal matters are handled
by the Operational Risk, Legal and Compliance Division. As part of the Group’s corporate governance
framework, the policy for the management of legal and compliance risk is approved by the Risk
Management Committee as delegated by the Board.

Strategic Risk Management

The Board reviews and approves its strategic risk management policy. Key strategic issues have to be
fully evaluated and properly endorsed by the senior management and the Board.

Technology Risk Management

Information technology risks are managed by the Technical Risk Management Division. As part of the
Group’s corporate governance framework, the policy of technology risk management is approved by
the Risk Management Committee as delegated by the Board.

Conduct risk management

Conduct risk is managed by the Human Resources Department and reported on a quarterly basis to the
Nomination and Remuneration Committee, as delegated by the Board.

ASSET QUALITY
Overview

The performance of the Hong Kong economy is heavily dependent on the property sector, and, as at
31 December 2021 and 30 June 2022, loans for purchase of properties and advances for property
investment and development in Hong Kong together accounted for a significant proportion of the
Group’s total advances to customers.

As a result, the Group’s asset quality is vulnerable to deflation in property prices. The ability of
borrowers, including homeowners, to make timely repayment of their advances may be adversely
affected by rising interest rates or a slowdown in economic growth. See “Investment Considerations
— Investment Considerations Relating to the Group — The Group may be affected by an economic
downturn in Hong Kong” and “Investment Considerations — Investment Considerations Relating to
the Group — The Group’s business operation is exposed to interest rate risk”. As at 31 December
2019, 2020 and 2021 and 30 June 2022, home mortgage advances was one of the most significant
segments of the Group’s total advances to customers. See “Investment Considerations — Investment
Considerations Relating to the Group — The Group has significant exposure to the Hong Kong
property market”.

The Group is committed to expanding its business and operations in the PRC and remains susceptible
to risks associated with lending in the PRC, which could lead to an increase in the Group’s classified
advances. As at 31 December 2019, 2020 and 2021 and 30 June 2022, the Group’s loans and advances
counterparties after taking into account the transfer of risk in the PRC was approximately 30.76 per
cent., 31.27 per cent., 32.79 per cent. and 31.02 per cent., respectively, of the Group’s total advances.
See “Investment Considerations — Investment Considerations Relating to the Group — The Group has
significant exposure to the PRC market which may be influenced by the general state of the PRC
economy and any significant political, social or legal uncertainties or changes in the PRC”.
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Top Ten Impaired Loans

As at 30 June 2022, the Group’s ten largest impaired loans accounted for approximately 1.33 per cent.
of its total advances and approximately 95 per cent. of its gross impaired loan portfolio. The majority
of the borrowers of such ten largest impaired loans were engaged in Property Development or
Recreational Activities and accounted for approximately 79 per cent. of the aggregate exposure
relating to such ten largest impaired loans as at 30 June 2022.

Impaired Loans That Have Been Restructured
As at 31 December 2019, 2020 and 2021 and 30 June 2022, the Group’s impaired loans including those

that have been restructured through the rescheduling of principal repayments and deferral or waiver
of interest were as follows:

As at As at As at As at
31 December 31 December 31 December 30 June
2019 2020 2021 2022
(audited) (audited) (audited) (unaudited)

(in HK$ thousands, except percentages)
Rescheduled advances to customers net of
amounts included in “Advances overdue for
more than three months™ . ... ........... 317,854 90,110 861,137 33,908

Percentage of gross advances to customers . . . 0.12% 0.03% 0.29% 0.01%

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

The Group’s financial assets at fair value through profit or loss included listed and unlisted securities.
As at 31 December 2019, 2020 and 2021 and 30 June 2022, the fair value of these financial assets was
HK$14,654.35 million, HK$22,913.31 million, HK$27,022.57 million and HK$25,407.05 million,
respectively. These securities included both Hong Kong dollar, Renminbi and U.S. dollar denominated
bonds, notes and equity securities.

The table below sets forth a summary of the carrying values of the Group’s financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss, categorised by the types of issuers as at the dates indicated:

Trading
As at As at As at As at
31 December 31 December 31 December 30 June
Type of issuers 2019 2020 2021 2022
(audited) (audited) (audited) (unaudited)
(in HK$ thousands)
SOVEIeIgNS. « v v vttt e e e 6,662,582 6,497,759 7,252,326 7,398,660

6,662,582 6,497,759 7,252,326 7,398,660

88



Mandatorily measured at fair value through profit or loss

Non trading

As at As at As at As at
31 December 31 December 31 December 30 June
Type of issuers 2019 2020 2021 2022
(audited) (audited) (audited) (unaudited)
(in HK$ thousands)
Banks and other financial institutions .. ... .. 7,908,715 16,415,554 17,438,255 16,275,137
Corporate entities . . .................... 83,050 — 2,331,989 1,733,255

7,991,765 16,415,554 19,770,244 18,008,392

INTERNAL AUDIT

The Issuer’s internal auditors are responsible for auditing the Group’s operations, including NCB
(China). Through regular audits departments, subsidiaries and branches of the Issuer, the internal
auditors review and evaluate the adequacy and effectiveness of internal controls, safeguard the
Group’s assets, review operations in terms of efficiency and effectiveness, ensure the accuracy and
reliability of information and review compliance with established policies, procedures and relevant
statutory requirements. The results of each internal audit are reported to the Management and the
Audit Committee, and any internal audit recommendations are closely followed up after the issuance
of the internal audit report.

COMPLIANCE

Legal and compliance risks are managed by the Operational Risk, Legal and Compliance Division. All
legal matters are handled by the Operational Risk, Legal and Compliance Division. It is responsible
for reviewing new products and business proposals, conducts periodic review of the Group’s activities
and advises senior management of the Group in accordance with applicable laws, rules and
regulations. As part of the Group’s corporate governance framework, the policy for the management
of legal and compliance risk is approved by the Risk Management Committee as delegated by the
Board. In addition, the Group’s internal controls are also reviewed by its internal auditors. Regular
training sessions are conducted and notices are issued to update the Group’s staff members on any
significant regulatory changes relevant to the operations of the Group.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Issuer is managed by its Board of Directors, which is responsible for setting objectives and
formulating long term strategies as well as managing the Issuer’s overall business. As at 15 February
2023, the Board of Directors comprised nine Directors with a variety of different experience and
professionalism. Among them, three are Executive Directors, two are Non-executive Directors and
four are Independent Non-executive Directors. Directors are appointed at any time either at a general
meeting of shareholders or by the Board of Directors.

As at 15 February 2023, the Board of Directors of the Issuer comprised the following individuals:

Name Title

Mr. ZHANG Weidong (5R#FH) ... ... ....... Chairman and Non-executive Director

Mr. YANG Yingxun (% 88) .. ........... ... Non-executive Director

Mr. LIU Jun (B184) ... ... ... ... ... ...... Executive Director and Chief Executive

Mr. SUN Jiandong (FR#EH) ... .. ......... Executive Director

Mr. CHENG Kin Kong (¥B#Ef) .. ............ Executive Director and Deputy Chief
Executive

Mr. LAU Hon Chuen (BJ¥£58) ............... Independent Non-executive Director

Mr. LAN Hong Tsung David (B5i6#=) ... ....... Independent Non-executive Director

Ms. CHIU Lai Kuen Susanna GEREIE) . ... ... .. Independent Non-executive Director

Mr. LI Shu Pui (Z=485) . ... ... . Independent Non-executive Director

Mr. ZHANG Weidong (R %.). Mr. Zhang is a Non-executive Director and the Chairman of the
Board of Directors of the Issuer. He is also the Chairman of the Strategy and Development Committee
of the Issuer, an Executive Director and the Chairman of the Board of Directors of China Cinda and
a Director of Cinda Financial. Mr. Zhang worked in China Construction Bank from July 1992 to April
1999 and previously served as the Cadre and Deputy Director of the Real Estate Credit Department.
He joined China Cinda in April 1999 and successively held various positions since September 2002
as the Deputy Director of the Asset Appraisal Department, the General Manager of the Asset Appraisal
Department, the General Manager of the Market Development Department, the Head of the
Reorganization Leading Panel Office, the Head of the Strategic Investors Introduction and Listing
Panel Office, the Head of the Listing Preparation Leading Panel Office, the General Manager of the
Investment and Financing Management Department, the Board Secretary (concurrently serving as the
General Manager of Strategic Development Department, the Director of the Financial Risk Research
Center and the Director of the Postdoctoral Management Office) and the Assistant to the President of
China Cinda. From November 2015 to October 2019, he successively held various positions in China
Trust Protection Fund Co., Ltd., including the Executive Director, Vice President and President. Mr.
Zhang served as the Deputy Secretary of the Party Committee of China Cinda from October 2019 to
March 2022 and has been serving as the Secretary of the Party Committee of China Cinda since March
2022. Mr. Zhang graduated from Tongji University in 1989 with a bachelor’s degree in Engineering
and graduated from Renmin University of China in 1992 with a master’s degree in Economics. He
holds the professional title of Senior Economist.
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Mr. YANG Yingxun (5% 8f). Mr. Yang is a Non-executive Director, a member of each of the Risk
Management Committee as well as the Nomination and Remuneration Committee of the Issuer. He is
presently the Chief Financial Officer of China Cinda and a Director of Cinda Financial. Mr. Yang
worked in China Construction Bank Trust and Investment Corporation from July 1996 to May 1999
and joined China Cinda in May 1999. He had held various positions, including the Financial Director
of Cinda Property and Casualty Insurance Co., Ltd., the Financial Director and Vice President of
Happy Life Insurance Co., Ltd. and the General Manager of Planning and Finance Department of
China Cinda. Mr. Yang obtained a bachelor’s degree in Economics from the University of
International Business and Economics in 1996 and an MBA degree from Tsinghua University in 2006.
Mr. Yang holds the professional title of Economist.

Mr. LIU Jun (21%9). Mr. Liu is an Executive Director and the Chief Executive, a member of each of
the Strategy and Development Committee and the Connected Transaction Committee of the Issuer. He
currently is also a Director of Cinda Financial and a Vice President of the Council of The Hong Kong
Institute of Bankers. Mr. Liu is well versed in the overall operations of commercial banking. He has
extensive experience in financial business and senior management. Before joining the Issuer, Mr. Liu
has worked as an Executive Director and General Manager, an Alternate Chief Executive Officer and
the Chief Risk Officer of CMB Wing Lung Bank. He has also held various senior executive roles
including the General Manager of Operation Management Department of the Head Office, the General
Manager of Accounting Department of the Head Office and Vice President of Hong Kong Branch of
China Merchants Bank. Mr. Liu graduated from Wuhan University where he obtained a bachelor’s
degree in International Finance.

Mr. SUN Jiandong (FRZ ). Mr. Sun is an Executive Director and a member of the Strategy and
Development Committee of the Issuer. He currently is also a Director of Cinda Financial, the
Chairman of NCB (China) and a Director of Chongqing Ant Consumer Finance Co., Ltd. From July
1993 to September 1999, Mr. Sun served several positions as the Section Chief of Office Secretariat
and an Assistant General Manager of Business Department of the Sichuan Branch as well as an
Assistant Head of the Minjiang sub-branch of China Construction Bank Corporation. He joined China
Cinda in September 1999 and successively served various positions as Senior Manager of Investment
Banking Department of Chengdu Office, Deputy Officer of Changchun Office, Deputy General
Manager of Jilin Branch, General Manager of Guangxi Branch and General Manager of Investment
and Financing Department of Head Office of China Cinda. Mr. Sun was also the Director of Project
Management Office for acquisition of the Issuer. He graduated from Southwestern University of
Finance and Economics where he obtained a doctorate degree in Finance. He holds the professional
title of Senior Economist.

Mr. CHENG Kin Kong (#§3 ). Mr. Cheng is as an Executive Director, a member of the Connected
Transaction Committee and Deputy Chief Executive of the Issuer. He is also a Director of Cinda
Financial as well as an Executive Director and the Chief Executive of NCB (China). Mr. Cheng joined
the Issuer in 1989 and served different positions at the Issuer as Alternate Chief Executive, Assistant
Chief Executive, Head of Corporate Relationship Management, Head of Business Support
Department, Head of Shenzhen Branch and Head of Guangzhou Branch. Mr. Cheng graduated from
the Jinan University with a bachelor’s degree in Computer Science.

Mr. LAU Hon Chuen (2/5£#). Mr. Lau is an Independent Non-executive Director, the Chairman of
the Connected Transaction Committee, a member of each of the Risk Management Committee and the
Nomination and Remuneration Committee of the Issuer. He is the senior partner of Messrs. Chu &
Lau, Solicitors & Notaries. He obtained LL.B degree from the University of London and is a solicitor
of the High Court of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region, a China-appointed attesting
officer and a notary public. In 2001, Mr. Lau was awarded “Gold Bauhinia Star” by the Hong Kong
government and has served as a standing committee member of the 10th, 11th and 12th National
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference. He is also a Non-executive
Director of several listed companies, a Director of Cinda Financial and the Supervisor of NCB
(China).
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Dr. LAN Hong Tsung David (J87&). Dr. Lan is an Independent Non-executive Director, the
Chairman of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee, a member of each of the Audit Committee
and the Connected Transaction Committee of the Issuer. He is the Chairman of David H T Lan
Consultants Limited. He is also the Senior Consultant of NCB (China), a Director of each of Cinda
Financial and International Probono Legal Services Association Limited as well as an Independent
Non-executive Director of CK Infrastructure Holdings Limited, Hutchison Telecommunications Hong
Kong Holdings Limited and ARA Asset Management (Prosperity) Limited. Dr. Lan was also an
Independent Non-executive Director of SIM Holdings Limited till 11 June 2019, thereafter
reappointed as Consultant to the Board of the Company till June 2020. On 1 July 2000, Dr. Lan was
awarded “Gold Bauhinia Star” by the Hong Kong government for his 39 year-long civil service when
he retired as the firstly appointed Secretary for Home Affairs. He was appointed to the 10th and 11th
sessions of the national committee member of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference.
He received his bachelor of Arts degree from the University of London and completed the Advanced
Management Program of the Harvard Business School, Boston. He was also a fellow at Queen
Elizabeth House, University of Oxford. Dr. Lan was conferred with honorary doctorate degree of
University of the West of England, doctorate degree of Humanities, honoris causa by Don Honorio
Ventura Technological State University, and holder of Visiting Professorship Awards of Bulacan State
University and Tarlac State University. Dr. Lan is also the president of The International Institute of
Management for 7 years till his retirement in June 2019, a Chartered Secretary and Chartered
Governance Professional. He is also a Fellow Member of The Hong Kong Chartered Governance
Institute (HKCGI) and The Chartered Governance Institute (CGI).

Ms. CHIU Lai Kuen Susanna (#E%8). Ms. Chiu is an Independent Non-executive Director, the
Chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the Risk Management Committee of the Issuer,
and a Director of Cinda Financial. She is also an Independent Non-executive Director for each of
Huijing Holdings Company Limited, Songz Automobile Air Conditioning Co., Ltd., China Vocational
Education Holdings Limited and China Oilfield Services Limited, as well as an Executive Director of
Bonjour Holdings Limited. Ms. Chiu has extensive professional experience in accounting, business
management and operations. She was appointed as the President of The Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants in 2013 and was awarded the Medal of Honor in the same year by the
HKSAR Government for her achievement and dedicated public services especially her contribution to
the accounting profession. In 2017, the 20th Anniversary of the establishment of the Hong Kong SAR,
Ms. Chiu was awarded ‘Justice of Peace’ by the HKSAR Government for her contribution to the Hong
Kong community. Ms. Chiu was awarded the “Outstanding Women Professional” in 2014,
“Outstanding Business Women Leader” in 2017 and “GBA Outstanding Women Entrepreneur Award”
in 2021. Ms. Chiu currently is a member of public bodies, including the Women’s Commission and
the Advisory Committee on Arts Development, and formerly the Council Treasurer of the Education
University of Hong Kong and a member of the Equal Opportunities Commission etc. She is currently
appointed as a member in the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference of the Shanghai,
formerly a member for each of 10th Shaanxi Province Committee and Shanghai Minheng District
Committee. Ms. Chiu was conferred with Bachelor of Arts (Hons) in Economics (Class I, Tassie
Medallion Prize) of The University of Sheffield of United Kingdom and Executive MBA of The
Chinese University of Hong Kong. She is also a Fellow member of The Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, a Certified Information Systems Auditor and a member of The Hong
Kong Institute of Directors.

Mr. LI Shu Pui (Z#3%). Mr. Li is an Independent Non-executive Director, the Chairman of the Risk
Management Committee and a member of the Audit Committee of the Issuer. He is also a Director of
Cinda Financial and an Independent Non-executive Director of Nova Credit Limited. Mr. Li currently
is Governor’s Advisor of Central Bank of the United Arab Emirates. He had served the Hong Kong
Monetary Authority for over 17 years and successively held various positions including Head
(Technology and Operational Risk), Head (Financial Infrastructure) and Executive Director (Financial
Infrastructure). Mr. Li was conferred with Bachelor (Hons) Degree of Computing Science and Master
Degree in Research of Computer Graphics of Victoria University of Manchester of United Kingdom.
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In order to focus its attention on strategic and material issues that have significant impact on the
Group’s finances and long-term development, the Board of Directors currently has set up the
following five committees to oversee the major areas of the Group. Details of the committees are
given below:

Strategy and Development Committee

The Strategy and Development Committee is responsible for the consideration and suggestion of the
medium and long term development strategies of the Group. Its main duties include:

° preparation of the Group’s medium and long term strategies for the Board’s approval;
° examination, proposing, monitoring, review and update of the Group’s medium and long
strategies and making recommendations to the Board regarding necessary adjustments of the

strategies;

° examination of the formulation of the Group’s medium and long term strategies and ensuring all
the potential plans in a certain selective scope have been adequately considered;

° monitoring the implementation of medium and long term strategies in accordance with
established standards and providing directive guidance to the management on the aforesaid

implementation;

° examination of material merge and acquisition plans proposed by the management and advising
the management on the plans; and

° advising the Board on the Group’s major investment, capital expenditure and strategic
commitment and monitoring the implementation of the aforesaid.

As at 15 February 2023, members of the Strategy and Development Committee included Mr. Zhang
Weidong (Chairman), Mr. Sun Jiandong and Mr. Liu Jun. Among them, Mr. Sun and Mr. Liu were
executive directors of the Issuer.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee assists the Board in fulfilling its oversight role over the Group in the following
areas:

° integrity of financial statements and the financial reporting process;

° internal control system;
° performance of internal audit functions and internal auditors;
° appointment of external auditor and evaluation of external auditor’s qualifications,

independence and performance;
° periodic review and annual audit of the Group’s financial statements;

° compliance with applicable accounting standards and legal and regulatory requirements on
financial disclosures; and

° enhancement of the corporate governance framework.
As at 15 February 2023, members of the Audit Committee were Ms. Chiu Lai Kuen Susanna

(Chairman), Mr. Lan Hong Tsung David and Mr. Li Shu Pui. All were Independent Non-executive
Directors of the Issuer.
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Risk Management Committee

The Risk Management Committee assists the Board in performing the duties in respect of the risk
management of the Group in the following areas:

° formulation/review of the risk management framework and risk management strategy of the
Group;

° oversight of all risk profiles of the Group, and identification, assessment and management of
material risks faced and foreseen by the Group;

° oversight of the subsidiaries’ risk management, internal control and all risk profiles which have
impact on the Group;

° oversight, review and assessment of the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management policies, procedures, system framework, risk management systems, infrastructure,
resources and internal control;

° review and approval of high-level risk-related policies of the Group and monitoring the
implementation of the aforesaid;

° assessing whether the remuneration system should align with the risk culture and risk appetite
from the risk management’s point of view; and

° monitoring the Group’s sustainability-related risk management, and employing effective
strategy, control and mitigation measures to climate change.

As at 15 February 2023, members of the Risk Management Committee were Mr. Li Shu Pui
(Chairman), Mr. Yang Yingxun, Mr. Lau Hon Chuen and Ms. Chiu Lai Kuen Susanna. All were
Directors of the Issuer. Among them, Mr. Yang Yingxun was Non-executive Director, Mr. Li Shu Pui,
Mr. Lau Hon Chuen, and Ms. Chiu Lai Kuen Susanna were Independent Non-executive Directors.

Connected Transactions Committee

The Connected Transaction Committee assists the Board in performing the duties in respect of
connected transactions of the Group in the following areas:

° reviews and approves the Group’s connected transaction policy;

° regularly receives connected transactions information and fully understands the management of
connected transactions of the Group and gives guidance; and

° in accordance with the provisions of laws and administrative regulations and fair and equitable
business principles, approves the Group’s major connected transactions on a timely basis.

As at 15 February 2023, members of the Connected Transaction Committee were Mr. Lau Hon Chuen
(Chairman), Mr. Lan Hong Tsung David, Mr. Liu Jun and Mr. Cheng Kin Kong. All were Directors
of the Issuer. Among them, Mr. Lau Hon Chuen and Mr. Lan Hong Tsung David were Independent
Non-executive Directors.
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Nomination and Remuneration Committee

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee assists the Board in performing the duties in respect
of the Group in, among others, the following areas:

° human resources, remuneration strategy and incentive framework of the Group;

° monitors the culture-related matters of the Group;

° selection and nomination of Directors, Board Committee members and certain senior executives
as designated by the Board from time to time (defined as “Senior Management”);

° structure, size and composition of the board of directors and committees shall be governed by
the principle of diversity of board members (including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, ethnicity, geographical location, professional experience, skills and
knowledge, etc.) of the Board and Board Committees;

° remuneration of Directors, Board Committee members, Senior Management and Key Personnel;

° effectiveness of the Board and Board Committees; and

° training and continuous professional development of Directors and Senior Management.

As at 15 February 2023, the members of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee were Mr. Lan

Hong Tsung David (Chairman), Mr. Lau Hon Chuen and Mr. Yang Yingxun. All were Non-executive

Directors of the Bank. Among them, Mr. Lan Hong Tsung David and Mr. Lau Hon Chuen were

Independent Non-executive Directors.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Name Title

Mr. LIU Jun (B184) ... ... ... ... ... ...... Executive Director and Chief Executive

Mr. CHENG Kin Kong (BB fd) .. ... ......... Executive Director and Deputy Chief
Executive

Mr. ZHANG Guangying (BRE#) . ... .. ....... Deputy Chief Executive

Mr. LIU Xiaoguang (BIBEJE) .. ... ... ..... Deputy Chief Executive and Chief Financial
Officer

Mr. TIAN Changyue (HI &) ... ... ... ... .. Deputy Chief Executive and Chief Information
Officer

Mr. SHANG Chenguang (M /RY) ... ... ... Deputy Chief Executive and Chief Risk
Officer

Mr. CHAN Wai Stephen (BEf%) .............. Deputy Chief Executive
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Mr. LIU Jun (2/#9). — see “Board of Directors and Senior Management — Board of Directors — Mr.
LIU Jun”. *Mr. Liu was appointed as Chief Executive of the Issuer with effect from 8 January 2021.

Mr. CHENG Kin Kong (E8& &), — see “Board of Directors and Senior Management — Board of
Directors — Mr. CHENG Kin Kong”. *Mr. Cheng was appointed as Deputy Chief Executive of the
Issuer with effect from 1 March 2011.

Mr. ZHANG Guangying (;RE#), — *Mr. Zhang was appointed as Deputy Chief Executive of the
Issuer with effect from 9 March 2018.

Mr. LIU Xiaoguang (2IBE3#), — *Mr. Liu was appointed as Deputy Chief Executive of the Issuer
with effect from 30 January 2023 and Chief Financial Officer of the Issuer with effect from 20
November 2019.

Mr. TIAN Changyue (FH &#), — *Mr. Tian was appointed as Deputy Chief Executive of the Issuer
with effect from 30 January 2023 and Chief Information Officer of the Issuer with effect from 1
August 2019.

Mr. SHANG Chenguang (i /&*#), — *Mr. Shang was appointed as Deputy Chief Executive and
Chief Risk Officer of the Issuer with effect from 1 October 2022 (assigned as Senior Executive with
effect from 4 March 2021).

Mr. CHAN Wai Stephen (PR {&), — *Mr. Chan was appointed as Deputy Chief Executive of the Issuer
with effect from 23 December 2022.
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PRINCIPAL SHAREHOLDERS

CHINA CINDA ASSET MANAGEMENT CO., LTD.

China Cinda is the ultimate controlling shareholder of the Issuer. As at the date of this Offering
Circular, Cinda Financial, the immediate holding company of the Issuer, was 100 per cent. owned by
China Cinda.

With the approval of the PRC’s State Council, China Cinda Asset Management Corporation, the
predecessor of China Cinda, was established in Beijing on 19 April 1999 with a registered capital of
RMB10.0 billion contributed solely by the MOF. Cinda Corporation was established as a wholly
state-owned non-bank financial institution with the aim of effectively mitigating financial risk,
maintaining stability of the financial system and accelerating the reform and development of
state-owned banks and enterprises. It was the first asset management company to acquire, manage and
dispose non-performing loans of state-owned banks. With the approval of the PRC’s State Council,
Cinda Corporation was renamed “China Cinda Asset Management Co., Ltd.” on 29 June 2010. China
Cinda was established as a joint stock company with the MOF as its sole promoter, and assumed all
of the assets, subsidiaries, branches, businesses, personnel and relevant policies of Cinda Corporation.
As at 30 June 2022, 58.00 per cent. of China Cinda’s issued share capital was held by the MOF, 14.04
per cent. was held by the National Council for Social Security Fund and 27.96 per cent. was held by
other H share public shareholders.

Since its founding, China Cinda has received the support of the PRC government. Since then, China
Cinda has grown into a leading asset management company that focuses on distressed asset
management and financial services. China Cinda covers a wide range of financial services and owns
financial licences through itself and its subsidiaries in various business segments including banking,
financial leasing, trust, securities, futures and funds management. China Cinda currently has interests
in the Issuer, its only commercial bank subsidiary, as an indirect sole shareholder. As at 30 June 2022,
China Cinda’s total assets stood at RMB1,541,265.1 million with a net profit of RMB4,980.4 million
for the six months ended 30 June 2022. The Chairman of China Cinda is Mr. Zhang Weidong.

China Cinda as the ultimate controlling shareholder of the Issuer. Subject to compliance with the
regulations of the Monetary Authority, China Cinda, through Cinda Financial, is able to appoint the
Issuer’s Directors and vote to pursue corporate actions requiring shareholders’ approval. The
Chairman of the Issuer is currently an Executive Director and the Chairman of the Board of Directors
of China Cinda.

China Cinda owns or controls a number of companies which may compete directly or indirectly with
the businesses of the Issuer, and have more experience, superior resources and a larger scale of
operations in the PRC.
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The following chart sets out the shareholding chain of China Cinda in the Issuer as at 30 June 2022:

MOF National Council for China COSCO Shipping Other public
Social Security Fund Corporation Limited shareholders
58% 14.04% 5% 22.96%
China Cinda Asset Management Co., Ltd.
(Incorporated in the People’s Republic of China)
(Shares of which are listed on SEHK; Stock code: 1359)
| 100%
China Cinda (HK) Holdings Company Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong)
[ 100%
Cinda Financial Holdings Co., Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong)
[ 100%
Nanyang Commercial Bank, Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong) (the “Issuer”)
100% | 100% 100% 100% 100%
Nanyang Commercial Bank Kwong Li Nam Investment Nanyang Commercial Bank Nanyang Commercial Bank NCB Wealth Management
(China) Limited Agency Limited (Nominees) Limited Trustee Limited Advisor Limited
(Incorporated in the People’s Republic of China) (Incorporated in Hong Kong) (Incorporated in Hong Kong) (Incorporated in Hong Kong) (Incorporated in Hong Kong)

CHINA CINDA (HK) HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED

The Issuer is a directly wholly-owned subsidiary of Cinda Financial, which is wholly-owned by China
Cinda (HK) Holdings Company Limited (“Cinda HK”), a directly wholly-owned subsidiary of China
Cinda outside the PRC. Cinda HK conducts distressed asset management, equity and fixed income
investment, asset management and real estate finance. Cinda HK conducts investment banking and
asset management businesses through (i) two Hong Kong-listed companies, namely its associate
company Silver Grant International Industries Ltd. (stock code: 00171) and China Fortune Financial
Group Ltd. (stock code: 00290) in which it holds minority equity interests, and (ii) China Cinda’s
associated company Sino Rock Investment Management Company Limited. Cinda HK serves as a
bridge between China Cinda’s domestic and overseas businesses and functions as a primary platform
for overseas investment and financing and asset management for the China Cinda group. The key
businesses of Cinda HK are investment management business, investment banking business and asset
management business. In addition, Cinda HK generates synergies within the China Cinda group by
collaborating with China Cinda and other subsidiaries in cross-border investment, financing and
merger and acquisition activities.

Principal Activities of the China Cinda group

China Cinda currently engages in a wide range of banking and non-bank financial businesses through
the following entities:

The Group retail banking (including home mortgage loans, consumer
finance, credit cards, deposits, personal wealth management,
distribution of insurance and investment products, hire
purchase and leasing and small business loans), wholesale
banking (including commercial mortgages, trade finance,
corporate loans, syndicated loans, term loans and overdrafts,
and structured finance) and treasury activities

China Cinda and its distressed asset management and financial services including
subsidiaries (excluding the banking, securities, futures and fund management, insurance,
Group) financial leasing and trust

98



REGULATION AND SUPERVISION

The banking sector in Hong Kong is regulated by and subject to the provisions of the Banking
Ordinance and to the powers and functions ascribed by the Banking Ordinance to the Monetary
Authority. The Banking Ordinance provides that only authorised institutions (that is, banks which
have been granted a banking licence (“licence”) by the Monetary Authority may carry on banking
business (as defined in the Banking Ordinance) in Hong Kong and contains controls and restrictions
on such banks (“authorised institutions”).

Supervision of Authorised Institutions in Hong Kong

The provisions of the Banking Ordinance are implemented by the Monetary Authority, the principal
function of which is to promote the general stability and effectiveness of the banking system,
especially in the area of supervising compliance with the provisions of the Banking Ordinance. The
Monetary Authority supervises authorised institutions through, inter alia, a regular information
gathering process, the main features of which are as follows:

(1) each authorised institution must submit a monthly return to the Monetary Authority setting out
the assets and liabilities of its operations in Hong Kong and a further comprehensive quarterly
return relating to its principal place of business in Hong Kong and all local branches, although
the Monetary Authority has the right to allow returns to be made at less frequent intervals;

(2) the Monetary Authority may order an authorised institution, any of its subsidiaries, its holding
company or any subsidiaries of its holding company to provide such further information (either
specifically or periodically) as it may reasonably require for the exercise of its functions under
the Banking Ordinance or as it may consider necessary to be submitted in the interests of the
depositors or potential depositors of the authorised institution concerned. Such information shall
be submitted within such period and in such manner as the Monetary Authority may require. The
Monetary Authority may in certain circumstances also require such information or any return
submitted to it to be accompanied by a certificate of the authorised institution’s auditors
(approved by the Monetary Authority for the purpose of preparing the report) confirming
compliance with Banking Ordinance and certain matters;

(3) authorised institutions may be required to provide information to the Monetary Authority
regarding companies in which they have an aggregate 20 per cent. or more direct or indirect
shareholding or with which they have common directors or managers (as defined in the Banking
Ordinance), the same controller, a common name or a concert party arrangement to promote the
authorised institution’s business;

(4) 1in addition, authorised institutions are obliged to report to the Monetary Authority immediately
of their likelihood of becoming unable to meet their obligations or of the commencement of
material civil proceedings applicable only to authorised institutions incorporated in Hong Kong;

(5) the Monetary Authority may direct an authorised institution to appoint an auditor to report to the
Monetary Authority on the state of affairs and/or profit and loss of the authorised institution or
the adequacy of the systems of control of the authorised institution or other matters as the
Monetary Authority may reasonably require; and
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(©)

the Monetary Authority may, at any time, with or without prior notice, examine the books,
accounts and transactions of any authorised institution, and in the case of an authorised
institution incorporated in Hong Kong, any local branch, overseas branch, overseas
representative office or subsidiary, whether local or overseas, of such institution; such
inspections are carried out by the Monetary Authority on a regular basis; and authorised
institutions are required to give written notice to the Monetary Authority immediately of any
proposal to remove an auditor before the expiration of his term of office or replace an auditor
at the expiration of his term of office.

Exercise of Powers over Authorised Institution

The Monetary Authority may, after consultation with the Financial Secretary, exercise certain powers
over the conduct of authorised institutions in any of the following circumstances:

(D

2)

(3)

(4)

when an authorised institution informs the Monetary Authority that it is likely to become unable
to meet its obligations, that it is insolvent, or that it is about to suspend payment;

when an authorised institution becomes unable to meet its obligations or suspends payment;

if after an examination or investigation, the Monetary Authority is of the opinion that an
authorised institution:

(i) 1is carrying on its business in a manner detrimental to the interests of its depositors or
potential depositors or of its creditors or of holders or potential holders of multi-purpose
cards issued by it or the issue of which is facilitated by it;

(ii) 1is insolvent or is likely to become unable to meet its obligations or is about to suspend
payment;

(iii) has contravened or failed to comply with any of the provisions of the Hong Kong Banking
Ordinance; or

(iv) has contravened or failed to comply with any condition attached to its licence or certain
conditions in the Banking Ordinance; and

where the Financial Secretary advises the Monetary Authority that he considers it in the public
interest to do so.

In any of the circumstances described above, the Monetary Authority, after consultation with the
Financial Secretary, may exercise any of the following powers:

(D

2

(3)

(4)

to require the authorised institution, by notice in writing served on it, forthwith to take any
action or to do any act or thing whatsoever in relation to its business and property as the
Monetary Authority may consider necessary;

to direct the authorised institution to seek advice on the management of its affairs, business and
property from an adviser approved by the Monetary Authority;

to assume control of and carry on the business of the authorised institution, or direct some other
person to assume control of and carry on the business of the authorised institution; or

to report to the Chief Executive in Council in certain circumstances (in which case the Chief
Executive in Council may exercise a number of powers including directing the Financial
Secretary to present a petition to the Court of First Instance for the winding-up of the authorised
institution).
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Revocation and Suspension of Banking Licence

The Monetary Authority also has powers to recommend the revocation or suspension of a licence.
Both powers are exercisable after consultation with the Financial Secretary and with a right of appeal
of the authorised institution concerned except in the event of temporary suspension in urgent cases.
The grounds for suspension or revocation include the following:

(1) the authorised institution no longer fulfils the criteria for authorisation and the requirements for
registration;

(2) the authorised institution is likely to be unable to meet its obligations or to suspend payment or
proposes to make, or has made, any arrangement with its creditors or is insolvent;

(3) the authorised institution has failed to provide material information required under the Hong
Kong Banking Ordinance or has provided false information;

(4) the authorised institution has breached a condition attached to its licence;

(5) a person has become or continues to be a controller or chief executive or director of the
authorised institution after the Monetary Authority has made an objection;

(6) the interests of the depositors require that the licence be revoked; or

(7) the authorised institution is engaging in practices likely to prejudice Hong Kong as an
international financial centre or in practices (specified in the Monetary Authority guidelines)
which should not be engaged in.

Revocation or suspension of a licence means that the authorised institution can no longer conduct
banking business (for the specified period in the case of a suspension).

Principal Obligations of Authorised Institutions

The obligations of an authorised institution under the Hong Kong Banking Ordinance, which are
enforced by the Monetary Authority through the system described above, include, but are not limited
to, the following:

Capital Adequacy

An authorised institution incorporated in Hong Kong must at all times maintain a total capital
adequacy ratio of at least 8.0 per cent., calculated as the ratio (expressed as a percentage) of its capital
base to its risk-weighted assets as more fully described below. In relation to an authorised institution
with subsidiaries, the Monetary Authority may require the ratio to be calculated on a consolidated
basis, or on both a consolidated and an unconsolidated basis, or on a consolidated basis only in respect
of such subsidiaries of the authorised institution as may be specified by the Monetary Authority. The
Monetary Authority may, after consultation with the authorised institution concerned, increase the
ratio for any particular authorised institution. An authorised institution is under a duty to inform the
Monetary Authority immediately of a failure to maintain the required capital adequacy ratio and to
provide the Monetary Authority with such particulars as it may require. It is an indictable offence not
to do so, and the Monetary Authority is entitled to prescribe remedial action.
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The capital base of an authorised institution is, broadly speaking but not limited to, all its paid-up
capital and reserves, its profit and loss account including its current year’s profit or loss, together with
perpetual and term subordinated debt meeting prescribed conditions, general provisions against
doubtful debts subject to certain limitations and a portion of its latent reserves arising from the
revaluation of long-term holdings of specified equity securities or its reserves on the revaluation of
real property.

The risk-weighted exposure is determined by:

(1) multiplying risk-weight factors to the book value of various categories of assets (including but
not limited to notes and coins, Hong Kong government certificates of indebtedness and cash
items in the course of collection);

(2) multiplying the credit conversion factors to various off-balance sheet items (including but not
limited to direct credit substitutes, transaction-related contingencies, repurchase contracts, note
issuance facilities and exchange rate contracts) to determine their credit equivalent amount;

(3) aggregating the amounts determined pursuant to (1) and (2); and

(4) subtracting from the amount determined pursuant to (3) the value of general provisions not
included in the capital base of the authorised institution.

The capital adequacy standards described above are commonly known as Basel II, and there are four
approaches under Basel II to calculate credit risks, namely the basic approach, the standardised
approach, foundation internal rating based approach and the advanced internal ratings based approach.
Authorised institutions in Hong Kong under Basel II can choose either one out of the four approaches,
with the foundation internal rating based approach and advanced internal rating based approach
requiring approval from the Monetary Authority.

In December 2010 and January 2011, the Basel Committee issued further capital requirements
designed to raise the quality, consistency and transparency of banks’ capital base and new global
liquidity standards. These requirements are collectively known as Basel III. Among other things,
Basel IIT will increase the minimum capital adequacy ratio requirements in relation to risk-weighted
amounts, with the common equity requirement rising from 2 per cent. to 4.5 per cent. and the Tier 1
capital requirements rising from 4 per cent. to 6 per cent. The total minimum capital requirement
remains unchanged at 8 per cent. (excluding buffers). The Basel Committee expects its member
jurisdictions to begin the implementation of Basel III from 1 January 2013, with full implementation
by 1 January 2019. The Monetary Authority has taken steps to implement Basel III in Hong Kong in
accordance with the timetable of the Basel Committee and to effect the first phase of Basel III
implementation starting January 2013.

The Banking Ordinance was amended in 2012 to facilitate the implementation of the Basel III capital
and disclosure requirements in Hong Kong. More specifically, the amendments made to the Banking

Ordinance empowered the Monetary Authority to:

(a) prescribe capital requirements for authorised institutions incorporated in Hong Kong for
authorised institutions incorporated in Hong Kong or elsewhere; and

(b) issue and approve codes of practice for the purpose of providing guidance in respect of the
requirements.
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The Banking (Capital) (Amendment) Rules 2012 came into effect on 1 January 2013, with the
requirements being phased in over six years to achieve full implementation by 1 January 2019. These
include:

° the imposition of three minimum risk-weighted capital ratios, namely CET1 capital ratio, Tier
1 capital ratio and total capital adequacy ratio, with gradual phasing in of the minimum capital
requirements over three years commencing 1 January 2013;

° the introduction of two capital buffers, namely the capital conservation buffers and
countercyclical capital buffer, to be phased in sequentially from 1 January 2016 to 1 January
2019;

° the introduction of capital requirement for counterparty risk effect from 1 January 2013; and

° capital instruments issued on or after 1 January 2013 must meet all of the Basel III criteria to
qualify as regulatory capital. Capital instruments prior to this date that no longer qualify for
inclusion in capital base will be phased out during the 10-year period commencing 1 January
2013.

With effect from 30 June 2013, the Banking (Disclosure) Rules have been amended to implement
Basel III capital and disclosure standards. The Monetary Authority is currently conducting further
consultation on implementing the Basel III liquidity standards.

The Hong Kong “Resolution Regime”

On 7 July 2017, the Financial Institutions (Resolution) Ordinance (Cap. 628) of Hong Kong (the
“FIRO”) came into operation.

The FIRO provides for, among other things, the establishment of a resolution regime for authorised
institutions and other within scope financial institutions in Hong Kong which may be designated by
the relevant resolution authorities. The resolution regime seeks to provide the relevant resolution
authorities with administrative powers to bring about timely and orderly resolution in order to
stabilise and secure continuity for a failing authorised institution or within scope financial institution
in Hong Kong. In particular, the relevant resolution authority is provided with powers to affect
contractual and property rights as well as payments (including in respect of any priority of payment)
that creditors would receive in resolution. These may include, but are not limited to, powers to cancel,
write off, modify, convert or replace all or a part of the Capital Securities issued by the Issuer, and
powers to amend or alter the contractual provisions of such Capital Securities, all of which may
adversely affect the value of such instruments, and the Holders may suffer a loss of some or all of their
investment as a result. Holders may become subject to and bound by the FIRO. The implementation
of FIRO remains untested and certain detail relating to FIRO will be set out through secondary
legislation and supporting rules. Therefore, the Issuer is unable to assess the full impact of FIRO on
the financial system generally, the Issuer’s counterparties, the Issuer, any of its consolidated
subsidiaries, its operations and/or its financial position.

Liquidity

Liquidity of an authorised institution is its ability to meet payment obligations as they fall due. Banks
must maintain sufficient liquidity to handle daily operational activities such as cash withdrawal from
depositors, interbank clearing, repayment of debts, etc. The liquidity requirements applicable to
authorised institutions are provided mainly in the Banking (Liquidity) Rules (“BLR”) issued by the
Monetary Authority under section 97H(1) of the Banking Ordinance.
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Under the BLR, authorised institutions designated by the Monetary Authority as “category |1
institutions” are required to comply with the requirements relating to the LCR and the NSFR. Usually
category 1 institutions are either having significant international exposures or being significant to the
general stability of the local banking sector having regard to their size or complexity of business
operations. Category 1 institutions are required to maintain a LCR not less than 100 per cent. and
NSFR not less than 100 per cent.

Other authorised institutions are regarded as “category 2 institutions”, which must comply with the
requirements relating to the local liquidity maintenance ratio (“LMR”). Category 2A institutions in
category 2 institutions must also comply with the requirements relating to the local core funding ratio
(“CFR”). The designation of category 2A institutions are based on the business size and the liquidity
risk associated with the institution. Category 2 institutions are required to maintain a LMR not less
than 25 per cent., whereas Category 2A institutions are required to maintain a LMR not less than 25
per cent. and CFR of not less than 75 per cent.

Financial Exposure to Any One Customer

The financial exposure of an authorised institution incorporated in Hong Kong to any one person or
group of related persons must not (subject to certain exceptions) exceed 25.0 per cent. of its Tier 1
capital. Subject to certain exclusions, the authorised institution’s financial exposure to any one person
or group of connected persons is taken to be the aggregate of:

(1) all advances, loans and credit facilities granted to that person or group;

(2) the value of the authorised institution’s holdings of shares, debentures and other debt securities
issued by that person or group; and

(3) the principal amount, multiplied by a factor to be specified by the Monetary Authority, for
off-balance sheet items resulting from transactions between the authorised institution and that
person or group.

For these purposes, persons shall be treated as related if one company is the subsidiary of another,
they have a common holding company, they have a common controller (not being a company) or if
one (not being a company) is a controller of another (being a company).

The calculation of financial exposure does not include financial exposure to the Hong Kong
government, any other government (except those not being accepted by the Monetary Authority),
authorised institutions, banks incorporated outside Hong Kong (in the opinion of the Monetary
Authority that being adequately supervised) or multilateral development bank; or any financial
exposure accepted by the Monetary Authority, either generally or in any particular case to the extent
it is secured by a cash deposit, a guarantee, an undertaking, securities or letter of comfort.

The Issuer’s aggregate non-exempted credit exposures that are equal to or greater than 10.0 per cent.
of its Tier 1 capital must be within the Monetary Authority’s clustering limit approved by its Board
of Directors and agreed with the Monetary Authority. Further, the Company must be in compliance
with the Monetary Authority’s Supervisory Policy Manual with respect to large exposures and risk
concentrations.

If a person, company or combination thereof to the definition of related persons to whom an
authorised institution is financially exposed is a trustee of more than one trust, the Monetary
Authority may, by notice in writing, specify the authorised institution’s financial exposure to that
person, company or combination thereof, may exceed an amount equivalent to 25 per cent. of the Tier
1 capital of the licensed bank by an amount not more than the amount specified in that notice.
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Other Restrictions on Lending

The Banking Ordinance also provides that the amount of the facilities which a Hong Kong
incorporated authorised institution may make available on an unsecured basis to its controllers, its
directors, their relatives or certain of its employees and persons associated with any of them shall be
subject to the restrictions set out therein.

The BELR also provides that:

(1) authorised institutions may not provide a financial facility against the security of their own
shares, capital in nature instrument or non-capital LAC debt instruments (or, except with the
approval of the Monetary Authority, that of their respective holding companies, subsidiaries or
fellow subsidiaries of such holding companies); and

(2) authorised institutions may not, except with the written consent of the Monetary Authority,
provide to any one of their employees any unsecured facility of an amount in excess of that
employee’s salary for one year.

Restrictions on Investments in Land

Under the BELR, an authorised institution must at all times maintain a land exposure ratio (as defined
in the BELR) not exceeding 50 per cent. and an adjusted land exposure ratio (as defined in the BELR)
not exceeding 25 per cent.. The Monetary Authority may, by written notice served on an authorised
institution, vary any or both of the limits under the BELR for the authorised institution if the
Monetary Authority, after taking into account the considerations, including the risks associated with
the level or concentration of the authorised institution’s holding of interests in land, any risk
mitigation measures taken by the authorised institution to manage those risks and any other factors
that the Monetary Authority considers relevant, is satisfied on reasonable grounds that it is prudent
to make the variation.

Equity Exposures in Other Companies

An authorised institution incorporated in Hong Kong may not acquire or hold the aggregate equity
exposures which exceed 25.0 per cent. of the authorised institution’s Tier 1 capital base except for
shares held by way of security for facilities and by virtue of acquisitions in satisfaction of debts due
to it (which must, however, be disposed of at the earliest suitable opportunity and not later than 18
months after their acquisition unless the Monetary Authority agrees to a longer period). Shares held
by virtue of underwriting and sub-underwriting commitments are, nevertheless, permitted provided
the relevant shares are disposed of within seven working days or such longer period as the Monetary
Authority may agree.

There are other exemptions for any holding of equity exposures approved by the Monetary Authority
in other banks and companies carrying on nominee, executor, trustee or other functions related to
banking business, the business of deposit taking, insurance, investments or other financial services.

Charges

An authorised institution incorporated in Hong Kong is not permitted to create any charges over its
assets if either the aggregate value of all charges existing over its total assets is 5.0 per cent. or more
of the value of those total assets or creating that charge would cause the aggregate value of all charges
over its total assets to be more than 5.0 per cent. of the value of those total assets.
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Restrictions on Overseas Activities

An authorised institution which is incorporated in Hong Kong is subject to a condition that it shall
not establish or maintain any overseas branch or overseas representative office without the approval
of the Monetary Authority. The Monetary Authority is empowered by the Banking Ordinance to
require financial and other information regarding any such overseas branch to be supplied to it.

Further, an authorised institution incorporated in Hong Kong or its Hong Kong incorporated holding
company may not without the consent of the Monetary Authority own a company incorporated outside
of Hong Kong which may (whether or not in or outside of Hong Kong) lawfully take deposits from
the public. The Monetary Authority may at any time attach in respect of any such approved overseas
companies any conditions as the Monetary Authority may think proper.

Shareholders, Chief Executives and Directors
Limitations on Shareholders

The Monetary Authority has the power to object, on certain specified grounds, to persons becoming
or being “controllers” of authorised institutions incorporated in Hong Kong. “Controller” in this
context means:

(1) aperson who, either alone or with any associate(s), is entitled to exercise, or control the exercise
of, 10.0 per cent. or more, but not more than 50.0 per cent., of the voting power at any general
meeting of the authorised institution or of another company of which it is a subsidiary; or

(2) aperson who, either alone or with any associate(s), is entitled to exercise, or control the exercise
of, more than 50.0 per cent. of the voting power at any general meeting of the authorised
institution or of another company of which it is a subsidiary; or

(3) a person in accordance with whose directions or instructions the directors of the authorised
institution or of another company of which it is a subsidiary are accustomed to act (but does not
include any professional advisors or managers appointed by the Monetary Authority to manage
the authorised institution).

A person may not become a controller of an authorised institution incorporated in Hong Kong unless
he has served a written notice on the Monetary Authority of his proposal to that effect and the
Monetary Authority consents to his becoming such a controller or does not object within three months.

Within the three-month period, the Monetary Authority may object to the applicant’s proposal, unless
it is satisfied that the applicant is a fit and proper person to become a controller; that depositors’ or
potential depositors’ interests will not be threatened by that person being such a controller; and having
regard to the applicant’s likely influence on that institution as a controller, the authorised institution
is likely to continue to conduct its business prudently or that the applicant is likely to undertake
adequate remedial action to ensure that the authorised institution will conduct its business prudently.
The Monetary Authority may also object to the continuation of a person as a controller on similar
grounds as in respect of new controllers.

Where a person becomes a controller (by virtue of being able to exercise or control the exercise of
certain voting power in an authorised institution) after a notice of objection has been served on him
or otherwise in the contravention of the procedure prescribed by the Banking Ordinance, the Monetary
Authority may notify the controller that until further notice any specified shares are subject to one or
more of the following restrictions:

(1) any transfer of the shares or, in the case of unissued shares, any transfer of the right to be issued
with them, and any issue of such shares, shall be void;
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(2) voting rights in respect of those shares shall not be exercisable;

(3) no further shares in right or pursuant to any offer made to the shareholder shall be issued; or

(4) except in a liquidation, no payments of any sums due from the authorised institution on the
shares shall be paid.

In addition, the Monetary Authority may apply to court for an order that the shares be sold. Once the
shares are sold, the proceeds (less the costs of sale) shall be paid into court and held for the benefit
of the persons beneficially interested in them.

In the case of an indirect controller who does not have the approval of the Monetary Authority, the
person concerned is prohibited from giving directions or instructions to the directors of the authorised
institution or of another company of which it is a subsidiary.

Limitations on Persons Becoming Chief Executives or Directors

All authorised institutions must have a chief executive ordinarily resident in Hong Kong. A person
requires the written consent of the Monetary Authority before becoming a chief executive and
alternate chief executive.

The consent of the Monetary Authority is also required for a person to become a director of a Hong
Kong incorporated authorised institution.

Supervision of Securities Business

The SFO, which came into operation in April 2003, introduced a substantial change to the conduct of
securities business by banks. Banks are no longer exempted from the relevant regulations when they
engage in securities business. Instead they are required to apply for registration with the SFC, which
means they will have to meet the Fit and Proper Criteria set by the SFC. Likewise, staff engaged by
banks in securities business will have to meet the Fit and Proper Criteria applicable to staff of
brokerage firms. It is a statutory condition of registration for banks that each member of staff engaged
by them in securities business is a fit and proper person. Banks will also have to comply with the
various regulatory requirements set by the SFC in relation to their securities business, including the
subsidiary legislation and the business conduct codes. Under the SFO, banks and their securities staff
will be subject to the same range of disciplinary actions that are applicable to brokers and their staff
in case they are guilty of misconduct or otherwise not fit and proper.

With the introduction of a new licensing regime under the SFO, corresponding changes have been
made to the Hong Kong Banking Ordinance by way of the introduction of the Banking (Amendment)
Ordinance 2002. Such ordinance came into operation simultaneously with the SFO and has enabled
the Monetary Authority to enhance their regulatory functions in relation to the securities businesses
of banks and other authorised institutions that are registered under the SFO.
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TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE CAPITAL SECURITIES

The following is the text of the Terms and Conditions of the Capital Securities which (subject to
modification and excluding paragraphs in italics) will be endorsed on each definitive certificate
evidencing the Capital Securities (if issued).

The U.S.$300,000,000 7.35 per cent. non-cumulative subordinated additional tier 1 capital securities
(each, a “Capital Security” and, together, the “Capital Securities”) of Nanyang Commercial Bank,
Limited (the “Issuer”) are constituted by, and have the benefit of, a trust deed (as amended and/or
supplemented and/or restated from time to time, the “Trust Deed”) dated 7 March 2023 (the “Issue
Date”) between the Issuer and The Bank of New York Mellon, London Branch (the “Trustee”, which
expression shall include all persons for the time being the trustee or trustees under the Trust Deed)
as trustee for the Holders (as defined below). The issue of the Capital Securities was authorised
pursuant to resolutions of the board of Directors (as defined below) of the Issuer passed on 3
December 2021. Copies of (i) the Trust Deed and (ii) the agency agreement (as amended and/or
supplemented and/or restated from time to time, the “Agency Agreement”) dated the Issue Date made
among the Issuer, The Bank of New York Mellon, London Branch as principal paying agent (the
“Principal Paying Agent”, which expression shall include any successor thereto), as calculation
agent (the “Calculation Agent”, which expression shall include any successor thereto), The Bank of
New York Mellon SA/NV, Dublin Branch as registrar (the “Registrar”, which expression shall include
any successor thereto) and as transfer agent (the “Transfer Agent”, which expression shall include
any successors thereto), the paying agents named therein (together with the Principal Paying Agent,
the “Paying Agents”, which expression shall include any successor thereto), the other agents named
therein and the Trustee are (i) available to Holders following prior written request and satisfactory
proof of holding during normal business hours (being between 9:00 a.m. and 3:00 p.m., Monday to
Friday, other than public holidays) by the Holders at the registered office of the Trustee, being at the
date hereof at 160 Queen Victoria Street, London EC4V 4LA, United Kingdom and at the specified
office of each of the Paying Agents and Transfer Agent set out in the Agency Agreement; or (ii)
provided by the Trustee via e-mail to the relevant Holders following satisfactory proof of holding, in
each case, provided the Trustee has been supplied with the relevant documents by the Issuer. The
Holders are entitled to the benefit of, are bound by, and are deemed to have notice of, all the
provisions of the Trust Deed and are deemed to have notice of all the provisions of the Agency
Agreement applicable to them.

All capitalised terms that are not defined in these Conditions will have the meanings given to them
in the Trust Deed. In these terms and conditions (the “Conditions”), the “Holder” of a Capital
Security means the person in whose name such Capital Security is for the time being registered in the
Register (or, in the case of a joint holding, the first named thereof).

1. Form and Denomination

The Capital Securities are issued in registered form in the denomination of U.S.$250,000 and integral
multiples of U.S.$1,000 in excess thereof (each, a “principal amount” of a Capital Security). The
principal amount of a Capital Security is subject to adjustment following the occurrence of a
Non-Viability Event (as defined in Condition 4.3 (Distribution — Non-Viability Loss Absorption)) and
references in these Conditions to the principal amount of a Capital Security shall mean the principal
amount of a Capital Security as so adjusted.

The Capital Securities are not issuable in bearer form.
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2. Status and Subordination of the Capital Securities
2.1 Status of the Capital Securities

The Capital Securities constitute direct, unsecured and subordinated obligations of the Issuer and
shall at all times rank pari passu and without any preference among themselves. The rights and claims
of the Holders are subordinated in the manner described below in this Condition 2 (Status and
Subordination of the Capital Securities).

2.2 Subordination

Subject to the insolvency laws of Hong Kong and other applicable laws, in the event of a Winding-Up
(as defined below) of the Issuer (other than pursuant to a Permitted Reorganisation (as defined
below)), the rights and claims against the Issuer of the Holders to payment of principal and
Distribution on the Capital Securities and any other obligations in respect of the Capital Securities
shall rank (x) subordinate and junior in right of payment to, and of all claims of (i) all unsubordinated
creditors of the Issuer (including its depositors), (ii) holders of Tier 2 Capital Instruments of the
Issuer, and (iii) all other Subordinated Creditors of the Issuer whose claims are stated to rank senior
to the Capital Securities or rank senior to the Capital Securities by operation of law or contract; (y)
pari passu in right of payment to and of all claims of the holders of Parity Obligations; and (z) senior
in right of payment to and of all claims of the holders of Junior Obligations.

In the event of a Winding-Up that requires the Holders or the Trustee to provide evidence of their
claim to principal or Distribution under the Capital Securities, such claims of the Holders will only
be satisfied after all obligations of the Issuer ranking senior to the Capital Securities have been
satisfied in whole. No amount may be claimed in respect of any Distribution that has been cancelled
pursuant to a Mandatory Distribution Cancellation Event (as defined below) or an Optional
Distribution Cancellation Event (as defined below).

2.3 Qualification of the Capital Securities

The Capital Securities are intended to qualify as additional tier 1 capital under the Capital
Regulations.

For the purposes of these Conditions:

“Additional Tier 1 Capital Instrument” means any instruments or other obligations issued, entered
into or guaranteed by the Issuer that constitute or qualify as additional tier 1 capital (or its equivalent)
pursuant to the applicable Capital Regulations;

“Authorised Institution” has the meaning given to that term in the Banking Ordinance (Cap. 155) of
Hong Kong, as amended or superseded from time to time;

“Capital Regulations” means the Banking (Capital) Rules (Cap. 155L) of Hong Kong, as amended
or superseded from time to time, or any other capital rules or regulations from time to time applicable
to the regulatory capital of Authorised Institutions incorporated in Hong Kong as issued or
implemented by the Monetary Authority;

“Junior Obligation” means the Shares, and any other class of the Issuer’s share capital and any
instrument or other obligation (including without limitation any preference share) issued, entered into
or guaranteed by the Issuer that ranks or is expressed to rank junior to the Capital Securities by
operation of law or contract;

“Monetary Authority” means the Monetary Authority appointed under section 5A of the Exchange
Fund Ordinance (Cap. 66) of Hong Kong or any successor thereto;
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“Parity Obligation” means any Additional Tier 1 Capital Instrument or any instrument or other
obligation issued, entered into, or guaranteed by the Issuer that ranks or is expressed to rank pari
passu with the Capital Securities by operation of law or contract which, for the avoidance of doubt,
excludes any Junior Obligation of the Issuer;

“Permitted Reorganisation” means any solvent reconstruction, amalgamation, reorganisation,
merger or consolidation whereby all or substantially all the business, undertaking or assets of the
Issuer are transferred to a successor entity which assumes all the obligations of the Issuer under the
Capital Securities;

“Shares” means the ordinary share capital of the Issuer;

“Subordinated Creditors” means all creditors the indebtedness of which is subordinated, in the event
of the Winding-Up of the Issuer, in right of payment to the claims of depositors and other
unsubordinated creditors of the Issuer other than those whose claims rank or are expressed to rank by
operation of law or contract pari passu with, or junior to, the claims of the Holders of the Capital
Securities. For this purpose indebtedness shall include all liabilities, whether actual or contingent;

“Tier 2 Capital Instrument” means any instruments or other obligations issued, entered into or
guaranteed by the Issuer that constitute or qualify as tier 2 capital (or its equivalent) pursuant to the
applicable Capital Regulations; and

“Winding-Up” means a final and effective order or resolution by a judicial authority in the
jurisdiction of incorporation of the Issuer for the liquidation, winding-up or similar proceedings in
respect of the Issuer.

2.4 Set-off

Subject to applicable law, no Holder may exercise, claim or plead any right of set-off, counter-claim
or retention in respect of any amount owed to it by the Issuer arising under or in connection with the
Capital Securities and each Holder shall, by virtue of being the Holder of any Capital Security be
deemed to have waived all such rights of such set-off, counter-claim or retention.

In the event that any Holder nevertheless receives (whether by set-off or otherwise) directly in a
Winding-Up Proceeding (as defined in Condition 9.1 (Events of Default and Enforcement — Events
of Default and Winding-Up Proceedings)) in respect of the Issuer any payment by, or distribution of
assets of, the Issuer of any kind or character, whether in cash, property or securities, in respect of any
amount owing to it by the Issuer arising under or in connection with the Capital Securities, other than
in accordance with this Condition 2.2 (Status and Subordination of the Capital Securities —
Subordination), such Holder shall, subject to applicable law, immediately pay an amount equal to the
amount of such payment or discharge to the liquidator for the time being in the Winding-Up of the
Issuer for distribution and each Holder, by virtue of becoming a Holder of any Capital Security, shall
be deemed to have so agreed and undertaken with and to the Issuer and all depositors and other
unsubordinated creditors of the Issuer for good consideration.

3. Registration, Title and Transfer
3.1 Registration

The Registrar will maintain a register (the “Register”) in respect of the Capital Securities outside of
the United Kingdom in accordance with the provisions of the Agency Agreement. A certificate (each,
a “Certificate”) will be issued to each Holder in respect of its registered holding of Capital Securities.
Each Certificate will be numbered serially with an identifying number which will be recorded in the
Register.
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Upon issue, the Capital Securities will be represented by a global certificate (the “Global
Certificate”) deposited with a nominee of a common depositary for Euroclear Bank SA/NV
(“Euroclear”) and Clearstream Banking S.A. (“Clearstream”). These Conditions are modified by
certain provisions contained in the Global Certificate.

Except in the limited circumstances described in the Global Certificate, owners of interest in the

Capital Securities will not be entitled to receive physical delivery of definitive Certificates.

3.2 Title

Title to the Capital Securities passes only by registration in the Register. The Holder of each Capital
Security shall (except as ordered by a court of competent jurisdiction or otherwise required by law)
be treated as the absolute owner of such Capital Security for all purposes (whether or not it is overdue
and regardless of any notice of ownership, trust or any other interest therein, any writing on the
Certificate relating thereto (other than the endorsed form of transfer) or any notice of any previous
loss or theft of such Certificate) and no person shall be liable for so treating such Holder.

3.3 Transfers

Subject to Condition 3.6 (Registration, Title and Transfer — Closed periods) and Condition 3.7
(Registration, Title and Transfer — Regulations concerning transfers and registration) below, a
Capital Security may be transferred in whole or in part upon surrender of the relevant Certificate, with
the endorsed form of transfer duly completed and signed, at the specified office of the Registrar or
any Transfer Agent, together with such evidence as the Registrar or (as the case may be) such Transfer
Agent may require to prove the title of the transferor and the authority of the individuals who have
executed the form of transfer; provided, however, that a Capital Security may not be transferred unless
the principal amount of Capital Securities transferred and (where not all of the Capital Securities held
by a Holder are being transferred) the principal amount of the balance of Capital Securities not
transferred are (subject in each case to adjustment following the occurrence of a Non-Viability Event
(as defined in Condition 4.3 (Distribution — Non-Viability Loss Absorption)) a principal amount.
Where not all the Capital Securities represented by the surrendered Certificate are the subject of the
transfer, a new Certificate in respect of the balance of the Capital Securities will be issued to the
transferor.

Transfers of interests in the Capital Securities evidenced by the Global Certificate will be effected in
accordance with the rules of the relevant clearing systems.

3.4 Registration and delivery of Certificates

Within seven business days of the surrender of a Certificate in accordance with Condition 3.3
(Registration, Title and Transfer — Transfers), the Registrar will register the transfer in question and
deliver a new Certificate of a like principal amount to the Capital Securities transferred to each
relevant Holder at its specified office or (as the case may be) the specified office of any Transfer
Agent or (at the request and risk of any such relevant Holder) by uninsured first class mail (airmail
if overseas) to the address specified for the purpose by such relevant Holder.

In this Condition 3.4 (Registration, Title and Transfer — Registration and delivery of Certificates),
“business day” means a day, excluding a Saturday, Sunday and public holiday, on which commercial
banks are open for general business (including dealings in foreign currencies) in the city where the
Registrar or (as the case may be) the relevant Transfer Agent has its specified office.
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3.5 Formalities free of charge

The transfer of a Capital Security will be effected without charge by or on behalf of the Issuer, the
Registrar or any Transfer Agent but against such indemnity as the Issuer, the Registrar or (as the case
may be) such Transfer Agent may require in respect of any tax or other duty of whatsoever nature
which may be levied or imposed in connection with such transfer.

3.6 Closed periods

No Holder may require the transfer of a Capital Security to be registered (i) during the period of 15
days prior to (and including) the due date of any payment of principal or Distributions in respect of
the Capital Securities or (ii) during the period commencing on the date of a Non-Viability Event
Notice (as defined in Condition 4.3 (Distribution — Non-Viability Loss Absorption) below) and
ending on (and including) the close of business in Hong Kong on the effective date of the related
Write-off (as defined in Condition 4.3 (Distribution — Non-Viability Loss Absorption) below).

So long as the Capital Securities are represented by the Global Certificate and such Global
Certificate is held on behalf of Euroclear or Clearstream or any other clearing system, no Holder may
require the transfer of a Capital Security to be registered during the period of five Clearing System
Business Days (as defined in Condition 5.5 (Payments — Record Date)) (or such other period as the
relevant clearing system shall determine in accordance with their rules and procedures) commencing
on the Clearing System Business Day immediately following the date on which the Non-Viability Event
Notice has been received by the relevant clearing system (the “Suspension Period”).

3.7 Regulations concerning transfers and registration

All transfers of Capital Securities and entries on the Register are subject to the detailed regulations
concerning the transfer of Capital Securities scheduled to the Agency Agreement. The regulations may
be changed by the Issuer, with the prior written approval of the Registrar and the Trustee, and by the
Registrar, with the prior written approval of the Trustee. A copy of the current regulations will be
made available by the Registrar to any Holder following prior written request and satisfactory proof
of holding.

3.8 Partial Write-off in respect of Capital Securities

In the case of a partial Write-off, or partial cancellation, conversion, modification and/or change in
form pursuant to Condition 4.4 (Distribution — Hong Kong Resolution Authority Power) of a holding
of Capital Securities represented by a single Certificate, a new Certificate shall be issued to the
relevant Holder in respect of the balance of the holding not Written-off or not subject to cancellation,
conversion, modification and/or change in form pursuant to Condition 4.4 (Distribution — Hong Kong
Resolution Authority Power) (as the case may be). New Certificates shall only be issued against
surrender of the existing Certificates to the Registrar or the Transfer Agent.

4. Distribution
4.1 Distribution Payments
(a) Non-Cumulative Distribution

Subject to Condition 4.2 (Distribution — Distribution Restrictions) below, the Capital Securities
confer a right to receive non-cumulative distributions (each a “Distribution”) on their outstanding
principal amount (subject to adjustment following the occurrence of a Non-Viability Event in
accordance with Condition 4.3 (Distribution — Non-Viability Loss Absorption) from, and including,
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the Issue Date at the applicable Distribution Rate, payable semi-annually in arrear on 7 March and 7
September in each year (each a “Distribution Payment Date”) in equal instalments in respect of the
period beginning on and including the Issue Date and ending on but excluding the First Call Date, and
each Reset Distribution Period, respectively.

Distributions will not be cumulative and Distributions which are not paid in accordance with these
Conditions will not accumulate or compound and Holders will have no right to receive such
Distributions at any time, even if subsequent Distributions are paid in the future, or be entitled to any
claim in respect thereof against the Issuer. Unless otherwise provided in these Conditions, each
Capital Security will cease to confer the right to receive any Distribution from the due date for
redemption unless, upon surrender of the Certificate representing such Capital Security, payment of
principal is improperly withheld or refused. In such event Distribution shall continue to accrue at such
rate (both before and after judgment) until whichever is the earlier of (a) the date on which all
amounts due in respect of such Capital Security have been paid; and (b) five days after the date on
which the full amount of moneys payable in respect of such Capital Security has been received by the
Principal Paying Agent or the Trustee and notice to that effect has been given to the Holders in
accordance with Condition 12 (Notices).

No Holder shall have any claim in respect of any Distribution or part thereof cancelled and/or not due
or payable pursuant to this Condition 4.1 (Distribution — Distribution Payments) and Condition 4.2
(Distribution — Distribution Restrictions) below. Accordingly, such Distribution shall not accumulate
for the benefit of the Holders or entitle the Holders to any claim in respect thereof against the Issuer.
(b) Distribution Rate

The rate of distribution (the “Distribution Rate”) applicable to the Capital Securities shall be:

(1) in respect of the period from, and including, the Issue Date to, but excluding, 7 March 2028 (the
“First Call Date”), 7.35 per cent. per annum; and

(i) in respect of the period from, and including, the First Call Date and each Distribution Reset Date
thereafter to, but excluding, the immediately following Distribution Reset Date, the relevant
Reset Distribution Rate.

For the purposes of these Conditions:
“Auditors” means the independent certified public accountants for the time being of the Issuer.

“Calculation Business Day” means any day, excluding a Saturday, Sunday and public holiday, on
which banks are open for general business (including dealings in foreign currencies) in London, New
York City and Hong Kong.

“Calculation Date” means, in relation to a Reset Distribution Period, the third Calculation Business
Day immediately preceding the Distribution Reset Date on which such Reset Distribution Period
commences.

“Comparable Treasury Issue” means the U.S. Treasury security selected by the Issuer as having a
maturity of five years that would be utilised, at the time of selection and in accordance with customary
financial practice, in pricing new issues of corporate debt securities with a maturity of five years.

“Comparable Treasury Price” means, with respect to any Calculation Date, the average of three
Reference Treasury Dealer Quotations for such Calculation Date.

“Directors” means the directors of the Issuer and “Director” means any one of them.
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“Distribution Determination Date” means the day falling two Business Days (as defined in
Condition 4.2 (Distribution — Distribution Restrictions)) prior to a Distribution Payment Date.

“Distributable Reserves” means the amounts for the time being available to the Issuer for
distribution as a distribution in compliance with section 297 of the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622)
of Hong Kong, as amended or superseded from time to time (the “Companies Ordinance”), as at the
date of the Issuer’s audited balance sheet last preceding the relevant Distribution Payment Date, and
subject to the Monetary Authority’s then current capital conservation requirements as applicable to the
Issuer on the relevant Distribution Payment Date (the “Available Amount”); provided that if the
Issuer reasonably determines that the Available Amount as at any Distribution Determination Date is
lower than the Available Amount as at the date of the Issuer’s audited balance sheet last preceding the
relevant Distribution Payment Date and is insufficient to pay the Distributions and any payments due
on Parity Obligations on the relevant Distribution Payment Date, then on certification by any one
Director and the Auditors of such revised amount, the Distributable Reserves shall for the purposes
of Distributions mean the Available Amount as set forth in such certificate.

As at the date hereof, pursuant to section 297(1) of the Companies Ordinance, the Issuer may only
make a distribution out of profits available for distribution. For the purposes of section 297 of the
Companies Ordinance, the Issuer’s profits available for distribution are its accumulated, realised
profits, so far as not previously utilised by distribution or capitalisation, less its accumulated,
realised losses, so far as not previously written off in a reduction or reorganization of capital.

“Distribution Reset Date” means the First Call Date and each anniversary falling five years
thereafter.

“Reference Treasury Dealer” means each of the three nationally recognised investment banking
firms that are primary U.S. Government securities dealers which shall be selected by the Issuer.

“Reference Treasury Dealer Quotations” means with respect to each Reference Treasury Dealer and
any Calculation Date, the average, as determined by the Calculation Agent, of the bid and asked prices
for the Comparable Treasury Issue, expressed in each case as a percentage of its principal amount,
quoted in writing to the Issuer and the Calculation Agent by such Reference Treasury Dealer at 5:00
p.m. New York City time on the second Calculation Business Day preceding the Distribution Reset
Date.

“Reset Distribution Period” means the period from, and including, a Distribution Reset Date to, but
excluding, the immediately following Distribution Reset Date.

“Reset Distribution Rate” means, in relation to a Reset Distribution Period, a fixed rate per annum
(expressed as a percentage) equal to the aggregate of (a) the Treasury Rate (as determined as set out
below) with respect to the relevant Distribution Reset Date and (b) the Spread.

“Spread” means 3.158 per cent. per annum.

“Treasury Rate” means the rate in per cent. per annum notified by the Calculation Agent to the Issuer
and the Holders equal to the yield that represents the average of the daily yields for the week
immediately prior to the relevant Calculation Date, as derived from the most recently published
statistical release designated “H.15” (currently set out on the website
http://www.federalreserve.gov/releases/h15/) or any successor publication that is published by the
Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System and that establishes yields on actively traded U.S.
Treasury securities adjusted to constant maturity under the caption “Treasury constant maturities” for
the maturity of five years.
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If such release (or any successor release) is not published during the week preceding the relevant
Calculation Date or does not contain such yields, “Treasury Rate” means the rate in per cent. per
annum, notified by the Issuer to the Calculation Agent, equal to the yield to a maturity of five years,
calculated using a price for Comparable Treasury Issue (expressed as a percentage of its principal
amount) equal to the Comparable Treasury Price for the relevant Calculation Date.

If there is no Comparable Treasury Price for the relevant Calculation Date, “Treasury Rate” means the
rate in per cent. per annum notified by the Calculation Agent to the Issuer and the Holders equal to
the yield that represents the average of the daily yields for the week that was last available prior to
the relevant Calculation Date, as derived from the most recently published statistical release
designated “H.15” (currently set out on the website http://www.federalreserve.gov/releases/h15/) or
any successor publication that is published by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System
and that establishes yields on actively traded U.S. Treasury securities adjusted to constant maturity
under the caption “Treasury constant maturities” for the maturity of five years.

(c) Calculation of Distribution and Relevant Reset Distribution Rate

The Calculation Agent will calculate the amount of Distribution in respect of any period by applying
the applicable Distribution Rate to the Calculation Amount. If Distribution is required to be paid in
respect of a Capital Security on any date other than the Distribution Payment Date, it shall be
calculated by applying the applicable Distribution Rate to the Calculation Amount, multiplying the
product by the relevant Day Count Fraction, rounding the resulting figure to the nearest cent (half a
cent being rounded upwards) and multiplying such rounded figure by a fraction equal to the principal
amount of such Capital Security divided by the Calculation Amount, where:

“Calculation Amount” means U.S.$1,000, subject to adjustments following the occurrence of a
Non-Viability Event in accordance with Condition 4.3 (Distribution — Non-Viability Loss
Absorption); and

“Day Count Fraction” means, in respect of any period, the number of days in the relevant period
divided by 360 (the number of days to be calculated on the basis of a year of 360 days with 12 30-day
months).

The Calculation Agent will prior to each Distribution Reset Date, calculate the applicable Reset
Distribution Rate payable in respect of each Capital Security. The Calculation Agent will cause the
Distribution and applicable Reset Distribution Rate determined by it to be promptly notified to the
Principal Paying Agent, the Issuer, the Trustee and the Registrar.

All notifications, opinions, determinations, certificates, calculations, quotations and decisions given,
expressed, made or obtained for the purposes of this Condition 4.1 (Distribution — Distribution
Payments) by the Calculation Agent will (in the absence of manifest error) be binding on the Issuer,
the Principal Paying Agent, the Registrar, the Trustee and the Holders and (subject as aforesaid) no
liability to any such person will attach to the Calculation Agent in connection with the exercise or
non-exercise by it of its powers, duties and discretions for such purposes.

(d) Publication of Relevant Reset Distribution Rate

The Issuer shall cause notice of the then applicable Reset Distribution Rate to be notified to the
Holders as soon as practicable in accordance with Condition 12 (Notices) after determination thereof.

(e) Determination or Calculation by Successor Calculation Agent
If the Calculation Agent does not at any time for any reason so determine the applicable Reset
Distribution Rate, the Issuer shall as soon as practicable appoint a reputable financial institution of

good standing as a successor calculation agent to do so and such determination or calculation shall
be deemed to have been made by the Calculation Agent. In doing so, the successor calculation agent
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shall apply the foregoing provisions of this Condition 4.1 (Distribution — Distribution Payments),
with any necessary consequential amendments, to the extent that, in the opinion of the successor
calculation agent, it can do so and, in all other respects it shall do so in such manner as it shall deem
fair and reasonable in all the circumstances.

4.2 Distribution Restrictions

(a) Optional Distribution Cancellation Event

Unless a Distribution has already been cancelled in full pursuant to a Mandatory Distribution
Cancellation Event, prior to any Distribution Payment Date the Issuer may, at its sole discretion, elect
to cancel any payment of Distributions (an “Optional Distribution Cancellation Event”), in whole
or in part, by giving a notice signed by any one Director of the Issuer, which shall be conclusive and
binding on the Holders (such notice, a “Distribution Cancellation Notice”), of such election to the
Holders in accordance with Condition 12 (Notices), the Trustee and the Principal Paying Agent at least
10 Business Days (as defined below) prior to the relevant Distribution Payment Date. The Issuer shall
have no obligation to pay any Distribution on any Distribution Payment Date if it validly elects not
to do so in accordance with this Condition 4.2(a) (Distribution — Distribution Restrictions —
Optional Distribution Cancellation Event) and any failure to pay such Distribution shall not constitute
an Event of Default. Distributions are non-cumulative and any Distribution that is cancelled shall
therefore not be payable at any time thereafter, whether in a Winding-Up or otherwise.

For the purposes of these Conditions:

“Business Day” means a day (other than a Saturday, Sunday and public holiday) on which commercial
banks and foreign exchange markets are open for general business in London and Hong Kong.

(b) Mandatory Distribution Cancellation Event

Notwithstanding that a Distribution Cancellation Notice may not have been given, the Issuer shall not
be obliged to pay, and shall not pay, any Distribution on the applicable Distribution Payment Date,
in whole or in part, as applicable, if and to the extent that:

(i) the Distribution scheduled to be paid together with any dividends, distributions or other
payments scheduled to be paid or made during the Issuer’s then current fiscal year on the Capital
Securities and any Parity Obligations or any instruments which rank or are expressed to rank
pari passu with any Parity Obligations shall exceed the Distributable Reserves as at such
Distribution Payment Date; or

(i1) the Monetary Authority directs the Issuer to cancel such Distribution (in whole or in part) or
applicable Hong Kong banking regulations or other requirements of the Monetary Authority
prevent the payment in full of dividends or other distributions when due on Parity Obligations

(each a “Mandatory Distribution Cancellation Event”).

The Issuer shall have no obligation to pay a Distribution on any Distribution Payment Date if such
non-payment is in accordance with this Condition 4.2(b) (Distribution — Distribution Restrictions —
Mandatory Distribution Cancellation Event) and any failure to pay such Distribution shall not
constitute an Event of Default. Distributions are non-cumulative and therefore any Distribution which
is cancelled in accordance with these Conditions shall not be payable at any time thereafter whether
in a Winding-Up or otherwise.
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(c) Distributable Reserves

Any Distribution may only be paid out of Distributable Reserves.

(d) Dividend Stopper

If, on any Distribution Payment Date, payment of Distribution scheduled to be paid is not made in full
by reason of this Condition 4.2 (Distribution — Distribution Restrictions), the Issuer shall not:

(i) declare or pay in cash any distribution or dividend or make any other payment in cash on, and
will procure that no distribution or dividend in cash or other payment in cash is made on, any
Shares; or

(i1) purchase, cancel or otherwise acquire any Shares or permit any of its Subsidiaries (as defined
in Condition 4.4 (Distribution — Hong Kong Resolution Authority Power)) to do so,

in each case, unless or until the earlier of: (A) the Distribution scheduled to be paid on any subsequent
Distribution Payment Date (which, for the avoidance of doubt, shall exclude any Distribution that has
been cancelled in accordance with these Conditions prior to and in respect of a Distribution Payment
Date preceding such subsequent Distribution Payment Date) has been paid in full to Holders or a
designated third party trust account for the benefit of the Holders, or (B) the redemption or purchase
and cancellation of the Capital Securities in full, or reduction of the outstanding principal amount of
the Capital Securities in accordance with these Conditions to zero, or (C) the Issuer is permitted to
do so by an Extraordinary Resolution (as defined in the Trust Deed) of the Holders.

(e) No default

Notwithstanding any other provision in these Conditions, the cancellation or non-payment of any
Distribution in accordance with this Condition 4.2 (Distribution — Distribution Restrictions) shall not
constitute a default for any purpose (including, without limitation, pursuant to Condition 9.1 (Events
of Default and Enforcement — Events of Default and Winding-Up Proceedings)) on the part of the
Issuer.

4.3 Non-Viability Loss Absorption

If a Non-Viability Event occurs and is continuing, the Issuer shall, upon the date that the Issuer
specifies in a Non-Viability Event Notice (which date, for the avoidance of doubt, can be on or prior
to the date of the Non-Viability Event Notice), irrevocably (without the need for the consent of the
Holders) reduce the then outstanding principal amount of, and cancel any accrued but unpaid
Distribution in respect of, each Capital Security (in each case in whole or in part) by an amount equal
to the Non-Viability Event Write-off Amount per Capital Security (such reduction and cancellation,
and the reduction and cancellation or conversion of any other Subordinated Capital Securities so
reduced and cancelled or converted upon the occurrence of a Non-Viability Event, where applicable,
being referred to herein as the “Write-off”, and “Written-off” shall be construed accordingly).

Concurrently with the giving of the Non-Viability Event Notice, the Issuer shall procure, unless
otherwise directed by the Monetary Authority that a similar notice be given in respect of other
Subordinated Capital Securities in accordance with their terms.

For the avoidance of doubt, any Write-off pursuant to this Condition 4.3 (Distribution — Non-Viability
Loss Absorption) will not constitute an Event of Default under the Capital Securities.
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Any Capital Securities may be subject to one or more Write-offs in part (as the case may be), except
where such Capital Securities has been Written-off in its entirety. Any references in these Conditions
to “principal” in respect of the Capital Securities shall thereafter refer to the outstanding principal
amount of the Capital Securities reduced by any applicable Write-off(s).

Once the outstanding principal amount of, and any accrued but unpaid Distribution under, the Capital
Securities has been Written-off, the relevant amount(s) Written-off will not be restored in any
circumstances including where the relevant Non-Viability Event ceases to continue. No Holder may
exercise, claim or plead any right to any amount that has been Written-off, and each Holder shall, by
virtue of his holding of any Capital Securities, be deemed to have waived all such rights to such
amount that has been Written-off.

Each Holder shall be deemed to have authorised, ratified, directed (in the case of the Trustee only)
and consented to the Trustee and the Agents to take any and all necessary action to give effect to any
Write-off following the occurrence of the Non-Viability Event.

The Trustee and the Agents shall not be: (a) responsible or liable to any Holder for monitoring or
determining whether a Non-Viability Event has occurred or not, (b) responsible for verifying or
calculating any amount in connection with a Non-Viability Event or for any Write-off of Capital
Securities made pursuant to the Issuer’s directions, (c) responsible for preparing any Non-Viability
Event Notice, (d) liable to the Holders or to any other person or the clearing systems (or its
participants, members, broker-dealers or any other third parties) with respect to the notification and/or
implementation of any Non-Viability Event by any of them in respect of such Capital Securities.

The Trustee and the Agents have no responsibility for nor liability with respect to actions taken or not
taken by the clearing systems or its participants or members or any broker-dealers with respect to the
notification or implementation of the Write-off, nor any application of funds or delivery of notices
prior to a Write-off, or with respect to the return of any amount that was paid to any Holder following
a Non-Viability Event in excess of the amount that should have been paid to such Holder.

For the purposes of this Condition 4.3 (Distribution — Non-Viability Loss Absorption):

“Hong Kong Business Day” means a day (other than a Saturday, Sunday and public holiday) on which
commercial banks and foreign exchange markets are open for general business in Hong Kong.

“Loss Absorption Effective Date” means the date that will be specified as such in the applicable
Non-Viability Event Notice as directed or approved by the Monetary Authority.

“Non-Viability Event” means the earlier of:

(a) the Monetary Authority notifying the Issuer in writing that the Monetary Authority is of the
opinion that a Write-off or conversion is necessary, without which the Issuer would become
non-viable; and

(b) the Monetary Authority notifying the Issuer in writing that a decision has been made by the
government body, a government officer or other relevant regulatory body with the authority to
make such a decision, that a public sector injection of capital or equivalent support is necessary,
without which the Issuer would become non-viable.

“Non-Viability Event Notice” means the notice which shall be given by the Issuer not more than two
Hong Kong Business Days after the occurrence of a Non-Viability Event, to the Holders, the Trustee
and the Paying Agents, in accordance with these Conditions and which shall state:

(a) 1in reasonable detail, the nature of the relevant Non-Viability Event;
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(b) the Non-Viability Event Write-off Amount for (i) each Capital Security and (ii) each other
Subordinated Capital Security on the Loss Absorption Effective Date in accordance with its
terms; and

(c) specifying the Loss Absorption Effective Date.

The ability to operationally effect any Write-off of any Capital Securities under this Condition 4.3
(Distribution — Non-Viability Loss Absorption) with respect to the clearing and/or settlement of any
Capital Securities in or through the relevant clearing system(s) is subject to the availability of
procedures to effect any such Write-off in such clearing system(s). However, any Write-off of any
Capital Securities with respect to the Issuer under this Condition 4.3 (Distribution — Non-Viability
Loss Absorption) will be effective upon the date that the Issuer specifies in the Non- Viability Event
Notice notwithstanding any inability to operationally effect any such Write-off in the relevant clearing
system(s).

Following the receipt of a Non-Viability Event Notice by Euroclear and/or Clearstream and the
commencement of the Suspension Period, Euroclear and/or Clearstream shall suspend all clearance
and settlement of the Capital Securities. As a result, Holders will not be able to settle the transfer of
any Capital Securities from the commencement of the Suspension Period, and any sale or other
transfer of the Capital Securities that a Holder may have initiated prior to the commencement of the
Suspension Period that is scheduled to settle during the Suspension Period will be rejected by
Euroclear and/or Clearstream and will not be settled within Euroclear and/or Clearstream. See “Risk
Factors — Risk Factors Relating to the Capital Securities— Transfers scheduled to settle through
Euroclear and Clearstream (the “ICSDs”) are expected to be rejected if the scheduled settlement is
after any suspension by the ICSDs of clearance and settlement of the Capital Securities in connection
with a Non-Viability Event Notice or the exercise of the Hong Kong Resolution Authority Power.
Furthermore, because of time zone differences and the delay between the time when a Non-Viability
Event occurs or the Hong Kong Resolution Authority Power is exercised and when the ICSDs receive
and process the Non-Viability Event Notice or the notice that the Hong Kong Resolution Authority
Power has been exercised, it is possible that transfers may either (i) fail to settle through the ICSDs
even though such transfers were initiated prior to the Non-Viability Event or the relevant cut-off time
specified in the Hong Kong Resolution Authority Power Instrument or (ii) are settled through the
ICSDs even though such transfers were initiated after the Non-Viability Event or the relevant cut-off
time specified in the Hong Kong Resolution Authority Power Instrument” in the Offering Circular for
further details.

If a Non-Viability Event Notice has been given in respect of the Capital Securities in accordance with
this Condition 4.3 (Distribution — Non-Viability Loss Absorption), transfers of the Capital Securities
shall not be permitted during the Suspension Period. From the date on which a Non-Viability Event
Notice in respect of the Capital Securities in accordance with this Condition 4.3 (Distribution —
Non-Viability Loss Absorption) is provided by the Issuer to the end of the Suspension Period, the
Registrar shall not register any attempted transfer of any Capital Securities. As a result, such an
attempted transfer of the Capital Securities will not be effective.

“Non-Viability Event Write-off Amount” means the amount of Distribution and/or principal to be
Written-off as the Monetary Authority may direct or, in the absence of such a direction, as the Issuer
shall (in consultation with the Monetary Authority) determine to be necessary to satisfy the Monetary
Authority that the Non-Viability Event will cease to continue. For the avoidance of doubt, (i) the full
amount of the Capital Securities will be Written-off in full in the event that the amount Written-off
is not sufficient for the Non-Viability Event to cease to continue; and (ii) in the case of an event
falling within paragraph (b) of the definition of Non-Viability Event, the Write-off will be effected
in full before any public sector injection of capital or equivalent support. Further, the Non-Viability
Event Write-off Amount in respect of each Capital Security will be calculated based on a percentage
of the outstanding principal amount of that Capital Security.
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“Subordinated Capital Security” means any Junior Obligation, Parity Obligation or Tier 2 Capital
Security which contains provisions relating to a write-down or conversion into ordinary shares in
respect of its outstanding principal amount on the occurrence, or as a result, of a Non-Viability Event
and in respect of which the conditions (if any) to the operation of such provisions are (or with the
giving of any certificate or notice which is capable of being given by the Issuer, would be) satisfied.

4.4 Hong Kong Resolution Authority Power

Notwithstanding any other term of the Capital Securities, including without limitation Condition 4.3
(Distribution — Non-Viability Loss Absorption), or any other agreement or arrangement, each Holder
and the Trustee shall be subject, and shall be deemed to agree, be bound by and acknowledge that they
are each subject, to having the Capital Securities being written off, cancelled, converted or modified,
or to having the form of the Capital Securities changed in the exercise of any Hong Kong Resolution
Authority Power by the relevant Hong Kong Resolution Authority without prior notice and which may
include (without limitation) and result in any of the following or some combination thereof:

(a) the reduction or cancellation of all or a part of the outstanding principal amount of, or
Distributions on, the Capital Securities;

(b) the conversion of all or a part of the outstanding principal amount of, or Distributions on, the
Capital Securities into shares or other securities or other obligations of the Issuer or another
person (and the issue to or conferral on the holder of such shares, securities or obligations),
including by means of an amendment, modification or variation of the terms of the Capital
Securities; and

(c) the amendment or alteration of the maturity of the Capital Securities or amendment or alteration
of the amount of Distributions payable on the Capital Securities, or the date on which the
Distributions become payable, including by suspending payment for a temporary period, or any
other amendment or alteration of these Conditions.

With respect to (a), (b) and (c) above of this Condition 4.4 (Distribution — Hong Kong Resolution
Authority Power), references to principal and Distribution shall include payments of principal and
Distribution that have become due and payable (including principal that has become due and payable
at the redemption date), but which have not been paid, prior to the exercise of any Hong Kong
Resolution Authority Power. The rights of the Holders and the Trustee under the Capital Securities and
these Conditions are subject to, and will be amended and varied, if necessary, solely to give effect to,
the exercise of any Hong Kong Resolution Authority Power by the relevant Hong Kong Resolution
Authority.

No repayment of the outstanding principal amount of the Capital Securities or payment of
Distributions on the Capital Securities shall become due and payable or be paid after the exercise of
any Hong Kong Resolution Authority Power by the relevant Hong Kong Resolution Authority unless,
at the time that such repayment or payment, respectively, is scheduled to become due, such repayment
or payment would be permitted to be made by the Issuer under the laws and regulations applicable
to the Issuer and the Group.

Upon the exercise of any Hong Kong Resolution Authority Power by the relevant Hong Kong
Resolution Authority with respect to the Capital Securities, the Issuer shall provide a written notice
not more than two Hong Kong Business Days after the occurrence of such exercise regarding such
exercise of the Hong Kong Resolution Authority Power to the Holders in accordance with Condition
12 (Notices).
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Neither the reduction or cancellation, in part or in full, of the outstanding principal amount of, or
Distributions on the Capital Securities, the conversion thereof into another share, security or
obligation of the Issuer or another person, or any other amendment or alteration of these Conditions,
or any other modification or change in form of the Capital Securities as a result of the exercise of any
Hong Kong Resolution Authority Power by the relevant Hong Kong Resolution Authority with respect
to the Issuer nor the exercise of the Hong Kong Resolution Authority Power by the relevant Hong
Kong Resolution Authority with respect to the Capital Securities shall constitute an Event of Default
under Condition 9.1 (Events of Default and Enforcement — Events of Default and Winding-Up
Proceedings).

For the purposes of this Condition 4.4 (Distribution — Hong Kong Resolution Authority Power):

“Group” means the Issuer and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole.

“Hong Kong Resolution Authority Power” means any power which may exist from time to time
under the Resolution Ordinance or any other laws, regulations, rules or requirements relating to
financial institutions, including licensed banks, deposit-taking companies, restricted licence banks,
banking group companies, insurance companies and/or investment firms incorporated in or authorised,
designated, recognised or licensed to conduct regulated financial activities in Hong Kong in effect and
applicable in Hong Kong to the Issuer or other members of the Group (including, for the avoidance
of doubt, powers under Part 4 and Part 5 of the Resolution Ordinance) or any other laws, regulations,
rules or requirements relating thereto, as the same may be amended from time to time (whether
pursuant to the Resolution Ordinance or otherwise), and pursuant to which obligations of a licensed
bank, deposit-taking company, restricted licence bank, banking group company, insurance company or
investment firm or any of its affiliates can be reduced, cancelled, transferred, modified and/or
converted into shares or other securities or obligations of the obligor or any other person.

“relevant Hong Kong Resolution Authority” means any authority with the ability to exercise a Hong
Kong Resolution Authority Power in relation to the Issuer from time to time.

“Resolution Ordinance” means the Financial Institutions (Resolution) Ordinance (Cap. 628) of Hong
Kong, as amended or superseded from time to time.

“Subsidiary” means any company (i) in which the Issuer holds a majority of the voting rights, (ii)
of which the Issuer is a member and has the right to appoint or remove a majority of the Directors
or (iii) of which the Issuer is a member and controls a majority of the voting rights, and includes any
company which is a Subsidiary of a Subsidiary of the Issuer.

5. Payments

5.1 Payment

Payment of principal and Distribution will be made by transfer in immediately available funds to the
registered account of the Holders. Payments of principal and Distribution due on redemption or
otherwise than on a Distribution Payment Date will only be made against surrender (or in the case of
part payments only, endorsement) of the relevant Certificate at the specified office of any Paying
Agent. Distribution on Capital Securities due on a Distribution Payment Date will be paid on the due
date for payment thereof to the Holder shown on the Register on the Record Date (as defined in
Condition 5.5 (Payments — Record Date)) before the relevant Distribution Payment Date without the
need for surrender or presentation of the relevant Certificate.

For the purposes of this Condition 5 (Payments), a Holder’s “registered account” means the U.S.
dollar account maintained by or on behalf of it with a bank that processes payments in U.S. dollars,
details of which appear on the Register at the close of business on the Record Date (as defined below).
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5.2 Payment on Business Days

Payment instructions (for value the due date, or, if the due date is not a Payment Business Day, for
value the next succeeding Payment Business Day) will be initiated on the due date, or, if the due date
is not a Payment Business Day, on the next succeeding Payment Business Day. A Holder of a Capital
Security shall not be entitled to any Distribution or other payment in respect of any delay in payment
resulting from the due date for a payment not being a Payment Business Day. In this paragraph,
“Payment Business Day” means any day on which banks are open for general business (including
dealings in foreign currencies) in London, New York City and Hong Kong and, in the case of surrender
(or, in the case of part payment only, endorsement) of a Certificate, in the place in which the
Certificate is surrendered (or, as the case may be, endorsed).

5.3 Partial Payments

If a Paying Agent makes a partial payment in respect of any Capital Security, the Issuer shall procure
that the amount and date of such payment are noted on the Register and, in the case of partial payment
upon presentation of a Certificate, that a statement indicating the amount and the date of such payment
is endorsed on the relevant Certificate.

5.4 Payments Subject to Fiscal and Other Laws

Payments will be subject in all cases, to (i) any fiscal or other laws and regulations applicable thereto
in the place of payment, but without prejudice to the provisions of Condition 9 (Events of Default and
Enforcement), and (ii) any withholding or deduction required pursuant to an agreement described in
Section 1471(b) of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”) or otherwise
imposed pursuant to Sections 1471 through 1474 of the Code, any regulations or agreements
thereunder, any official interpretations thereof, or (without prejudice to the provisions of Condition
7 (Taxation)) any law implementing an intergovernmental approach thereto.

5.5 Record Date

Each payment in respect of a Capital Security will be made to the person shown as the Holder in the
Register at the close of business in the place of the Registrar’s specified office on the fifteenth day
before the due date for such payment (the “Record Date”).

So long as the Capital Securities are represented by the Global Certificate and such Global
Certificate is held on behalf of Euroclear or Clearstream, each payment in respect of the Global
Certificate will be made to the person shown as the holder in the Register at the close of business (of
the relevant clearing system) on the Clearing System Business Day before the due date for such
payment, where “Clearing System Business Day” means a weekday (Monday to Friday, inclusive)

except 25 December and 1 January.

6. Redemption and Purchase

6.1 No Fixed Redemption Date

The Capital Securities are perpetual securities in respect of which there is no fixed redemption date.

The Capital Securities may not be redeemed at the option of the Issuer other than in accordance with
this Condition 6 (Redemption and Purchase).
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6.2 Redemption for tax reasons

Subject to Condition 6.6 (Redemption and Purchase — Conditions for Redemption and Purchase in
respect of the Capital Securities), the Capital Securities then outstanding may be redeemed at the
option of the Issuer in whole, but not in part, at any time, on giving not less than 30 nor more than
60 days’ notice to the Trustee and the Principal Paying Agent and, in accordance with Condition 12
(Notices), the Holders (which notice shall be irrevocable and shall specify the date fixed for
redemption), if the Issuer satisfies the Trustee immediately before the giving of such notice that (a)
on the occasion of the next payment due under the Capital Securities, the Issuer has or will become
obliged to pay additional amounts as provided or referred to in Condition 7 (Taxation) as a result of
any change in, or amendment to, the laws or regulations of Hong Kong or any political subdivision
or any authority thereof or therein having the power to tax, or any change in the application or official
interpretation of such laws or regulations, which change or amendment becomes effective on or after
28 February 2023 and (b) such obligation cannot be avoided by the Issuer taking reasonable measures
available to it (a “Withholding Tax Event”); provided that no such notice of redemption shall be
given earlier than 90 days prior to the earliest date on which the Issuer would be obliged to pay such
additional amounts or give effect to such treatment, as the case may be, were a payment in respect
of the Capital Securities then due.

Prior to giving any notice of redemption pursuant to this Condition 6.2 (Redemption and Purchase —
Redemption for tax reasons), the Issuer shall deliver to the Trustee (i) a certificate signed by any one
Director of the Issuer stating that the requirement referred to in (a) above of this Condition 6.2
(Redemption and Purchase — Redemption for tax reasons) will apply on the next Distribution
Payment Date and cannot be avoided by the Issuer taking reasonable measures available to it; and (ii)
a copy of the written consent of the Monetary Authority as referred to in Condition 6.6 (Redemption
and Purchase — Conditions for Redemption and Purchase in respect of the Capital Securities); and
the Trustee shall be entitled to accept the certificate and the consent as sufficient evidence of the
satisfaction of the conditions precedent set out above, in which event it shall be conclusive and
binding on the Holders.

Capital Securities redeemed pursuant to this Condition 6.2 (Redemption and Purchase — Redemption
for tax reasons) will be redeemed at their outstanding principal amount together (if appropriate) with
Distributions accrued to (but excluding) the date of redemption, subject to adjustment following the
occurrence of a Non-Viability Event in accordance with Condition 4.3 (Distribution — Non-Viability
Loss Absorption).

6.3 Redemption for tax deduction reasons

Subject to Condition 6.6 (Redemption and Purchase — Conditions for Redemption and Purchase in
respect of the Capital Securities), the Capital Securities then outstanding may be redeemed at the
option of the Issuer in whole, but not in part, at any time, on giving not less than 30 nor more than
60 days’ notice to the Trustee and the Principal Paying Agent, and, in accordance with Condition 12
(Notices), the Holders (which notice shall be irrevocable, subject to Condition 4.3 (Distribution —
Non-Viability Loss Absorption), and shall specify the date fixed for redemption), following the
occurrence of a Tax Deduction Event.

For the purposes of this Condition 6.3 (Redemption and Purchase — Redemption for tax deduction
reasons), a “Tax Deduction Event” occurs if the Issuer satisfies the Trustee immediately before the
giving of such notice that:

(a) in respect of the Distributions payable on the Capital Securities, the Issuer is no longer, or will
no longer be, entitled to claim a deduction in respect of computing its taxation liabilities in Hong
Kong or any political subdivision or any authority thereof or therein having power to tax as a
result of any change in, or amendment to, the laws or regulations of Hong Kong or any political
subdivision or any authority thereof or therein or any change in the application or official
interpretation of such laws or regulations, which change or amendment becomes effective on or
after 28 February 2023; and
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(b) such non tax deductibility cannot be avoided by the Issuer taking reasonable measures available
to it,

provided that, no such notice of redemption shall be given earlier than 90 days prior to the earliest
date on which the Issuer would cease to be able to claim a tax deduction in respect of the Distributions
payable on the Capital Securities as provided in paragraph (a) above of this Condition 6.3

(Redemption and Purchase — Redemption for tax deduction reasons).

Prior to giving any notice of redemption pursuant to this Condition 6.3 (Redemption and Purchase —
Redemption for tax deduction reasons), the Issuer shall deliver to the Trustee (i) a certificate signed
by any one Director of the Issuer stating that the Issuer is entitled to effect such redemption and
setting forth a statement of facts showing that: (1) the conditions precedent to the right of the Issuer
so to redeem have occurred, and (2) such non tax deductibility cannot be avoided by the Issuer taking
reasonable measures available to it; and (ii) a copy of the written consent of the Monetary Authority
as referred to in Condition 6.6 (Redemption and Purchase — Conditions for Redemption and Purchase
in respect of the Capital Securities) and the Trustee shall be entitled to accept the certificate and the
consent as sufficient evidence of the satisfaction of the conditions precedent set out above, in which
event it shall be conclusive and binding on the Holders.

Capital Securities redeemed pursuant to this Condition 6.3 (Redemption and Purchase — Redemption
for tax deduction reasons) will be redeemed at their outstanding principal amount together (if
appropriate) with Distributions accrued to (but excluding) the date of redemption, subject to
adjustment following the occurrence of a Non-Viability Event in accordance with Condition 4.3
(Distribution — Non-Viability Loss Absorption).

6.4 Redemption of the Capital Securities for regulatory reasons

Subject to Condition 6.6 (Redemption and Purchase — Conditions for Redemption and Purchase in
respect of the Capital Securities), the Capital Securities may be redeemed at the option of the Issuer
in whole, but not in part, at any time on giving not less than 30 nor more than 60 days’ notice to the
Trustee and the Principal Paying Agent and, in accordance with Condition 12 (Notices), the Holders
(which notice shall be irrevocable and shall specify the date fixed for redemption) following the
occurrence of a Capital Event.

For the purposes of this Condition 6.4 (Redemption and Purchase — Redemption of the Capital
Securities for regulatory reasons), a “Capital Event” occurs if the Issuer satisfies the Trustee
immediately before the giving of the notice of redemption referred in this Condition 6.4 (Redemption
and Purchase — Redemption of the Capital Securities for regulatory reasons) that the Capital
Securities, after having qualified as such, will no longer qualify (in whole or in part) as additional tier
1 capital (or equivalent) of the Issuer, as a result of any change in or amendment to (or any change
in the application or official interpretation of) the relevant provisions of the Banking Ordinance (Cap.
155) of Hong Kong, the Capital Regulations, or any successor legislation or regulations made
thereunder, or any supervisory guidance issued by the Monetary Authority in relation thereto, in each
case, as amended or modified from time to time (other than as a result of any discounting or
amortisation requirements as to the eligibility of the Capital Securities for such inclusion pursuant to
the relevant legislation and relevant guidelines in force from time to time), provided, however, that
no such notice of redemption shall be given earlier than 90 days prior to the earliest date on which
it is determined that a Capital Event has occurred.
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Prior to giving any notice of redemption pursuant to this Condition 6.4 (Redemption and Purchase —
Redemption of the Capital Securities for regulatory reasons), the Issuer shall deliver to the Trustee
(i) a certificate signed by any one Director of the Issuer stating that the Issuer is entitled to effect such
redemption and setting forth a statement of facts showing that the conditions precedent to the right
of the Issuer to redeem have occurred; and (ii) a copy of the written consent of the Monetary Authority
as referred to in Condition 6.6 (Redemption and Purchase — Conditions for Redemption and Purchase
in respect of the Capital Securities); and the Trustee shall be entitled to accept the certificate and the
consent as sufficient evidence of the satisfaction of the conditions precedent set out above, in which
event it shall be conclusive and binding on the Holders.

Capital Securities redeemed pursuant to this Condition 6.4 (Redemption and Purchase — Redemption
of the Capital Securities for regulatory reasons) will be redeemed at their outstanding principal
amount together (if appropriate) with Distributions accrued to (but excluding) the date of redemption,
subject to adjustment following the occurrence of a Non-Viability Event in accordance with Condition
4.3 (Distribution — Non-Viability Loss Absorption).

6.5 Redemption at the option of the Issuer (Issuer Call)

Subject to Condition 6.6 (Redemption and Purchase — Conditions for Redemption and Purchase in
respect of the Capital Securities), the Issuer may, having given:

(a) not less than 15 nor more than 45 days’ notice to the Holders in accordance with Condition 12
(Notices); and

(b) not less than 15 days before the giving of the notice referred to in (a) above of this Condition
6.5 (Redemption and Purchase — Redemption at the option of the Issuer (Issuer Call)), notice
to the Trustee and the Principal Paying Agent;

(which notices shall be irrevocable and shall specify the date fixed for redemption), redeem the
Capital Securities then outstanding in whole, but not in part, on the First Call Date or any Distribution
Payment Date thereafter, at their outstanding principal amount together (if appropriate) with
Distributions accrued to (but excluding) the date of redemption, subject to adjustment following the
occurrence of a Non-Viability Event in accordance with Condition 4.3 (Non-Viability Loss
Absorption).

For the avoidance of doubt, the Issuer does not give any undertaking that it will redeem the Capital
Securities at any time.

6.6 Conditions for Redemption and Purchase in respect of the Capital Securities

Notwithstanding any other provision in these Conditions, the Issuer shall not redeem any of the
Capital Securities (other than pursuant to Condition 9.1 (Events of Default and Enforcement — Events
of Default and Winding-Up Proceedings)) and neither the Issuer nor any Restricted Person shall
purchase any of the Capital Securities unless the prior written consent of the Monetary Authority
thereto shall have been obtained, to the extent such consent is required under the Banking Ordinance
(Cap. 155) of Hong Kong, the Capital Regulations, or any successor legislation or regulations made
thereunder, or any supervisory guidance issued by the Monetary Authority in relation thereto, in each
case, as amended or modified from time to time.

For the avoidance of doubt, this provision shall not apply to the Issuer or any Restricted Person
holding the Capital Securities in a purely nominee capacity.

For the purposes of these Conditions, “Restricted Person” means any affiliate of the Issuer over

which the Issuer exercises control or significant influence (excluding any holding company of the
Issuer).
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7. Taxation

All payments of principal and Distribution in respect of the Capital Securities by or on behalf of the
Issuer shall be made without withholding or deduction for, or on account of, any present or future
taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges of whatever nature (“Taxes”) imposed or levied
by or on behalf of Hong Kong or any political subdivision or any authority thereof or therein having
power to tax, unless the withholding or deduction of the Taxes is required by law. In that event, the
Issuer will pay such additional amounts as shall be necessary in order that the net amounts received
by the holders of the Capital Securities after such withholding or deduction shall equal the respective
amounts of principal and Distribution which would otherwise have been receivable in respect of the
Capital Securities in the absence of the withholding or deduction; except that no such additional
amounts shall be payable with respect to any Capital Security:

(a) to or to a person on behalf of, a holder who is liable to the Taxes in respect of such Capital
Security by reason of his having some connection with Hong Kong other than the mere holding
of such Capital Security; or

(b) in respect of which the Certificate representing it is presented for payment more than 30 days
after the Relevant Date except to the extent that a holder would have been entitled to additional
amounts on presenting the same for payment on the last day of the period of 30 days assuming
that day to have been a Payment Business Day.

As used in these Conditions, “Relevant Date” means the date on which the payment first becomes due
but, if the full amount of the money payable has not been received by the Principal Paying Agent or
the Trustee, as the case may be, on or before the due date, it means the date on which, the full amount
of the money having been so received, notice to that effect is duly given to the Holders by the Issuer
in accordance with Condition 12 (Notices).

8.  Prescription

Claims against the Issuer for payment in respect of principal and Distribution on the Capital Securities
shall be prescribed and will become void unless made within a period of 10 years (in the case of
principal) and five years (in the case of Distribution) after the Relevant Date (as defined in Condition
7 (Taxation)) therefor.

9. Events of Default and Enforcement

9.1 Events of Default and Winding-Up Proceedings

If default is made in the payment of any amount of principal or Distributions in respect of the Capital
Securities on the due date for payment thereof and such failure continues for a period of (i) seven days
in the case of principal or (ii) 14 days in the case of Distributions after the due date thereof (each,
an “Event of Default”) then in order to enforce the obligations of the Issuer, the Trustee at its sole
discretion may and, if so requested in writing by holders of at least 25 per cent. in principal amount
of the Capital Securities then outstanding or if so directed by an Extraordinary Resolution (as defined
in the Trust Deed), shall (subject to the Trustee having been indemnified and/or provided with security
and/or pre-funded to its satisfaction) institute a Winding-Up Proceeding against the Issuer. For the
avoidance of doubt, no Distribution will be due and payable if such Distribution has been cancelled
or is deemed cancelled (in each case, in whole or in part) in accordance with these Conditions.
Accordingly, no default in payment under the Capital Securities will have occurred or be deemed to
have occurred for the non-payment of any Distribution that has been so cancelled or deemed
cancelled.
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If an order is made or an effective resolution is passed for the Winding-Up of the Issuer (whether or
not an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing) then the Trustee at its sole discretion may and,
if so requested in writing by holders of at least 25 per cent. in principal amount of the outstanding
Capital Securities or if so directed by an Extraordinary Resolution, shall (subject to the Trustee having
been indemnified and/or provided with security and/or pre-funded to its satisfaction) give written
notice to the Issuer declaring the Capital Securities to be immediately due and payable, whereupon
they shall become immediately due and payable at their outstanding principal amount together (if
appropriate) with Distributions accrued to (but excluding) the date of actual payment, subject to
adjustment following the occurrence of a Non-Viability Event in accordance with Condition 4.3
(Distribution — Non-Viability Loss Absorption), without further action or formality.

In these Conditions:

“Winding-Up Proceedings” shall mean, with respect to the Issuer, proceedings in Hong Kong in
respect of the Issuer for the liquidation, winding-up or other similar proceeding of the Issuer.

9.2 Enforcement

(a) Without prejudice to Condition 9.1 (Events of Default and Enforcement — Events of Default and
Winding-Up Proceedings), the Trustee may at any time and if the Issuer fails to perform, observe
or comply with any obligation, condition or provision relating to the Capital Securities binding
on it under these Conditions or the Trust Deed (other than any obligation of the Issuer for the
payment of any principal or Distributions in respect of the Capital Securities), subject as
provided below, at its discretion and without further notice, institute such proceedings against
the Issuer as it may think fit to enforce such obligation, condition or provision provided that the
Issuer shall not as a consequence of such proceedings be obliged to pay any sum or sums
representing or measured by reference to principal or Distributions in respect of the Capital
Securities sooner than the same would otherwise have been payable by it.

(b) The Trustee shall not be bound to take action as referred to in Conditions 9.1 (Events of Default
and Enforcement — Events of Default and Winding-Up Proceedings) and 9.2(a) or any other
action under these Conditions or the Trust Deed unless (i) it shall have been so requested in
writing by Holders holding at least 25 per cent. in principal amount of the Capital Securities then
outstanding or if so directed by an Extraordinary Resolution of the Holders and (ii) it shall have
been indemnified and/or secured and/or pre-funded to its satisfaction. No Holder shall be
entitled to proceed directly against the Issuer unless the Trustee, having become bound so to
proceed, fails to do so within a reasonable period and such failure is continuing.

(¢) Subject to applicable laws, no remedy (including the exercise of any right of set-off or analogous
event) other than those provided for in Condition 9.1 (Events of Default and Enforcement —
Events of Default and Winding-Up Proceedings) and Conditions 9.2(a) and (b) above or
submitting a claim in the Winding-Up of the Issuer will be available to the Trustee or the
Holders.

(d) No Holder shall be entitled either to institute proceedings for the Winding-Up of the Issuer or
to submit a claim in such Winding-Up, except that if the Trustee, having become bound to
institute such proceedings as aforesaid, fails to do so, or, being able and bound to submit a claim
in such Winding-Up, fails to do so, in each case within a reasonable period and such failure is
continuing, then any such Holder may, on giving an indemnity satisfactory to the Trustee, in the
name of the Trustee (but not otherwise), himself institute Winding-Up Proceedings and/or submit
a claim in the Winding-Up of the Issuer to the same extent (but not further or otherwise) that
the Trustee would have been entitled to do.
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10. Replacement of Capital Securities

If any Certificate is lost, stolen, mutilated, defaced or destroyed, it may be replaced at the specified
office of the Registrar, subject to all applicable laws and stock exchange requirements, upon payment
by the claimant of the costs and expenses incurred in connection with such replacement and on such
terms as to evidence, security, indemnity and otherwise as the Issuer may reasonably require.
Mutilated or defaced Certificates must be surrendered before replacements will be issued.

11. Principal Paying Agent, Registrar, Paying and Transfer Agents

The names of the initial Principal Paying Agent, the initial Registrar, the initial Calculation Agent and
the initial Transfer Agents and their initial specified offices are set out in the Agency Agreement.

The Issuer is entitled, with the prior written approval of the Trustee, to vary or terminate the
appointment of any Paying Agent, Registrar, Calculation Agent or Transfer Agent and/or appoint
additional or other Paying Agents, Registrars, Calculation Agents or Transfer Agents and/or approve
any change in the specified office through any of the same acts, provided that:

(a) there will at all times be a Principal Paying Agent and a Registrar; and

(b) so long as the Capital Securities are listed on any stock exchange or admitted to trading by any
other relevant authority, there will at all times be a Paying Agent with a specified office in such
place as may be required by the rules and regulations of the relevant stock exchange or other
relevant authority.

Notice of any such variation, termination, appointment or change shall have been given to the Holders
in accordance with Condition 12 (Notices) as soon as practicable thereafter.

In acting under the Agency Agreement, the Principal Paying Agent, the Paying Agents, the Registrar,
the Calculation Agent or the Transfer Agent act solely as agents of the Issuer and, in certain
circumstances specified therein, of the Trustee and do not assume any obligation to, or relationship
of agency with, any Holders or any third parties. The Agency Agreement contains provisions
permitting any entity into which any Agent is merged or converted or with which it is consolidated
or to which it transfers all or substantially all of its assets to become the successor paying agent.

12. Notices

Notices required to be given to the Holders under these Conditions will be sent to them by first class
mail (or its equivalent) or (if posted to an overseas address) by airmail at their respective addresses
on the Register. Any such notice shall be deemed to have been given on the fourth day after the date
of mailing.

So long as the Capital Securities are represented by the Global Certificate and such Global
Certificate is held on behalf of Euroclear or Clearstream or any other clearing system, notices to the
Holders may be given by delivery of the relevant notice to that clearing system for communication by
it to entitled accountholders in substitution for publication as required by these Conditions and such
notice shall be deemed to be given on the date of such delivery.
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13. Meetings of Holders, Modifications and Consolidations

13.1 Meetings of Holders

The Trust Deed contains provisions for convening meetings (including meetings held by way of
conference calls using a videoconference platform) of Holders to consider matters relating to the
Capital Securities, including the modification of any provision of these Conditions or the Trust Deed.
Any such modification may be made if sanctioned by an Extraordinary Resolution. Such a meeting
may be convened by the Issuer or by the Trustee, and shall be convened by the Trustee upon the
request in writing of Holders holding not less than 10 per cent. of the aggregate principal amount of
the Capital Securities for the time being outstanding. The quorum for any meeting convened to vote
on an Extraordinary Resolution will be one or more persons holding or representing more than 50 per
cent. of the aggregate principal amount of the Capital Securities for the time being outstanding or, at
any adjourned meeting, one or more persons being or representing a Holder or Holders whatever the
principal amount of the Capital Securities held or represented; provided, however, that certain
proposals (including any proposal to change any date for payment of principal or Distribution in
respect of the Capital Securities, to reduce the amount of principal or Distribution payable on any date
in respect of the Capital Securities, to alter the method of calculating the amount of any payment in
respect of the Capital Securities or the date for any such payment, to change the currency of payments
under the Capital Securities, to amend the subordination or loss absorption provisions in the Trust
Deed, or to change the quorum requirements relating to meetings or the majority required to pass an
Extraordinary Resolution (each, a “Reserved Matter”)) may only be sanctioned by an Extraordinary
Resolution passed at a meeting of Holders at which two or more persons holding or representing not
less than two-thirds or, at any adjourned meeting, one-third of the aggregate principal amount of the
Capital Securities for the time being outstanding shall form a quorum. Any Extraordinary Resolution
duly passed at any such meeting shall be binding on all the Holders, whether present or not.

In addition, a resolution passed by Electronic Consent (as defined in the Trust Deed) or a resolution
in writing signed by or on behalf of Holders of not less than 90 per cent. of the aggregate principal
amount of Capital Securities for the time being outstanding and who are entitled to receive notice of
a meeting of the Holders of the Capital Securities pursuant to the Trust Deed will take effect as if it
were an Extraordinary Resolution. Such a resolution in writing may be contained in one document or
several documents in the same form, each signed by or on behalf of one or more Holders.

13.2 Modifications and Waivers

The Trustee may (but shall not be obliged to), without the consent of the Holders, agree to any
modification of these Conditions or the Trust Deed (other than in respect of a Reserved Matter) which
in the sole and absolute opinion of the Trustee will not be materially prejudicial to the interests of
Holders and to any modification of the Capital Securities or the Trust Deed which, in the opinion of
the Trustee, is of a formal, minor or technical nature or is to correct a manifest error or an error which,
in the opinion of the Trustee, proven.

In addition, the Trustee may (but shall not be obliged to), without the consent of the Holders, authorise
or waive any proposed breach or breach of the Capital Securities or the Trust Deed (other than a
proposed breach or breach relating to the subject of a Reserved Matter) if, in the sole and absolute
opinion of the Trustee, the interests of the Holders will not be materially prejudiced thereby.

Unless the Trustee agrees otherwise, any such authorisation, waiver or modification shall be notified
by the Issuer to the Holders (in accordance with Condition 12 (Notices)) as soon as practicable
thereafter.
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13.3 Consolidation, Merger and Sale of Assets

The Issuer shall not consolidate with or merge into any other company or entity, and the Issuer may
not, directly or indirectly, sell, convey, transfer or lease all or substantially all of its properties and
assets to any company or other entity unless:

(a) the company or other entity formed by or surviving such consolidation or merger or the person,
company or other entity which acquires by conveyance or transfer, or which leases, all or
substantially all of the properties and assets of the Issuer shall expressly assume by way of a
supplemental trust deed the due and punctual payment of the principal of, and Distribution on,
the Capital Securities and the performance of the Capital Securities, the Trust Deed and the
Agency Agreement on the part of the Issuer to be performed or observed;

(b) immediately after giving effect to such transaction, no Event of Default with respect to the
Capital Securities, and no event, which after notice or lapse of time, or both, would become an
Event of Default with respect to the Capital Securities, shall have happened and be continuing;

(c) the Issuer has delivered to the Trustee (in form and substance satisfactory to the Trustee) (i) a
certificate signed by any one Director of the Issuer and (ii) an opinion of independent legal
advisers of recognised standing (acceptable to the Trustee) stating that such consolidation,
merger, conveyance, transfer or lease and any such supplemental trust deed comply with this
Condition 13.3(c) and that all conditions precedent relating to such transaction have been
complied with; and

(d) immediately after giving effect to such consolidation, amalgamation or merger of the Issuer, no
internationally recognised rating agency has in respect of the Capital Securities, issued any
notice downgrading its credit rating for such Capital Securities or indicating that it intends to
downgrade its credit rating for such Capital Securities, in each case as a result of such
consolidation, amalgamation or merger.

13.4 Exercise of Trustee’s Powers elc.

In connection with the exercise by it of any of its functions, trusts, powers, authorities and discretions
(including, without limitation, any modification, waiver, authorisation, determination or substitution),
the Trustee shall have regard to the general interests of the Holders as a class (but shall not have
regard to any interests arising from circumstances particular to individual Holders whatever their
number) and, in particular but without limitation, shall not have regard to the consequences of any
such exercise for individual Holders (whatever their number) resulting from their being for any
purpose domiciled or resident in, or otherwise connected with, or subject to the jurisdiction of, any
particular territory or any political sub-division thereof and the Trustee shall not be entitled to require,
nor shall any Holder be entitled to claim, from the Issuer, the Trustee or any other person any
indemnification or payment in respect of any tax consequence of any such exercise upon individual
Holders except to the extent already provided for in Condition 7 (Taxation) and/or any undertaking
or covenant given in addition to, or in substitution for, Condition 7 (Taxation) pursuant to the Trust
Deed.

14. The Trustee and the Trust Deed

The Trust Deed contains provisions for the indemnification of the Trustee and for its relief from
responsibility, including provisions relieving it from taking any steps, actions or proceedings unless
indemnified and/or provided with security and/or pre-funded to its satisfaction. The Trustee is entitled
to enter into business transactions with the Issuer without accounting for any profit resulting
therefrom.

130



The Trustee shall be entitled to rely without liability to Holders on any certificate signed by any
Director or authorised signatory of the Issuer and delivered to it under the Trust Deed and
accompanied by an opinion of an independent internationally recognised law firm, whether or not it
is addressed to the Trustee. Such certificate or opinion shall, in the absence of manifest error, be
conclusive and binding on both parties, and the Trustee shall not be responsible for any loss
occasioned by acting or not acting on any such certificate or opinion. The Trustee shall be obliged to
accept and be entitled to rely on any certificate or opinion where the Issuer procures the delivery of
the same pursuant to its obligations to do so under these Conditions and/or the Trust Deed and such
certificate or opinion shall be binding on the Issuer and the Holders in the absence of manifest or
proven error.

The Issuer has given certain other undertakings in the Trust Deed for the protection of the Holders.
15. Notification to NDRC

The Issuer undertakes to (i) file or cause to be filed with the National Development and Reform
Commission of the PRC (the “NDRC?”) the requisite information and documents in connection with
the Capital Securities within 10 Registration Business Days after the Issue Date in accordance with
the NDRC Administrative Measures; and (ii) file or cause to be filed with the NDRC other requisite
information and documents in connection with the Capital Securities from time to time within the
relevant prescribed timeframes in accordance with the NDRC Administrative Measures (together with
(i) above, the “NDRC Post-issue Filings™).

The Issuer shall complete the NDRC Post-issue Filings within the relevant prescribed timeframes and
shall comply with all applicable PRC laws and regulations in connection with the Capital Securities
(including without limitation the NDRC Administrative Measures) and shall within five Registration
Business Days after submission of the NDRC Post-issue Filing with respect to (i) above provide the
Trustee with (i) a certificate in English signed by any one Director confirming the submission of such
NDRC Post-issue Filing and (ii) copies of the relevant documents evidencing such NDRC Post-issue
Filing. The Trustee shall have no duty to monitor or ensure the completion of the NDRC Post-issue
Filings on or before the deadline referred to above or to verify the accuracy, validity and/or
genuineness of any documents in relation to or in connection with the NDRC Post-issue Filings or any
translation or certification thereof or to give notice to the Holders confirming the completion of the
NDRC Post-issue Filings, and shall not be liable to any Holder or any other persons for any of the
foregoing and for not doing so.

For the purposes of this Condition 15 (Notification to NDRC):

“NDRC Administrative Measures” means the Administrative Measures for the Examination and
Registration of Medium- and Long-term Foreign Debts of Enterprises (13 H & M /ME T 1% St B 1
i (1B 5 5% e N BCPE 22 B85 4 5556%%)) issued by the NDRC on 5 January 2023 and effective on 10
February 2023 and any implementation rules, regulations, certificates, circulars, notices or policies
thereof as issued by the NDRC from time to time;

“PRC” means the People’s Republic of China (for the purposes of this Condition 15 (Notification to
NDRC), excludes Hong Kong, the Macau Special Administrative Region and Taiwan of the PRC); and

“Registration Business Day” means a day (other than a Saturday or Sunday) on which commercial
banks and foreign exchange markets are open for general business in Beijing.

131



16. Governing Law and Submission to Jurisdiction
16.1 Governing law

The Capital Securities and the Trust Deed and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in
connection with the Capital Securities and the Trust Deed are governed by, and shall be construed in
accordance with, English law, except that the subordination provisions set out in each of Condition
2.2 (Status and Subordination of the Capital Securities — Subordination) and clause 7.2 (Ranking of
claims in respect of the Securities) of the Trust Deed shall be governed by, and construed in
accordance with, the laws of Hong Kong.

16.2 Jurisdiction

The courts of England are to have jurisdiction to settle any disputes that may arise out of or in
connection with the Capital Securities or the Trust Deed (including a dispute relating to any
non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with the Capital Securities or the Trust
Deed) and accordingly any legal action or proceedings arising out of or in connection with the Capital
Securities (“Proceedings”) may be brought in such courts. Pursuant to the Trust Deed, the Issuer has
irrevocably submitted to the jurisdiction of such courts. This submission is made for the benefit of
each Holder and shall not limit the right of any of them to take Proceedings in any other court of
competent jurisdiction nor shall the taking of Proceedings in one or more jurisdictions preclude the
taking of Proceedings in any other jurisdiction (whether concurrently or not).

16.3 Agent for service of process

The Issuer has irrevocably appointed Hackwood Secretaries Limited at its registered office located at
One Silk Street, London EC2Y 8HQ to receive service of process in any Proceedings in England. If
for any reason such agent shall cease to be such agent for service of process, the Issuer shall forthwith
appoint a new agent for service of process in England and notify the Holders in accordance with
Condition 12 (Notices) of such appointment. Nothing herein shall affect the right to serve process in
any other manner permitted by law.

16.4 Waiver of immunity

The Issuer irrevocably and unconditionally with respect to any Proceedings (i) waives any right to
claim sovereign or other immunity from jurisdiction, recognition or enforcement and any similar
argument in any jurisdiction, (ii) submits to the jurisdiction of the English courts and the courts of
any other jurisdiction in relation to the recognition of any judgment or order of the English courts or
the courts of any competent jurisdiction in relation to any Proceedings and (iii) consents to the giving
of any relief (whether by way of injunction, attachment, specific performance or other relief) or the
issue of any related process, in any jurisdiction, whether before or after final judgment, including,
without limitation, the making, enforcement or execution against any property whatsoever
(irrespective of its use or intended use) of any order or judgment in connection with any Proceedings.

17. Rights of Third Parties
No person shall have any right to enforce any term or condition of the Capital Securities under the

Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999 but this shall not affect any right or remedy which exists
or is available apart from such Act.
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THE GLOBAL CERTIFICATE

The Global Certificate contains the following provisions which apply to the Capital Securities whilst
they are represented by the Global Certificate, some of which modify the effect of the Conditions.
Terms defined in the Conditions have the same meaning in paragraphs 1 to 6 below.

1.

Accountholders

For so long as all of the Capital Securities are represented by the Global Certificate and the
Global Certificate is held on behalf of a clearing system, each person (other than another
clearing system) who is for the time being shown in the records of Euroclear or Clearstream (as
the case may be) as the holder of a particular aggregate principal amount of such Capital
Securities (each an “Accountholder”) (in which regard any certificate or other document issued
by Euroclear or Clearstream (as the case may be) as to the aggregate principal amount of such
Capital Securities standing to the account of any person shall, in the absence of manifest error,
be conclusive and binding for all purposes) shall be treated as the holder of such aggregate
principal amount of such Capital Securities (and the expression “Holders” and references to
“holding of Capital Securities” and to “holder of Capital Securities” shall be construed
accordingly) for all purposes other than with respect to payments on such Capital Securities, the
right to which shall be vested, as against the Issuer and the Trustee, solely in the nominee for
the relevant clearing system or the common depositary (the “Relevant Nominee”) in accordance
with and subject to the terms of the Global Certificate and the Trust Deed. Each Accountholder
must look solely to Euroclear or Clearstream, as the case may be, for its share of each payment
made to the Relevant Nominee.

Cancellation

Cancellation of any Capital Security following its redemption or purchase by the Issuer will be
effected by reduction in the aggregate principal amount of the Capital Securities in the register
of Holders and by the annotation of the appropriate schedule to the Global Certificate.

Payments

Payments of principal and Distribution in respect of Capital Securities represented by the Global
Certificate will be made upon presentation or, if no further payment falls to be made in respect
of the Capital Securities, against presentation and surrender of the Global Certificate to or to the
order of the Registrar or such other Agent as shall have been notified to the holder of the Global
Certificate for such purpose.

Distributions of amounts with respect to book-entry interests in the Capital Securities held
through Euroclear or Clearstream will be credited, to the extent received by the Principal Paying
Agent, to the cash accounts of Euroclear or Clearstream participants in accordance with the
relevant system’s rules and procedures.

A record of each payment made will be endorsed on the appropriate schedule to the Global

Certificate by or on behalf of the Registrar and shall be prima facie evidence that payment has
been made.
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Payment Record Date

Each payment in respect of the Global Certificate will be made to the person shown as the Holder
in the register of Holders at the close of business (in the relevant clearing system) on the
Clearing System Business Day before the due date for such payment (the “Record Date”) where
“Clearing System Business Day” means a weekday (Monday to Friday, inclusive), except 25
December and 1 January.

Notices

Notwithstanding Condition 12 (Notices), so long as all the Capital Securities are represented by
the Global Certificate and the Global Certificate is held on behalf of a clearing system, notices
to Holders may be given by delivery of the relevant notice to that clearing system for
communication by it to entitled Accountholders in substitution for notification as required by the
Conditions and shall be deemed to have been given at the time of delivery to the relevant
clearing system(s). The Issuer shall also ensure that notices are duly given in a manner which
complies with the rules and regulations of any stock exchange on which the Capital Securities
are for the time being listed.

Transfers
Transfers of book-entry interests in the Capital Securities will be effected through the records

of Euroclear and Clearstream and their respective participants in accordance with the rules and
procedures of Euroclear and Clearstream and their respective direct and indirect participants.

134



TAXATION

The statements herein regarding taxation are based on the laws in force as at the date of this Offering
Circular and are subject to any changes in law occurring after such date, which changes could be
made on a retroactive basis. The following summary does not purport to be a comprehensive
description of all of the tax considerations that may be relevant to a decision to purchase, own or
dispose of the Capital Securities and does not purport to deal with the tax consequences applicable
to all categories of investors, some of which (such as dealers or certain professional investors) may
be subject to special rules. Persons considering the purchase of the Capital Securities should consult
their own tax advisers concerning the application of tax laws to their particular situations as well as
any consequences of the purchase, ownership and disposition of the Capital Securities arising under
the laws of any other taxing jurisdiction.

Hong Kong
Withholding Tax

No withholding tax is payable in Hong Kong in respect of payments of principal or interest on the
Capital Securities or in respect of any capital gains arising from the sale of the Capital Securities.

Profits Tax

Hong Kong profits tax is chargeable on every person carrying on a trade, profession or business in
Hong Kong in respect of profits arising in or derived from Hong Kong from such trade, profession
or business (excluding profits arising from the sale of capital assets).

Interest on the Capital Securities may be deemed to be profits arising in or derived from Hong Kong
from a trade, profession or business carried on in Hong Kong in the following circumstances:

(i) interest on the Capital Securities is derived from Hong Kong and is received by or accrues to
a corporation carrying on a trade, profession or business in Hong Kong; or

(ii) interest on the Capital Securities is derived from Hong Kong and is received by or accrues to
a person (other than a corporation), carrying on a trade, profession or business in Hong Kong
and is in respect of the funds of that trade, profession or business; or

(ii1) interest on the Capital Securities is received by or accrues to a financial institution (as defined
in the Inland Revenue Ordinance (Cap. 112) of Hong Kong (the “Inland Revenue Ordinance”™))
and arises through or from the carrying on by the financial institution of its business in Hong
Kong; or

(iv) interest on the Capital Securities is received by or accrues to a corporation, other than a financial
institution, and arises through or from the carrying on in Hong Kong by the corporation of its
intra-group financing business (within the meaning of section 16(3) of the Inland Revenue
Ordinance).

Pursuant to the Exemption from Profits Tax (Interest Income) Order, interest income accruing to a
person (other than a financial institution) on deposits (denominated in any currency and whether or
not the deposit is evidenced by a certificate of deposit) placed with, inter alia, an authorised
institution in Hong Kong (within the meaning of section 2 of the Banking Ordinance (Cap. 155) of
Hong Kong) is exempt from the payment of Hong Kong profits tax. This exemption does not apply,
however, to deposits that are used to secure or guarantee money borrowed in certain circumstances.
Provided no prospectus involving the issue of Capital Securities is registered under the Companies
(Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance (Cap. 32) of Hong Kong, the issue of Capital
Securities by the Issuer is expected to constitute a deposit to which the above exemption from
payment will apply.
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Sums received by or accrued to a financial institution by way of gains or profits arising through or
from the carrying on by the financial institution of its business in Hong Kong from the sale, disposal
or redemption of Capital Securities will be subject to Hong Kong profits tax. Sums received by or
accrued to a corporation, other than a financial institution, by way of gains or profits arising through
or from the carrying on in Hong Kong by the corporation of its intra-group financing business (within
the meaning of section 16(3) of the Inland Revenue Ordinance) from the sale, disposal or other
redemption of the Capital Securities will be subject to Hong Kong profits tax.

Sums derived from the sale, disposal or redemption of Capital Securities will be subject to Hong Kong
profits tax where received by or accrued to a person, other than a financial institution, who carries
on a trade, profession or business in Hong Kong and the sum has a Hong Kong source unless otherwise
exempted. The source of such sums will generally be determined by having regard to the manner in
which the Capital Securities are acquired and disposed of.

In certain circumstances, Hong Kong profits tax exemptions (such as concessionary tax rates) may be
available. Investors are advised to consult their own tax advisors to ascertain the applicability of any
exemptions to their individual position.

Stamp Duty

No Hong Kong stamp duty will be chargeable upon the issue or transfer of a Capital Security.

Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act

Pursuant to certain provisions of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, commonly known as
FATCA, a “foreign financial institution” (as defined by FATCA) may be required to withhold on
certain payments it makes (“foreign passthru payments”) to persons that fail to meet certain
certification, reporting or related requirements. The issuer is a foreign financial institution for these
purposes. A number of jurisdictions (including Hong Kong) have entered into, or have agreed in
substance to, intergovernmental agreements with the United States to implement FATCA (“IGAs”),
which modify the way in which FATCA applies in their jurisdictions. Under the provisions of IGAs
as currently in effect, a foreign financial institution in an IGA jurisdiction would generally not be
required to withhold under FATCA or an IGA from payments that it makes. Certain aspects of the
application of the FATCA provisions and IGAs to instruments such as the Capital Securities, including
whether withholding would ever be required pursuant to FATCA or an IGA with respect to payments
on instruments such as Capital Securities, are uncertain and may be subject to change. Even if
withholding would be required pursuant to FATCA or an IGA with respect to payments on instruments
such as the Capital Securities, such withholding would not apply prior to the date that is two years
after the date on which final regulations defining “foreign passthru payments” are published in the
U.S. Federal Register and the Capital Securities characterised as debt (or which are not otherwise
characterised as equity and have a fixed term) for U.S. federal tax purposes that are issued on or prior
to the date that is six months after the date on which final regulations defining “foreign passthru
payments” are published generally would be grandfathered for purposes of FATCA withholding unless
materially modified after such date. Holders should consult their own tax advisers regarding how
these rules may apply to their investment in the Capital Securities.
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SUBSCRIPTION AND SALE

Each of Nanyang Commercial Bank, Limited, BOCI Asia Limited, Merrill Lynch (Asia Pacific)
Limited, ABCI Capital Limited, China Securities (International) Corporate Finance Company
Limited, CCB International Capital Limited, Cinda International Capital Limited and Central China
International Securities Co., Limited (together, the “Joint Global Coordinators”), ICBC
International Securities Limited, UBS AG Hong Kong Branch, CMB Wing Lung Bank Limited,
BOCOM International Securities Limited, Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited, BNP Paribas, China
CITIC Bank International Limited, China Everbright Bank Co., Ltd., Hong Kong Branch, China
Galaxy International Securities (Hong Kong) Co., Limited, China Industrial Securities International
Brokerage Limited, China International Capital Corporation Hong Kong Securities Limited, CLSA
Limited, Citigroup Global Markets Limited, CMBC Securities Company Limited, CMB International
Capital Limited, CNCB (Hong Kong) Capital Limited, Crédit Agricole Corporate and Investment
Bank, GF Securities (Hong Kong) Brokerage Limited, Guotai Junan Securities (Hong Kong) Limited,
Haitong International Securities Company Limited, The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation
Limited, Huatai Financial Holdings (Hong Kong) Limited, J.P. Morgan Securities plc, Natixis, SMBC
Nikko Securities (Hong Kong) Limited, SPDB International Capital Limited and Standard Chartered
Bank (together with the Joint Global Coordinators, the “Joint Bookrunners” and the “Joint Lead
Managers”) has, pursuant to a subscription agreement dated 28 February 2023 (the “Subscription
Agreement”), severally agreed with the Issuer, subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions, to
subscribe for the principal amount of the Capital Securities set out opposite its name below as its
underwriting commitment. Each Joint Lead Manager’s underwriting commitment may not represent
the amount of Capital Securities actually subscribed by each Joint Lead Manager.

Underwriting

Joint Lead Manager Commitment

(U.S.$)
Nanyang Commercial Bank, Limited . . . ....... ... .. ... .. .. .. .. .. .. .... 24,000,000
BOCI Asia Limited . . ... .. 24,000,000
Merrill Lynch (Asia Pacific) Limited. . . .. ... ... .. .. .. .. .. .. ...... 24,000,000
ABCI Capital Limited . . . . ... . 24,000,000
China Securities (International) Corporate Finance Company Limited . .. ....... 24,000,000
CCB International Capital Limited .. ............... ... .. .. .. .. ........ 24,000,000
Cinda International Capital Limited. . ... ......... .. ... .. . . ... 24,000,000
Central China International Securities Co., Limited ....................... 24,000,000
ICBC International Securities Limited . . ... ... ... . . . . ... .. 4,000,000
UBS AG Hong Kong Branch . .. ..... ... .. ... .. .. .. .. . . . . . ... 4,000,000
CMB Wing Lung Bank Limited. .. ......... .. .. .. . ... . ... 4,000,000
BOCOM International Securities Limited. . . ... ... ... ... .. . . . . . . . . ... 4,000,000
Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited . ........ ... ... ... ... . . . . . ..... 4,000,000
BNP Paribas . . .. .. 4,000,000
China CITIC Bank International Limited . . ... ... ... .. ... .. . . .. . .. . . ..... 4,000,000
China Everbright Bank Co., Ltd., Hong Kong Branch . .. ................... 4,000,000
China Galaxy International Securities (Hong Kong) Co., Limited ............. 4,000,000
China Industrial Securities International Brokerage Limited ................. 4,000,000
China International Capital Corporation Hong Kong Securities Limited. . .. ... .. 4,000,000
CLSA Limited . . ... 4,000,000
Citigroup Global Markets Limited . ........... ... .. .. .. .. .. .. .. . ..... 4,000,000
CMBC Securities Company Limited ... ......... ... ... .. .. .. .. .. ...... 4,000,000
CMB International Capital Limited . ... .......... ... . . . . ... 4,000,000
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Underwriting

Joint Lead Manager Commitment
(U.S.$)
CNCB (Hong Kong) Capital Limited. . .. .......... .. ... .. .. .. .. .. ...... 4,000,000
Crédit Agricole Corporate and Investment Bank .. .......... .. .. .. .. .. .... 4,000,000
GF Securities (Hong Kong) Brokerage Limited . . ... ......... .. .. .. .. ..... 4,000,000
Guotai Junan Securities (Hong Kong) Limited. . .. ....... ... ... .. .. .. ... 4,000,000
Haitong International Securities Company Limited .. ...................... 4,000,000
The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited . .. ............... 4,000,000
Huatai Financial Holdings (Hong Kong) Limited. . ... ... ... .. ... ... ...... 4,000,000
J.P. Morgan Securities plc . . .. .. e 4,000,000
NatiXiS . oot 4,000,000
SMBC Nikko Securities (Hong Kong) Limited . .......................... 4,000,000
SPDB International Capital Limited. . . . ........... . ... .. . . . . ... 4,000,000
Standard Chartered Bank. . . . . ... . . . e 4,000,000
TOTAL . . . 300,000,000

The Issuer has agreed to pay to the Joint Lead Managers a management and underwriting commission
in connection with their underwriting commitments in accordance with the Subscription Agreement.
The Issuer has also agreed to indemnify the Joint Lead Managers against certain liabilities incurred
in connection with the issue of the Capital Securities. In addition, the Issuer has agreed to reimburse
the Joint Lead Managers for certain of their expenses in connection with the issue of the Capital
Securities. The Subscription Agreement provides that the obligations of the Joint Lead Managers are
subject to certain conditions precedent, and entitles the Joint Lead Managers to terminate the
Subscription Agreement in certain circumstances at any time up to the time when subscription moneys
have been received and the Capital Securities issued.

In connection with the issue of the Capital Securities, any one of the Joint Lead Managers appointed
as such (the “Stabilisation Manager”) or any person acting on behalf of the Stabilisation Manager
may, to the extent permitted by applicable laws and directives, over allot the Capital Securities or
effect transactions with a view to supporting the price of the Capital Securities at a level higher than
that which might otherwise prevail, but in so doing, the Stabilisation Manager or any person acting
on behalf of the Stabilisation Manager shall act as principal and not as agent of the Issuer. However,
there is no assurance that the Stabilisation Manager or any person acting on behalf of the Stabilisation
Manager will undertake stabilisation action. Any loss or profit sustained as a consequence of any such
overallotment or stabilisation shall be for the account of the Joint Lead Managers.

If a jurisdiction requires that the offering of the Capital Securities be made by a licensed broker or
dealer and any of the Joint Lead Managers or any affiliate of the Joint Lead Managers is a licensed
broker or dealer in that jurisdiction, the issue of the Capital Securities shall be deemed to be made
by such Joint Lead Manager or affiliate on behalf of the Issuer in such jurisdiction.

The Joint Lead Managers and certain of their affiliates may purchase the Capital Securities and be
allocated the Capital Securities for asset management and/or proprietary purposes but not with a view
to distribution. The Joint Lead Managers and their respective affiliates may also purchase the Capital
Securities for their own accounts. In the ordinary course of their various business activities, the Joint
Lead Managers and their affiliates may make or hold (on their own account, on behalf of clients or
in their capacity as investment advisers) a broad array of investments and actively traded debt and
equity securities (or related derivative securities) and financial instruments (including bank loans) for
their own account and for the accounts of their customers and may at any time hold long and short
positions in such securities and instruments and enter into other transactions, including credit
derivatives (such as asset swaps, repackaging and credit default swaps) in relation thereto. Such
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transactions, investments and securities activities may involve securities and instruments of the Issuer
or its subsidiaries, associates or associated companies, including the Capital Securities, may be
entered into at the same time in the secondary market and be carried out with counterparties that are
also purchasers, holders or sellers of the Capital Securities.

In addition, the Issuer has agreed with the Joint Lead Managers that it will pay a concession to certain
private banks in connection with the distribution of the Capital Securities to their clients. This
concession will be based on the aggregate principal amount of the Capital Securities so distributed.

Other Relationships

The Joint Lead Managers and their affiliates are full service financial institutions engaged in various
activities which may include securities trading, commercial and investment banking, financial advice,
investment management, principal investment, hedging, financing and brokerage activities. Each of
the Joint Lead Managers and their affiliates may have engaged in, and may in the future engage in,
investment banking and other commercial dealings in the ordinary course of business with the Issuer
or its subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities or associates from time to time. They have received, and
may in the future receive, customary fees and commissions for these transactions. In addition to the
transactions noted above, the Joint Lead Managers and their affiliates may, from time to time, engage
in other transactions with, and perform services for, the Issuer or its subsidiaries, jointly controlled
entities or associates in the ordinary course of their business. In addition, the Joint Lead Managers
and certain of their respective subsidiaries and affiliates may hold shares or other securities in the
Issuer as beneficial owners, on behalf of clients or in the capacity of investment advisors.

Important Notice to CMIs (including private banks)

This notice to CMIs (including private banks) is a summary of certain obligations the SFC Code
imposes on CMIs, which require the attention and cooperation of other CMIs (including private
banks). Certain CMIs may also be acting as OCs for this offering and are subject to additional
requirements under the SFC Code.

Prospective investors who are the directors, employees or major shareholders of the Issuer, a CMI or
its group companies would be considered under the SFC Code as having an Association with the
Issuer, the CMI or the relevant group company. CMIs should specifically disclose whether their
investor clients have any Association when submitting orders for the Capital Securities. In addition,
private banks should take all reasonable steps to identify whether their investor clients may have any
Associations with the Issuer or any CMI (including its group companies) and inform the Joint Lead
Managers accordingly.

CMIs are informed that the marketing and investor targeting strategy for this offering includes
institutional investors, corporate professional investors, sovereign wealth funds, pension funds, hedge
funds, family offices and high net worth individuals, in each case, subject to the selling restrictions
and any MiFID II product governance language set out elsewhere in this Offering Circular.

CMIs should ensure that orders placed are bona fide, are not inflated and do not constitute duplicated
orders (i.e. two or more corresponding or identical orders placed via two or more CMIs). CMIs should
enquire with their investor clients regarding any orders which appear unusual or irregular. CMIs
should disclose the identities of all investors when submitting orders for the Capital Securities (except
for omnibus orders where underlying investor information may need to be provided to any OCs when
submitting orders). Failure to provide underlying investor information for omnibus orders, where
required to do so, may result in that order being rejected. CMIs should not place “X-orders” into the
order book.

CMIs should segregate and clearly identify their own proprietary orders (and those of their group
companies, including private banks as the case may be) in the order book and book messages.
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CMIs (including private banks) should not offer any rebates to prospective investors or pass on any
rebates provided by the Issuer. In addition, CMIs (including private banks) should not enter into
arrangements which may result in prospective investors paying different prices for the Capital
Securities. CMIs are informed that a private bank rebate is payable as stated above.

The SFC Code requires that a CMI disclose complete and accurate information in a timely manner on
the status of the order book and other relevant information it receives to targeted investors for them
to make an informed decision. In order to do this, those Joint Lead Managers in control of the order
book should consider disclosing order book updates to all CMIs.

When placing an order for the Capital Securities, private banks should disclose, at the same time, if
such order is placed other than on a “principal” basis (whereby it is deploying its own balance sheet
for onward selling to investors). Private banks who do not provide such disclosure are hereby deemed
to be placing their order on such a “principal” basis. Otherwise, such order may be considered to be
an omnibus order pursuant to the SFC Code. Private banks should be aware that placing an order on
a “principal” basis may require the relevant affiliated Joint Lead Manager(s) (if any) to categorise it
as a proprietary order and apply the “proprietary orders” requirements of the SFC Code to such order
and will result in that private bank not being entitled to, and not being paid, any rebate.

In relation to omnibus orders, when submitting such orders, CMIs (including private banks) that are
subject to the SFC Code should disclose underlying investor information in respect of each order
constituting the relevant omnibus order (failure to provide such information may result in that order
being rejected).

Underlying investor information in relation to omnibus orders should consist of:

The name of each underlying investor;

° A unique identification number for each investor;

° Whether an underlying investor has any “Associations” (as used in the SFC Code);

° Whether any underlying investor order is a “Proprietary Order” (as used in the SFC Code); and

° Whether any underlying investor order is a duplicate order.

Underlying investor information in relation to omnibus order should be sent to: johnnylee@ncb.com.hk;

jlee2866 @bloomberg.net; leatan @ncb.com.hk; Itan325 @bloomberg.net; jameschan@ncb.com.hk;
jameschan8 @bloomberg.net; lawrenceliao @ncb.com.hk; jliao129 @bloomberg.net;
bofa_dcm_syndicate_pb_orders@bofa.com; Project.Horizonll @bocigroup.com;

PROJECT_HORIZONII_DCM @ccbintl.com; DebtSyndicate @csci.hk; and Project_Horizon_II@cinda.com.hk

To the extent information being disclosed by CMIs and investors is personal and/or confidential in
nature, CMIs (including private banks) agree and warrant: (A) to take appropriate steps to safeguard
the transmission of such information to any OCs; and (B) that they have obtained the necessary
consents from the underlying investors to disclose such information to any OCs. By submitting an
order and providing such information to any OCs, each CMI (including private banks) further
warrants that they and the underlying investors have understood and consented to the collection,
disclosure, use and transfer of such information by any OCs and/or any other third parties as may be
required by the SFC Code, including to the Issuer, relevant regulators and/or any other third parties
as may be required by the SFC Code, for the purpose of complying with the SFC Code, during the
bookbuilding process for this offering. CMIs that receive such underlying investor information are
reminded that such information should be used only for submitting orders in this offering. The Joint
Lead Managers may be asked to demonstrate compliance with their obligations under the SFC Code,
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and may request other CMIs (including private banks) to provide evidence showing compliance with
the obligations above (in particular, that the necessary consents have been obtained). In such event,
other CMIs (including private banks) are required to provide the relevant Joint Lead Manager with
such evidence within the timeline requested.

United States

The Capital Securities have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act and may not
be offered or sold within the United States except in accordance with Regulation S or pursuant to any
other exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities Act.

Each Joint Lead Manager has represented that it has not offered or sold, and agrees that it will not
offer or sell any Capital Securities constituting part of its allotment within the United States except
in accordance with Rule 903 of Regulation S. Accordingly, neither it, its affiliates nor any persons
acting on its or their behalf have engaged or will engage in any directed selling efforts with respect
to the Capital Securities. Terms used in this paragraph have the meaning given to them by Regulation
S under the Securities Act.

United Kingdom
Each Joint Lead Manager has represented, warranted and agreed that:

(1) it has only communicated or caused to be communicated and will only communicate or cause to
be communicated an invitation or inducement to engage in investment activity (within the
meaning of Section 21 of the FSMA) received by it in connection with the issue or sale of any
Capital Securities in circumstances in which Section 21(1) of the FSMA does not apply to the
Issuer; and

(2) it has complied and will comply with all applicable provisions of the FSMA with respect to
anything done by it in relation to the Capital Securities in, from or otherwise involving the
United Kingdom.

Prohibition of Sales to EEA Retail Investors

Each Joint Lead Manager has represented, warranted and agreed that it has not offered, sold or
otherwise made available and will not offer, sell or otherwise make available any Capital Securities
which are the subject of the offering contemplated by this Offering Circular in relation thereto to any
retail investor in the European Economic Area. For the purposes of this provision, the expression
“retail investor” means a person who is one (or more) of the following:

(1) a retail client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II; or

(2) a customer within the meaning the Insurance Distribution Directive, where that customer would
not qualify as a professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of MiFID II.

Prohibition of Sales to UK Retail Investors

Each Joint Lead Manager has represented, warranted and agreed that it has not offered, sold or
otherwise made available and will not offer, sell or otherwise make available any Capital Securities
which are the subject of the offering contemplated by this Offering Circular in relation thereto to any
retail investor in the United Kingdom. For the purposes of this provision, the expression “retail
investor” means a person who is one (or more) of the following:

(1) a retail client, as defined in point (8) of Article 2 of Regulation (EU) No 2017/565 as it forms
part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA; or
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(2) acustomer within the meaning of the provisions of the FSMA and any rules or regulations made
under the FSMA to implement the Insurance Distribution Directive, where that customer would
not qualify as a professional client, as defined in point (8) of Article 2(1) of Regulation (EU)
No 600/2014 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA.

Hong Kong
Each Joint Lead Manager has represented, warranted and agreed that:

(1) it has not offered or sold and will not offer or sell in Hong Kong, by means of any document,
any Capital Securities other than (a) to “professional investors” as defined in the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571) of Hong Kong (the “SFO”) and any rules made under the SFO;
or (b) in other circumstances which do not result in the document being a “prospectus” as
defined in the Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance (Cap. 32) of
Hong Kong (the “C(WUMP)O”) or which do not constitute an offer to the public within the
meaning of the C(WUMP)O; and

(2) it has not issued or had in its possession for the purposes of issue, and will not issue or have in
its possession for the purposes of issue, whether in Hong Kong or elsewhere, any advertisement,
invitation or document relating to the Capital Securities, which is directed at, or the contents of
which are likely to be accessed or read by, the public of Hong Kong (except if permitted to do
so under the securities laws of Hong Kong) other than with respect to Capital Securities which
are or are intended to be disposed of only to persons outside Hong Kong or only to “professional
investors” as defined in the SFO and any rules made under the SFO.

The PRC

Each Joint Lead Manager has represented, warranted and agreed that no Capital Securities will be
offered or sold in the PRC (for such purposes, not including Hong Kong, the Macau Special
Administrative Region and Taiwan of the People’s Republic of China) directly or indirectly, except
in compliance with applicable laws and regulations. This Offering Circular does not constitute an
offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy any securities in the PRC to any person to whom it
is unlawful or make the offer or solicitation in the PRC.

Singapore

Each Joint Lead Manager has acknowledged that this Offering Circular has not been registered as a
prospectus with the Monetary Authority of Singapore. Accordingly, each Joint Lead Manager has
represented, warranted and agreed that it has not offered or sold any Capital Securities or caused the
Capital Securities to be made the subject of an invitation for subscription or purchase and will not
offer or sell any Capital Securities or cause the Capital Securities to be made the subject of an
invitation for subscription or purchase, and has not circulated or distributed, nor will it circulate or
distribute, this Offering Circular or any other document or material in connection with the offer or
sale, or invitation for subscription or purchase, of the Capital Securities, whether directly or
indirectly, to any person in Singapore other than (i) to an institutional investor (as defined in Section
4A of the SFA) pursuant to Section 274 of the SFA, (ii) to a relevant person (as defined in Section
275(2) of the SFA) pursuant to Section 275(1) of the SFA, or any person pursuant to Section 275(1A)
of the SFA, and in accordance with the conditions specified in Section 275 of the SFA, or (iii)
otherwise pursuant to, and in accordance with the conditions of, any other applicable provision of the
SFA.

Where the Capital Securities are subscribed or purchased under Section 275 of the SFA by a relevant
person which is:

(1) acorporation (which is not an accredited investor (as defined in Section 4A of the SFA)) the sole
business of which is to hold investments and the entire share capital of which is owned by one
or more individuals, each of whom is an accredited investor; or

142



(2) atrust (where the trustee is not an accredited investor) whose sole purpose is to hold investments
and each beneficiary of the trust is an individual who is an accredited investor,

securities or securities-based derivatives contracts (each term as defined in Section 2(1) of the SFA)
of that corporation or the beneficiaries’ rights and interest (howsoever described) in that trust shall
not be transferred within six months after that corporation or that trust has acquired the Capital
Securities pursuant to an offer made under Section 275 of the SFA, except:

(i) to an institutional investor or to a relevant person, or to any person arising from an offer referred
to in Section 275(1A) or Section 276(4)(c)(ii) of the SFA;

(i1) where no consideration is or will be given for the transfer;

(iii) where the transfer is by operation of law;

(iv) as specified in Section 276(7) of the SFA; or

(v) as specified in Regulation 37A of the Securities and Futures (Offers of Investments) (Securities
and Securities-based Derivatives Contracts) Regulations 2018.

Singapore SFA Product Classification — In connection with Section 309B of the SFA and the CMP
Regulations 2018, the Issuer has determined, and hereby notifies all relevant persons (as defined in
Section 309A(1) of the SFA), that the Capital Securities are ‘prescribed capital markets products’ (as
defined in the CMP Regulations 2018) and Excluded Investment Products (as defined in MAS Notice
SFA 04-N12: Notice on the Sale of Investment Products and MAS Notice FAA-NI16: Notice on
Recommendations on Investment Products).

Japan

The Capital Securities have not been and will not be registered under the Financial Instruments and
Exchange Act of Japan (Act No. 25 of 1948, as amended) (the “FIEA”) and each Joint Lead Manager
has represented, warranted and agreed that it will not offer or sell any Capital Securities, directly or
indirectly, in Japan or to, or for the benefit of, any resident of Japan (as defined under Item 5,
Paragraph 1, Article 6 of the Foreign Exchange and Foreign Trade Act (Act No. 228 of 1949, as
amended)), or to others for re-offering or resale, directly or indirectly, in Japan or to, or for the benefit
of, a resident of Japan, except pursuant to an exemption from the registration requirements of, and
otherwise in compliance with, the FIEA and any other applicable laws, regulations and ministerial
guidelines of Japan.

General

None of the Issuer or the Joint Lead Managers makes any representation that any action will be taken
in any jurisdiction by the Joint Lead Managers or the Issuer that would permit a public offering of
the Capital Securities, or possession or distribution of this Offering Circular (in preliminary, proof or
final form) or any other offering or publicity material relating to the Capital Securities, in any country
or jurisdiction where action for that purpose is required. The Issuer will not have any responsibility
for, and the Joint Lead Managers will obtain any consent, approval or permission required by them
for, the acquisition, offer, sale or delivery by them of Capital Securities under the laws and regulations
in force in any jurisdiction to which they are subject or in or from which they make any acquisition,
offer, sale or delivery. The Joint Lead Managers are not authorised to make any representation or use
any information in connection with the issue, subscription and sale of the Capital Securities other than
as contained in, or which is consistent with, the Offering Circular or any amendment or supplement
to it.

143



GENERAL INFORMATION

Clearing Systems: The Capital Securities have been accepted for clearance through Euroclear
and Clearstream with the Common Code of 258742168. The International Securities
Identification Number (“ISIN”) for the Capital Securities is XS2587421681.

Legal Entity Identifier: The Legal Entity Identifier of the Issuer is SC4P6WZO702RYEIU7J93.

Listing of Capital Securities: Application will be made to the SEHK for the listing of, and
permission to deal in, the Capital Securities. It is expected that dealing will, if permission is
granted to deal in and for the listing of the Capital Securities on the SEHK, commence on or
about 8 March 2023.

Litigation: Neither the Issuer nor any other member of the Group is involved in any litigation
or arbitration proceedings relating to claims or amounts which are material in the context of the
issue of the Capital Securities, nor is the Issuer or any other member of the Group aware that
any such proceedings are pending or threatened.

Authorisations: The Issuer has obtained all necessary consents, approvals and authorisations as
may be required in connection with the issue and performance of the Capital Securities,
including, but not limited to, approval by the Monetary Authority. The issue of the Capital
Securities was authorised by a resolution of the Board of Directors of the Issuer passed on 3
December 2021. Listing of the Capital Securities on the SEHK is conditional upon satisfaction
of the requirements of the SEHK, including execution of the Trust Deed and the Agency
Agreement relating to the Capital Securities.

No Material Adverse Change: Except as disclosed in this Offering Circular, there has been no
change, or any development or event involving a prospective change, which is materially adverse
to the condition (financial or otherwise), business, properties, prospects, results of operations or
management of the Issuer or the Group since 31 December 2021.

Available Documents: For so long as any of the Capital Securities is outstanding, copies of the
following documents may be (i) made available to Holders following prior written request and
satisfactory proof of holding during normal business hours (being between 9:00a.m. and 3:00
p-m., Monday to Friday, other than public holidays) by the Holders at the specified office of the
Principal Paying Agent at 160 Queen Victoria Street, London, EC4V 4LA, United Kingdom; or
(ii) provided by the Trustee via email to the relevant Holders following satisfactory proof of
holding, in each case, provided the Trustee and/or the Principal Paying Agent has been supplied
with the relevant documents by the Issuer:

(a) the Articles of Association of the Issuer;

(b) copies of the independent auditor’s reports of Ernst & Young, and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Issuer as at and for the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2021;

(c) copies of the independent auditor’s review report of Ernst & Young, and the unaudited
condensed consolidated financial information of the Issuer as at and for the six months
ended 30 June 2022;

(d) copies of the most recent annual and interim reports (including the financial statements)
published by the Issuer; and

(e) the Trust Deed and the Agency Agreement, each to be dated on or about 7 March 2023.
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Auditors: The audited consolidated financial statements of the Issuer as at and for the years
ended 31 December 2020 and 2021 included in this Offering Circular have been audited by Ernst
& Young, as stated in the auditor’s reports appearing in this Offering Circular in relation to such
consolidated financial statements.

The condensed consolidated financial statements of the Issuer as at and for the six months ended
30 June 2022 included in this Offering Circular have been reviewed by Ernst & Young, as stated
in the auditor’s review report appearing in this Offering Circular in relation to such condensed
consolidated financial statements.

Ernst & Young has given and not withdrawn its written consent to the issue of this Offering
Circular with references to its independent auditor’s reports on the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Issuer for the years as at and ended 31 December 2020 and 2021 and
unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements of the Group as at and for the six months
ended 30 June 2022 in the form and context in which they appear, respectively.
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Interest income
Interest expense

Net interest income

Fee and commission income
Fee and commission expense

Net fee and commission income

Net trading gain

Net gain on financial instruments at fair value

through profit or loss
Net gain on other financial assets
Other operating income

Net operating income before impairment

allowances

Net charge of impairment allowances

Net operating income
Operating expenses

Operating profit

Net loss from fair value adjustments on

investment properties

Net loss from disposal/revaluation of

properties, plant and equipment

Profit before taxation
Taxation

Profit for the period

Dividends

Condensed Consolidated Income Statement

(CR&F:T) CREFEED
(Unaudited) (Unaudited)
FEEHER PAEGTE R

2022 £ 2021 4F

6 H30H 6 H 30 H

Half-year ended Half-year ended

FffsE 30 June 30 June
Notes 2022 2021
BT BT T

HK$'000 HK$'000

5,965,139 5,816,200

(2,914,030) (2,605,679)

6 3,051,109 3,210,521
710,682 1,006,530

(40,031) (49,709)

7 670,651 956,821
8 222,738 46,836
370,503 182,505
9 187,069 67,502
10 8,437 11,963
4,510,507 4,476,148

1 (499,296) (682,999)
4,011,211 3,793,149

12 (1,684,559) (1,592,158)
2,326,652 2,200,991
13 (2,720) -
14 (14,061) (1,179)
2,309,871 2,199,812

15 (311,895) (285,982)
1,997,976 1,913,830
16 - -

The notes on pages 8 to 121 are an integral part of this interim financial information.
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Condensed Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive

Income
(R&FE=H) CREEFE)
(Unaudited) (Unaudited)
FEEER PAEGTEE
2022 &£ 2021 4
6 H30H 6 H30H
Half-year ended Half-year ended
30 June 30 June
2022 2021
BT AT
HK$'000 HK$'000
Profit for the period 1,997,976 1,913,830
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently
to income statement:
Equity instruments at fair value through other
comprehensive income:
Change in fair value of equity instruments at
fair value through other comprehensive
income (15,516) 2,485
Premises:
Revaluation of premises 21,677 47,051
Deferred tax 24,423 (959)
46,100 46,092
30,584 48,577
Iltems that may be reclassified subsequently to
income statement:
Debt instruments at fair value through other
comprehensive income:
Change in fair value of debt instruments at
fair value through other comprehensive
income (1,502,657) 194,656
Changes in allowance for expected credit
losses 16,264 29,673
Release upon disposal of debt instruments
at fair value through other comprehensive
income reclassified to income statement (187,169) (79,563)
Amortisation with respect to debt
instruments at fair value through other
comprehensive income transferred to at
amortised cost reclassified to income
statement - 3,269
Deferred tax 280,326 (26,989)
(1,393,236) 121,046
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HEGFEEEWEE Condensed Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive

(& Income (continued)

(CR&F:T) CREHEE
(Unaudited) (Unaudited)
FHELEHER PAELTE R
2022 &£ 2021 4%
6 H30H 6 H30H
Half-year ended Half-year ended
30 June 30 June
2022 2021
BT AT
HK$'000 HK$'000

A T TR A Change in fair value of hedging instruments
e under net investment hedges 97,713 (17,324)
R AR Currency translation difference (870,915) 142,323
(2,166,438) 246,045

HIWNBTR B EA 2 (BB W Other comprehensive (loss)/income for the
period, net of tax (2,135,854) 294,622

BN TE (F518) M za 48R Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the
period (137,878) 2,208,452

%E 8 & 121 H 2 Iffst @A HA % The notes on pages 8 to 121 are an integral part of this interim financial information.
Eiel 2 2RSS o
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ASSETS

Cash and balances with banks and other
financial institutions
Placements with banks and other financial

institutions maturing between one and twelve

months
Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss
Derivative financial instruments
Advances and other accounts
Financial investments
Investment properties
Properties, plant and equipment
Deferred tax assets
Other assets

Total assets

LIABILITIES

Deposits and balances from banks and other
financial institutions

Financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss

Derivative financial instruments

Deposits from customers

Debt securities and certificates of deposit in
issue

Other accounts and provisions

Current tax liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities

Subordinated liabilities

Total liabilities
EQUITY

Share capital
Reserves

Total equity attributable to owners of the parent

Additional equity instruments

Total equity

Total liabilities and equity

Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet

GRS s )
(Unaudited) (Audited)

i 2022 4 1A 2021 4

6 H30H 12 H31H
ffsE At 30 June At 31 December
Notes 2022 2021
AT ATIT

HK$'000 HK$'000

17 52,654,437 64,703,312
17 10,671,065 2,684,141
18 25,407,052 27,022,570
19 1,618,182 834,964
20 292,643,157 292,037,365
21 143,291,816 138,007,929
22 406,440 327,610
23 9,270,847 8,759,766
29 366,720 352,791
24 2,279,402 1,600,552
538,609,118 536,331,000

34,534,544 21,653,972

25 6,428,456 6,415,312
19 1,131,641 814,670
26 369,451,957 383,781,386
27 39,836,057 31,755,227
28 19,234,206 19,022,499
355,912 289,842

29 528,035 812,882
30 5,486,610 5,451,286
476,987,418 469,997,076

31 3,144,517 3,144,517
53,399,327 53,874,517

56,543,844 57,019,034

32 5,077,856 9,314,890
61,621,700 66,333,924

538,609,118 536,331,000

The notes on pages 8 to 121 are an integral part of this interim financial information.
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Condensed Consolidated Statement of Changes in

Equity
(REH#)
(Unaudited)
ekt
Reserves
AV ]
Bt AH A2
i g A i
BE Reserve for
FHNAARTR E=trn i fair value
[il43 Additional A Premises through other [asegs Al TR HIFEF]
Share equity Capital revaluation ~ comprehensive Regulatory Translation Retained dEst
capital instruments reserve reserve income reserve* reserve earnings Total
BT BETIT BT AT BT BT BT BT AT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
At 1 January 2021 3,144,517 9,314,890 605 6,380,959 494,873 2,453,479 546,652 40,691,746 63,027,721
Profit for the period - - - - - - - 1,913,830 1,913,830
Other comprehensive
income:
Premises - - - 46,092 - - - - 46,092
Financial instruments at
fair value through
other comprehensive
income - - - - 123,531 - - - 123,531
Change in fair value of
hedging instruments
under net
investment hedges - - - - - - (17,324) - (17,324)
Currency translation
difference - - - 2,873 (27) - 139,477 - 142,323
Total comprehensive income - - - 48,965 123,504 - 122,153 1,913,830 2,208,452
Distribution payment for
additional equity
instruments - (232,815) - - - - - - (232,815)
Transfer from retained
earnings - 232,815 - - - 218,561 - (451,376) -
AL30 June 2021 3,144,517 9,314,890 605 6,429,924 618,377 2,672,040 668,805 42,154,200 65,003,358
At 1 July 2021 3,144,517 9,314,890 605 6,429,924 618,377 2,672,040 668,805 42,154,200 65,003,358
Profit for the period - - - - - - - 1,317,257 1,317,257
Other comprehensive
income:
Premises - - - 24,537 - - - - 24,537
Actuarial gains on
defined benefit plan - - - - - - - 3,282 3,282
Financial instruments at
fair value through
other comprehensive
income - - - - (111,618) - - - (111,618)
Change in fair value of
hedging instruments
under net
investment hedges - - - - - - (43,597) - (43,597)
Currency translation
difference - - - 7,230 (56) - 367,453 - 374,627
Total comprehensive income - - - 31,767 (111,674) - 323,856 1,320,539 1,564,488
Distribution payment for
additional equity
instruments - (233,922) - - - - - - (233,922)
Transfer from/(to) retained
earnings - 233,922 - - - (35,996) - (197,926) -
At 31 December 2021 3,144,517 9,314,890 605 6,461,691 506,703 2,636,044 992,661 43,276,813 66,333,924
5
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Condensed Consolidated Statement of Changes in

Equity (continued)

Rzt
(Unaudited)
]
Reserves
ASfE
BLET AT M
AR
EE Reserve for
FHINEETH B fair value
)17 Additional AR Premises  through other B BEEG AEEF]
Share equity Capital revaluation comprehensive Regulatory  Translation Retained fast
capital _instruments reserve reserve income reserve* reserve earnings Total
T BHTT  AWTT BT T T T BETT AT T ETT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
H20224£1H1H At 1 January 2022 3,144,517 9,314,890 605 6,461,691 506,703 2,636,044 992,661 43,276,813 66,333,924
HARIRSH] Profit for the period - - - - - - - 1,997,976 1,997,976
Hi2ERRS Other comprehensive
income:
BE Premises - - - 46,100 - - - - 46,100
AREBEEFAEAE  Financial instruments
SHEEEZ ST at fair value
B through other
comprehensive
income - - - - (1,408,752) - - - (1,408,752)
BICRENPTREMT.  Changein fair value
Rz AR ERE of hedging
instruments under
net investment
hedges - - - - - - 97,713 - 97,713
R Currency translation
difference - - - (17,154) (7,464) - (846,297) - (870,915)
LEEESEE Total comprehensive
income - - - 28,946 (1,416,216) - (748584) 1,997,976 (137,878)
HEEHE e Release upon disposal
of premises - - - (17,003) - - - 17,003 -
BTAINEARTE ! Issue of additional
equity instruments® 5,077,856 - - - - - - 5,077,856
EEAENEATE Redemption of the
additional equity
instruments (9,314,890) - - - - - (101,932)  (9,416,822)
SAEINEARTHES  Distribution payment
for additional equity
instruments - (235,380) - - - - - - (235,380)
BB /(Z)BFEN Transfer from/(to) retained
earnings - 235,380 - - - (124,158) - (111,222) -
F20224F6 H30H  At30June2022 3,144,517 __ 5,077,856 605 _ 6,473,634 (909,513) _ 2,511,886 244,077 _ 45,078,638 _ 61,621,700

1IN > AFTEITHEY 51 RIT(GET 6.5
)R ATE RET KA — R 27
VESNAR TR ) - BRSBTS
2,200 T AN » WHEHINTAT
Fepilps -

* BRESECTRHURE RS - R ERER
RSy O R R R B R (SR T — R
B2 (RS ARARIRA S A A o T
) o

%5 8 £ 121 B Z @A 7S
Bt SHRED Y -

1. During the period, the Bank issued HK$5,100 million (US$650 million) perpetual non-cumulative subordinated additional

tier 1 capital securities (“additional equity instruments”). Direct issuance costs of HK$22 million are accounted for as a

deduction from the additional equity instruments.

* In accordance with the requirements of the HKMA, the amounts are set aside for general banking risks, including future

losses or other unforeseeable risks, in addition to the loan impairment allowances recognised.

The notes on pages 8 to 121 are an integral part of this interim financial information.
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Condensed Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

CGR&E&ED) s
(Unaudited) (Unaudited)
FEEHS JEERE
2022 4 2021 4
6 H30H 6 H 30 H
Half-year ended Half-year ended
Bt 30 June 30 June
Notes 2022 2021
BT BT IT
HK$'000 HK$'000
Cash flows from operating activities
Operating cash outflow before taxation 33(a) (1,401,544) (4,930,829)
Hong Kong profits tax paid (109,545) (108,573)
Overseas profits tax paid (150,551) (176,724)
Net cash outflow from operating activities (1,661,640) (5,216,126)
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of properties, plant and equipment (1,206,694) (70,145)
Proceeds from disposal of properties, plant
and equipment 11,312 5
Net cash outflow from investing activities (1,195,382) (70,140)
Cash flows from financing activities
Issuance of additional equity instruments 5,077,856 -
Issue of debt securities and certificates of
deposit 8,080,830 3,703,300
Redemption of additional equity instruments (9,416,822) -
Distribution payment for additional equity
instruments (235,380) (232,815)
Distribution payment for subordinated
liabilities (104,375) (103,271)
Payment of lease liabilities (128,069) (106,268)
Net cash inflow from financing activities 3,274,040 3,260,946
Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash
equivalents 417,018 (2,025,320)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 56,384,885 49,739,227
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and
cash equivalents (720,224) 162,214
Cash and cash equivalents at 30 June 33(b) 56,081,679 47,876,121

The notes on pages 8 to 121 are an integral part of this interim financial information.
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T HARA B ORI Notes to the Interim Financial Information
1. —fEEs 1. General Information

R EIRITEIRA SRR A Nanyang Commercial Bank, Limited was incorporated in Hong Kong (hereinafter as the

FEfMEIr CTHE TASYT ) K “Bank”) and its subsidiaries were incorporated in Hong Kong or Shanghai (together with the

Hf B A FA AT FIFROL Bank hereinafter as the “Group”). The Bank is a licensed bank authorised under the Hong
(PANEEASRITH M T A% Kong Banking Ordinance.

B ) o AT R RIEE AR

SEARBI PR E R0 ] FhRsR

T

RERTT FERERT MM The principal activities of the Bank are the provision of banking and related financial services.
SERIRTS - ASRIT Z T A =Y The principal activities of the Bank’s subsidiaries are shown in “Appendix — Subsidiaries of
FEIEFE M5 — ARIT the Bank”. The address of the Bank’s registered office is 151 Des Voeux Road Central, Hong
M AT s A - ASRITZ A E]RE Kong.

i st 1k Ry T B o B A

15155 -



% NCB i 7% 44t

T HABA B B b Notes to the Interim Financial Information (continued)
(&)

2. BUECER FEEGHBEE 2. Basis of preparation and significant accounting policies

(a) SmBSEeE (a) Basis of preparation
LR P S A The unaudited interim financial information has been prepared in accordance with HKAS
o iR E AR A S 34 “Interim Financial Reporting” issued by the HKICPA.

a2 TR 34
St T S R TR -

(b) FHEGHBER (b) Significant accounting policies
AL 2 h AR Rk The significant accounting policies adopted and methods of computation used in the
FITEE A 2 F B Bk Rt preparation of the unaudited interim financial information are consistent with those
B > BRIl E4 2022 adopted and used in the Group’s annual financial statements for the year ended 31
F1HLHE > %A E December 2021 and should be read in conjunction with the Group’s Annual Report for
SIS > YELER A 2021 2021 except for those impacted by the new amendments that became effective on or
HI2H31H (E 2 AREEEE after 1 January 2022, as stated below.
WA T 2 4m B AR — 50
7 [ AR 202147 2 A
e —OFRE -
Esa M 20224£1 H 1H Amendments that are relevant to the Group and mandatorily effective for the first
RERBN g EEE RER time for the financial year beginning on 1 January 2022

ZEASEARRRTEET

RESAER 2
Applicable for
(=) HE financial years
Amendments Content beginning on/after
ARV AR 3 9% (8(EAT) RESHEZES: 2022 1H1H
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework 1 January 2022
o  HRMEITWEN > HS » Please refer to Note 2.1(b) of the Group’s Annual Report for 2021 for brief explanations
foel A5 [ 2021 4 2 AR of the amendment.
e 9 AR I R
2.1(b)*H °
9
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Notes to the Interim Financial Information (continued)

2. BUECER FEEGHBEE 2. Basis of preparation and significant accounting policies (continued)

(8D
(b) ETEFBE (8D

(b) Significant accounting policies (continued)

T8 5 3tz 5 2 2 I AH R AE Amendments and interpretation issued that are relevant to the Group but not yet
KREREIME BB A AL effective and have not been early adopted by the Group in 2022
B 2022 BEATRR @ 2 85T
K2
FELAE Z R
Applicable for
BT/ R W& financial years
Amendments/interpretation Content beginning on/after
FAGEHERIE 1597 (&&&5T) MEEIEREN & E 3 202341 H1H
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Current or Non-current liabilities 1 January 2023
EARREE 5 9% (2020) IR 2 - BT E RN B S SN 538 20234 1H1H

HK Int 5 (2020)

Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification by the
Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on
Demand Clause

1 January 2023

FAEGRTEERIEE 1 SR A LR
EHREE 298 (818D

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS
Practice Statement 2

St B R

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

2023 F1H1H

1 January 2023

EAEEHEAIE 8 5% (&423T)
Amendments to HKAS 8

Gt EETER

Definition of Accounting Estimates

202341 H1H
1 January 2023

AR 12 58 (&4&37)
Amendments to HKAS 12

S BRI By A Y B B A (R BRI AR AE RS

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction

2023 1A 1H
1 January 2023

o HEAEET R R E
7 SRR L2021
27 SN
FIFEE21(0)H -

Please refer to Note 2.1(b) of the Group’s Annual Report for 2021 for brief explanations

of the amendments and interpretation.

10
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T EAR RSB R Notes to the Interim Financial Information (continued)
(&)
3. [EFHEETECRIEZEAR® 3. Critical accounting estimates and judgements in applying

sl R A accounting policies
AEE G GHAIMEE R R The nature and assumptions related to the Group’s accounting estimates are consistent with

PR S E E 2021412 H 31 those used in the Group’s financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021.
HNA RS e AT BRI —2L -

11
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Notes to the Interim Financial Information (continued)

4. Financial risk management

The Group is exposed to financial risks as a result of engaging in a variety of business activities.
The principal financial risks are credit risk, market risk (including currency risk and interest rate
risk) and liquidity risk. This note summarises the Group’s exposures to these risks.

4.1 Credit Risk
(A) Gross advances and other accounts

(a) Impaired advances

Advances are credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows of the advances have occurred. Credit-
impaired advances are classified as Stage 3. The Group identifies the advances as
impaired if the exposure is past due for more than 90 days or the borrower is unlikely
to pay in full for the credit obligations to the Group

12
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4. SREREE ()

4.1 ERERE (8D

(A) $EEKRFHAMRT

4. Financial risk management (continued)

4.1 Credit Risk (continued)

€:-))

(a) BESK (8D

TRE 55 P EGREE
#

it AR
B e (R

ik B AU R
ENEFERZ
AT E

FACEEAR S
ZEPERK

TREEFHTEE
HUCEGR AR i fE
-

% 202246 H
30 H - JZAIRIE
ZHEGTE
(2021 4 12 3
31H ) -

(A) Gross advances and other accounts (continued)

(a) Impaired advances (continued)

Notes to the Interim Financial Information (continued)

A 2022 4 A 2021 4
6 H30H 12H31H
At 30 June At 31 December
2021 2021
BT AT
HK$'000 HK$'000
Gross impaired advances to customers
4,157,366 4,429,091
Impairment allowances made in respect of
such advances 2,333,865 2,532,041
Current market value of collateral held
against the covered portion of such
advances to customers 2,981,342 4,225,070
Covered portion of such advances to
customers 883,224 1,314,864
Uncovered portion of such advances to
customers 3,274,142 3,114,227

The impairment allowances were made after taking into account the value of

collateral in respect of such advances.

As at 30 June 2022, there were no impaired trade bills (31 December 2021: Nil).

13
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T EAR RSB R Notes to the Interim Financial Information (continued)
(&)

4, SRRBEE (8B 4. Financial risk management (continued)

4.1 (EEEE (&) 4.1 Credit Risk (continued)
(A) QB EHANEETE (A) Gross advances and other accounts (continued)
(&
(a) BESEZK (8) (a) Impaired advances (continued)
FEE R E Classified or impaired advances to customers are analysed as follows:
2B ET
A
7 2022 4 2021 F
6H30H 12H731H
At 30 June At 31 December
2022 2021
BT AT
HK$'000 HK$'000
F§ 78 3 SR ER(E Gross classified or impaired advances to
2R PR customers
] 4,157,366 4,429,091
F§ 78 43 B ECRUE Gross classified or impaired advances to
ZEEERE customers as a percentage of gross
HEEPER advances to customers
L EIERES 1.41% 1.50%
5= E 2 RE Impairment allowances - Stage 3
AEff 2,333,865 2,532,041
FETE Sy SR ECRE Classified or impaired advances to customers represent advances which are either
ZEFPERERE classified as “substandard”, “doubtful” or “loss” under the Group’s classification of
WAREEEE loan quality, or classified as Stage 3.

B EN K
Gy TR
TR B
o = R A 5
EZd
e

14
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(A) $EEKRFHAMRT

€:-))
(b) iR 3 (@A
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Notes to the Interim Financial Information (continued)

4. Financial risk management (continued)

4.1 Credit Risk (continued)

(A) Gross advances and other accounts (continued)

(b) Advances overdue for more than three months

Advances with a specific repayment date are classified as overdue when the
principal or interest is past due and remains unpaid. Advances repayable by regular
instalments are classified as overdue when an instalment payment is past due and
remains unpaid. Advances repayable on demand are classified as overdue either
when a demand for repayment has been served on the borrower but repayment has
not been made in accordance with the instruction or when the advances have
remained continuously exceeded the approved limit that was advised to the
borrower.

15
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AR s AT RE
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4. SREREE ()

Notes to the Interim Financial Information (continued)

4. Financial risk management (continued)

4.1 ERERE (8D
(A) $EEKRFHAMRT

4.1 Credit Risk (continued)

(A) Gross advances and other accounts (continued)

(€:-))
(b) #HAE®E 3EA (b) Advances overdue for more than three months (continued)
2B (8)
ArHAEE M 3 (E H >~ The gross amount of advances overdue for more than three months is analysed as
ERKEE follows:
o
202246 H30H #2021 4E 12 F 31 H
At 30 June 2022 At 31 December 2021
LiEd = 17 = SRR
Btk B4tk
% of gross % of gross
&5 advances to S5 advances to
Amount customers Amount customers
AT AT IT
HK$'000 HK$'000
B Gross advances to
[t C customers which
have been
overdue for:
- i 3{EHE - six months or
i 6 @ less but over
H three months 1,517,149 0.51% 22,362 0.01%
- 8 6 {EHE - one year or
g 14 less but over
six months 133,368 0.05% 1,361,263 0.46%
- il 1A - over one year 1,627,221 0.55% 690,243 0.23%
HHAEE 3 A Advances overdue
B for over three
months 3,277,738 1.11% 2,073,868 0.70%
PSR BB Impairment
i allowances —
Stage 3 1,901,896 1,288,558

16
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thERR BRIk Notes to the Interim Financial Information (continued)
(&)

4, SRRBEE (8B 4. Financial risk management (continued)

4.1 (EEEE (&) 4.1 Credit Risk (continued)
(A) QB EHANEETE (A) Gross advances and other accounts (continued)
(€:-))
(b) BEHEEIMEAE 2 (b) Advances overdue for more than three months (continued)
% (8
#2022 48 72 2021 4
6 H30H 12H31H
At 30 June At 31 December
2022 2021
BT ARETIT
HK$'000 HK$'000
[ =ElwpeTt ] Current market value of collateral held
HNEFERZ against the covered portion of such
A T E advances to customers 2,465,951 1,054,616
AR Covered portion of such advances to
TEPEER customers 560,860 234,607
B SIESECLITY: | Uncovered portion of such advances to
EIRPER customers 2,716,878 1,839,261
i HE S el R E Collateral held against overdue or impaired loans is principally represented by
BRI AT charges over business assets such as commercial and residential premises for
FHREANERE corporate loans and mortgages over residential properties for personal loans.
FIE TR &
EWEEREE
BFE-EARER
HTHEEEE
Y -
2022 46 H 30 As at 30 June 2022, there were no trade bills overdue for more than three months
H A A 3 (31 December 2021: Nil).

(CIEEA-SZT 5
(2021412 A 31
H:f® -

17
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4.1 ERERE (8D
(A) $EEKRFHAMRT

€:-))
(c) REELEETK

KEAZR P ERF
(TR
B CimiEE 3
8 HZ &5k &6
53)

HEMERIER
J5 TR s B B IR e =
fERE AR T
KIRTTHLE P DT
SR EREER
SHEIZ B M
REMEET I E R
R RLFE B BB
B EIEm M -
BRI BET#lRZ
K E A E R T
a3 (8 H - AlE
FEAE TR 3 (i
AZ& W -

Notes to the Interim Financial Information (continued)

4. Financial risk management (continued)

4.1 Credit Risk (continued)

(A) Gross advances and other accounts (continued)

(c) Rescheduled advances

202246 H30H 22021412 F 31 H
At 30 June 2022 At 31 December 2021
5% = EREEER (EEdahs ek
Btk Btk
% of gross % of gross
&5H advances to 4% advances to
Amount customers Amount customers
BT AT
HK$'000 HK$'000
Rescheduled
advances to
customers net of
amounts included
in “Advances
overdue for more
than three
months” 33,908 0.01% 861,137 0.29%

Rescheduled advances are those advances that have been restructured or
renegotiated between the bank and borrowers because of deterioration in the
financial position of the borrower or of the inability of the borrower to meet the
original repayment schedule, and the revised repayment terms, either of interest or
the repayment period, are “non-commercial” to the Group. Rescheduled advances,
which have been overdue for more than three months under the revised repayment
terms, are included in “Advances overdue for more than three months”.

18
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4. SREREE ()

4. Financial risk management (continued)

4.1 ERERE (8D

(A) $EEKRFHAMRT

4.1 Credit Risk (continued)

(A) Gross advances and other accounts (continued)

Notes to the Interim Financial Information (continued)

(€:-))
(d) ZPEmERE (d) Concentration of advances to customers
Fo o B 1 1 o Geographical analysis of gross advances to customers
2% P EE AR
THINERE & The following geographical analysis of advances to customers is based on the
SR 2 3 B T 3 4y location of the counterparties, after taking into account the transfer of risk. For an
MR A 5 % advance to customer guaranteed by a party situated in a country different from the
FZETERE > E customer, the risk will be transferred to the country of the guarantor.
B sz R B e 7%
Z - BRFERZ
¥ O A P A 3t B
EEHTERARE
R b i i s 2
RN Z et -
=g gt i Gross advances to customers
#2022 48 72 2021 4F
65 30H 12 H31H
At 30 June At 31 December
2022 2021
AT AT
HK$'000 HK$'000
a5 Hong Kong 189,591,964 186,752,209
R P Mainland of China 91,656,247 96,907,944
A Others 14,258,223 11,902,708
295,506,434 295,562,861
M S ERRAEREE Impairment allowances — stage 1 and R 2022 4£ A 2021 4F
F—HE B, 2 in respect of the gross advances 6 H30H 12H31H
IR to customers At 30 June At 31 December
2022 2021
AT AT
HK$'000 HK$'000
Tk Hong Kong 736,666 687,609
5] A Mainland of China 790,049 736,748
A Others 62,584 56,618
1,589,299 1,480,975
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4. Financial risk management (continued)

4.1 Credit Risk (continued)

(A) Gross advances and other accounts (continued)

(d) Concentration of advances to customers (continued)

Notes to the Interim Financial Information (continued)

Geographical analysis of gross advances to customers (continued)

Overdue advances

Hong Kong
Mainland of China
Others

Impairment allowances — Stage 3 in
respect of the overdue advances

Hong Kong
Mainland of China
Others

Impairment allowances — Stage 1 and
2 in respect of the overdue

advances

Hong Kong
Mainland of China
Others

20
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2022 4 #2021 4
6 H30H 12 A 31 H
At 30 June At 31 December
2022 2021
AT T AT
HK$'000 HK$'000
2,127,210 635,665
1,613,306 1,074,114
1,043,103 1,064,339
4,783,619 2,774,118
2022 &£ s 2021
6 H30H 12H31H
At 30 June At 31 December
2022 2021
AT BT
HK$'000 HK$'000
1,034,021 216,517
695,209 681,012
520,303 516,360
2,249,533 1,413,889
2022 48 1t 2021 £
6 H30H 12H31H
At 30 June At 31 December
2022 2021
AT AT T
HK$'000 HK$'000
2,627 1,875
28,352 7,478
- 42
30,979 9,395
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thERR BRIk Notes to the Interim Financial Information (continued)

4, SEEEEE (8 4. Financial risk management (continued)
4.1 (EEEE (&) 4.1 Credit Risk (continued)
(A) QB EHANEETE (A) Gross advances and other accounts (continued)
(€:-))
d) ZREEHR&ERE (d) Concentration of advances to customers (continued)
(&)
o7 b P T 85 40 S Geographical analysis of gross advances to customers (continued)
2R P AR
(%)
HEESERRES Classified or impaired advances
&
2022 4 1 2021 £
65 30H 12 H31H
At 30 June At 31 December
2022 2021
HERETIT BT
HK$'000 HK$'000
&k Hong Kong 1,891,517 1,443,185
o [gR] A Mainland of China 1,222,933 1,951,421
HAth Others 1,042,916 1,034,485
4,157,366 4,429,091
PR S SRR Impairment allowances — Stage 3 in #2022 &£ #2021 4
EFfEE=MEE respect of the classified or 6 FH30H 12H31H
IR impaired advances At 30 June At 31 December
2022 2021
AT AT
HK$'000 HK$'000
i Hong Kong 1,037,445 799,072
o R P Mainland of China 776,117 1,216,609
HAh Others 520,303 516,360
2,333,865 2,532,041
21
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hERRISERIEE Notes to the Interim Financial Information (continued)
(&)

4. SRUEREE () 4. Financial risk management (continued)

4.1 (EEEE (&) 4.1 Credit Risk (continued)
(B) WEIEE (B) Repossessed assets

REEEA 202246 H The estimated market value of repossessed assets held by the Group as at 30 June
30 HEFAMULEEE 2022 amounted to HK$31,900,000 (31 December 2021: HK$13,720,000). They
Z i H B B K comprise properties in respect of which the Group has acquired access or control (e.g.
31,900,000 j: (2021 through court proceedings or voluntary actions by the proprietors concerned) for release
12 H 31 H ki in full or in part of the obligations of the borrowers.

13,720,000 7t )= iafl

i A 3 2 A

ST ASE ST )

Yz (AmE AR

Fr ek F B FRAS R

Mg EI RIS T
HIERARIHEBSET
SREGED YRR -

22
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4.1 Credit Risk (continued)

TRBLFTIRSY
W2 BFs 8 55 B Ak
IREIE - FEESAT
SPRAIIEL S o Rl

4. Financial risk management (continued)

(C) Debt securities and certificates of deposit

Notes to the Interim Financial Information (continued)

The following tables present an analysis of the carrying value of debt securities and
certificates of deposit by issue rating. In the absence of such issue ratings, the ratings
designated for the issuers are reported.

AT NI BT 4R
O
DIAREEYES AR At fair value through
HieNElE other
comprehensive
income
DI A BT B At amortised cost
UAnEREst AR  Atfair value
=5 through profit or
loss
aaet Total
DA fES(EsE AL Atfair value through
T W other )
comprehensive
income
DU R A ST & At amortised cost
DA o fE#(EEF AdE  Atfair value through
5 profit or loss
HEET Total

2022426 H 30 H
At 30 June 2022

A3 BI'F

Aal Z Aa3 Al & A3 Lower SRR 485t

Aaa Aal to Aa3 Alto A3 than A3 Unrated Total

AT AT AT AT AT AT

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

8,284,979 48,048,020 70,623,192 10,928,389 4,154,809 142,039,389

- 613,573 77,421 - - 690,994

- 7,398,660 - - 244,566 7,643,226

8,284,979 56,060,253 70,700,613 10,928,389 4,399,375 150,373,609

2021412 H 31 H
At 31 December 2021
A3 DT

Aal F Aa3 Al Z A3 Lower HEEPAR 4zt

Aaa Aal to Aa3 Alto A3 than A3 Unrated Total

BT EHCFL  BMSTL BNTT BNTT ST T

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000

2,709,026 35,140,804 79,140,470 14,515,620 5,859,590 137,365,510

- 7,252,326 - - 759,598 8,011,924

2,709,026 42,393,130 79,140,470 14,515,620 6,619,188 145,377,434
23
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Notes to the Interim Financial Information (continued)

€-))

4. SREREE ()

4.1 EHER (8D

4.1 Credit Risk (continued)

4. Financial risk management (continued)

(C) mEEHRAE
(8

TR IR B E
2B FH R ARG
6 H 30 HigdTaT
BB 5yt AEIEESTTRY
ARV > Al i ds

(C) Debt securities and certificates of deposit (continued)

The following tables present an analysis of debt securities and certificates of deposit
neither overdue nor impaired as at 30 June by issue rating. In the absence of such issue
ratings, the ratings designated for the issuers are reported.

(EPNIEE &=
202246 H30H
At 30 June 2022
A3 BIF
Aal & Aa3 Al & A3 Lower REPER, dEst
Aaa Aalto Aa3 Alto A3 than A3 Unrated Total
BT AT BT BETIT  BYTT BT
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’'000
DIAREHEEEF AR At fair value through
e other
comprehensive
income 8,284,979 48,048,020 70,623,192 10,928,389 4,154,809 142,039,389
IR S W N = At amortised cost - 613,573 77,421 - - 690,994
DI EE(LEF AR At fair value through
25 profit or loss - 7,398,660 - - 214,669 7,613,329
8,284,979 56,060,253 70,700,613 10,928,389 4,369,478 150,343,712
22021412 H 31 H
At 31 December 2021
A3 DUF
Aal # Aa3 Al & A3 Lower SHEEFAR gt
Aaa Aal to Aa3 Alto A3 than A3 Unrated Total
BT AT AT BT AT AT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
PIA o ES EsE A At fair value through
= TR 2 other
comprehensive
income 2,709,026 35,140,804 79,140,470 14,515,620 5,859,590 137,365,510
DU BRI AEET & At amortised cost - - - - - -
DIA o EE{EEF AJE At fair value through
T profit or loss - 7,252,326 - - 728,326 7,980,652
2,709,026 42,393,130 79,140,470 14,515,620 6,587,916 145,346,162
24
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thERR BRIk Notes to the Interim Financial Information (continued)
(&)

4, SEEEEE (8 4. Financial risk management (continued)

4.1 EEER (8) 4.1 Credit Risk (continued)
(C) BB S RERE (C) Debt securities and certificates of deposit (continued)
(&
T B ESEEE The following tables present an analysis of impaired or overdue debt securities by issue
BEE %5 2 BTy rating. In the absence of such issue ratings, the ratings designated for the issuers are
M7 o TESESE TR AR TS reported.
BT Bllgrastt Amy
202246 H30H
At 30 June 2022
SR e
Carrying values BETREER
Of which
A3 DUF accumulated
Aal & Aa3 Al & A3 Lower IRETLR &&=t impairment
Aaa Aalto Aa3 Alto A3 than A3 Unrated Total allowances
BT BT BB BT BT BT BT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
DAMRESEEEFAIE At fair value
25 through profit
or loss - - - - 29,897 29,897
DIAAREEEET AR Debt securities
il 2 TE WS 2 MR at fair value
b through other
comprehensive
income - - - - - - 183,239

Fep : BRPBMERERE  Of which

accumulated

impairment

allowances - - - - 183,239 183,239
202246 H30H: As at 30 June 2022, there were no impaired or overdue certificates of deposit.
2R B B 2 A7

EZ 43
KRS, °
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DI el bat AR

DI el bt A
b T S 2 2 0
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7 2021 4 12 B 31

4.1 Credit Risk (continued)

4. Financial risk management (continued)

(C) Debt securities and certificates of deposit (continued)

202112 H31 H
At 31 December 2021

Notes to the Interim Financial Information (continued)

HRIAIE Hrp e
Carrying values RETRE R
Of which
A3 LI accumulated
Aal £ Aa3 Al % A3 Lower TR 4=t impairment
Aaa  Aalto Aa3 Alto A3 than A3 Unrated Total allowances
AT AT AT BT BT AT AT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
At fair value
through profit or
loss - - 31,272 31,272
Debt securities at
fair value
through other
comprehensive
income - - - 182,098
Of which
accumulated
impairment
allowances - - 182,098 182,098

H A RESGa

26
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As at 31 December 2021, there were no impaired or overdue certificates of deposit.
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Notes to the Interim Financial Information (continued)

4. Financial risk management (continued)

4.1 Credit Risk (continued)

(D) The impact of COVID-19 on credit risk

COVID-19 variants continued to spread across the world, causing multiple rounds of
impact on the economy. The Group actively facilitated the relief measures rolled out by
the Central People's Government and the Government of the HKSAR during the
pandemic and assisted customers affected by the pandemic.

The Group continues to manage its business operations during the pandemic, and
closely monitor and reduce the impact of the pandemic on customers. For loans and
advances, the Group comprehensively strengthens and improves pre-approval and
post-lending risk management practice, adopts appropriate measures in response to
the latest economic conditions, strengthens portfolio and customer level monitoring and
communications with borrowers in order to have better understanding on changes in
creditworthiness of borrowers and perform risk assessment in a more timely manner,
and take instant risk mitigation measures to safeguard the Bank's interest. In view of the
quick spread of the Omicron variant around the world, which is expected to deal a severe
blow to the economic recovery, the Group has conducted an ad-hoc COVID-19
pandemic stress test in the first half of 2022 to assess the potential impact of the
Omicron variant on credit risk, risk-weighted assets, impairment allowances and capital
adequacy ratio.
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thERR BRIk Notes to the Interim Financial Information (continued)
(&)

4, SRRBEE (8B 4. Financial risk management (continued)

4.1 EEER (8) 4.1 Credit Risk (continued)
(E) Kz ERERT (E) The impact of Mainland China real estate exposure on credit risk
HEERRIPE

S N M B M E AT In light of the market downturn and tight liquidity issue for property development sector in

YT KR DL R Mainland China, the Bank's credit exposures to related sectors are also affected and there

TRENMEERIRARE 0 A are several default cases occurred. The Bank has adjusted the customer credit rating and

ITHHEBITE R level of provisioning in response to changes in credit risk.

BEINZEIE A

&R #5215 = Hi B2

4 - KITEHRERR

JEBR ARSI AL >

BIE O RE S

FEAHMETT R E 2 -

By JHE S PN b 5 3 In response to rising risks in property development sector in Mainland China, the Bank has

Rl bt A taken the following measures:

T BRELLL T HE i

TR e

1)  hi5E 5k E A (1)  Strengthen the concentration risk management for real estate related sector, set
& oh 1 T B internal goal to reduce the concentration risk for relevant sectors, and adopt stricter
B B NEE mechanisms to control new loans granted to relevant sectors.

FRERE DU
H BH 17 SE HY 5
Hh R - ER
B B % 1 A T
2 7 54 s 4

2)  nsEENEAA 2) Strengthen the credit review for property development related sectors in Mainland
EWEREEN China, prudently assess credit risks for both industry and borrower level, and adjust
& FBIEFETT the credit underwriting requirement for the relevant sectors.

EREEEE
JEg » ST
BEAEK -

(3) HEUIE A 3) Closely monitor the development of the mainland real estate sector, strengthen early
B EITEN warning and risk alert process, promptly assess and follow up in response to credit
SEFEAE N > 58 changes for identifying customers with potential risks, formulate and execute
JeE\ B TE 22 Ry mitigation measures in a timely manner, in order to prevent asset quality
e deterioration.

il JeEL B sz B2
fEF&EEEL

DL a8 1l V& 1
fgag 5 0 A R g
il E R T
IR - 5
IFEEES
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Notes to the Interim Financial Information (continued)
4. Financial risk management (continued)

4.2 Market Risk

(A) Currency risk

The Group's assets and liabilities are denominated in major currencies, particularly the
HK dollar, the US dollar and Renminbi. To ensure the currency risk exposure of the
Group is managed at an acceptable level, risk limits (e.g. Position, VAR and stress test
limit) are used to serve as a monitoring tool. Moreover, the Group seeks to minimise the
gap between assets and liabilities in the same currency. Foreign exchange contracts
(e.g. FX swaps) are usually used to manage FX risk associated with foreign currency-
denominated assets and liabilities.
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Notes to the Interim Financial Information (continued)

4. Financial risk management (continued)

4.2 TEREE (&)
(") SMERRE (8D
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4.2 Market Risk (continued)

(A) Currency risk (continued)

The following is a summary of the Group’s major foreign currency exposures arising
from trading, non-trading and structural positions and is prepared with reference to the
completion instructions for the HKMA return of foreign currency position.

R202246F30H
At 30 June 2022

AT TSR

Equivalent in thousand of HK$
Hitrshws M ERER
Others Total
ESm ANEHRe foreign foreign
US Dollars Renminbi currencies currencies
W& E Spot assets 129,947,213 150,026,660 29,447,209 309,421,082
HE&HE Spot liabilities (113,705,941)  (158,335,988) (22,559,224) (294,601,153)
EHAE A Forward purchases 28,266,369 22,004,401 8,900,861 59,171,631
A Forward sales (46,943,037) (10,921,134) (15,833,197) (73,697,368)

(i) /R

REHE
Bl AH
BIEA
I

(AL /R

SRR A

Net (short)/long position

Net structural position

Spot assets

Spot liabilities
Forward purchases
Forward sales

Net (short)/long position

Net structural position

(2,435,396) 2,773,939 (44,351) 294,192
5,223,097 15,771,482 - 20,994,579

#2021 12 5 31 H

At 31 December 2021

AT ITEE
Equivalent in thousand of HK$

HA AN ML
Others Total
FETT ANR# foreign foreign
US Dollars Renminbi currencies currencies
110,931,361 166,479,906 22,093,131 299,504,398
(100,229,498)  (170,145,753) (12,901,769) (283,277,020)
21,456,500 13,790,839 5,111,037 40,358,376
(32,805,271) (7,278,628) (14,170,532) (54,254,431)

(646,908) 2,846,364 131,867 2,331,323
9,439,231 15,615,698 - 25,054,929
30
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Notes to the Interim Financial Information (continued)

4. Financial risk management (continued)

4.2 HEERE (&) 4.2 Market Risk (continued)
(B) Fi==Ekx (B) Interest rate risk
R T A EE The tables below summarise the Group’s on-balance sheet exposure to interest rate

risk as at 30 June 2022 and 31 December 2021. Included in the tables are the assets
and liabilities at carrying amounts, categorised by the earlier of contractual repricing
or maturity dates.

7 2022 4£ 6 7 30
H & 2021 4 12 B
31 HEEAMER
P58 R g A o

F AN LR EE YR
HrE KA G
KEETEE HEE
FHAE (DABRE Ry
#) 38
B20225£6 H30H
At 30 June 2022
—= == FtR
—@ARN =fEA +=fER —BhFE  AHEME Non-
Up to 1to3 3to 12 1t05 Over interest et
1 month months months years 5years bearing Total
BT B¥TT BT BT AT AT BNTT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
i3 Assets
IR R T R oAt 48 Cash and balances with banks
TREIIA5ER and other financial institutions 44,340,548 - - - 8,313,889 52,654,437
TEHRTT R Hofth & Rt — %+ = Placements with banks and other
5 N EHE > E AR financial institutions maturing
between one and twelve months 3,862,986 6,808,079 - - - 10,671,065
NUES B AJB% 2 £RlERE  Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss 2,616,595 6,585,104 14,549,212 167,452 1,488,689 25,407,052
TS TR Derivative financial instruments - - 1,618,182 1,618,182
B HARTE Advances and other accounts 185,264,975 41,852,643 54,414,009 7,298,054 3,813,476 - 292,643,157
ERIE Financial investments
- DUA R EEEET AHAM 2 - At fair value through other
e comprehensive income 15,334,307 31,947,002 22,951,600 69,840,655 1,965,825 34,417 142,073,806
- DUBERRCATEE & - At amortised cost 527,016 - 690,994 - 1,218,010
B Investment properties - - 406,440 406,440
Y ~ B R Properties, plant and equipment - - 9,270,847 9,270,847
HithEzE (AFEEERIEEE)  Other assets (including deferred
tax assets) - - 2,646,122 2,646,122
BEEhmE Total assets 248,083,441 84,247,735 98,722,900 77,997,155 5,779,301 23,778,586 538,609,118
31
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Notes to the Interim Financial Information (continued)

4. Financial risk management (continued)

4.2 Market Risk (continued)

(B) Interest rate risk (continued)

Liabilities

Deposits and balances from banks

and other financial institutions
Financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss
Derivative financial instruments
Deposits from customers
Debt securities and certificates of
deposit in issue
Other accounts and provisions
(including current and deferred
tax liabilities)

Subordinated liabilities

Total liabilities

Interest sensitivity gap

H20224E6 300
At 30 June 2022

—= =z S-S

—EAR =fEA +=fEH —ERfF  AEFEME Non-
Up to 1t03 3to 12 1to5 Over interest Lat
1 month months months years 5years bearing Total
BT BN BETT AT BT BETT BN
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
15,361,938 5,881,601 10,825,660 - - 2,465,345 34,534,544
2,589,062 2,526,875 1,312,519 - - - 6,428,456
- - - - - 1,131,641 1,131,641
181,778,864 74,064,161 90,263,603 7,750,024 - 15,595,305 369,451,957
1,956,152 3,844,645 12,736,993 21,298,267 - - 39,836,057
3,354,626 2,235,372 7,980,508 999,345 140,512 5,407,790 20,118,153
- - - - 5,486,610 5,486,610
205,040,642 88,552,654 123,119,283 30,047,636 5,627,122 24,600,081 476,987,418
43,042,799  (4,304,919) (24,396,383) 47,949,519 152,179 (821,495) 61,621,700
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Notes to the Interim Financial Information (continued)

4. Financial risk management (continued)

4.2 Market Risk (continued)

(B) Interest rate risk (continued)

Assets
Cash and balances with banks

and other financial institutions

Placements with banks and other

financial institutions maturing

between one and twelve months

Financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss
Derivative financial instruments
Advances and other accounts
Financial investments

- At fair value through other

comprehensive income

- At amortised cost
Investment properties
Properties, plant and equipment
Other assets (including deferred

tax assets)

Total assets

#2021 412 H31 H
At 31 December 2021

—& =%
IR =MEA +={EA —ERE AEME Tt
Upto 1t03 3to12 1to5 Over Non- interest Y
1 month months months years 5 years bearing Total
T T AT T AT T AT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
56,694,146 - - - - 8,009,166 64,703,312
- 2,348,982 335,159 - - - 2,684,141
1,171,711 3,204,022 20,356,538 717,908 - 1,572,391 27,022,570
- - - - - 834,964 834,964
207,311,188 34,988,959 27,285,396 17,456,525 4,995,297 - 292,037,365
13,573,438 27,721,587 22,652,260 69,484,299 3,933,926 49,933 137,415,443
592,486 - - - - - 592,486
- - - - - 327,610 327,610
- - - - - 8,759,766 8,759,766
- - - - - 1,953,343 1,953,343
279,342,969 68,263,550 70,629,353 87,658,732 8,929,223 21,507,173 536,331,000
33
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Notes to the Interim Financial Information (continued)

4. Financial risk management (continued)

4.2 Market Risk (continued)

(B) Interest rate risk (continued)

Liabilities

Deposits and balances from banks
and other financial institutions

Financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss

Derivative financial instruments

Deposits from customers

Debt securities and certificates of
deposit in issue

Other accounts and provisions
(including current and deferred
tax liabilities)

Subordinated liabilities

Total liabilities

Interest sensitivity gap

#2021 4E12 A 31 H
At 31 December 2021

-z =7 FRETE
—fEHRA ={EH +={EH —EHE FHERLE Non-
Up to 1t03 3to12 1t05 Over interest Has
1 month months months years 5 years bearing Total
HEITT BT AT BT BT BT HEIETT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
10,306,919 3,567,781 5,175,149 - - 2,604,123 21,653,972
2,275,979 1,880,607 2,258,726 - - - 6,415,312
- - - - - 814,670 814,670
187,501,013 87,730,545 85,248,950 7,431,476 61,257 15,808,145 383,781,386
2,308,085 5,906,494 5,372,701 18,167,947 - - 31,755,227
3,053,325 2,368,146 8,700,490 1,205,923 189,723 4,607,616 20,125,223
- - - 5,451,286 5,451,286
205,445,321 101,453573 106,756,016 26,805,346 5,702,266 23,834,554 469,997,076
73,897,648 (33,190,023) (36,126,663) 60,853,386 3,226,957 (2,327,381) 66,333,924
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

4. Financial risk management (continued)

4.2 Market risk (continued)

(C) Interest rate benchmark reform

In July 2017, the UK regulator, the Financial Conduct Authority (“FCA”) announced the
discontinuation of a widely-used benchmark rate, the London Interbank Offered Rate
(“LIBOR"), by end of 2021, leading to a transition of LIBOR to Risk-Free Rates (“RFRs")
or Alternative Reference Rates (“ARRs"). In March 2021, the FCA further announced that
publication of 26 LIBOR settings would permanently be ceased, including British Pound
(GBP), Swiss Franc (CHF), Euro (EUR), Japanese Yen (JPY) LIBOR settings and the 1-
week and 2-month US Dollar (USD) LIBOR settings after 31 December 2021, while the
remaining USD LIBOR settings would be ceased immediately after 30 June 2023.

The Group established its IBOR Transition Programme in 2020 and formed an IBOR
Steering Committee, which is chaired by the Chief Risk Officer, to lead the Transition
Programme. The Steering Committee comprises senior representatives across Front
Office, Middle Office and Back Office. The management oversight of the Transition
Programme is performed by the Asset and Liability Management Committee (“ALCO”)
and the Board.

IBOR transition exposes the Group to various risks, which the Transition Programme is
managing and monitoring closely. These risks include but are not limited to the following:

Conduct risk arising from discussions with clients and market counterparties due to the
amendments to existing contracts required under IBOR transition

Basis risk arising from asymmetric adoption of benchmark rates across assets and
liabilities
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MERE: (&) Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
4, SRREBEE (8 4. Financial risk management (continued)

4.2 R (8) 4.2 Market risk (continued)
(C) EEFEKE () (C) Interest rate benchmark reform (continued)

- REERITREI RS + Financial risk to the Group and its clients as markets are disrupted due to IBOR
HEUERLTS SRS transition
B R B s AR A
W5 b

- ANERAT IR AR B TE + Pricing risk from potential lack of market information if liquidity in IBORs reduces and
BICRE MR AE RFRs are illiquid and unobservable
J\ B F| = = R B
BB EA T
55 BNEZ H KA
TE (EE b

« N &R - Operational risk arising from changes to the Group’s IT systems and processes; and
2 R MR AR B AR the risk of payments being disrupted if an IBOR ceases to be available

R E R DLRAD SR
AT RAT F 2T
SSERHET 5 BN R
PR R
o SRR E B R A + Accounting risk if the Group’s hedging relationships terminated and the Group
KR e/ T E experienced volatility in income statement caused by profit and loss arising from
I F R b AR E existing reference rate of financial instruments transiting to RFRs
R iCEaTpE R EREicEe
FOREN AR E TR

b
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Mgshs: (&) Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
4, SREREE (8) 4, Financial risk management (continued)

4.2 iRk (&) 4.2 Market risk (continued)
(C) E&FHRME (&) (C) Interest rate benchmark reform (continued)

R T A The following table below provide an overview of the Group’s exposures to significant
i E 2022 £ 06 IBORs subject to reform that have yet transited to RFRs or ARRs as at 30 June 2022
H 30 H K 2021 and 31 December 2021. The Group has excluded financial instruments referenced to
12 B 31 HiH USD LIBOR maturing before 30 June 2023, except those referenced to 1-week and 2-
R 3 O T 4 o i month USD LIBOR, as those exposures will expire before a transition is required.
R RS R

HY 52 Fl) 3 A B A

A TN

R - A

CLHERR T 812023476

JH 30 H Z Hif #H BL

E T POERT [ 2

IR 2 EH
Hyem THE > BrRIL

HEARI2(E AT
iy SBORAT [E SE 47 &
A AEFRE HH &
BT EAN Wit
< Fil T LR 7 A B
AR AR R A
HITEIHA -
#20224E6H30H
At 30 June 2022
BT fsih FEITMBERT HFHZERTTE aast
TTEHErE [ESEHRERIR SEHFEFR
Filk
EUR LIBOR USD LIBOR GBP LIBOR Total
AT AT AETIT AT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FERTE SR E
Non-derivative financial assets
IR 1= b= NS e L s o o -
Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income - 3,440,415 - 3,440,415
DR AT BATERK
Loans and advances at amortised cost - 24,934,139 - 24,934,139
- 28,374,554 - 28,374,554
FEITMBERTT HEEt
ESEHFEFER
USD LIBOR Total
AT AT
HK$'000 HK$'000
TTEMBRENEHE
Derivative notional contract amount
B NELT A
OTC foreign exchange derivatives 784,505 784,505
BN
OTC interest rate derivatives 4,870,646 4,870,646
5,655,151 5,655,151
37
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Mgshs: (&) Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

4. SREREE ()

4.2 TiEEE (8D
(C) EEFIZUE (8

JELTE eRARE
Non-derivative financial assets

PAA s EEba T A A R T G SR 2
Financial assets at fair value through other

comprehensive income
DIeRpA ST AV K

Loans and advances at amortised cost

PTEmMEBEREHEH

Derivative notional contract amount
BHMINELT A

OTC foreign exchange derivatives
MR A

OTC interest rate derivatives

4. Financial risk management (continued)

4.2 Market risk (continued)

(C) Interest rate benchmark reform (continued)

22021412 H31H
At 31 December 2021

F-39

BOTMEIR TRt DR wat
TRSEHRE  FSEHRERIR PRSI
Filx
EUR LIBOR USD LIBOR GBP LIBOR Total
T T WL BIETT BT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
4,243,434 4,243,434
190,405 20,554,817 720,344 21,465,566
190,405 24,798,251 720,344 25,709,000
TR st
ISR
USD LIBOR Total
HECTIT BN
HK$'000 HK$'000
779,690 779,690
4,840,752 4,840,752
5,620,442 5,620,442
38
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Mgshs: (&) Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
4, SREREE (8) 4, Financial risk management (continued)

4.2 TR (8) 4.2 Market risk (continued)
(C) BRI () (C) Interest rate benchmark reform (continued)
1E 2021 4 FJERT > B All legacy contracts referencing EUR, GBP, JPY, CHF, and 1-week and 2-month USD
FHSEETT 985 Hot LIBOR settings have been remediated by including appropriate fallback in the contract,
HARRDAR 1 2 AR with no ‘tough legacy’ contracts remaining by end of the year 2021.
2 il A E T fBEreTE
EF BRI BN R

GRCEREL Bt

HRFTTR A RER

CEELDUEENEE A &
X
B LLER Y E T For legacy contracts referencing the remaining USD LIBOR settings, a majority of the
FRAT [E ZEPr B R R AL exposures have already incorporated appropriate fallback, while the contract remediation
EENAE &R KEST of the remaining legacy contracts, mainly loans and advances to customers and bond, is
OB aE &% expected to be completed by June 2023. The Group will continue the client outreach to
FE  mFEERHIEEA &E support our clients during the IBOR transition.

HIEE EERE P ERK
K E GRS TEst
Hry 2023 4 6 HJE
AISERK - TR T RIS
FIZA IR A SRR
BT P ORRIE - D
SCRFRAME S o

e RE M 0 B 2021 4 For loans product, migration has been started for revolving loans during annual reviews
BiG  FAENEE EEE since the year 2021. Remaining migration on term loans and syndicated loans will be
FEIT R T handled by June 2023. For treasury products, the migration on bonds and derivatives
T &R 0 E B S 2R $R 2] such as interest rate swaps will also be completed by June 2023 following the
EEHY A E R 2023 International Swaps and Derivatives Association (ISDA) protocol or clearing house
F 6 HIEAITEH « & arrangement.

eI  EHAINTAT

HANF R 5 48 0

R B PR AL A 5 5 00T
A VErE o & B BO%
FAT 2k 7 2023 A
6 HIEATSEH °
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Mgshs: (&) Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
4, SREREE (8) 4, Financial risk management (continued)

4.2 iRk (&) 4.2 Market risk (continued)
(C) BRI () (C) Interest rate benchmark reform (continued)
A ER B T i AR The Group has identified major risks arising from the IBOR Transition and mitigated most
AR Y B o Sl AR of the risks by performing banking system upgrade, client outreach and contract
SRITREFAH - BEEINE remediation, process and model changes, development of new ARR products, staff
A& EIRE -~ SRR training and frequent management oversight of the Transition Programme. The Group
SEER U R R also engages actively with regulators to ensure a smooth transition from LIBOR.

FNFE SRBHEE ~ B T IIAT
HHERTT E AR BB
i L I S AR R AR
B3 R - A SR IR
HETETRRE A DUER
T SR R SRR S A
HRIEF NS

BRI » A SR By 38 However, since the Group’s main interest rate benchmark exposure is USD LIBOR, the
1) 22 3k A e B A S By 35 Group will still expose to risk due to USD LIBOR legacy contracts which are expected to
TEAMEERTT E E T B ] demise from June 2023. The Group will continue monitoring IBOR transition to ensure
A2 REEEN R HEE TR T the remaining LIBOR settings be successfully transited to ARRs.

Fr 2023 4 6 HE Ik
HI S TT i SR 1T R 2
BB & R Y
B - A SR R AR AR IR
T RIS AR B A AR AT 1
UL > LARECRIRIERAT R
PRAT SRR B A R
iy o
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4, SEEBEE (8) 4. Financial risk management (continued)

4.3 RETESER

4.3 Liquidity Risk

EIEAH 2371 Maturity analysis

TERAAEE 2022 £
6 B 30 H K 2021 4F 12
A 31 HZ&EKEARSN
FIHAH 347 > B EEH
o EE R AEEEGY
FIHA HARIERIAPR 5345 -

i Assets

[EAFIR 4 AT HGRIT R HeA 4278 Cash and balances with banks
HERSISSER and other financial institutions

TESRTT A RbiiE—% 1+ Placements with banks and
R AEIEAZ E R other financial institutions

maturing between one and
twelve months

AN fES bR ATBS 2 &Rl E Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

- Gk - Trading
- fligEs - Debt securities
- SEHIMEDIAEE AR - Mandatorily measured at fair
w5 I value through profit or loss,
non trading
- s - Debt securities
- Hth - Others
- s - Equity securities
TEBmMTH Derivative financial instruments
SRR AR Advances and other accounts
- BFERC - Advances to customers
- HOEHE - Trade bills
SR Financial investments
- DA EE R AR AM S - At fair value through other
[iiiliey comprehensive income
- DUBRA - Atamortised cost
- BrEEs - Equity securities
B Investment properties
Ik ~ M R Properties, plant and equipment

HAth&E (ISIREfRIEEE ) Other assets (including deferred
tax assets)

HEE Total assets

Notes to the Interim Financial Information (continued)

The tables below analyse the Group’s assets and liabilities as at 30 June 2022 and 31
December 2021 into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at balance
sheet date to the contractual maturity date.

202246 §30H
At 30 June 2022
—%F =%
gl —@ARN =R +2EA —ER% BENE FHEE
Oon Up to 1to3 3to 12 1to5  Overb =k Rt
demand 1month months months years years Indefinite Total
BETT BRTT BETT EWTT BETT BWTT BRTT AW TT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
21,368,978 31,285,459 52,654,437
3,862,986 6,808,079 10,671,065
349,944 5509227 1,539,489 7,398,660
47,217 167,452 29,897 244,566
2,236,754 1,075,877 12,962,506 16,275,137
- 1,488,689 1,488,689
332,382 149,252 164,992 454,487 504,890 12,179 1,618,182
29,219,943 11,632,157 16,663,214 53,083,145 121,739,237 57,968,060 1,277,514 291,583,270
20 437,879 353,683 268,305 1,059,887
4323950 19,828491 26,502,757 89,392,431 1,991,760 142,039,389
5,419 685,575 527,016 1,218,010
- 34,417 34,417
- 406,440 406,440
- 9,270,847 9,270,847
827,534 981,090 28,006 120,848 326,297 362,347 2,646,122
51,748,857 51,396,485 47,491,895 101,786,833 212,815,882 59,971,999 13,397,167 538,609,118
41
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4. SRIEREE ()

43 RErEsRE (&)

4.3 Liquidity Risk (continued)

Maturity analysis (continued)

RS (8D

AR Liabilities
ST R A RS >~ 750 Deposits and balances from banks

4Rk and other financial institutions
N lEEE(EEF AJE% 2 &@lE Financial liabilities at fair value
& through profit or loss
fTESRTE Derivative financial instruments
B Deposits from customers

TS TR R ATk

HLARRIE R AR (BHERERTHR
H

FARFERIEE )

"iEEE

B

RETE O

Debt securities and certificates of
deposit in issue

Other accounts and provisions
(including current and deferred tax
liabilities)

Subordinated liabilities

Total liabilities

Net liquidity gap

4. Financial risk management (continued)

Notes to the Interim Financial Information (continued)

R 202246 H30H
At 30 June 2022
—Z =z
g —ERN =@A +-EF —ZEEF HFEML FRHEE
On Up to 1to3 3to 12 1to5 Over [=):i3) et
demand 1 month months months years 5years Indefinite Total
BT AMTT AT BT BT BT BT BT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
3,509,218 14,521,099 5,678,567 10,825,660 34,534,544
2,589,062 2,526,875 1,312,519 6,428,456
145,201 158,882 191,547 292,018 343,993 1,131,641
143,437,277 49,602,743 75,159,852 93,502,061 7,750,024 369,451,957
38,808 1,917,254 3,844,645 12,736,993 21,298,267 39,836,057
6,043,224 1,062,606 2,250,262 8,133,997 1,857,235 140,512 630,317 20,118,153
5,486,610 - 5,486,610
153,173,818 69,851,646 89,651,748 126,803,248 31,249,519  5627,122 630,317 476,987,418
(101,424,961) (18,455,161) (42,159,853) (25,016,415) 181,566,363 54,344,877 12,766,850 61,621,700
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43 RErESRE (&)

EAE T (&)

KE

A3 B AP IR T R L e
fEIASER

TESRAT e F M R — 2+ =
{8 H P EIH 2

NAEE( AR SREE

- 5k

- AR
SERIELA B T A,
G

- (IS
- Bt
- IeniEzz
TSR TR
O AR
- FFEEK
R
- DA REE (Lt AR E
[re=s
- Do TR
- B
R
PISE ~ b Rl
HirgaE (EERTREEE)

B

Notes to the Interim Financial Information (continued)

4.3 Liquidity Risk (continued)

Maturity analysis (continued)

Assets

Cash and balances with banks
and other financial institutions

Placements with banks and other
financial institutions maturing

between one and twelve months

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss
- Trading
- Debt securities
- Mandatorily measured at fair
value through profit or loss,
non trading
- Debt securities
- Others
- Equity securities
Derivative financial instruments
Advances and other accounts
- Advances to customers
- Trade bills
Financial investments
- At fair value through other
comprehensive income
- At amortised cost
- Equity securities
Investment properties
Properties, plant and equipment
Other assets (including deferred
tax assets)

Total assets

4. Financial risk management (continued)

#2021 412 H31 H
At 31 December 2021

—% =%
B —EHAAN =8H Fo@EA —ERF REME O RHEE
On Up to 1to3 3t012 1to5 Over 5 HitH s
demand 1 month months months years years Indefinite Total
AT BT BBTOT #TT ERTT BT BB AT
HK$'000  HK$000  HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
30,350,521 34,352,791 64,703,312
2,348,982 335,159 2,684,141
725985 2,548,381 3,977,960 7,252,326
10,418 717,908 31,272 759,598
404,036 655,641 16,378,578 17,438,255
1,572,391 1,572,391
263,240 128,075 64,345 104,413 272,179 2,712 834,964
30,173,136 8,102,517 17,691,913 51,391,375 120,475479 63,191,634 523,791 291,549,845
6 363,785 123,729 487,520
4273863 14,027,910 26,738,764 88,370,671 3,954,302 137,365,510
592,486 592,486
49,933 49,933
327,610 327,610
8,759,766 8,759,766
1,133,090 396,585 20,573 (11,849) 383,427 31,517 1,953,343
61,919,993 48,758,055 37,481,474 98,914,400 210,219,664 67,148,648 11,888,766 536,331,000
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Notes to the Interim Financial Information (continued)

4. Financial risk management (continued)

4.3 Liquidity Risk (continued)

FHAR S (&) Maturity analysis (continued)
7202112 H31 H
At 31 December 2021
—Z =7
o —EAN ={EA Fo@EA —EAS AFME O RHEE
On Up to 1t03 3t012 1to5 Over Hit st
demand 1 month months months years 5years Indefinite Total
AT BT BT BETIT BT BNTT BT BN
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
=ty Liabilities
SRAT R A SRR >~ 775 0F. Deposits and balances from banks
Lkgs and other financial institutions 3,595,374 9,315,668 3,567,781 5,175,149 21,653,972
N fEgE(EEF AJE4 2 &RiE  Financial liabilities at fair value
& through profit or loss 2,275,979 1,880,607 2,258,726 6,415,312
frEEmTE Derivative financial instruments 93,532 62,803 142,239 103,853 412,243 814,670
BEIER Deposits from customers 143,759,694 58,527,212 87,730,380 86,224,547 7,478,296 61,257 383,781,386
EETEE S Debt securities and certificates of
deposit in issue 895 2,307,190 5,906,494 5,372,701 18,167,947 31,755,227
HAIRTE R (EfERERFL  Other accounts and provisions
TE R AERRIE & (E ) (including current and deferred tax
liabilities) 4,712,123 1,729,993 2,430,703 8,943,987 2,093,446 189,723 25,248 20,125,223
“EERE Subordinated liabilities 5,451,286 5,451,286
j=tic Total liabilities 152,161,618 74,218,845 101,658,204 108,078,963 28,151,932  5702,266 25,248 469,997,076
TREA SO Net liquidity gap (90,241,625)  (25,460,790)  (64,176,730)  (9,164,563) 182,067,732 61,446,382 11,863,518 66,333,924
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43 RErEsRE (&)
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Notes to the Interim Financial Information (continued)

4. Financial risk management (continued)
4.3 Liquidity Risk (continued)
Maturity analysis (continued)

The Group has reported assets such as advances and debt securities which have
been overdue for not more than one month as “On demand”. In the case of an asset
that is repayable by different payments or instalments, only that portion of the asset
that is actually overdue is reported as overdue. Any part of the asset that is not due
is reported according to the residual maturity unless the repayment of the asset is in
doubt in which case the amount is reported as “Indefinite”. The above assets are
stated after deduction of provisions, if any.

The disclosure does not imply that the securities will be held to maturity.
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T HABA B B b Notes to the Interim Financial Information (continued)
(&)

4. SREREE (8) 4. Financial risk management (continued)

4.4 BREW 4.4 Capital Management
KR E AR PR (5 The Group continues to adopt the standardised (credit risk) (“STC") approach and the
PR s E A A b securitization standardized approach (“SEC-SA”) to calculate the credit risk capital charge
FEME BRI EIE for its non-securitisation exposures and securitisation exposures respectively.

et 7 B U U AR 4 R
st 7 B U U AR AR 1Y

EEREEEARZR -

A B [ A A o T s The Group continues to adopt the standardised credit valuation adjustment (“CVA”) method

L ERER T HEE to calculate the capital charge for the CVA risk of the counterparty.

1 Sl % iy

LT HERIK -

R B T PR (i The Group continues to adopt the standardised (market risk) (“STM”) approach and the

R ) S R R standardised (operational risk) (“STO") approach to calculate the market risk capital charge
(R iERE ) SFEDE and the operational risk capital charge respectively.

SrilEt R SRR EA
BUOR AR R B AR

(A) BEELraEgE (A) Basis of regulatory consolidation
EEEHE N &F & L The consolidation basis for regulatory purposes comprises the positions of the Bank
ToiReE (ER1TH (& and certain subsidiaries specified by the HKMA in accordance with the Banking
A FRA) FHASRST R (Capital) Rules. For accounting purposes, subsidiaries are consolidated in
HErwERBfEEZ accordance with HKFRSs and the list of subsidiaries is set out in “Appendix—
B A EI4ARL - B Subsidiaries of the Bank” on page 137.

STPEEE T o I R
BB e
EiffEAE - HAE
A 137 H TR
— RIRATZ WA
CINE
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T HABA B B b Notes to the Interim Financial Information (continued)
(&)

4. SREREE (8) 4. Financial risk management (continued)

4.4 EXREH (&) 4.4 Capital Management (continued)
(A) EEELEERE (8) (A) Basis of regulatory consolidation (continued)
BIEEg T EAGEE The particulars of subsidiaries which are included within the accounting scope of
HED AN EEEEE consolidation but not included within the regulatory scope of consolidation are as
HTE & 5 90 B N Y BT follows:
JEAEZEHENT
R 20224E6 300 2021412 A 31 H
At 30 June 2022 At 31 December 2021
B BB AL BARLEER
218 Name Total assets Total equity Total assets Total equity
BT BT AT BT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BRI TSR Nanyang Commercial Bank
FRAE Trustee Limited 16,832 16,722 16,807 16,698
AR S E AR Kwong Li Nam Investment Agency
NE] Limited 4,813 4,585 4,724 4,585
FEEREERTT ((REE Nanyang Commercial Bank
AN) BIEAE (Nominees) Limited 1,425 1,425 1,430 1,430
MM EEHEENE NCB Wealth Management Advisor
FRAE] Limited 52,014 47,119 5,117 4,981
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4. SRIEREE ()

4.4 BEEH (8

(A) BeBEGREHELE (8

PR AR
SETSEAEE 137 HT I
Bk — AT Z MBS
B e

1202246 H 30 H »
G AT 7T P A 5] 2
BIEEEERESE
HE MABfETEgt
HEHIGEEHEIE (2021
F12 431 H i)

14 20226 H 30 H»
TR AE AT BT 2 2 5] ]
I B 5 7 G w248 A
BB HLE SR G R T
A F &7 & J5 0%

(2021 ££ 12 H 31

H ) -

(B) EALLR

L i R — A E A
Eb

—HREARER

b

iy

Notes to the Interim Financial Information (continued)

4. Financial risk management (continued)

4.4 Capital Management (continued)

(A) Basis of regulatory consolidation (continued)

The principal activities of the above subsidiaries are set out in “Appendix —
Subsidiaries of the Bank” on page 137.

There were no subsidiaries which are included within the regulatory scope of
consolidation but not included within the accounting scope of consolidation as at 30
June 2022 (31 December 2021: Nil).

Neither were there any subsidiaries which are included within both the accounting
scope of consolidation and the regulatory scope of consolidation where the methods
of consolidation differ as at 30 June 2022 (31 December 2021: Nil).

(B) Capital ratio

#2022 A 2021 4E
6 H30H 12 H31H
At 30 June At 31 December
2022 2021
CET1 capital ratio
12.34% 12.54%
Tier 1 capital ratio 13.69% 15.02%
Total capital ratio 17.13% 18.46%
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4. Financial risk management (continued)

4.4 Capital Management (continued)

(B) Capital ratio (continued)

Notes to the Interim Financial Information (continued)

The consolidated capital base after deductions used in the calculation of the above

capital ratios is analysed as follows:

CET1 capital: instruments and reserves

Directly issued qualifying CET1 capital

instruments
Retained earnings
Disclosed reserves

CET1 capital before regulatory deductions

CET1 capital: regulatory deductions

Valuation adjustments

Other intangible assets (net of associated

deferred tax liabilities)

Deferred tax assets net of deferred tax

liabilities

Gains and losses due to changes in own
credit risk on fair valued liabilities

Cumulative fair value gains arising from the
revaluation of land and buildings (own-use

and investment properties)

Regulatory reserve for general banking risks

Total regulatory deductions to CET1 capital

CET1 capital

Additional Tier 1 capital

Tier 1 capital
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R 2022 A 2021 4F

6 H30H 12431 H
At 30 June At 31 December
2022 2021
AT AT
HK$'000 HK$'000
3,144,517 3,144,517
45,083,385 43,323,642
8,265,204 10,542,440
56,493,106 57,010,599
(402) (91)
(256,556) -
(389,591) (352,791)
(2,882) (940)
(6,870,782) (6,862,754)
(2,511,886) (2,636,044)
(10,032,099) (9,852,620)
46,461,007 47,157,979
5,077,856 9,314,890
51,538,863 56,472,869
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Notes to the Interim Financial Information (continued)

4. Financial risk management (continued)

4.4 Capital Management (continued)

(B) Capital ratio (continued)

Tier 2 capital: instruments and provisions

Qualifying Tier 2 capital instruments plus any
related share premium

Collective provisions and regulatory reserve
for general banking risks eligible for
inclusion in Tier 2 capital

Tier 2 capital before regulatory deductions

Tier 2 capital: regulatory deductions

Add back of cumulative fair value gains
arising from the revaluation of land and
buildings (own-use and investment
properties) eligible for inclusion in Tier 2
capital

Total regulatory adjustments to Tier 2 capital

Tier 2 capital

Total regulatory capital

The capital buffer ratios are analysed as
follows:

Capital conservation buffer ratio

Countercyclical capital buffer ratio

50
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#2022 &£ #2021
6 H30H 12 H31H
At 30 June At 31 December
2022 2021
AT AT T
HK$'000 HK$'000
5,462,845 5,427,666
4,392,714 4,413,868
9,855,559 9,841,534
3,091,852 3,088,239
3,091,852 3,088,239
12,947,411 12,929,773
64,486,274 69,402,642
#2022 4 #2021
6 H30H 12 31 H
At 30 June At 31 December
2022 2021
2.50% 2.50%
0.61% 0.60%
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Notes to the Interim Financial Information (continued)

4. Financial risk management (continued)

4.4 Capital Management (continued)
(B) Capital ratio (continued)

In accordance with the Banking (Capital) Rules, the Capital Conservation Buffer (‘CCB”) is
designed to ensure banks build up capital outside periods of stress of 2.5% of risk-weighted
assets (“RWAs”). The Countercyclical Capital Buffer (“CCyB”) which is set on an individual
country basis and is built up during periods of excess credit growth to protect against future
losses. The HKMA announced that the CCyB for Hong Kong remains unchanged at 1% of
RWAs.

The additional information of capital disclosures is available under section “Regulatory
Disclosures” on the Bank's website at www.ncb.com.hk.

(C) Leverage ratio

#2022 4 Wi~ 2021 4

6 H30H 12H31H

At 30 June At 31 December

2022 2021

BT T AT T

HK$'000 HK$'000

Tier 1 capital 51,538,863 56,472,869
Leverage ratio exposure 587,260,275 582,164,898
Leverage ratio 8.78% 9.70%

The additional information of leverage ratio disclosures is available under section
“Regulatory Disclosures” on the Bank's website at www.nch.com.hk.
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Notes to the Interim Financial Information (continued)

5. &RIEEMAERIA M 5. Fair values of financial assets and liabilities
LR

FA BLA e lEsT S EAE I 154
RABEEM LR - 9EE
A BRI 138 T A
HEl8 , EE  RNAREE
HERNDE - ZEB2H
BT EFTR R R 22 2 AT
FMEREARNE - WA B HEE
NAEFEREREE ZRK
BN FAEE

- BB HEEESERA
FESERT ST HRIE CRE
AR IS BRSNS BUR
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LHHHTEEL] -

- BB THERMEER
Pt REEHREZ (FE
AR AR ERAE
KB Y E s e
Bi% - WEREREAETS
INZGRNTEEL] ~ 1efh{E
PRI (L HE P S T (B RS Y 75
R A

- BB A AR
P A REEREZR (F
FEHERALESER
HAPE) BRI -
=R QSRS N PN N
HNRIRIE ~ 5
75~ BAGIR ARTE -

All financial instruments for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial
statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13, “Fair value
measurement”. The categorisation are determined with reference to the observability and
significance of the inputs used in the valuation methods and based on the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

- Level 1: based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities. This category includes debt instruments issued by certain governments and
certain exchange-traded derivative contracts.

- Level 2: based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement is observable, either directly or indirectly. This category includes
majority of the over-the-counter (“OTC") derivative contracts, debt securities and certificates
of deposit with quote from pricing services vendors.

Level 3: based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement is unobservable. This category includes equity investment, debt
securities, rediscounted bills and forfeiting with significant unobservable components.
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5. SRIEEMABIAM 5. Fair values of financial assets and liabilities (continued)
E (&

B DL EE A BRI H - For financial instruments that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis,
FHIEREIT E - AEEEGRE the Group determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
— WSS EEA4S B HEY  reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
SEEEOYEE (AR EIEEE/ S measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

EstEAERATVE  REEHR

RE ) DEEAEEARERE

Pz RS AR -

5.1 DAREETENSRITE 5.1 Financial instruments measured at fair value

KREEET TEENA M The Group has an established governance structure and controls framework to ensure that
(HAE 6 R Zers - /N (g fair values are either determined or validated by control units independent of the front offices.
S L AR AYEEE] Control units have overall responsibility for independent verification of valuation results from
BNIHEESAZE - S IEHIEL front line businesses and all other significant fair value measurements. Specific controls
frE&E/IZER4ER  include verification of observable pricing inputs. Significant valuation issues are reported to
ZAG{EESE R R EARAME Management.

B - HA R E AR

FERLE T RS ES -

E-PNEREEN ATkl
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Notes to the Interim Financial Information (continued)

5. SRIEEMABIAM 5. Fair values of financial assets and liabilities (continued)
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5.1 Financial instruments measured at fair value (continued)

The Group uses valuation techniques or broker/dealer quotations to determine the fair
value of financial instruments when unable to obtain the open market quotation in active
markets.

The main parameters used in valuation techniques for financial instruments held by the
Group include bond prices, interest rates, foreign exchange rates, equity and stock
prices, volatilities, counterparty credit spreads and others, which are mostly observable
and obtainable from open market.

The technique used to calculate the fair value of the following financial instruments is as
below:

Debt instruments, certificates of deposit, rediscounted bills and forfeiting

TEHE

T AN Rl S
FT ~ 22 2 P 24 NV LA
ke 5 {4 B P 2 (36 A1) 7 455
B fo P P B < At A A
SIMTIRAE « ALFRER Bt 5
BT — A A TEET R AR
Efit PA— (R F] S5 |
TR PR Y TR AT/ (=
FE 7 Z AR — DL
F AR FIRRE S Bl S FI#E By
e S EEFGDEE
R (R HTREEL AR - iE L2
BT 85 b T 42 B T
S A TR ZZ 0 SRR

Srcoms

B2 H °

The fair value of these instruments is determined by obtaining quoted market prices from
exchange, dealer or independent pricing service vendors or using discounted cash flow
technique. Discounted cash flow model is a valuation technique that measures present
value using estimated expected future cash flows from the instruments and then
discounts these flows using a discount margin that reflects the credit spreads required
by the market for instruments with similar risk or a discount rate which is referred to the
transaction interest rate of instruments with similar risk as at the end of the month and
inter-bank bid rate as the final discount rate. These inputs are observable or can be
corroborated by observable or unobservable market data.
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Notes to the Interim Financial Information (continued)

5. SRIEEMABIAM 5. Fair values of financial assets and liabilities (continued)
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5.1 Financial instruments measured at fair value (continued)

Derivatives

OTC derivative contracts include forward, swap and option contracts on foreign
exchange, interest rate or commodity. The fair values of these contracts are mainly
measured using valuation techniques such as discounted cash flow models and option
pricing models. The inputs can be observable or unobservable market data. Observable
inputs include interest rate, foreign exchange rates, commodity prices and volatilities.
Unobservable inputs such as volatility surface may be used for less commonly traded
option products which are embedded in structured products. For certain complex
derivative contracts, the fair values are determined based on broker/dealer price
guotations.

Credit valuation adjustments (“CVA”) and debit valuation adjustments (“DVA”) are applied
to the Group’s OTC derivatives. These adjustments reflect market factors movement,
expectations of counterparty creditworthiness and the Group’s own credit spread
respectively. They are mainly determined for each counterparty and are dependent on
expected future values of exposures, default probabilities and recovery rates.
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SRIZFENEEIAM 5. Fair values of financial assets and liabilities (continued)

5.

B (#

5.1 DAREETENSRITE 5.1 Financial instruments measured at fair value (continued)

€:-))

(A) AFMERIEG,

BRIEE
NREEEET AR Z
sERhEE (M 18)
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(I 19)

BB ASH
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Chita 21)

A
G
%

SRR
AR ASERSY
SRS (H3E25)

oM
TR TA
(I3t 19)

(A) Fair value hierarchy

Financial assets

Financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss
(Note 18)
- Trading

- Debt securities and
certificates of deposit
- Mandatorily measured at
fair value through profit

or loss, non trading
- Debt securities
- Others
- Equity securities
Derivative financial
instruments (Note 19)

Financial investments at fair

value through other

comprehensive income

(Note 21)
- Debt securities and

certificates of deposit

- Equity securities

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss

(Note 25)
- Trading

Derivative financial
instruments (Note 19)
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N2024£6H30H
At 30 June 2022

Notes to the Interim Financial Information (continued)

B—ER BURER B=RER {EET
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
AT AT BT BT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
- 7,398,660 - 7,398,660

- 214,669 29,897 244,566

- - 16,275,137 16,275,137

82,375 - 1,406,314 1,488,689
334,684 1,283,498 - 1,618,182
6,259,576 135,779,813 - 142,039,389
. - 34,417 34,417

- 6,428,456 - 6,428,456
145,220 986,421 - 1,131,641
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SRIZFENEEIAM 5. Fair values of financial assets and liabilities (continued)
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(A) Fair value hierarchy (continued)

5.1 Financial instruments measured at fair value (continued)

2021412 H 31 H
At 31 December 2021

Notes to the Interim Financial Information (continued)

F—IEsh FJER E=EER At
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
AT AT T BT T AT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Financial assets
Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss
(Note 18)
- Trading
- Debt securities - 7,252,326 - 7,252,326
- Mandatorily measured at
fair value through profit
or loss, non trading
- Debt securities - 730,024 29,574 759,598
- Others - - 17,438,255 17,438,255
- Equity securities 101,430 - 1,470,961 1,572,391
Derivative financial
instruments (Note 19) 265,547 569,417 - 834,964
Financial investments at fair
value through other
comprehensive income
(Note 21)
- Debt securities and
certificates of deposit 1,559,297 135,806,213 - 137,365,510
- Equity securities - - 49,933 49,933
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or
loss (Note 25)
- Trading - 6,415,312 - 6,415,312
Derivative financial
instruments (Note 19) 96,576 718,094 - 814,670

There were no financial instrument transfers between level 1 and level 2 for the Group
during the period (31 December 2021: Nil).
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5. SRIEEMABIAM 5. Fair values of financial assets and liabilities (continued)
E (&

5.1 DAREETENSRITE 5.1 Financial instruments measured at fair value (continued)

(&
(B) E=JB4kAYTEH&E) (B) Reconciliation of level 3items
20246 H30H
At 30 June 2022
EREE
Financial assets
PARERTA
HArmEWEE
BEHLDA R i
B(LEtARE investments at
Mandatorily measured at fair value fair value
through profit or loss through other
IR B E comprehensive
Non trading income
b-vz e etz Betyegss
Debt HAth, Equity Equity
securities Others  securities securities
BT T T AT
HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000 HK$'000
202241 H1H At 1 January 2022 29,574 17,438,255 1,470,961 49,933
Wiz / (515) Gains / (losses)
- WEmsR - Income statement - 399,523
- Hftrmzs - Other comprehensive
income
- DA nfEE AR - Change in fair value of
4 T W 4 HY financial assets at fair
EREEZN value through other
MEZ(E comprehensive
income - - (15,516)
- PEREE - Exchange difference 323  (606,350) (64,647) -
heE Additions - 95,126,093
Disposals, redemptions
FRE - O R EIHA and maturity - (96,082,384)
#2022 4706 H 30 H At 30 June 2022 29,897 16,275,137 1,406,314 34,417
Ji* 2022 4706 H 30 H Total unrealised loss for the
FrAREREEN period included in
Wat AWsRIARE income statement for
BiTY =k financial assets held as
at 30 June 2022 - (999)
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5. SRIEEMABIAM 5. Fair values of financial assets and liabilities (continued)
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5.1 Financial instruments measured at fair value (continued)

(B) Reconciliation of level 3 items (continued)

At 1 January 2021
Gains
- Income statement
- Other comprehensive
income
- Change in fair value of
financial assets at fair
value through other
comprehensive income
- Exchange difference
Additions
Disposals, redemptions and
maturity

At 31 December 2021

Total unrealised gain for the
period included in income
statement for financial
assets held as at 31
December 2021
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72021412 H 31 H
At 31 December 2021

Notes to the Interim Financial Information (continued)

ERbERE
Financial assets

PIA e fEREA
HoAtr 2w s
HERb &
sRIMELLA SOE Financial
BLET At investments at fair
Mandatorily measured at fair value value
through profit or loss through other
IR Gk comprehensive
Non trading income

(Evtives Ry EE 25 tabircess
Debt oA Equity Equity
securities Others securities securities
AT T AT AT T AT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
- 16,415,554 - 54,109
- 608,715 - -
- - - (4,176)
- 293,291 - -
29,574 134,845,260 1,470,961 -
- (134,724,565) - -
29,574 17,438,255 1,470,961 49,933
- 27,990 - -
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Notes to the Interim Financial Information (continued)

5. SRIEEMABIAM 5. Fair values of financial assets and liabilities (continued)
E (&

5.1 MAREBHISRT R

€:-))

(B) BE=BHRAVHEEE)
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5.1 Financial instruments measured at fair value (continued)

(B) Reconciliation of level 3 items (continued)

As at 30 June 2022 and 31 December 2021, financial instruments categorised as level
3 are mainly comprised of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and

unlisted equity shares.

For certain illiquid others financial assets classified as fair value through profit or loss
and fair value through other comprehensive income, the Group obtains valuation
quotations from counterparties which may be based on unobservable inputs with
significant impact on the valuation. Therefore, these instruments have been classified
by the Group as level 3. The Group has established internal control procedures to

control the Group’s exposure to such financial instruments.

The fair values of unlisted equity shares are determined with reference to multiples of
comparable listed companies, such as average of the price/earning ratios of

comparables,

unobservable inputs applied in the fair values measurement of the Group’s unlisted

equity shares are as follows:
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Notes to the Interim Financial Information (continued)

5. SRIEEMABIAM 5. Fair values of financial assets and liabilities (continued)

B (&
5.1 DAREETENSRITE 5.1 Financial instruments measured at fair value (continued)
(&
(B) E=JB4kAYTEH&E) (B) Reconciliation of level 3 items (continued)
(€-d)
T EEESEEN AN
EATNTEESH Relationship of
{ETE Significant unobservable il unobservable inputs
Valuation method inputs Range to fair value
mifE /BRI 3.9 - 14.0 M/ B
Price/earning ratios (2021: 9.6 - 32.3) N EAE

mStLEE

The higher the price/earning
ratios, the higher the fair value.

i RADFHE S
Price/Book ratios

1.8 - 6.0
(2021: 2.4 - 8.9)

T /AR HERS
AMERS

The higher the Price/Book ratios,
the higher the fair value

Market comparison approach

R B 3.8 - 6.3 S BT R
)58+ fgalb (2021: 4.0 - 20.7) BB TR A, A S B S
EV/EBITDA The higher the EV/EBITDA

ratios, the higher the fair value.

SRENMEREK 30.0%| BB KA A R fEAE

Liquidity discount

(2021: 30.0%)

The higher the liquidity
discount, the lower the fair value.

Recent transaction approach

A
N/A

A
N/A

i
N/A

ARERBEERAZ
o EhE T (E KA
B T MREFERS
B B E ST
B R R BT
TR R - FEHEFTME
(BT E Y s AR AT
Bz S HIn, /e
5% » RIS B H Al 4>
AT Y 25 FEE A S5 48
1oy BB
Mg 1,721,000 71 2021
12 H 31 H ¢
2,497,000 7T ) Fl#kHs
70,316,000 ¢ (2021
12 B 31 H - ki
73,548,000 1) « &Ik
TR RER R B A
HEZR LR —EN
RO S BB
I FY 2 488 R L
R [ £ B 2B 1Y i
AR AT 2 Z1E -

The fair value is positively correlated to the price/earning ratios, price/book ratios and
EV/EBITDA of appropriate comparables. Had the significant unobservable inputs
applied on the valuation techniques increased/decreased by 5%, the Group’s other
comprehensive income and profit or loss would have increased/decreased by
HK$1,721,000 (31 December 2021: HK$2,497,000) and HK$70,316,000 (31
December 2021: HK$73,548,000) respectively. When the fair value of the unlisted
shares are affected by more than one unobservable input, the aforesaid impact reflects
the most favourable or the most unfavourable change from varying inputs individually.
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5. SRIEEMABIAM 5. Fair values of financial assets and liabilities (continued)
E (&

5.2 JEDINRMESFENSRLT 5.2 Financial instruments not measured at fair value

=1

A OB R DAAE — 5 B I B Fair value estimates are made at a specific point in time based on relevant market
AT S ER R A information and information about various financial instruments. The following methods
Bl T B 2 Bk AE S - LU and assumptions have been used to estimate the fair value of each class of financial
ZITE R I T instrument as far as practicable.

BUTE RIS R Al 2 i T
HZ N -

T 1 R ERTT e o & Balances with/from banks and other financial institutions and trade bills

Rl 2 SR K B B B

KERor 2 SR E N AR Substantially all the financial assets and liabilities mature within one year from the
BREEHBR —FERNE balance sheet date and their carrying value approximates fair value.

o HAREE B o fEA

4

N

4

EEER Advances to customers
Koy 2 B P ER =78 Substantially all the advances to customers are on floating rate terms, bear interest at
TR > F i35 B R B prevailing market interest rates and their carrying value approximates fair value.
B HIRAEEA nEH
o
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Notes to the Interim Financial Information (continued)

5. SRIEEMABIAM 5. Fair values of financial assets and liabilities (continued)

B (8D
5.2 R AR ERHENSRT
NE-))

DL eR A ST ST

5.2 Financial instruments not measured at fair value (continued)

Debt instruments at amortised cost

IA

DU R A (R R T R A (7S
TRZ N (e e ST
5.1 WA R EEIH
BILERHZITEHER -

R
K532 PARAEINGS
B (4 EI » SR
T EEA LA -

E T R o B ke
LT B Z 0N e fa i e il
fiaE 5.1 LA ERE
RS TR R A7k R
ZI7EMRE -

®&IEE(E
BT B Z 0N e fa i e il
ffE 5.1 LA ERHE
RS TR R A7k R
ZI7EMRE -

Bk DA b FUR T B BN Fe(E
HENER A TR
FoIRLLAN AL EET R 2/
TRZFREEMNASE -

SRIEE
LIggRpcA RS 21T
EBLE

SRS
ER{TRBETR

®IEAR

The fair value of debt instruments at amortisation cost is determined by using the same
approach as those debt instruments measured at fair value as described in Note 5.1.

Deposits from customers
Substantially all the deposits from customers mature within one year from the balance
sheet date and their carrying value approximates fair value.

Debt securities and certificates of deposit in issue

The fair value of these instruments is determined by using the same approach as those
debt instruments and certificates of deposit measured at fair value as described in Note
5.1.

Subordinated liabilities
The fair value of the instrument is determined by using the same approach as those debt
instruments and certificates of deposit measured at fair value as described in Note 5.1.

The following tables set out the carrying values and fair values of the financial instruments
not measured at fair value, except for the above with their carrying values being
approximation of fair values.

202246 H30H
At 30 June 2022

72021412 H 31 H
At 31 December 2021

_ FREME AafE ~ IRHEIHE ARE
Carrying value Fair value Carrying value Fair value
BT ARTT AT AT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Financial assets
Debt instruments at
amortised cost 1,218,010 1,250,149 592,486 592,486
Financial liabilities
Debt securities and
certificates of deposit in
issue 39,836,057 40,046,257 31,755,227 31,912,287
Subordinated liabilities 5,486,610 5,383,449 5,451,286 5,604,743
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6. BHSUWA

FIRBA

7 IO [ 5 e LA <6 Rl B S
IR

R

ERE

Fith

FEXZH

I7 516 Joe L . <5 R bR £ T 9
A

HETK

BT E 155 55 K A7 7K

RIEAHE
HEAE
EAll

FFIRA

FELLA el bat AJREE 2
GRS SR A ERTEE
RIS A B A SZ H 57
y W 5,965,139,000 T
(2021 4 B4 B
5,816,200,00 7T ) J i
2,914,030,000 7t (2021 4F.
AR I 2,605,679,000
JE)°

6. Net interest income

Interest income

Due from banks and other
financial institutions

Advances to customers

Financial investments

Others

Interest expense

Due to banks and other
financial institutions

Deposits from customers

Debt securities and certificates of deposit in
issue

Subordinated liabilities

Lease liabilities

Others

Net interest income

Notes to the Interim Financial Information (continued)

HEGEEE SR
2022 4 2021 4

6 5 30H 6 H30H
Half-year ended Half-year ended
30 June 30 June
2022 2021
BT AETIT
HK$'000 HK$'000
278,085 244,334
4,347,864 4,306,576
1,328,211 1,259,801
10,979 5,489
5,965,139 5,816,200
(299,324) (206,310)
(1,780,291) (1,654,882)
(587,905) (486,748)
(105,740) (104,808)
(14,515) (12,072)
(126,255) (140,859)
(2,914,030) (2,605,679)
3,051,109 3,210,521

Included within interest income and interest expense are HK$5,965,139,000 (first half of 2021:
HK$5,816,200,000) and HK$2,914,030,000 (first half of 2021: HK$2,605,679,000), for
financial assets and financial liabilities that are not recognised at fair value through profit or

loss respectively.
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7. FREERFESUA 7. Net fee and commission income

FEGEHE FEERE
2022 £ 2021 4
6 530H 6 H30H
Half-year ended Half-year ended
30 June 30 June
2022 2021
M AT T
HK$'000 HK$'000
i8530 &l N Fee and commission income
FoH Loan commissions 236,812 344,813
PEEEH 4 Bills commissions 121,231 87,757
Feea Securities brokerage 102,039 187,620
b Insurance 90,179 144,020
e Funds distribution 49,504 99,557
SRS Payment services 22,544 23,744
FREFE Safe deposit box 20,301 20,559
EHRER Credit card business 1,484 2,680
SELRGTE IR Trust and custody services 802 3,634
HE g Currency exchange 172 207
HoAh Others 65,614 91,939
710,682 1,006,530
i3 5= 95aliidan] Fee and commission expense
SRakad Securities brokerage (15,090) (25,236)
{ERRHES Credit card business (693) (1,208)
Hofh Others (24,248) (23,265)
(40,031) (49,709)
SRR E RS RA Net fee and commission income 670,651 956,821
HAvRH Of which arise from
- JEDLA ESE LT AIE TS - financial assets or financial liabilities not at fair
2R A E SR A R value through profit or loss
- RE RS A - Fee and commission income 349,645 423,994
- IREE KA - Fee and commission expense (3,723) (2,275)
345,922 421,719
- (St EAMZELEE) - trust and other fiduciary activities
- R RS A - Fee and commission income 7,788 10,661
- Mg e - Fee and commission expense (648) (685)
7,140 9,976
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8. R G MW AR 8. Net trading gain
e S
2022 2021 4
6H30H 6 H30H
Half-year ended Half-year ended
30 June 30 June
2022 2021
T BT
HK$'000 HK$'000
Fles S (iR TRE ¢ Net gain/(loss) from:
- YNEEAZ B Ky HNFEEAS S i - foreign exchange and foreign exchange
products 265,667 113,661
- FIFT R A REE T - interest rate instruments and items under
IHH fair value hedge (39,665) (58,016)
- b - commodities (3,264) (8,809)
222,738 46,836
9. Ht&REEFKZS 9. Net gain on other financial assets
FEERR PGS
2022 4 2021 4F
6H30H 6 H30H
Half-year ended Half-year ended
30 June 30 June
2022 2021
T BT T
HK$'000 HK$'000
DI o ES B AHAM 4@ UL Net gain on financial investments measured at fair
RS E 2 RIS value through other comprehensive income 187,169 79,563
FHAth Others (100) (12,061)
187,069 67,502
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10. HAMKBULA 10. Other operating income

2022 £ 2021
6H30H 630K
Half-year ended Half-year ended
30 June 30 June
2022 2021
AT HTIT
HK$'000 HK$'000

HEREREUA Dividend income from investment in securities
- JEEmREAEE - unlisted investments 1,145 1,245
EEYEZ SRR A Gross rental income from investment properties 4,533 5,080
Tk A REEE YR T H Less: Outgoings in respect of investment properties (382) (314)
HoAth Others 3,141 5,952
8,437 11,963
PERREYE Y T A Included in the “Outgoings in respect of investment properties” is HK$124,000 (first half of

FARR I E Y 2 B 2021: HK$61,000) of direct operating expenses related to investment properties that were not
S Ak 124,000 T let during the period.

(2021 4 BP0 B
61,000 JT) °

PN A AT BRI 1% There were no contingent rent included in the “Gross rental income from investment
B TSR A (2021 properties” during the period (first half of 2021: Nil).

T A4 i) o

11. BREEEFRE 11. Net charge of impairment allowances
FEEHE PEGEEE
2022 &£ 2021
6H30H 65300
Half-year ended Half-year ended
30 June 30 June
2022 2021
SEMTIT AT
HK$'000 HK$'000

TERUERTT R Al < S Balances with banks and other financial institutions
HI4EER (1,146) (4,854)
BRI HAT IR Advances and other accounts (423,819) (452,726)
ERE Financial investments (75,131) (1,770)
HAth & 2 Other assets (2,103) (4,480)
WSS R Financial guarantees (2,614) (194,800)
RS Loan commitments 5,517 (24,369)
IREAE P Net charge of impairment allowances (499,296) (682,999)
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12. LBEZH 12. Operating expenses
PELHE PEEER
2022 4% 2021 4
6 H30H 6 H 30 H
Half-year ended Half-year ended
30 June 30 June
2022 2021
BT AT
HK$'000 HK$'000
ANFEER (AfEEERS) Staff costs (including directors’ emoluments)
- SETE R oAt - salaries and other costs 843,702 789,717
- IBRERAR - pension cost 120,622 119,233
964,324 908,950
R Rk S (R ELkE Premises and equipment expenses (excluding
e depreciation)
- s R EEEEHE - leases of short-term or low-value assets 10,829 24,750
- R - information technology 21,713 24,149
- Hith - others 30,671 32,382
63,213 81,281
Hres Depreciation 285,836 261,042
T BT Auditor’s remuneration
- FETHRES - audit services 5,702 5,276
- JEEET RS - non-audit services 743 95
HAth&E 2 Other operating expenses
- ¥EBINE - outsourcing activities fee 183,029 171,944
- Hfth - others 181,712 163,570
1,684,559 1,592,158
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13. EYZANETEE 13, Net loss from fair value adjustments on investment properties
ZBEEE
FHEERE PAEETE R
2022 & 2021 4
6 H30H 6 H 30 H
Half-year ended Half-year ended
30 June 30 June
2022 2021
BT AT IT
HK$'000 HK$'000
KBV EHE S Net loss from fair value adjustments on investment
518 properties (2,720) -
14. HE EEWE - 88  14. Net loss from disposal/revaluation of properties, plant and
M RSl 7R equipment
FHEERE PAEGE R
2022 2021 4
6 H30H 6 H30H
Half-year ended Half-year ended
30 June 30 June
2022 2021
BT AT
HK$'000 HK$'000
HE BN P TE Net loss from disposal of premises (6,537) -
HEREH ~ [EE R R Net loss from disposal of equipment, fixtures and
R fittings (1,948) (2,346)
HiEFEZF (BE) /X Net (loss)/gain from revaluation of premises
% (5,576) 1,167
(14,061) (1,179)
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- (EEERE

IEIERTH

W P22 A RS

15. Taxation

Current tax

Taxation in the income statement represents:

Hong Kong profits tax
- current period taxation

Overseas taxation

- current period taxation

Deferred tax
Origination and reversal of temporary differences
and unused tax credits

FARAE FARTTR L

EEMER Y EREE
2022 fF ARG EERR R

AR 16.5%

0 16.5% ) $2H < SHNEF

kR 2022 4
st R BRI A
BT 2B
5tE -

- Over-provision in prior periods

Notes to the Interim Financial Information (continued)

FEEHES GRS
2022 &£ 2021 4

6 H30H 6 H30H
Half-year ended Half-year ended
30 June 30 June
2022 2021
BT AT
HK$'000 HK$'000
215,836 249,717
110,812 79,935
(482) (3,204)
326,166 326,448
(14,271) (40,466)
311,895 285,982

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% (2021: 16.5%) on the estimated
assessable profits arising in Hong Kong for the first half of 2022. Taxation on overseas profits

(2021 has been calculated on the estimated assessable profits for the first half of 2022 at the rates

B
(BEES
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Notes to the Interim Financial Information (continued)

15. Taxation (continued)

The taxation on the Group’s profit before taxation that differs from the theoretical amount that
would arise using the taxation rate of Hong Kong is as follows:

Profit before taxation

Calculated at a taxation rate of 16.5% (2021: 16.5%)

Effect of different taxation rates in other countries

Income not subject to taxation

Expenses not deductible for taxation purposes

Tax losses not recognised

Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses

Over-provision in prior periods

Foreign withholding tax

Adjustment in respect of cost and distribution payment for
additional equity instruments

Taxation charge

Effective tax rate

16. Dividends

PEGEHE EEEEE
2022 4 2021 4

6 H30H 6 H30H
Half-year ended Half-year ended
30 June 30 June
2022 2021
BT AT IT
HK$'000 HK$'000
2,309,871 2,199,812
381,129 362,969
34,687 13,559
(89,069) (79,327)
32,067 30,227

1 1

(2,980) (©)]
(482) (3,204)
(988) 175
(42,470) (38,415)
311,895 285,982
13.50% 13.00%

No dividend was declared for the half-year ended 30 June 2022 (first half of 2021: Nil).
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Notes to the Interim Financial Information (continued)

17. Cash, balances and placements with banks and other financial

institutions

Cash and balances with banks and other
financial institutions

- Cash

- Balances with central banks

- Balances with banks and other financial
institutions

- Placements with banks and other financial
institutions maturing within one month

Impairment allowances
- Stage 1

Placements with banks and other financial
institutions maturing between one and twelve
months

Impairment allowances
- Stage 1
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78 2022 4 Jit 2021 4
6 H30H 12H31H
At 30 June At 31 December
2022 2021
BT AT T
HK$'000 HK$'000
601,434 544,912
15,443,422 21,546,067
5,324,132 8,259,558
31,285,811 34,353,172
52,654,799 64,703,709
(362) (397)
52,654,437 64,703,312
10,672,353 2,684,305
(1,288) (164)
10,671,065 2,684,141
63,325,502 67,387,453
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18. AnE® LT AFEZE 18. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
ZERERE

FERHIEA
Bt AR
Mandatorily measured at
fair value through
profit or loss

XEE FEXSE QT
Trading Non trading Total

B 202248 jA20214 20224 720214 R 20224 A 2021 4
6H30H 12A31H 6H30H 12HA31H 6F30H 12H31H

At 30 At 31 At 30 At 31 At 30 At 31
June December June December June December
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
BT AT BT AT T BT AT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AN MESE At fair value
% Treasury bills 7,398,660 7,252,326 - - 7,398,660 7,252,326
HAth #5684  Other debt
securities - - 244,566 759,598 244,566 759,598
7,398,660 7,252,326 244,566 759,598 7,643,226 8,011,924
Fetryas 25 Equity securities - - 1,488,689 1,572,391 1,488,689 1,572,391
oAl Others - - 16,275,137 17,438,255 16,275,137 17,438,255
7,398,660 7,252,326 18,008,392 19,770,244 25,407,052 27,022,570
202246 H30H 4 At 30 June 2022, there was no financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss
B FE LA g bt (31 December 2021: Nil).

AR R EE (2021
FI2H3LH ) -
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18. AnEE{EET AFBZE  18. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (continued)
ZEREE (8

N IAEE EE AR 2 Rl Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are analysed by place of listing as follows:
ERETE B AT
EDAA
{EE(EET AR

Mandatorily measured at
fair value through
profit or loss
R e B
Trading Non trading
RN 2022 i 2021 7 2022 4 A 2021 4
6 5 30H 12 31 H 6 5 30H 12 31 H

At 30 At 31 At 30 At 31
June December June December
2022 2021 2022 2021
BT AT IT SERMAT AT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
%675 Debt securities
- JE b - Unlisted 7,398,660 7,252,326 244,566 759,598
R EcEs Equity securities
- AEABLSN T - Listed outside Hong Kong - - 82,375 101,430
- JEkH - Unlisted - - 1,406,314 1,470,961
HoAth Others
- JE Lk - Unlisted - - 16,275,137 17,438,255

7,398,660 7,252,326 18,008,392 19,770,244
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Notes to the Interim Financial Information (continued)

18. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are analysed by type of issuer as follows:

FREIEIA S
EE(EETALRR
Mandatorily measured at
fair value through
profit or loss

e IS
Trading Non trading
2022 4 A 2021 & #2022 & A 2021 &
6 H30H 12 31 H 6 H30H 12H31H
At 30 At 31 At 30 At 31
June December June December
2022 2021 2022 2021
AT AETIT BT AT T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Sovereigns 7,398,660 7,252,326 - -
Banks and other financial
institutions - - 16,275,137 17,438,255
Corporate entities - - 1,733,255 2,331,989
7,398,660 7,252,326 18,008,392 19,770,244

19. Derivative financial instruments

(a) Derivative financial instruments

The Group enters into the following exchange rate, interest rate and commodity related
derivative financial instrument contracts for trading and risk management purposes:

Currency forwards represent commitments to purchase and sell foreign currency on a future

date.

Currency, interest rate and precious metal swaps are commitments to exchange one set of
cash flows or commodity for another. Swaps result in an exchange of currencies, interest
rates (for example, fixed rate for floating rate), or precious metals (for example, gold swaps)
or a combination of all these (for example, cross-currency interest rate swaps). Except for
certain currency swap contracts, no exchange of principal takes place.
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Notes to the Interim Financial Information (continued)

19. Derivative financial instruments (continued)

(a) Derivative financial instruments (continued)

Foreign currency options are contractual agreements under which the seller (writer) grants
the purchaser (holder) the right, but not the obligation, either to buy (a call option) or sell (a
put option) at or by a set date or during a set period, a specific amount of the financial
instrument at a predetermined price. In consideration for the assumption of foreign exchange
risk, the seller receives a premium from the purchaser. Options are negotiated over-the-
counter between the Group and its counterparty.

The contract/notional amounts and fair values of derivative financial instruments held by the
Group are set out in the following tables. The contract/notional amounts of these instruments
indicate the volume of transactions outstanding at the balance sheet dates and certain of
them provide a basis for comparison with fair value instruments recognised on the balance
sheet. However, they do not necessarily indicate the amounts of future cash flows involved
or the current fair values of the instruments and, therefore, do not indicate the Group’s
exposure to credit or market risks. The derivative financial instruments become favourable
(assets) or unfavourable (liabilities) as a result of fluctuations in foreign exchange rates,
market interest rates or metal prices relative to their terms. The aggregate fair values of
derivative financial instruments can fluctuate significantly from time to time.

76

F-77



% NCB i 7% 44t

T HABA B B b Notes to the Interim Financial Information (continued)
(&)

19. £7ELmTE (&) 19. Derivative financial instruments (continued)

(a) &M TH (&) (a) Derivative financial instruments (continued)

TR S BT A SR T The following tables summarise the contract/notional amounts and fair values of each class
Epr 2022 46 H 30 HE of derivative financial instrument as at 30 June 2022 and 31 December 2021:

2021 12 A 31 H>Z &%

V=t A NiERE

202246 H 30 H
At 30 June 2022

a8/ ASE
EREEE Fair values
Contract/
notional BE &E
amounts Assets Liabilities
BT BT BT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
PR AL Exchange rate contracts
BITHA R At Spot and forwards 12,978,086 444,576 (265,290)
5iHA Swaps 59,691,935 571,442 (437,416)
SNERZ i HAE Foreign currency options
- H AR - Options purchased 1,044,912 153,349 (39,089)
- EHHIRE - Options written 1,042,963 43,037 (155,326)
74,757,896 1,212,404 (897,121)
B Interest rate contracts
]| Swaps 55,851,074 402,168 (232,645)
(Sl Commodity contracts 368,769 3,610 (1,875)
130,977,739 1,618,182 (1,131,641)
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Notes to the Interim Financial Information (continued)

19. Derivative financial instruments (continued)

(a) Derivative financial instruments (continued)

Exchange rate contracts
Spot and forwards
Swaps
Foreign currency options

- Options purchased
- Options written

Interest rate contracts
Swaps

Commodity contracts

78
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22021412 H 31 H
At 31 December 2021

=94 AfE
LEHE Fair values
Contract/

notional =iz aff
amounts Assets Liabilities
I I BT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
5,982,586 281,426 (108,275)
47,764,446 237,686 (244,682)
981,200 75,561 (20,204)
981,200 19,974 (49,604)
55,709,432 614,647 (422,765)
93,256,035 211,510 (384,668)
820,999 8,807 (7,237)
149,786,466 834,964 (814,670)
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Notes to the Interim Financial Information (continued)

19. Derivative financial instruments (continued)
(b) Interest rate benchmark reform

At 30 June 2022, HK$4,871,000,000 (2021: HK$4,841,000,000) of the contract/notional
amounts of interest rate derivatives designated in hedge accounting relationships
represent the extent of the risk exposure managed by the Group that is directly affected
by interest rate benchmark reform and in scope of Phase 1 amendments. The exposure
at current year end excluded interest rate derivatives referenced to USD LIBOR maturing
before 30 June 2023, except those referenced to 1-week and 2-month USD LIBOR, after
the announcement by the Financial Conduct Authority (“FCA”), the UK regulator, in March
2021 that the publication date of mo